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Preface

It is in compliance with the earnest requests of colleagues and friends that I
have embarked on the task of editing a handbook of governmental accounting.
Practitioners in the private sector, public administrators, and students in colleges
and universities will find this handbook a useful reference. We hope our readers
from a diverse range of fields will use it to gain understanding and familiarity with
government accounting concepts.

Drawing on the expertise of a distinguished group of contributors, the hand-
book begins with in-depth discussions of the growth of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP), budgeting, revenues, and expenditures in U.S.
governments that highlight greater levels of accountability in government finance.
The book covers governmental funds, proprietary funds, fiduciary funds, financial
reporting, and the latest developments in auditing requirements for governmen-
tal entities. While the majority of the chapters relate to state and local govern-
ments in the United States, the book also provides insight into federal accounting
and international public sector accounting standards to introduce readers to the
broader scope of government accounting. This handbook is a complete manual to
a wide range of governmental accounting topics that fall under the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 34 reporting model, and subse-
quent Statements, which have significantly changed governmental financial state-
ments presentation.

The chief objective of this handbook is to contribute to the readers’ appreciation
and understanding of governmental accounting. The handbook’s contents reflect
the increasing complexities in this dynamic field.

The contributing authors made it possible to bring this handbook to fruition.
As the editor, I have been enriched by their scholarship and technical skills, and to
each of the contributors I tender my great and sincere appreciation.

Frederic B. Bogui
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2 ®m Handbook of Governmental Accounting

1.1 GAAP: The Early Years

Seventy-five years ago, there were no generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP)—at least as we know them today—in the United States. Some might say
the lack of GAAP was at least a contributing factor in the stock market crash of
1929. With the ensuing Great Depression and America’s attempts to recover from
it, some felt that it was time to get the accounting house in order.

Among the many efforts of the Franklin Delano Roosevelt administration to
help get the country on the road to recovery was designating a federal agency
to have the authority and responsibility to set GAAP. In the 1933 Securities
Act, this agency was the Federal Trade Commission. Having been around since
1914, this agency seemed to be a natural for this designation. However, it was
soon realized that another organization with broader powers was necessary. In the
1934 Securities Act, Congress created just such an organization: the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC).

Interestingly, the SEC did not immediately act on setting accounting stan-
dards. Instead, the agency adopted an approach of giving the authority to set these
standards (while retaining the responsibility) to the private sector. In existence at
this time was an organization known as the American Institute of Accountants
(AIA). This organization was already administering the certified public accoun-
tants examination as well as attempting to set auditing standards for the United
States. The SEC felt the AIA would be a natural organization for this new authority
for setting accounting standards. As a result, it fell to the AIA to get the ball rolling
on GAAP.

The history of GAAP can be summarized as shown in Figure 1.1. As you can
see, there were two sectors of the economy that required GAAP: the private sec-
tor (made up of publicly traded companies and other business entities) and the
public sector (consisting of state and local governments, or SLGs). As discussed
previously, the ATA assumed the authority for the private sector. It established the
Committee on Accounting Procedure (CAP) to establish GAAP. At the same time,
a government organization in Chicago, the Municipal Finance Officers Association
(MFOA), assumed the authority for the public sector. The MFOA created the
National Committee on Municipal Accounting (NCMA).

Rarely, if ever, did these two organizations—the CAP and NCMA—interact.
In theory, the CAP could have set accounting standards that applied to the public
sector, but it did not seem to do so. Also, the NCMA could have adopted the CAP
standards for the public sector, but the limited information available indicates that
this did not happen. Unfortunately, much of what the NCMA did has been lost
(for reasons that will be explained shortly). However, we do have a good record of
some of the organization’s bulletins that established early guidelines of the prin-
ciples of municipal accounting,.
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Private Public
Sector Sector
Committee on 1934 National Committee
Accounting T on Municipal
Procedure Accounting
National Committee on
1951 [~ Governmental Accounting
. il Bulletin No. 14
Accounting Principles _| 1959

Board
1968 [— GAAFR 68

FASB -~~~ -~ — 1973 National Council on
1975 |—------- Governmental
Accounting

1984 - GASB
Other Influential Organizations
AAA ASB MFOA/GFOA NACUBO
IRS AIA/AICPA NASACT

Figure 1.1 Development of governmental and financial accounting standards.

1.2 The Growth of GAAP: The Middle Years

The CAP was in existence for 25 years. It eventually issued 51 accounting research
bulletins for the private sector. In 1959, some interesting name changes occurred
in the private sector accounting standard-setting process. The old AIA became the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). The AICPA then
reconstituted the CAP as the Accounting Principles Board (APB).

A similar name change had occurred in the public sector 8 years earlier. In an
apparent effort to broaden the perspective of the NCMA, the MFOA changed its
name to the National Committee on Governmental Accounting (NCGA). Other
than changing “municipal” to “governmental,” little else seems to have changed. The
two organizations—APB and NCGA—went about setting their accounting stan-
dards pretty much the same way as the CAP and NCMA had done previously.

A very significant event occurred in the public sector in 1968: the MFOA
published the first edition of Governmental Accounting, Auditing, and Financial
Reporting. This volume, known both as the GAAFR and as the “Blue Book”
(because of its color), represented a milestone in GAAP process in the public sector.
As stated in the foreword, the GAAFR was
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the eighteenth publication of the National Committee on
Governmental Accounting (NCGA), combines and revises the fol-
lowing publications: Municipal Accounting and Auditing (1951), and
A Standard Classification of Municipal Accounts (1953).... There is now
presented in one volume most of the NCGA’s releases over the many
years of its existence, modified to meet the current needs. [GAAFR,

1968, iii]

Indeed, this “one volume” provided a compilation of GAAP for the public sector,
much as ARB #43 provided a restatement of all previously issued accounting research
bulletins (ARBs) of the CAP. In 14 chapters and 5 appendices, the GAAFR

Established the basic principles of governmental accounting
Outlined on how to use the various fund types and account groups
Described what the annual financial report should look like
Discussed how to audit governments

Just how broadly accepted this first edition of the Blue Book was can be seen in the
foreword of the second edition (published by the MFOA in 1980). It states that over
40,000 copies were printed and distributed in a 12-year period. The foreword also
notes that, “Unlike 1968 GAAFR, this text neither establishes nor authoritatively
interprets GAAP for governments.” This is a somewhat indirect way of indicating
that the 1968 edition was authoritative GAAD.

However, this authoritative level didn’t last long. In 1973, the MFOA made a
name change very similar to the one in 1954. The NCGA was reorganized, this
time changing only one word in its name—“Committee” to “Council.”

The first action of the newly renamed standard-setter was to issue NCGA
Interpretation No. 1, GAAFR and the AICPA Auditr Guide. This interpretation was
necessitated by a challenge to the 1968 GAAFR by the AICPA Audit Guide, Audits
of State and Local Governmental Units (ASLGU), issued by the AICPA in 1974. In
this Audit Guide, the legal compliance principle of governmental accounting stated
the following:

A governmental accounting system should incorporate such account
ing information in its records as necessary to make it possible to both
(a) show compliance with all legal provisions and (b) present fairly the
financial position and results of operations of the respective funds and
financial position of the self-balancing account groups of the govern-
mental unit in conformity with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples. Where these two objectives are in conflict, generally accepted
accounting principles take precedence in financial reporting. [ASLGU,
1974, pp. 12—13, emphasis added]
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This position was in direct conflict with the Accounting Principles and Legal
Provisions laid out in the 1968 GAAFR: “If there is a conflict between legal pro-
visions and generally accepted accounting principles applicable to governmental
units, legal provisions must take precedence” [GAAFR, 1968, p. 4, emphasis added].
NCGA Interpretation 1 (NCGAI 1) resolved this conflict by establishing a balance
between the 1968 GAAFR and the 1974 ASLGU. It restated the principle to read

A governmental accounting system must make it possible 6074 (a) to present
fairly and with full disclosure the financial position and results of opera-
tions of the funds and account groups of the governmental unit in confor-
mity with generally accepted accounting principles; and (b) to determine
and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal and contractual

provisions. [Adapted from NCGA Statement 1, emphasis added]

Thus was resolved the first—but not the last—conflict between accounting stan-
dard-setters and audit standard-setters.

Obviously, the NCGA didn’t stop with Interpretation 1. NCGA Statement 1,
Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Principles NCGAS 1), followed
a few years later (issued in March 1979 and effective for fiscal years ending after
June 30, 1980). This first standard restated the principles in the 1968 GAAFR and
replaced all the predecessor governmental accounting standards issued in the pub-
lic sector, including NCGALI 1. It is the reason why copies of many of these previous
standards have been lost. No one saw the need to keep standards that were no lon-
ger in effect. In fact, when the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
issued its first Original Pronouncements volume (in 1991, after the GASB had been
in existence for 7 years), the oldest standard in it was NCGAS 1. In a conversation
with a GASB staff member, I asked where the “old stuff” was—the things that
came before NCGAS 1. The staff member responded that since NCGAS 1 replaced
all that came before, no one would care except an academic. To which, with arms
outstretched, I responded, “So?” With a chuckle, the staff member just shook his
head and walked away.

Another contribution of NCGAS 1 was the Financial Reporting Pyramid, shown
in Figure 1.2. This pyramid graphically demonstrated what an annual report of a
government should look like. It also showed how detailed the information would
be. The most detailed information is at bottom of the pyramid—the accounting
system. From this starting point, as we head up the pyramid, the information gets
more and more summarized, but all of it comes from the accounting system. The
next level is the schedules. Government annual reports may contain many sched-
ules, depending on the type of report being prepared. The next level is the individual
fund and account group statements. These statements were essential to prepare the
statements found on the upper levels, but governments rarely included the individ-
ual fund statements in their annual reports as they provided no more information
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Figure 1.2 The Financial Reporting Pyramid. (Used with permission of the
Financial Accounting Foundation.)

than what was found in the combining statements. Combining statements were
necessary any time a government had more than one fund of any fund type (special
revenue funds, capital projects funds, debt service funds, enterprise funds, internal
service funds, pension trust funds, nonexpendable trust funds, expendable trust
funds, and agency funds). Only the General Fund would not have a combining
statement since only one General Fund is allowed per government. The next step
up the pyramid was the General Purpose Financial Statements (GPES). The GPFS
presented the combined statements (in which each fund type made up a column in
the report), the notes to the financial statements, and required supplementary infor-
mation. Finally, the top of the pyramid was to contain condensed summary data,
but this portion of the pyramid was never defined by the NCGA or, later, by the
GASB. The GPES represented the minimum financial statements a government
could prepare for external use. However, governments were encouraged to prepare a
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). The CAFR included the GPES
and went as far down the pyramid as was necessary for full disclosure. Normally,
the CAFR would include the GPFS, combining statements, account group state-
ments, and some schedules.

Statement 1 was followed by six more standards and 10 additional interpreta-
tions. The standards addressed a variety of issues, including the following:

B Grant, entitlement, and shared revenue accounting (Statement 2)
B Defining the governmental reporting entity (Statement 3)
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B Accounting and reporting for claims and judgments and compensated
absences (Statement 4)

B Accounting and reporting for leases (Statement 5)

B Accounting and reporting for pensions (Statement 6)

B Accounting and reporting for component units (Statement 7)

By the very of definition of the documents, these same issues were addressed in
the interpretations, only in greater detail. Of the 10 interpretations issued by the
NCGA, five affected NCGAS 1, one affected Statement 3, one affected Statement 4,
and two affected Statement 6. Only one interpretation (#5) did not directly address
an existing standard. Rather, it made the examples in the 1968 GAAFR illustra-
tions of the principles in NCGAS 1 as long as the examples were consistent with
this standard.

The NCGA went out of business in 1984, when the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) was created. Fortunately, most of its standards and inter-
pretations are still available to us in the Original Pronouncements volume published
annually by the GASB. As can be seen by the shading in this volume, most of these
GAAP documents have been affected or superceded by newer GASB pronounce-
ments. These documents are the topic of the last big section in this chapter.

1.3 The Growth of GAAP: The GASB

The year 1984 was a banner year for two reasons. First, the successor organization to
the NCGA—the GASB—was established. Of lesser importance, but still interest-
ing from a timing perspective, the MFOA became the GFOA: the Governmental
Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada. Clearly, the former
event was more important than the latter, but it was still an interesting year.

When it was established, the GASB was substantially different from its FASB
counterpart in the private sector. Keep in mind that the FASB had been established
in 1973, so the Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF) had a good model to use
in setting up the GASB. Still, the differences are remarkable. These differences
are summarized in Figure 1.3.

In addition to these differences, the GASB members were paid substantially less
than their FASB counterparts. This difference was due in no small part to where
the members came from: the public sector versus the private sector. The staffs of
the two boards were quite different. The FASB has more than 50 staff members,
whereas the GASB staff at the time was less than 15.

To better understand the operation of the GASB, I highly encourage you to
visit their Web site, www.gasb.org. This Web site provides much information about
the Board, its publications, calendar, and other important activities of the GASB.
Of interest may be a document called Facts about GASB, which can be found at
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GASB | FASB
Number of members 5 7
Status of members (full-time/part-time) 2/3 7/0
Full-time chairman Yes Yes
Full-time vice-chairman No Yes
Full-time director of research No Yes

Figure 1.3 Differences in organization of the GASB and FASB.

www.gasb.org/facts/index.html. This document provides information on the
GASB’s mission, the Board’s structure, and the current members of the Board.

This chapter is devoted to the development of GAAP in the public sector. As such,
we will only discuss the final pronouncements of the GASB. However, it is important
to understand the GASB’s process for developing a new accounting standard.

A project starts by getting on the GASB agenda. Depending on the complexity
of the issue, one or more documents may be issued by the Board before the final
standard is issued. If an issue is sufficiently complex, the Board may appoint a task
force to study the issue before any documents are published. Once the task force
completes its work, the GASB may ask for a greater variety of opinions by issuing
a discussion memorandum (DM). Other documents may include an Invitation to
Comment (ITC) or a Preliminary Views (PV) document or both. Once sufficient
discussion has been launched, the Board may hold one or more public hearings
on the topic. The GASB staff analyzes the oral and written comments and makes
one or more recommendations to the Board. Several meetings may take place as
the Board reviews the comments and papers written by the staff. Eventually, an
exposure draft (ED) will be issued that shows where the Board intends to go on the
issue, but many changes can still take place. The staff and Board have further meet-
ings to analyze comments on the ED, and then the final document is prepared.

That final document can take several forms. It may be a Statement of Govern-
mental Accounting Standards (referred to here as GASBS). A statement provides
the actual accounting standard and the vote of the Board on that standard. If
members of the Board vote against the standard, the dissenting opinions are also
included in the statement.

The document could also become a Statement of Governmental Accounting
Concepts. To date, the Board has issued four concept statements:

B No. 1, Objectives of Financial Reporting
B No. 2, Service Efforts and Accomplishments Reporting
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B No. 3, Communication Methods in General Purpose External Financial Reports
That Contain Basic Financial Statements
B No. 4, Elements of Financial Statements

The third form of document is an interpretation. These documents provide addi-
tional practical information about a particular standard. The GASB has issued only
six of these in the 20 years of its existence. Similar to a standard, interpretations
provide information on the standard, effective date, and the vote of the Board.

Two other documents that may be issued are Technical Bulletins (TBs) and
Question-and-Answer Reports (Q&A; also known as Implementation Guides).
These publications are staff documents in that they do not require a vote of the
Board before they are issued. However, as a practical matter, the Board reviews all
documents before they are issued to the public. These two do not contain a vote
count of the Board or dissenting opinions.

Naturally, no standard-setting body can exist on its own. It must have support
ers—financially and conceptually—in order to exist. Without financial support,
the Board simply cannot exist. And, if organizations do not agree to implement
GASB standards (remember, these standards are not law and cannot be enforced
that way), there would be little point in having the GASB. The same organizations
that supported the GFOA continued to support the GASB. Some of these organiza-

tions are the following:

B GFOA: The predecessor organizations of the GASB were established by the
GFOA.

B National Association of State Auditors, Controllers, and Treasurers (NAS-
ACT): This organization has been very influential with the GASB. It is
interesting that all the GASB chairmen have been affiliated with state audit
organizations prior to taking the chairman position.

B American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA): After all, the
members of this organization—the certified public accountants (CPAs)—are
predominantly the ones that do the audits of SLGs. The AICPA has a signifi-
cant interest in the types of standards issued by the GASB.

B Auditing Standards Board (ASB): Although now replaced in the private sec-
tor by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the ASB has played
a significant role in influencing accounting standard-setting.

B National Association of College and University Business Officers (NACUBO):
The FASB, GASB, and predecessor organizations have focused primarily on
businesses or SLGs. NACUBO took up the slack to assist colleges and uni-
versities in developing their own unique set of financial statements. While the
GASB and FASB have the final say, NACUBO has had a major impact on the
development of accounting standards for higher education.

B American Accounting Association (AAA): Made up largely of academics,
members of this organization have done much in the way of research for the
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GASB, although the GASB now has its own research staff. Still, members con-
tribute ideas to the GASB and serve on various task forces and committees.

B Internal Revenue Service (IRS): While its influence has been stronger in the
private sector, one need look no further than the accounting rules for inven-
tory to see the impact of the IRS on accounting standards.

Of course, there are many other organizations that support the GASB that are not
mentioned here. Any professional organization that represents constituents of the
GASB would have an interest in the Board’s activities.

1.3.1 The First Board
The first five men appointed to the GASB were the following:

B Chairman, James F. Antonio, former Missouri State Auditor.

B Vice Chairman and Director of Research, Martin Ives, who had served on
the NCGA. Mr. Ives had worked with the State of New York for many years
as the First Deputy Comptroller for New York City from 1976 to 1983, when
he helped reestablish the city’s accounting systems after its financial troubles
of the 1970s and early 1980s.

B Dhilip L. Defliese, the former national governmental partner for Coopers
& Lybrand.

B W. Gary Harmer, who, similar to Ives, had served on the NCGA and was the for-
mer Chief Financial Officer of the Salt Lake City Independent School District.

B Elmer B. Staats, who served for 15 years as the Comptroller General of the
United States.

None of these names were new to governmental accounting. As you can see, all five
men had accounting or auditing experience at various levels of government. Now
that public sector standard-setting was finally independent of its governments,
some interesting things would likely develop. Also, it is interesting to note that
only Mr. Antonio and Mr. Ives were to work at the Board full time. The other three
gentlemen were to be part-time members.

When the GASB was organized under the auspices of the FAF, an interesting
relationship developed between this new board and the FASB, which had already
been in existence for 11 years. When looking at the organization chart in Figure 1.4,
it would appear that the two boards are equal. However, in the differences pointed
out earlier (see Figure 1.3), this equality was not there. Still, the AICPA in setting
the GAAP hierarchy placed the pronouncements of the GASB at level one and the
pronouncements of the FASB at level two. This linking of the two boards would
cause some confusion later.

I have always thought it interesting to compare the first standards issued by
each board. When the FASB was first created in 1973, its first standard was titled
Disclosure of Foreign Currency Translation Information. On the other hand, the
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FAF
| FASAC |-——| FASB | | GASB |-——| GASAC ‘
FASB GASB
Staff Staff

Figure 1.4 Organization of the Financial Accounting Foundation.

GASB?s first standard was titled Auzhoritative Status of NCGA Pronouncements and
AICPA Audit Guide. Unlike the FASB, the GASB formally adopted its predeces-
sors’ standards. The FASB didn’t do this. Instead, the FASB left it to the AICPA
in its professional standards to establish a hierarchy of GAAP—just one for the
private sector rather than the public sector hierarchy mentioned previously. This
hierarchy left in place the pronouncements of the earlier standard-setting boards:
the Committee on Accounting Procedure and the Accounting Principles Board.

As you might expect, over time, much of what was in GASB Statement No. 1
(GASBS 1) has been amended or superceded. Four of the seven NCGA standards
have been superceded entirely, as have five of the ten interpretations still in force
when the GASB was created. For the AICPA pronouncements, three of its four
SOPs have been superceded, and the Industry Audit Guide that was in effect at the
time has long since been abandoned (the 1974 edition was in effect at the time). Of
the remaining standards and interpretations, all have been heavily amended by later
GASB pronouncements.

1.3.2 The GASB Gets Rolling

In the same year that the Board issued GASBS 1, it also issued its first Technical
Bulletin (TB). TB 94-1 was very similar to GASBS 1: Purpose and Scope of GASB
Technical Bulletins and Procedures for Issuance. Cleatly, all this bulletin did is explain
why the GASB would issue a TB and what procedures would be followed to issue
one. It would be 3 years before another TB would be issued.

The next official pronouncement of the Board was not another standard, but
its first interpretation of an earlier standard or interpretation. Interpretation docu-
ments have a unique mission. They are used to explain particular points in previ-
ous pronouncements. They cannot be used to amend previous pronouncements;
an amendment requires the issuance of a new standard. After this interpretation, it
would be almost 11 years before the GASB would issue its next one.

GASB Interpretation No. 1 (GASBI 1) was titled Demand Bonds Issued by State
and Local Governmental Entities, and was an interpretation of NCGA Statement
No. 1 and NCGA Interpretation No. 9. Think of a demand bond as being the
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opposite of a callable bond. Recall that a callable bond is one in which an issuer
can instruct bondholders to redeem their bonds, usually with a premium involved.
With a demand bond, the bondholder can demand payment from the issuer. The
aforementioned interpretation provided guidance on how demand bonds should be
classified in the financial statements of the issuer: either as current liabilities or long-
term debt. Naturally, the government would prefer to classify the bonds as long-term
debt. To do so, all the following conditions have to be met for an event in which the
bondholder has (or may) demand payment:

B Before the financial statements are issued, the issuer must have an agreement to
convert the bonds into some other form of long-term obligation, if not resold.

B The agreement does not expire within one year of the balance sheet date.

B The agreement cannot be canceled by a third party during the year.

B The third party is financially capable of honoring the agreement.

Failure to meet all these requirements would result in the demand bonds being
reported as a current (or fund) liability.

More than a year would pass before the GASB would issue its next official doc-
ument. In fact, 1985 was the only year of the GASB’s existence in which it did not
issue at least one pronouncement of any type: Standard, Interpretation, Technical
Bulletin, or Concept Statement. However, that does not mean the Board was inac-
tive. Much of 1985 was consumed with work on the GASB’s most far-reaching
project addressing perceived problems with the overall governmental reporting
model. In 1985, the first discussion memorandum (DM) dealing with issue was
published. This document would later develop into GASBS 11 (to be discussed
shortly).

GASBS 2, Financial Reporting of Deferred Compensation Plans Adopted Under
the Provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 457, was the next standard issued
by the Board. This standard laid out the requirements for accounting and report-
ing of deferred compensation plans. It made very clear that the assets of the plan
remained the property of the government until paid to the participants. Thus, the
assets were subject to the claims of the general creditors of the government. No one
thought much about this issue until the bankruptcy of Orange County, California,
in the early 1990s. When this government was forced to declare bankruptcy, many
of its creditors were worried if they would be paid. Then, it was noticed that the
so-called 457 Plans had substantial assets, which could be used to settle these
claims. Obviously, such a settlement would cause considerable unrest among the
participants of the plan, retirees who stood to lose a substantial part of their retire-
ment assets. So much unrest was caused that the federal government changed the
law concerning these plans, which required the GASB to issue another standard
(GASBS 32, issued in 1997) to reflect the new federal law. The change in the law
required that the assets be held in trust for the participants and their beneficiaries.
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All plans had to adopt this new format by January 1, 1999. GASBS 32 rescinded
GASBS 2, and provided new accounting and reporting guidance for these plans.
Whereas GASBS 2 had the plans reported as an agency fund, GASBS 43 required
reporting as an expendable trust fund (the same as a private purpose trust fund
under GASBS 34) if the government continued to have a fiduciary relationship
with the fund. As a result of the new federal law, however, many governments
transferred the fiduciary responsibility to a third party, thus eliminating the plan
from its annual report.*

The first GASB pronouncement issued as a result of a fiscal crisis was GASBS 3,
Deposits with Financial Institutions, Investments (including Repurchase Agreements),
and Reverse Repurchase Agreements, issued in 1986. This standard was a direct
result of several investment failures in the early 1980s, including the failure of
ESM Government Securities, Inc., in March 1985. In that failure, SLGs lost money
because of improper securities transactions by brokerage firms. GASBS 3 sought to
help alleviate such problems in the future by requiring certain deposit and invest-
ment disclosures.

Much of GASBS 3 had been amended by either GASBS 31, Accounting and
Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools, issued by the Board
in 1997 (as part of the reaction to the problems in Orange County), or by GASBS 40,
Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures, issued by the Board in 2003. Because of the
close relationship between these three standards, many of the provisions are discussed
in this section (other provisions of GASBS 31 will be discussed in Section 1.6).

GASBS 3 largely dealt with custodial issues related to deposits and investments.
The standard contained guidance on how to report such deposits and investments
in one of three categories of custodial risk—from the most secure to the least
secure. The categories were based on who held the collateral for the deposits and
investments and in whose name the collateral was carried. These categories are
summarized is Figure 1.5.

Since categories one and two were considered quite secure and most govern-
ments reported the greatest majority of their deposits and investments in one of
these two categories, GASBS 40 amended GASBS 3 by requiring governments to
report only those deposits and investments held in the third category at the end of
the fiscal year.t

Other disclosures required by GASBS 3—and not eliminated by GASBS
40—include the following:

" No retiree lost money in the Orange County bankruptcy. The law was still changed to avoid
the problem in the future. The bankruptcy also caused the GASB to issue other pronounce-
ments (discussed later) addressing investment issues of SLGs.

7 There was some discussion about reporting categories of investments and deposits during the
year, but this idea was not adopted by the Board.
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Category Deposits Investments

1 Insured or collateralized with Insured or registered, or
securities held by the entity or securities held by the entity
by its agent in the entity’s or its agent in the entity’s
name. name.

2 Collateralized with securities Uninsured or unregistered,
held by the pledging financial with securities held by the
institution’s trust department counterparty’s trust
or agent in the entity’s name. department or agent in the

entity’s name.

3 Uncollateralized, including Uninsured or unregistered,
balances collateralized with with securities held by the
securities held by the pledging | counterparty, its trust
financial institution, its trust department, or agent, but
department, or its agent, but not in the entity’s name.
not in the entity’s name.

Figure 1.5 Categories of deposits and investments.

B Brief description of the types of investments the government is allowed
to purchase

B Significant violations during the period of legal and contractual provisions
for deposits and investments

B Types of investments held during the period but not held at year-end

B Certain reverse repurchase agreement disclosures

Also, GASBS 3 required reporting the carrying value and market value of depos-
its and investments. GASBS 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain
Investments and for External Investment Pools, issued in 1997 (and discussed later in
Section 1.6), dropped the requirement to report carrying value and changed mar-
ket value to fair value. New disclosures required by GASBS 40 include the credit
risk—bond ratings—of certain investments; concentration of investments when
the amount in one issue exceeds 5% of the value of the portfolio; not aggregating
dissimilar investments (such as Treasury bonds and strips); focusing the disclosure
of risk on the primary government unless the governmental activities, business-
type activities, individual major funds, nonmajor funds in the aggregate, or fidu-
ciary fund types have greater exposure to risk; reporting interest rate risk by any
one of five methods; disclosing investments that are highly susceptible to changes
in interest rates; and reporting foreign currency risks.

The next standard issued by the GASB was not so much a declaration of new
accounting and reporting policies, but one that directed SLGs to not follow a recent
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FASB standard. Recall that the GAAP hierarchy in force at this time required
SLGs to first follow GASB standards and then apply FASB standards if the GASB
had not yet ruled on a topic. In late 1985, the FASB had issued its Statement No. 87,
Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, and made it applicable to all employers including
SLGs. GASBS 4, Applicability of FASB Statement No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting
Jfor Pensions,” to State and Local Government Employers, issued in 1986, reversed
this requirement directing SLGs to wait until it published its own guidance on the
topic. Thus, GASBS 4 became the first of the so-called “negative standards” in that
it instructed SLGs to ignore a standard issued by the FASB.* GASBS 5, Disclosure
of Pension Information by Public Employee Retivement Systems and State and Local
Government Employers, issued 2 months after GASBS 4, provided the guidance
mentioned in that standard. It has since been superceded by a number of GASB
standards and thus is no longer in effect.

There is one other interesting point about GASBS 5 that makes it different
from the previous four standards: there was a dissenting vote. It was cast by the
chairman, James Antonio. He believed that the measurement focus of the standard
was different from the measurement focus of governmental accounting and should
reflect the approach used by governments for funding purposes. This would not be
the last time a member of the Board dissented on a standard.

GASBS 6, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Special Assessments, issued
in early 1987, was the first accounting standard to do away with a fund: special
assessment fund. These funds had been in use for a number of years (they were
included in the 1968 edition of GAAFR). The standard eliminated the fund from
external financial reporting, although governments could continue to use them for
internal purposes. However, special assessments continue to be an important part
of government operations. Those related to capital projects are accounted for in a
capital projects fund during the construction phase. If debt is issued to finance the
project, collection of the appropriate special assessments will occur in a debt service
fund, unless the government is not obligated on the debt in any manner; in that
case, an agency fund may be used. When no debt is involved or for a service spe-
cial assessment, the transaction is accounted for in the General Fund or in a special
revenue fund.

However, this standard went further than just changing financial reporting for
special assessments. As noted earlier, if the government is not obligated in any man-
ner on a debt, the debt need not be included in the notes to the financial statements.
So, what determines whether a government is obligated in any manner on a debt
issue? GASBS 6 provides this guidance in paragraph 16:

" One should remember that GASB and FASB have been colocated in the same building
throughout their joint history. As a result, you would think they could talk to one another and
avoid problems such as this one.
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B The government is obligated to honor deficiencies to the extent that lien fore-
closure proceeds are insufficient.

B The government is required to establish a reserve, guarantee, or sinking fund
with other resources.

B The government is required to cover delinquencies with other resources until
foreclosure proceeds are received.

B The government must purchase all properties (“sold” for delinquent assess-
ments) that were not sold at a public auction.

B The government is authorized to establish a reserve, guarantee, or sinking
fund, and it establishes such a fund. (If a fund is not established, the consid-
erations in subparagraphs g and h may nevertheless provide evidence that the
government is obligated in some manner.)

B The government may establish a separate fund with other resources for the
purpose of purchasing or redeeming special assessment debt, and it estab-
lishes such a fund. (If a fund is not established, the considerations in sub-
paragraphs g and h may nevertheless provide evidence that the government is
obligated in some manner.)

B The government explicitly indicates by contract (such as the bond agreement
or offering statement) that in the event of default, it may cover delinquencies,
although it has no legal obligation to do so.

B Legal decisions within the state or previous actions by the government related
to defaults on other special assessment projects make it probable that the gov-
ernment will assume responsibility for the debt in the event of default.

This information has proved invaluable when trying to determine whether a gov-
ernment needs to include a debt issue in its annual report. About the same time
GASBS 6 was published, the GASB staff issued only its second TB, TB 87-1,
Applying Paragraph 68 of GASB Statement 3. Obviously, this TB addressed a very
specific issue—one particular paragraph in an earlier GASB standard. The ques-
tions posed in the document addressed clarification provided on the categories of
risk for financial reporting.

The next standard issued by the original Board was GASBS 7, Advance Refunding
Resulting in Defeasance of Debt, also issued in 1987. This standard addressed many
of the same issues raised in FASB Statement No. 76, Extinguishment of Debt, issued
four years catlier. Although the GASB statement didn’t adopt the FASB rule as its
own, there is a definite influence of the older Board’s standard in this one.

Essentially, the GASB realized that SLGs were taking advantage of lower inter-
est rates in the mid-1980s to refinance old higher interest rate debt with lower
interest rate debt. The accounting for these activities varied widely, so the statement
standardized the process. GASBS 7 allows for two types of defeasances, or early
refunding, in which the old bond issue does not allow for an immediate call (if the
call provision was in the bond covenant, there would be no need for a defeasance).
The two types were legal defeasance and in-substance defeasance. The difference is
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that if the covenant of the old bond issue allows for a refunding, then the refunding
is a legal defeasance. If the old bond covenant is silent on the issue, then the refund-
ing is an in-substance defeasance.

There is no accounting difference in the two types of refunding. In either case,
when a new bond issue is to be used to finance the defeasance, the issue is recorded
as an other financing source (and the new debt is recorded in the General Long-
Term Liability list). Then, when the proceeds are used to pay the escrow agent, the
payment is recorded as an other financing use (and the old debt is removed from
the General Long-Term Liability list). Should the government use its own resources
in the refunding, that payment would be recorded as a debt service expenditure.

Once the payments are made to the escrow agent, the agent is restricted on the
types of investments that may be made with the money:

B Direct obligations of the U.S. government
B Obligations backed by the U.S. government
B Securities backed by U.S. government obligations

For, you see, only the U.S. government issues bonds that are considered risk free. In
fact, a further restriction is placed on the bonds that they cannot be callable, as that
would not guarantee the interest flow from the investment. If the escrow agent were
to make the wrong investments, then a defeasance would not occur, and a whole
host of other problems would be initiated.

What then is the difference between a legal defeasance and an in-substance
one? The answer lies in the required disclosures. For both types of defeasances,
there are three basic disclosures:

B A general description of the transaction including the debt issues involved
and why the refunding was undertaken

B The difference between cash flows required to service the old debt and the
new debt issued to finance the refunding

B The economic gain or loss from the transaction

An economic gain occurs when the present value of the cash flows of the new debt
is less than the present value of the cash flows required for the old debt. An eco-
nomic loss occurs if the opposite conditions are true. If done properly, a defeasance
should always result in an economic gain.

The difference in the disclosures for the two defeasances lies in the fourth dis-
closure required only for an in-substance defeasance. Since the old bond issue did
not specifically allow for a refunding, the amount of old debt still outstanding
at the end of the accounting period must be disclosed. This disclosure continues
until the old issue is completely retired.

In late 1987, the FASB issued another of its all-encompassing standards—one
that effected both the private and public sectors. This time, it was Statement No. 93,
Recognition of Depreciation by Not-for-Profit Organizations. This statement required
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that certain organizations, including nonprofit organizations and colleges and uni-
versities, begin to recognize depreciation on capital assets where no requirement
had existed previously. As was the case with the pension issue, the GASB disagreed
with the FASB’s position and instructed the nonprofit organizations that used its
accounting model to not implement FASB Statement No. 93. GASBS 8 has since
been superceded by GASBS 35, which is discussed later in this chapter.

It wasn’t too long until a similar event occurred again. This time the issue was
funds flow reporting. Also in 1987, the FASB had issued its Statement No. 95, 7he
Statement of Cash Flows, which replaced the Statement of Changes in Financial
Position as the funds flow statement for private sector entities. This latter statement
had been adopted in NCGA Statement 1, and was still applicable to certain public
sector entities. Hence, these governmental entities were confused as to whether
they should prepare the new Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) or the old Statement
of Changes in Financial Position.

The position of the GASB was not immediately apparent. In its bimonthly news-
letter, The Action Report (now called The GASB Report), the Board reported that it
intended to come out with its own standard for funds flow reporting. Two months
later in the next publication, the Board announced that it would allow govern-
ments to use either the FASB format of the SCF or the old Statement of Changes in
Financial Position provided all the disclosures required by the older statement are
still met. Then, in the next publication of 7he Action Report, the Board announced
its final position: it would be issuing its own standard.

That standard became GASBS 9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and
Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities thar Use Proprietary Fund
Accounting, issued by the Board in late 1989. We will not discuss the preparation of
this statement here as it is accomplished in the proprietary funds chapter. However,
we do want to point out some similarities and differences between the FASB cash
flow model and the one adopted by the GASB.

Figure 1.6 summarizes the formats required for the SCF for the GASB and
FASB, respectively. What is not apparent from the exhibit is a more subtle similar-
ity. When the FASB was debating the format of the SCF, the Board considered
requiring the direct method of preparing the Operating Activities section. Due to
strong opposition during the exposure draft phase of the standard-development
process, the FASB opted to allow the use of either the direct method or the indirect
method. However, it should be pointed out that, in the standard, the FASB still
indicated that the direct method was the preferred format. Unfortunacely, very few
private sector entities use the direct method. In one study done several years ago,
researchers found that only 4 of the top 600 companies in the United States used
the direct method. Since the FASB elected to allow either method, the GASB took
a similar position.

From Figure 1.6, a few other similarities are apparent. Both formats have an
Operating Activities section and an Investing Section. However, as will become
apparent in a moment, these sections are similar in title only. When preparing the
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GASB Model FASB Model

Operating Activities Operating Activities

Noncapital Financing Activities .
"7 >=- Financing Activities
Capital and Related Financing Activities __:: -

Investing Activities Investing Activities

Reconciliation of Operating Income Reconciliation of Net Income to Cash
to Cash Flows from Operating Activities Flows from Operating Activities
Noncash Transactions Noncash Transactions

Figure 1.6 Comparison of Statement of Cash Flow formats.

statement using the direct method, both formats require a separate reconciliation
of income to cash flows from operating activities. Finally, both formats require the
presentation of noncash transactions. Despite these apparent similarities, there are
many undetlying differences between the formats.

The most obvious difference in the two formats is the number of sections: the
GASB model has four sections, while the FASB model has three sections. As pointed
out here, some of these sections have the same name, but not the same content.
Both formats have an Operating Activities section. When prepared using the direct
method, both report gross cash receipts from customers and other sources, and
cash payments to employees and suppliers. However, the FASB model includes cash
received from interest and dividends and cash paid for interest in this section. The
GASB requires that cash received from interest and dividends be reported in the
Investing Activities section (where the investments that generated these cash flows
are reported). Also, the GASB requires that cash paid for interest be reported as
either in Noncapital Financing Activities section or Capital and Related Financing
Activities section, depending on the nature of the borrowing.

The FASB model uses a single Financing Activities section for all debt and
equity financing of the entity. Obviously, equity financing (issuing and retiring
stock) is not an issue for governments, but the GASB felt it was important to have
two financing sections in its format. These two sections are used to highlight the
different purposes of financing in its business-type activities that prepare the SCF.
The Noncapital Financing Activities section is used for the receipt or repayment
of debt and other financing sources and uses (such as taxes or transfers from or
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to other funds) that are not related to the acquisition of capital assets. This type
of financing should be infrequent in a fund, but the GASB wanted it reported
separately from the capital financing transactions reported in the next section in
the format. Any interest payments on these debt issues or interfund loans are also
recorded in this section.

The Capital and Related Financing Activities section has two important parts.
First, this section reports receipts of debt and transfers or loans from other funds
that are to be used to finance the acquisition of capital assets. Also included here
will be the subsequent repayment of this debt and, possibly, payments to other
funds for loans, including appropriate interest payments. The second part of the
section reports the cash payments for the acquisition of capital assets and then
the cash receipts for the subsequent sale of these assets at or near the end of their
useful lives. These latter transactions would be reported in the Investing Activities
section of the FASB model.

The final section of each SCF model is the Investing Activities section. The
FASB uses this section to report all long-term investments, whether the invest-
ments be for capital assets or for debt and equity investments of the entity. As noted
previously, the GASB reports capital asset transactions in the Capital and Related
Financing Activities section, leaving this section for only its debt and equity invest-
ment transactions. This section would also include cash receipts for interest and
dividends earned on these investments.

When preparing the SCF using the direct method, both the GASB and
FASB models require a presentation of reconciling income to cash flows from
operating activities. If the indirect method is used, these schedules become the
Operating Activities section of the report. Note, however, that the GASB uses oper-
ating income, whereas the FASB uses net income when preparing this section. By
using operating income, the GASB excludes automatically cash receipts and pay-
ments of interest. The format also avoids deducting gains and adding losses from
the sales of capital assets and other investments required in the FASB model.

The final section required in both formats is the reporting of noncash transac-
tions, or the investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of
cash. For example, issuing debt to acquire a capital asset or signing a capital lease
would be reported in this section. The FASB allows the information to be reported
either on the face of the SCF or in the notes to financial statements. The GASB felt
that the information was too important to be relegated to the notes; hence, GASBS
requires that the information be reported on the face of the statement.*

Scarcely 2 months after Statement No. 9 was issued, the GASB followed it
up with #10. This standard was different from the others. Generally, standards go

" Interestingly, GASBS 9 does not require placing the noncash transactions on the face of the
SCF. However, it is apparent from the Basis for Conclusions in the back of the standard that
such placement was the GASB’s intent. This intention was put into practice with the Q&A
that was issued for this standard.
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into effect a few months to one year after issuance. Of standards 2 through 9, the
longest period until implementation was 11 months; the shortest period was upon
issuance. Statement No. 10 went into effect in two different time periods. For pub-
lic entity risk pools, the standard went into effect within 8 months; for all other
entities, the standard would not go into effect for over 4 years! The reason for the
delay had to do with Statement No. 11, which we will review shortly.

The purpose of GASBS 10, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Risk Financing
and Related Insurance Issues, was to address what had fairly recently become a very
hot topic in governmental accounting and reporting: self-insurance. In earlier years,
governments insured virtually all risks of loss with commercial insurance. Then,
the United States became a much more litigious society, thus driving up the cost of
commercial insurance. Many governments began to finance all losses up to a cer-
tain point, and then bought commercial insurance to cover only catastrophic losses.
This self-financing became known as sel/finsurance, or to some as “no insurance.”
In fact, that is what it was. Governments had no insurance until the catastrophic
insurance policies kicked in (think of a policy with a $1 to $5 million deductible).

But why two implementation dates? The answer lies with another statement
the GASB was planning on issuing soon. That statement, which became No. 11,
was going to make some radical changes in the way governmental funds reported
expenditures. Since much of GASBS 10 addresses expenditures and the simultane-
ous recognition of liabilities, the GASBS 10 needed to go into effect at near the
same time as GASBS 11 and some other standards the GASB would be issuing.
However, public entity risk pools use proprietary fund accounting. Therefore, wait-
ing for GASBS 11 was not essential to insurance accounting in these entities, and
the standard could be implemented immediately.

What did GASBS 10 bring to the GAAP table? First, it reaffirmed the use
of FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, in accounting for insur-
ance claims: if the claim is reasonably probable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated, the claim—and related expense or expenditures and liabilicy—should
be recognized. Second, it provided rules on how to account for self-insured risk
management transactions. Third, it provided guidance on how to account for
risk management. The standard gives governments the option of accounting for risk
management in individual funds or consolidating the accounting into a single fund.
If a government elects to consolidate the accounting into a single fund, it must be
either the General Fund or an Internal Service Fund (ISF). If the General Fund
is used, only expenditures for claims paid for from current financial resources are
recognized in it. Other claims were to be recorded in what was then the General
Long-Term Debt Account Group (under GASBS 34, discussed in Section 1.7.3,
this account group becomes merely the General Long-Term Liability list). If an
ISF is used, all claims are recognized as expenses of the fund. However, the fund
is allowed to build reserves for large self-insurance losses, an option not available
if the General Fund is used. For this reason, many recommended using an ISF over
the General Fund when accounting for risk management.
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This standard has been modified twice. GASB Statement No. 30, Risk Financing
Omnibus, made some slight changes to the standard.* It provides some additional
note disclosures and required supplementary information for public entity risk
pools and some additional disclosure requirements for entities other than pools.
GASB Interpretation No. 4, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Capitalization
Contributions to Public Entity Risk Pools, requires that contributions made to pro-
vide initial capitalization for public entity risk pools should be treated as prepaid
insurance in the fund making the payment and amortized over the period that the
pool will provide insurance coverage.

1.4 The 5-Year Review

It was decided when the GASB was established in 1984 that, after 5 years, there
would be a review of its operations to determine if the Board was a success. If so,
recommendations were to be made for its continuance. The review board made a
total of 35 recommendations on the structure and operation of the GASB in its
final report (issued on November 30, 1989). Although a complete copy of this
review was unavailable at the time this chapter was written, the more significant
aspects of it are well known and are reviewed here.

You may remember that in 1989, the FASB consisted of seven, full-time Board
members who were quite well compensated for their work (the actual amount
isn’t known, but it is believed to have been in the $300,000 range). Meanwhile,
over at the GASB, the Board had only two full time members—the Chairman
(Mr. Antonio) and Vice Chairman/Director of Research (Mr. Ives)—and three
part-time members. One recommendation of the review panel was to make all five
members full time. However, because of the cost involved, it was decided that the
financial supporters of the GASB (at this time, all funding came from CPA firms,
state and local governments [SLGs], and other organizations that relied on gov-
ernmental accounting standards) could not, or would not, support such an orga-
nization. But, a realignment was made. The position of Vice Chairman/Director
of Research was divided into two positions. The Board member position of Vice
Chairman became a part-time appointment (although Mr. Ives continued to serve
as a full-time Vice Chairman until he left the Board in June 1994). The newly cre-
ated position of Director of Research became a full-time staff position. The first
person to fill that position was David R. Bean, who continues to serve 18 years after
his appointment in the fall of 1990.

Another recommendation of the review board dealt with compensation for the
Board members. The full-time members were not paid nearly as well as their FASB

" Itis interesting to note that every time a GASB pronouncement contains the word “ominbus,”
it means that the pronouncement is fixing errors in an earlier standard.
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counterparts, and the part-time members’ salaries were, obviously, even less. The
review board recommended that the full-time compensation be raised to the same
level as the FASB. However, just as the organizations that support the GASB would
not agree to a full-time Board, they would not support paying the Board members
at the same rate as their FASB counterparts. Many in government felt that the
Board members’ pay should be consistent with large government salaries for finan-
cial personnel, not private sector financial personnel.

The third recommendation was to establish an Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF), similar to the one the FASB has, to handle hot topic issues. The GASB
briefly considered such a plan, but no action was ever taken. Currently, the
GASB has no plans to establish an EITF.

The fourth recommendation was to have a conceptual framework for SLG
accounting and reporting, similar to the one in the private sector. By 1989, the
GASB had issued only one concepts statement, Objectives of Financial Reporting, in
1987. Five years after the review board’s reccommendations, another entitled Service
Efforts and Accomplishments was issued (in 1994), which examines the possibility of
nonfinancial reporting. To date, no accounting standards have been issued based
on this concepts statement.

The fifth recommendation of the review board, and one that was immediately
acted upon, was regarding the apparent inability of the FASB and GASB to coor-
dinate some of their standards. The review board felt, as did many others, that the
GASB issuing standards directing its constituents not to follow certain FASB stan-
dards did not look very professional. Of course, the problem was caused by some
colleges and universities, hospitals, and nonprofit organizations following GASB
standards, and others following FASB standards. In the opinion of the review
board, there was a simple solution: put all these organizations under the same stan-
dard-setting body—the FASB. The FAF put this resolution to a vote. At the time,
the FAF consisted of 15 members: 12 from the private sector and 3 from the public
sector. As you might suspect, that was the result of the vote—12 to 3 in favor of
moving the entities under the FASB.

Reaction to this vote by the public sector was immediate. Many of the support-
ers of the GASB met to discuss this action. The result of this meeting was a strongly
worded letter to the FAF indicating the displeasure of these organizations to the vote.
There is some speculation that the letter included a threat to reestablish the NCGA
and not follow GASB or FASB standards. Regardless of the actual content of the let-
ter, the FAF did reconsider its position and voted to reverse its original position.*

" In the years since the review board’s recommendations, there have been other suggestions on
how to improve accounting and reporting for hospitals and colleges and universities. One
suggestion was to put all colleges and universities under the GASB and all hospitals under the
FASB. However, no action has ever been taken on this proposal or other similar ones.
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What, then, was the result of the 5-year review? The Board’s make-up was
substantially altered to one full-time member (the Chairman) and four part-time
members. A full-time Director of Research position was established and separated
from a Board member’s responsibility. This change made the staff a little more
independent from the Board. Finally, the necessity of the GASB was recognized,
and the review board recommended that it continue to set accounting standards
for the public sector.

However, there was still one sticking point from the 5-year review: how to more
appropriately handle conflicts between the GASB and FASB on certain accounting
issues and avoid the GASB having to issue negative standards. Clearly, the problem
lay in the GAAP hierarchy that placed the FASB second to the GASB in issuing
standards for the public sector. In what became known as the jurisdictional agree-
ment, the hierarchy was changed to remove the FASB from the GASB GAAP hier-
archy. The change in hierarchy was made formal by the Auditing Standards Board
(ASB) in its Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, The Meaning of “Present
Fairly” in the Auditor’s Report (issued in January 1992). A comparison of the old and
new hierarchies of GAAP is shown in Figure 1.7.

Clearly, the most significant change in the hierarchy is at the second level. The
FASB statements and interpretations have been dropped from the hierarchy unless
they are formally adopted by the GASB in one of its publications. This change
solved the problem of negative standards.

1.5 The Original Board’s “Last Stand”

The implementation of the review board’s recommendations had little impact on
the ongoing actions of the GASB. However, the five members of the Board had
been originally appointed for 5-year terms. Those terms expired in 1989, but with
the ongoing review, were extended another year. Thus, the standard issued in late
1989 (GASBS 10) and the three issued in early 1990 were the last ones of the origi-
nal Board.

The last three standards of the original Board were all issued in May 1990. The
timing was very important. In June, two of the original members would be leaving.
Thus, the vote on these new standards might be different with the new members. Of
the three, GASB Statement No. 11, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting—
Governmental Fund Operating Statements, was the most important. This statement
had entered the Board’s agenda in 1985, and it represented the culmination of
much of the Board’s work since then. Indeed, it is the only standard to ever have
had two exposure drafts (EDs). The first ED looked at changing the measurement
focus and basis of accounting for all governmental fund financial statements. It was
considered unwieldy by many of the constituents of the Board, so a second ED was
issued that scaled back the project to address only the governmental fund operating
statements—or only half the reporting model. The final statement represented a
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“Old” Hierarchy
1984-1991

“New” Hierarchy
1992-present

1. GASB Statements and
Interpretations

a. GASB Statements and
Interpretations

AICPA and FASB pronouncements
adopted by GASB in GASB
Statements and Interpretations

2. FASB Statements and
Interpretations (including
predecessor pronouncements still
in effect)

b. GASB Technical Bulletins

AICPA Audit Guides and
Accounting Guides and SOPs if (1)
made applicable to SLGs by the
AICPA and (2) cleared by the GASB

3. Pronouncements of other “expert
bodies” that follow due process

c. GASB Emerging Issues Task Force
consensus positions [to date there
is no GASB EITF]

AcSEC Practice Bulletins [none
have ever applied to SLGs]

4. Widely recognized practices or
pronouncements that represent
prevalent practice or
knowledgeable application of
other GAAP pronouncements to
specific circumstances

d. GASB staff Implementation Guides
[also known as Q&As]

Widely recognized and prevalent
SLG accounting practices

5. All not in levels 14

e. All not in levels a—d

Figure 1.7 Comparison of old and new GAAP hierarchies.

major restructuring of governmental accounting as we know it. However, it had a

very interesting effective date.

All standards include an effective date. As mentioned in the discussion on GASBS
10, this date is usually soon after the issuance of the statement. GASBS 10 was the
first standard to differ from this practice; GASBS 11 was the second. Paragraph 100
(the effective date paragraph) of GASBS 11 makes for interesting reading:

The requirements of this Statement are effective for financial state-
ments for periods beginning after June 15, 1994. Early application is nor
permitted because of the need for simultaneous implementation with
GASB pronouncements on [1] financial reporting, [2] capital report-
ing, [3] pension accounting, [4] risk financing and insurance, and
[5] the types of nonrecurring projects and activities that have long-term
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economic benefit and for which debt meets the definition of general
long-term capital debt. Transition requirements for this Statement will
be established by a future Statement on financial reporting. [emphasis

and [#] added]

The standard could not be implemented for 4 years after the standard was issued.
Why? Because at least four other standards (#4 from the lis—GASBS 10—had
been issued) had to be issued before this standard could go into effect. By June
1993—one year before implementation was to have started—none of these addi-
tional standards had been issued.

The Board must have been worried, and the Board members had changed sub-
stantially. By June 1993, only Mr. Antonio and Mr. Ives remained from the original
Board—Mr. Defliese and Mr. Staats had left the Board in 1990. The three part-

time members were all new:

B Dr. Robert J. Freeman had come on the Board in 1990, replacing one of the
original Board members.

B Mr. Anthony Mandolini also came on the Board in 1990. He left in June
1992, and was replaced by Mr. Edward M. Klasny.

B Ms. Barbara A. Henderson who replaced Mr. Harmer came on the Board
in 1991.

As a result of the Board’s concerns, a preliminary views document was issued to
examine a narrower project on balance sheet issues and other related issues that
needed to be addressed prior to implementing GASBS 11. Most of the respondents
to this document preferred to delay the effective date of GASBS 11 undil all the
issues could be addressed. From these responses came an ED proposing this delay,
which resulted in GASBS 17.

GASB Statement No. 17, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting— Govern-
mental Fund Operating Statements: Amendment of the Effective Dates of GASB
Statement No. 11 and Related Statements, indefinitely delayed the implementation
of GASBS 11 until all the necessary statements related to the reporting project set
out in that statement could be completed. The statement also implemented the
fund portion of GASBS 10 (delayed in that standard until the implementation
of GASBS 11) and indefinitely delayed certain aspects of GASBS 13 that relied on
GASBS 11.

The political implications of GASBS 17 are as interesting as the standard itself.
Recall that three of the original Board members had left by the time GASBS 17 was
issued. The vote to issue GASBS 17 was 3 to 2, with the new part-time members
voting to delay and the two remaining Board members dissenting with GASBS 17.
As noted earlier, whenever a Board member votes against a standard, a dissent is
written as part of the document explaining the dissent. Mr. Antonio and Mr. Ives
wrote just such a dissent. The dissent runs 792 words, whereas the “Standards”
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portion of GASBS 17 runs only 459 words, that is, the dissent is over 300 words
longer than the actual document. Obviously, Mr. Antonio and Mr. Ives did not
care much for the delay in implementing GASBS 11.

Compared to GASBS 11, the issues in GASB Statement No. 12, Disclosure
of Information on Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pension Benefits by State
and Local Government Employers, and GASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for
Operating Leases with Scheduled Rent Increases, were not as contentious. GASBS 12
was an interim statement, pending completion of a larger project on accounting
and reporting for other postemployment benefits.* Essentially, these benefits are
accounted for on a pay-as-you-go basis. The standard requires making disclosures
on a general description of the benefits provided, who is covered, the legal require-
ments for providing the benefits, a description of the accounting policies for the
benefits, and the dollar amount of benefits paid.

GASBS 13 was even narrower in focus. This standard examined only leases that
had lower lease payments in the early years of the lease than in the later years. If the
difference in lease payments reflected economic factors or a specific time pattern
related to the lease, lease revenue is recognized in accordance with the lease agree-
ment. However, if the difference in lease payments resulted from an inducement to
get the lessee to agree to the terms, then the revenue is recognized in equal install-
ments over the term of the lease.

GASBS 13 marked the end of the original board. As noted earlier in the discus-
sion on GASBS 11, when Statement Nos. 11, 12, and 13 came out in 1990, they
marked the last standards of the five original members of the GASB. It was defi-
nitely the end of an era. Of the 13 standards published by the original Board, only

on two occasions was a dissenting vote cast:

B Mr. Antonio dissented on GASBS 5
B Mr. Defliese dissented on GASBS 9

As we have already seen in the discussion on GASBS 11, that was about to change
in a big way.

1.6 New Board, New Issues, New Standards

It would be over one year before the GASB issued another standard. By that
time, only one of the original three part-time members of the Board remained:
Mr. Harmer. The two new members were Dr. Freeman and Mr. Mandolini, the
same two members who voted no to GASBS 14.

" This project has now been completed by GASBS 43 and 45. As these standards have not yet
gone into effect at the time of this writing, they are excluded from this analysis of current

public sector GAAP.
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This statement marked a major change in the way governments reported many
of their activities. Prior to GASBS 14, if there was any question about whether an
activity should be included in the report of a government, it was usually omitted
from the report. With the advent of GASBS 14, the position changed 180°% now
if there is any doubt, the activity is usually included in the report. Also, prior to
this standard, all activities were reported as funds of the government. GASBS 14
expanded the reports of governments to present discretely presented and blended
component units, thus greatly expanding the concept of the reporting entity.

The concept of reporting entity came up with NCGA Statements 3 and 7, which
defined the reporting entity and gave us component units, respectively. However,
GASBS 14 radically changed the way we looked at these elements. But, we are,
to some extent, getting ahead of ourselves. There are some terms that need to be

defined:

B Primary government—state or local (county or city) governments. It also
includes special purpose governments (such as an independent school dis-
trict) that have a separately elected governing body, is legally separate, and is
fiscally independent of other state or local governments.

B DPotential component unit (PCU)—Ilegally separate organization that may have
a relationship with a primary government. The relationship may be defined
by financial accountability or by its nature and significance. Excluding the
potential component unit from the reporting entity would cause the financial
report to be misleading or incomplete.

B Reporting entity—the primary government and its component units.
However, if a component unit issues a separate report, it is the primary gov-
ernment of that reporting entity.

Now, imagine that a governmental entity prepares an annual report—they do that,
you know. The entity takes the role of the primary government in that report. The
report contains all the government’s funds. About that, there should be no ques-
tion—or, at least there won’t be by the time you finish reading this book. However,
the report needs to reflect the reporting entity—not just the primary government.
Therefore, the government must examine these PCUs to determine if they should
be part of the reporting entity.

The best place to start is fiscal dependency. Recall that in our definition of a pri-
mary government, entities that are fiscally independent of other SLGs are primary
governments. However, if this entity—the PCU—has to go to another government
to get approval (1) for the PCU’s budget, or (2) for the PCU’s rates or charges, or
(3) for the PCU to issue debt, then the PCU is fiscally dependent on that other
government. Since fiscal dependency exists, the PCU becomes a component unit.

Beyond fiscal dependency, things get a little murkier but not impossible to
understand. If fiscal dependency exists, the PCU is a component unit of the primary
government. However, if the fiscal dependency tests don’t apply, then we must look
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for other indicators. The starting point is the relationship between the governing
body of the primary government and the PCU. If the primary government appoints
a voting majority of the PCU’s governing body or the primary government estab-
lished and can abolish the PCU’s governing body, we have passed a major test.
However, this appointment power is not enough. The primary government must
also have the ability to impose its will on the PCU or could receive financial ben-
efits or burdens from the PCU for the PCU to become a component unit.

How does the primary government determine whether it can impose its will on
the PCU? There are several tests:*

B The primary government can remove members of the PCU’s governing body.

B The primary government can veto, overrule, or modify decisions of the PCU’s
governing body.

B The primary government can appoint, hire, reassign, or dismiss members of
the PCU’s management.

If the primary government has the appointment power and any of the powers iden-
tified here, then the PCU is a component unit.

What happens, though, if the primary government has none of these three pow-
ers? Can the PCU still be a component unit? Yes, so long as the primary government
can receive a financial benefit or burden from the PCU, along with the aforemen-
tioned appointment power. If the primary government can legally access the PCU’s
resources, that constitutes the possibility of receiving a benefit. If the primary gov-
ernment is legally obligated in some manner on debt issued by the PCU, that offers
the possibility of receiving a burden should the PCU default on the debt. Finally, if
the primary government must finance deficits or provide financial support for the
PCU, there is the possibility of receiving a burden from the PCU. If any of these
three conditions exist, the PCU is a component unit of the primary government.

Once all the component units have been determined, it is necessary to include
them in the financial report of the reporting entity. This presentation can be made
in two ways: discrete presentation or blended presentation. Blended presentation
means that the component unit appears in the annual report as if it were another
fund. This method of presentation is allowed only if the governing bodies of the
primary government and the component unit are substantially the same, or if
the component unit provides services entirely (or almost entirely) to the primary
government. If neither of these conditions are met, then discrete presentation is
required.

" In this area, GASBS 14 does an odd thing. Two of the five abilities identified in the standard
would make the PCU fiscally dependent on the primary government. If either of those condi-
tions exist, having appointment authority over the PCU’s governing body would not matter.
Therefore, those conditions are omitted from this discussion.
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The requirements of this standard were affected by GASBS 34, but not as much
as some other standards.

GASB Statement No. 15, Governmental College and University Accounting and
Financial Reporting Models, issued in October 1991, was very important when it
came out, although it is much less so now. The purpose of the standard was to
make resolute the accounting and reporting models that public sector colleges and
universities could use. There was evidently some fear that some colleges and univer-
sities might be using the FASB model, which would not be allowed under the juris-
dictional agreement. The standard clarified that either the AICPA College Guide
model or the governmental model could be used. This standard was later replaced by
GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis—for Colleges and Universities. This standard is discussed later.

This last standard saw another change in the membership of the Board.
Mr. Harmer, who had been the only temporary member of the Board carried
forward from the original Board, left and was replaced by Barbara Henderson.
Ms. Henderson had been serving as the Finance Director of Fullerton, California,
up until that time. She went on to serve a total of 9 years on the Board.

Before the end of 1991, the GASB issued a totally new document. This one
is popularly called a Q&#A or an Implementation Guide. Whatever short title you
want to use, though, the document was definitely a new type of publication from
the Board. The complete title of this one was Guide to Implementation of GASB
Statement 3 on Deposits with Financial Institutions, Investments (including Repurchase
Agreements), and Reverse Repurchase Agreements; it was issued in December 1991.
Also, on the title page of the document, but separated from the main title by several
inches, are the words “Questions and Answers.”

One of the truly strange things about this document is when it was published:
5 years, almost to the day, since the effective date of GASBS 3. That difference begs
the question, really unanswered by the Q&A: “Hey guys, what took you so long?”
The first question in the Q&A addresses why the Board issued GASBS 3, but not
why it issued this Q&A. You must read the introductory material fairly closely to
see that the Board sought to “codify” the technical questions received by the GASB
staff on a regular basis. In order to have a good Q&A, the staff needs good questions
to include in it. These items are not something the people who work at the GASB
make up. They are actual technical inquiries received at the GASB on a daily basis.
Not all inquiries are included in the Q&A, but they do provide the foundation for
it. From these questions, the staff can also find other interesting items to include
in the Q&A, which are usually found in the appendices. Also, by publishing the
technical questions and answers in the document, it raises the responses to level “d”
GAAP. Until that happens, the answers to technical questions have no standing,

This first Q&A was quite lengthy, consisting of 121 questions and 4 appendices.
The questions are divided into 12 different broad sections, many with subtopics.
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Some of the sections are (1) Concept of credit risk categories, (2) The meaning of
the categories: Are deposits safe or unsafe, (3) Scope of Statement 3, and (4) Specific
issues of deposits with financial institutions, to name just a few. In the introductory
section of the document, the Board promises that this won’t be the last Q&A.

True to its word, before the GASB issues another standard it issues another
Q&A. This one is called Guide to Implementation of GASB Statement 9 on Reporting
Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities
That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, issued in June 1992. This one is much more
timely than the last Q&A, being published only 2.5 years after the effective date of
GASBS 9. This document is not quite as long as its predecessor; it contains only 75
questions. Given that the GASB requires preparing the Statement of Cash Flows
using the direct method when implementing GASBS 34, this is still very much an
important document and one that should be referred to often.

After this Q&A was issued, another change in the Board occurred. Mr. Man-
dolini, who had come on the Board in 1990, left after 2 years (the length of his
appointment) and was replaced by Mr. Ed Klasny, former governmental audit part-
ner of what was then Ernst and Whinney (now Ernst & Young). Mr. Klasny would
go on to serve a total of 10 years on the Board.

The only standard issued by the Board in 1992 was No. 16, Accounting for
Compensated Absences, issued in November of that year. This standard addresses
a topic near and dear to the hearts of all employees: vacation leave and sick leave.
Very few employees are ever worried about the accounting for these absences, only
that they have a right to them.

Employees earn the right to vacation leave and sick leave based on a past trans-
action: their employment. It is up to the employer to do the accounting. For vaca-
tion leave, an accrual must be made for leave that is earned and for which the
employee will receive benefits through paid time off (before retirement) or by cash
payment at termination or retirement.

Unlike vacation leave, sick leave has one other requirement beyond just doing
the work to earn it: to take sick leave an employee must be sick! Therefore, the
accounting rules are slightly different, too. Here, an accrual must be made only
if the employee will receive at the time of separation or retirement cash payments
for sick leave not taken. The accruals are made at the end of the year as adjusting
entries, and reflect the pay and benefits in effect at that time.

The year 1993 was a big one for the GASB. We have already mentioned GASBS
17 in our discussion of GASBS 11. That was only one of seven standards issued that
year, along with another Q&A. After GASBS 17, the next standard out dealt with
new rules for accounting for landfills: Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill
Closure and Postclosure Care Costs (which came out in August). This standard was
in reaction to new Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) rules on the operation
of landfills and what had to be done to those landfills after they were closed. The
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EPA gave many guidelines for operation of the sites, by requiring cells to be con-
structed in a certain way and used in certain ways during the life of the landfill.
Once the landfill was closed, the EPA provided guidance on the capping of the cells
(the closure costs) and the monitoring of the site to ensure there was no leakage into
groundwater or the escape of methane gas into the air for 30 years after the closure
of the cell (postclosure care costs).

Figure 1.8 helps to show how to account for the costs of operating a landfill, if
an enterprise fund is used. If a government uses a governmental fund to account
for the landfill operation, expenditures would be recorded only for the amount
actually paid from current financial resources; other amounts would be recorded
in the General Long-Term Liabilities list. All the actual costs incurred during the
preparation of the site and the estimated costs of postclosure care are accounted
for during the life of the landfill. The postclosure care costs include the equipment

Cash Disbursements—Before Opening, During Active Life,
at Closure, and During Postclosure Care
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R Expenses—All Related -7 .
N to Active Life P
| {
I | | |
o
| | | |
Opening Closure End
. Active
Preparation . Postclosure Care
Life

Method:

—

. All expected costs of closure and postclosure care are estimated at the outset—
the beginning of the Active Life—and are reestimated annually.
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. The useful capacity (cubic feet) of the MSWLF also is estimated initially and
revised when appropriate).

w

During each year of Active Life the ratable portion of the total estimated cost
of closure and postclosure care—based on the percentage (%) of total MSWLF
capacity used that period—is recorded:
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4. Related cash disbursements are recorded:
Liability
Cash

Figure 1.8 Accounting for landfills. (Adapted with permission from Robert J.
Freeman and Craig D. Shoulders, Governmental Accounting, Reporting, and
Auditing: Update, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, 1994.)
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necessary to monitor the site during the postclosure time period, the cost of final
capping, and cost of monitoring and maintaining the site during the postclosure
care period. As the landfill fills up, accruals are made for estimated costs based on
current cost projections. Should these projections change later, appropriate adjust-
ments have to be made.

The third standard that came out in 1993 was a relatively minor one with a very
narrow focus, although you wouldn’t know it from the title: Governmental College
and University Omnibus Statement (GASBS 19, issued in September). Usually, when
the GASB uses the word “omnibus” in a standard, it tends to be a broad standard
that fixes error in previous standards. This one applied to Pell grant accounting and
handling risk financing activities. It has since been superceded by GASBS 35.

GASBS 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other
Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, was also issued in
September. This standard was one of the more curious standards issued by the
GASB. It came about as a result of some proprietary funds—notably utilities—
wanting to follow more of the FASB’s pronouncements. There was a perception
by these utilities that such an option would make their financial statements more
comparable to those in the private sector and enable them to compete better in the
bond market (this belief has never been proved).

To allow these activities to follow more FASB standards, the GASB decided to

give them two options:

1. The activities could follow all pronouncements of the FASB and predeces-
sor organizations (the Committee on Accounting Procedure [Accounting
Research Bulletins] and the Accounting Principles Board [Opinions]) issued
up to November 30, 1989, as long as those standards did not conflict with
GASB standards.

2. The activities could follow all the pronouncements in option #1 plus those
issued by the FASB after November 30, 1989, as long as those standards did
not conflict with GASB standards.

The last provision in both options keeps these activities from departing from gov-
ernmental GAAP. For instance, they could not implement FASBS 95, Statement of
Cash Flows, as that would conflict with GASBS 9. Another thing to keep in mind
for governments considering option #2 is that it applies to all pronouncements from
the FASB, not just the standards but also interpretations, TBs, Q&As, and guid-
ance issued by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF).

Another curious aspect of this standard is what it says to disclose, or more
accurately, what it doesn’t say about disclosure. If you examine almost any standard
issued by the GASB, there will usually be a section near the end describing the
disclosure requirements. This section is missing from this standard. As a result,
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many governments made the election between option #1 and option #2 but did not
disclose it. This lack of guidance was fixed in GASBS 34.*

GASBS 21, Accounting for Escheat Property, issued in October, was the fifth
standard of 1993. The standard defines “escheat” as the “revision of property to a
governmental entity in the absence of legal claimants or heirs” (paragraph 1). In
most states, escheat occurs after a certain length of time when property—usually
bank deposits—is unclaimed or has no activity. Most states have a stated time
period for inactivity. In Tennessee, the period is 5 years.

Once the property is claimed by the government, the government must decide
what fund is going to account for the property. This fund is known as the u/timate
fund. Once assigned to the ultimate fund, there are two options on how the prop-

erty may be used:

B [t may be used in the operation of the government (immediately or after the

passage of a certain length of time; in some states, this period is 10 years).
B [t may be held in perpetuity for a possible future claim (although the earnings
from the property could be used to support government operations).

In Tennessee, the second option applies. The lia-
bility exists in perpetuity in the General Fund, but
the earnings from the property can be appropri-
ated by the State Legislature for general govern-
ment operations.

GASBS 22, Accounting for Taxpayer-Assessed Tax
Revenues, was somewhat controversial when it came
out in December. The basic impact of the standard
was to put revenue recognition for sales tax reve-
nues and income tax revenues on the same footing
as property tax revenues. Before this standard was
issued, these revenues were almost always recog-
nized on a cash basis, although some governments
had begun to recognize them using the availability
criterion used for property taxes. GASBS 22 made
this process required.t The controversy caused by
this standard was that governments would now
recognize more revenues, but wouldn’t necessar-
ily have the cash to support them. Many finance

wo Alabama CPAs approached me

about GASBS 22. Both wanted to
know if they had to implement the stan-
dard. | pointed out to them that anytime
a standard says this “should be done”
what that really means is “you will do
it.” Neither liked the response, but both
understood it.

Some months later | saw both of them
at another meeting. | asked them how the
implementation had gone. One responded
that it had not gone well. | asked why not.
He said it took three meetings of the city
council to convince them that while rev-
enues had gone up, they didn’t have any
more money to spend.

I looked at the other for his response.
He said he had no trouble at all. I asked
how that happened, and he responded
that he decided the amount wasn’t mea-
surable. Therefore, nothing had to be
accrued. | looked at him as if to say, but
you know better than that. He just smiled.
| then said, “Well, you are the one that
signed the audit—not me!”

" When asked why that section was left out of the standard, a member of the GASB staff
responded that everyone should know they have to disclose significant accounting policies,
and this choice qualifies as one of those. The evidence of reporting between 1993 and 1999

(when GASBS 34 was published) would indicate otherwise.
T A popular expression about this standard is that it had the same impact as raising the speed
limit from 55 to 65—it placed what a lot of people were already doing within the law.
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directors were opposed to this recognition. However, the controversy was short-
lived. The standard was superceded by GASBS 33 that came out 5 years later.

GASBS 23, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Refundings of Debr Reported
by Proprietary Activities, issued in December, was the last standard of 1993. It was
as controversial as GASBS 22 but for different reasons. This standard changed the
way we had been accounting for advance refundings of debt by proprietary funds.*
Prior to these new rules, an advance refunding had been accounted for in the same
manner as one in the private sector. That is, the entry on an advance refunding
would look something similar to this:

Old debt issue 400,000

Unamortized bond premium (old issue) 25,000

Extraordinary loss on early retirement of debt | 95,000

Unamortized bond premium (new issue) 20,000

New bond issue 500,000

An extraordinary loss would occur generally when the refunding was properly
completed.

GASBS 23 changes this entry by eliminating the extraordinary loss and replacing
it with a deferral account. This deferral is then amortized as a component of interest
expense over the shorter of the remaining life of the old bonds or the life of the new
bonds. The deferral is reported as a contra account to the new bond issue liability.

Many respondents to the exposure draft (ED) were opposed to the standard,
because it would make refundings in proprietary funds different from their coun-
terparts in the private sector. However, the GASB felt there were fundamental dif-
ferences on why to complete a refunding in the private sector than in the public
sector. Obviously, the Board believed this was a change for the better.

While we will discuss GASBS 34 shortly, one comment about it as the standard
relates to advance refundings needs to be made now. Although the rules for account-
ing for advance refundings in governmental funds remain the same, when govern-
ment-wide statements are prepared, those refundings have to be restated to match
the GASBS 23 reporting requirements. This change applies to all refundings done
in the year of GASBS 34 implementation and after—it is not a retroactive change.

The last document issued in 1993 was the Board’s third Q&A, Guide to
Implementation of GASB Statement 10 on Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Risk Financing and Related Insurance Issues. | know what you must be thinking:
GASBS 10 came out in 1989, so why did it take more than 4 years to come out with

" The governmental funds already have a standard on this issue—No. 7, which had been issued
in 1987.
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this Q&A? The answer lies in the effective date of GASBS 10. Most of the standard
was to go into effect at the same time as GASBS 11. Since GASBS 17 indefinitely
delayed GASBS 11, it also called for the implementation of GASBS 10.

This Q&A was the longest one up to that time, containing 110 questions and
answers in 86 pages (the Q&A for #3 had 76 pages, while #9 had 58 pages). This
Q&A is a little different from the other two as it has two broad sections: one for
public entity risk pools (PERPs) and another for entities other than pools. Within
these two sections are similar categories including (1) definition and scope, (2) rec-
ognition and measurement, and (3) disclosures.

Not as many documents were published in 1994 as in 1993, but it was still
a banner year for the GASB with four major standards and another Q&A. The
first standard of the year, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Grants
and Other Financial Assistance (issued in June), addressed three issues: pass-through
grants, food stamps, and on-behalf payments of salaries and benefits.

First, what is a pass-through grane? It is a grant issued by a higher government
(such as the state or federal government) that passes through a local government on
its way to the agency or organization that will actually spend the money. Some
of the terminology in this process can be a little confusing. The recipient govern-
ment is known as the primary recipient, whereas the agency or organization that
will spend the money is the secondary recipient. One might think that the agency
for whom the money is primarily intended would be the primary recipient, but it
doesn’t work that way.

Prior to the issuance of this standard, most governments accounted for pass-
through grants in an agency fund as the money was just coming in and going right
back out. Using an agency fund made sense. However, it did limit the control over
the money. To tighten this control and other internal controls over the funding,
this standard requires that the funding be recognized as an intergovernmental rev-
enue when it is received, and as an expenditure when it is disbursed. Although it is
not widely used, some governments report the expenditure as an intergovernmen-
tal expenditure rather than including it as one of the other current (or operating)
expenditure classifications. Most governments set up a special revenue fund (SRF)
to account for these grants.

There are still certain circumstances when an SRF may not be necessary. If a
government has no administrative or direct financial involvement in the program,
they can still use an agency fund. Examples of administrative involvement include
(these come from paragraph 5 of the standard):

B Monitoring secondary recipients for compliance with program requirements

B Determining eligibility of the secondary recipients to participate in the pro-
gram, regardless of who (the primary government or the grantor) sets the
eligibility requirements

B Having discretion in how the money is allocated
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Figure 1.9 On-behalf payments.

Financial involvement would be having to provide financing because of matching
requirements or being liable for disallowed costs.

The second issue in the standard is food stamps and applies only to state govern-
ments. An expenditure is recognized when the food stamps are distributed (or, for
states using electronic benefits transfer system, when the beneficiary uses the ben-
efit) with corresponding revenue recognized at the same time. For states still using
paper food stamps, the stamps on hand at the end of the month would be reported
as an asset (although not cash and cash equivalents, but as a separate account) with
an offsetting deferred revenue liability.

The third issue in the standard addressed on-behalf payment of salaries and
benefits. This process is summarized in Figure 1.9. The payments would typically
be paid by one government for another government. For example, in some states,
schools may receive a substantial amount of funding from a higher government (the
state or a city or county government). Rather than transferring the money to the
school and then having the school transfer the money to the retirement system,
the higher government may make a direct payment to the retirement system. Prior
to this standard, this payment received no accounting in the school board. Now,
the school board must recognize simultaneously the revenue and expenditure or
expense when the transfer is made.

GASBS 24 was the last standard on which Vice Chairman Martin Ives worked.
Mr. Ives was one of the last two original members of the Board—the other being
Chairman James Antonio. Both men had served since the Board was created in
1984. Under the rules that were effective at the time, Mr. Ives could have served
another 5-year term but elected not to do so.* He was replaced by Mr. Tom Allen,
former State Auditor of Utah.

" 'The rules on terms of both GASB and FASB members have since been changed. FASB mem-
bers can serve a maximum of 14 years (the equivalent of two 7-year terms); GASB members
can serve a maximum of 10 years (the equivalent of two 5-year terms). For example, when
Mr. Paul Reilly was first appointed to the Board in 1995, it was for a 4-year term. He was
then reappointed to a 5-year term. In 2004, at the conclusion of that last term, he was reap-
pointed for one more year. He was replaced in the summer of 2005.
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The next three standards issued by the Board came out at the same time
(November), as all dealt with a similar issue: pensions. These standards were

B No. 25, Financial Reporting for Defined Benefir Pension Plans and Note
Disclosures for Defined Contribution Plans

B No. 206, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Healthcare Plans Administered
by Defined Benefit Pension Plans

B No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers

As a group, these standards replaced GASBS 5 in providing the rules for account-
ing and reporting of pensions and pension funds. Although issued in November
1994, GASBS 25 and 26 were not effective uncil fiscal years ending after June 15,
1997 (GASBS 27 was effective the year after that), almost 3 years in the future. The

long lead time was designed to allow governments to determine how to implement

the complexities of the standards.

Obviously, GASBS 25 lays down the rules for the
financial reporting—statements and disclosures—of
defined benefit pension plans. Prior to this standard,
pension plans followed the financial statement require-
ments of proprietary funds, except that they were exempt
from preparing the Statement of Cash Flows. Also, pen-
sion plans didn’t use the fund equity accounts found in
proprietary funds. Instead, they used fund balance (sim-
ilar to governmental funds), alchough they did report
revenues and expenses.

The publishing of GASBS 25 saw the development
of two new financial statements specifically designed for
pensions: Statement of Plan Net Assets and Statement
of Changes in Plan Net Assets. The GASB sought to
get away from fund balance in the pension plans. When
government officials see those two words, they usually
think of money that is available for expenditure—not
the case in a pension plan. Fund balance was replaced by
net assets. At the same time, the Board sought to remove
the concepts of revenues, expenses, and net income from
pensions to eliminate the idea that these were any type
of business activities. Revenues were replaced by addi-

hen GASBS 25 required

pension plans to mark all
their investments to fair value, the
effect in Alabama was most inter-
esting. One of the largest, single
investments of the Retirement
System of Alabama (RSA) is in the
Robert Trent Jones Golf Trail, a
collection of 11 golf course com-
plexes around the state. | had a
conversation with one of their
accountants on how they were
going to establish a fair value on
this particular investment. The
accountant told me that they
were going to use a discounted
cash flow model. | then com-
mented that using such a model
would require (1) guessing the
cash flows, (2) guessing the num-
ber of years the cash flows would
last, and (3) guessing the appro-
priate discount rate. | will never
forget his response, given in a real
Alabama drawl: “Yeah, but we're
real good at guessing!”

tions, expenses by deductions, and net income by change in net assets. These new
financial statements are shown later in the text. In addition to the financial state-
ments, the Board required two schedules (reported as Required Supplementary
Information) in which actuarial information about pension funds is reported.
These schedules are also demonstrated later in the text.
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Another interesting requirement in GASBS 25 was that pension plans had to
report all their investments at fair value. Although the FASB had issued a fair value
requirement for investments in the private sector, the GASB had not addressed this
issue until now. Of course, this requirement only applied to pension plans. The
requirement would not be made applicable to SLGs until later.

GASBS 26 was an interim standard. It provided guidance on accounting for
a very specific type of postemployment benefit plan. This standard has since been
superceded by two new GASB standards dealing with most other postemployment
benefit (OPEB) plans:

B GASBS 43, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than
Pension Plans

B GASBS 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions

You will note that these two standards are similar to GASBS 25 and 27, respec-
tively, in that one is for plans and the other is for employers. GASBS 43 and 45
replace not only GASBS 26, but also GASBS 12. As these standards will not have
gone into effect at the time this chapter was written, they are not discussed here.

Finally, GASBS 27 provided guidance on the reporting of pension-related expen-
ditures or expenses (depending on the fund type), liabilities, assets, and note disclo-
sures for the governments participating in pension plans. Naturally, if a government
ran its own pension plan, it would implement GASBS 25 and 27 at the same time.
However, many governments participate in plans run by others. For example, in
Alabama, there is the Retirement System of Alabama, or RSA. All state employees
are required to participate in this plan. Local governments can elect to participate
in the plan. Thus, GASBS 25 applies to RSA, whereas GASBS 27 applies to the
state government and any local governments participating in RSA’s various pension
programs.

Another GASB Q&A was issued in 1994: Guide to Implementation of GASB
Statement 14 on the Financial Reporting Entiry. Recall that this standard had
been issued in 1991, but it did not go into effect undil fiscal years ending after
December 15, 1993 (which would be in 1994 for most governments). Thus, this
Q& A was probably more timely than its predecessors. As with the previous Q&As,
the document is filled with technical questions posed to the GASB staff and their
answers. This one contained the most questions to date, at 151. GASBS 14 contin-
ues to be a standard of great interest. The passing of over 14 years since the issuance
of GASBS 14 has not lessened the interest in this standard. I regularly receive ques-
tions on whether certain entities should be a part of the reporting entity.

GASBS 28, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Securities Lending Trans-
actions, was one of only two standards issued by the Board in 1995. This standard
was the first one to deal specifically with an issue that arose in California a few
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years before. The finance and investment personnel of Orange County, California,
had been very active in those years. Some of their investments proved to be quite
creative—and risky—and brought the county to near financial disaster. To avoid
these problems in the future, the GASB began issuing standards to avert some of
the problems faced by Orange County.

This standard examined a very interesting practice in which a government loans
some of its investment portfolio to a securities dealer in return for collateral. The
collateral was then invested, earning interest and dividends for the government.
When the securities lending transaction was complete, the collateral was returned
to the broker for the government’s investments. As long as all the transactions were
well timed, there would be no problems. Unfortunately for Orange County, their
investment personnel were a bit more creative. The investment term of the collateral
didn’t always match that of the lending transaction, requiring other actions on the
part of the investment personnel to complete the transaction.

To avoid such problems, GASBS 28 provides several new reporting require-
ments. Keep in mind that the investments loaned by the government are still assets
of the government. The standard requires that the collateral, usually in the form
of cash but could also be securities or letters of credit, be recorded as an asset on
the books of the government with a corresponding and offsetting liability. The
standard also requires disclosure of whether the maturities of the investments made
with the collateral generally match. Other disclosures required by the standard
include the following:

B The source of legal or contractual authorization for the use of the securities
lending transactions

B Violations of those provisions during the year

B General information about the transaction such as the types of securities lent
and collateral received

B Whether the government has the ability to pledge or sell the collateral with-
out the default of the borrow (broker)

GASBS 28 marked the end of an era for the Board. It was the last standard
on which Mr. Antonio worked. In the summer of 1995, he left the Board, hav-
ing served 11 distinguished years as its Chairman. Mr. Antonio had served longer
than any other Board member. Mr. Allen, who had been eatlier appointed to the
Board as Mr. Ives’ replacement, replaced Mr. Antonio as Chairman. At this time,
Mr. Reilly was appointed to the Board to fill the remaining 4 years of Mr. Allen’s
appointment as a member. However, in the time line we are using for the Board’s
history, this does not mark a major shift in the makeup of the Board. That event
will come shortly.

The mid-1990s appear to be slow years for the GASB. If one just considers
the number of standards published, no other single year compares to 1993 when
seven standards were issued. As has already been mentioned, only two standards
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were published in 1995. The next 3 years were as slow or slower in the number of
standards published: one in 1996 (GASBS 30, which was discussed with GASBS 10
earlier in this chapter), two in 1997, and one again in 1998. However, this lack of
new standards should not be seen as indicators of Board inactivity. These years were
probably the busiest the Board has ever seen.

The other standard that came out in 1995 was No. 29, The Use of Not-for-Profit
Accounting and Financial Reporting Principles by Governmental Entities. This standard
removed some confusion as to whether certain governmental entities should be fol-
lowing FASBS 116, Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made,
and FASBS 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations. Essentially,
these standards apply only to the nonprofit organizations that practice in the private
sector and would not apply to those that operate in the public—or governmental—
sector. GASBS 29 also made clear that proprietary activities could not adopt these
standards via the GASBS 20 rules as that standard applies only to FASB standards
issued for business entities, not those limited to not-for-profit entities.

There was one other document published in 1995. For this, first time since 1984,
the GASB issued an interpretation: No. 2, Disclosure of Conduit Debt Obligations.
Conduit debt represents limited-obligation debt typically issued to provide financing
for a third party that is not part of the government’s reporting entity. This debt is often
used to acquire land or construct buildings to be used as a means to attract businesses
to industrial parks. The debt bears the name of the government in order to get more
favorable interest rates, but the government has no obligation on the debt. Instead, it
will be repaid through leases or other arrangements with the parties benefitting from
land or other capital assets. The government is required to disclose a description of the
transaction, the aggregate amount of debt outstanding at the balance sheet date, and
the fact that the government is not obligated in any manner on the debt.

As was already noted, 1996 was a very slow year for the Board. In addition to
the one standard already discussed, the Board issued another interpretation: No. 3,
Financial Reporting for Reverse Repurchase Agreements. Clearly, this interpretation,
as most do, had a very narrow focus. It looks only at this investment transaction
and discusses how to report them when a government pools money from several
funds for investment purposes: the investment, along with its income and costs,
should be reported in the funds where the risk of loss is found and based on the
equity of each fund in the pool.

In 1997, the Board had three major documents published: two standards and
another Q&A. The Q&A, Guide ro Implementation of GASB Statements 25, 26,
and 27 on Pension Reporting and Disclosure by State and Local Government Plans and
Employers, addressed issues related to the previously discussed pension standards.
One of the two standards, GASBS 32 was already discussed earlier in this chapter.

The other standard issued in this year was GASBS 31, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools. It was, without
a doubt, the most far-reaching of the two standards. As with GASBS 28 and 32,
it was issued in at least partial reaction to the crises in Orange County, but it also
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addressed issues similar to those addressed in FASBS 115, Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, issued by that Board in 1993. It also
applied some of the requirements from GASBS 25. However, the requirements
were not as broad. Whereas GASBS 25 had required pension plans to mark all their
investments to fair value, GASBS 31 was limited to some certificates of deposit and
other debt and equity investments of the government. The standard requires that
all applicable investments be marked to fair value and the change in fair value be
reported as a component of interest (or investment) income on the operating state-
ment of the funds with the investments.

1.7 A New Board—and a Whole New Ball Game

GASBS 32 was the first standard issued by a Board made up of seven members, not the
five-member boards that had issued the first 31 standards. Increasing the Board size to
seven members was a major change for the FAF and the GASB. Of course, the FASB
had seven members since its founding. In the mid-1990s, it was felt that membership
in the FAF needed to be broadened, with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) taking a more active role and more membership from the public sector*

1.7.1 Changing of the Guard

At the same time (see previous section), it was felt that membership in the GASB
should be broadened. Although I doubt that it is in the GASB’s charter, its mem-
bers do seem to represent certain constituencies. For the GASB’s first 11 years,
Mr. Antonio—former State Auditor for Missouri—was its Chairman. He was
replaced as Chairman in 1995 by Mr. Allen, former State Auditor for Utah. When
Mr. Allen left the Board in 2004, his replacement was Mr. Robert H. Attmore,
formerly the State Auditor of New York. Other members of the original Board
included two representatives from local governments (Mr. Ives and Mr. Harmer),
a representative from the auditor community (Mr. Defliese), and Mr. Staats, who,
having served as the Comptroller of the United States, was something of the outlier
of the group, having not been directly affiliated with local governments.

When the original board began to break up in 1990, Dr. Freeman became
the first academic member (essentially replacing Mr. Staats). Dr. Freeman served
10 years and was replaced in 2000 by Dr. William W. Holder of the University of
Southern California—the second academic to serve on the Board. Mr. Mandolini,
who came on the Board with Dr. Freeman, replaced Mr. Defliese. Mr. Mandolini
would be replaced 2 years later by Mr. Klasny, who was in turn replaced by

" Curiously, the SEC’s definition of public sector and the standard definition are not the same.
The standard definition is, of course, state and local governments. The SEC’s definition was
people with interests in publicly traded companies or in the stock markets. You should know
that this is the private sector.
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Mr. James M. Williams in 2002. All these men—Defliese, Mandolini, Klasny, and
Williams—had been very active in the auditor community. Also, in an interesting
coincidence, both Mr. Klasny (Ernst & Whinney) and Mr. Williams (Ernst &
Young) had been members of the same CPA firm, albeit at different times in that
firm’s history.

As was noted earlier, Mr. Harmer (who was the other representative of local
governments) was replaced by Ms. Henderson. She, in turn, was replaced by
Mr. Richard C. Tracy (former Director of Audits for the City of Portland, Oregon)
in 1999. Mr. Ives had been replaced by Mr. Allen in 1994, and when Mr. Allen was
elevated to Chairman in 1995, Mr. Reilly (former finance director from Madison,
Wisconsin) was appointed to fill the remaining 4 years of Mr. Allen’s term as board
member. When Mr. Reilly left the Board in 2005, he was replaced by Marcia
Taylor, the assistant municipal manager of Mt. Lebanon, PA.

In broadening the GASB membership in 1997, two new members were added:

B Dr. Cynthia B. Green, formerly with the Citizens Budget Commission (a
watchdog organization devoted to influencing constructive change in the
governments of New York City and New York State). Dr. Green represented
“users” of government financial statements on the GASB and is the first mem-
ber not to hold a CPA license. (Dr. Green was replaced in 2007 by Girard
Miller, formerly with Janus Group.)

B Mr. Edward J. Mazur, formerly the State Comptroller of Virginia. Although
he has held a number of other posts, Mr. Mazur was seen as representing the
comptroller community. (Mr. Mazur was replaced in 2007 by Jan 1. Sylvis,
the State of Tennessee Chief of Accountants.)

Now the Board had seven members who represented an ever-increasing spectrum
of constituents.

1.7.2 The Preliminary to the Big Show

Given the new makeup of the Board, it was only natural then for the output to
slacken. As mentioned before, only one standard was issued in 1998, but it was a big
one: GASBS 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions.
Actually, the timing of this standard was quite interesting. It gave us recognition
rules for various nonexchange transactions—rules that would really go into effect
once the next standard was issued. Still, it has had some interesting impacts on
financial statements.

In one sense, GASBS 33 gave us some “new names for old friends.” By this
I mean that income taxes and sales taxes became “derived tax revenues.” Also,
property taxes became “imposed nonexchange revenues,” and grants became either
“government-mandated nonexchange transactions” or “voluntary nonexchange
transactions.” But the standard brought us much more than just name changes.



44 m Handbook of Governmental Accounting

Figure 1.10, which is adapted from Appendix C in the standard, nicely summarizes
the new recognition rules.

The other major document issued in 1998 was another Q&A, Guide to
Implementation of GASB Statement 31 on Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools. This document came out in
April, and did much to clarify the guidance in GASBS 31.

There was also one technical bulletin (TB) issued in 1998, Disclosures about
Year 2000 Issues, issued in October. We haven’t discussed TBs very much as they
tend to be very narrow focused documents, and they are staff documents (similar
to Q&As). This one is noteworthy because it was the first effort by the GASB to
address the so-called Y2K problem. In this TB, the GASB called on governments to
disclose in the notes to their financial statements the efforts they were undertaking
to avoid a Y2K problem. Unfortunately, because the disclosure was in the notes,
the AICPA threatened to issue qualified opinions on financial statements with that
disclosure. So, a second TB came out in 1999 amending the first one, moving the
information from the notes to required supplementary information (RSI), which
require much less in the way of auditing than do notes. As we all know by now, Y2K
didn’t turn out to be much of an issue, and both TBs were superceded in 2000 with
another TB that rescinded the disclosure requirements.

1.7.3 The New Reporting Model

With the aforementioned great change in Board membership occurring in the late
1990s, it would only be natural for the output of the Board to slow down some.
However, that does not mean that they were inactive. Since the Board’s inception
in 1984, they had been working—in one form or another—on a new reporting
model for state and local governments (SLGs). The development of this new model
can be seen in the time line in Figure 1.11. As you can see, the first discussion
memorandum (DM) on the measurement focus and basis of accounting (MFBA)
was issued in the year following the establishment of the Board. This DM formed
the foundation for both EDs and the subsequent issuance of GASBS 11.

After the Board issued GASBS 17 in 1993, indefinitely delaying the implemen-
tation of GASBS 11, they immediately went to work on the replacement document
for it. The first document, the reporting model Invitation to Comment (ITC) was
issued a year after GASBS 17. Based on what the Board learned from this document,
where several different reporting models had been proposed, the Preliminary Views
(PV) document was issued in the next year. The PV then served as the foundation
for the ED for what became GASBS 34. Notice that it was neatly two-and-one-
half years after the issuance of the ED that the final standard was issued. During
this time, the membership of the Board expanded to seven members. There had to
be a learning curve involved in getting the new members up to speed on what the
Board had done so far. Also, the addition of two more voices to the mix increased
the discussion on what the final standard would look like.
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Classes

Recognition

Derived tax revenues

Examples: sales taxes,
personal and corporate
income taxes, motor fuel
taxes, and similar taxes
on earnings or
consumption

Assets*
Period in which underlying exchange has occurred
or when resources are received, whichever is first.

Revenues

Period when underlying exchange has occurred.
(Report advance receipts as deferred revenues.)
When modified accrual accounting is used,
resources should be “available.”

Imposed nonexchange
revenues

Examples: property
taxes, most fines and
forfeitures

Assets*
Period when an enforceable legal claim has arisen
or when resources are received, whichever is first.

Revenues

Period when resources are required to be used or
first period that use is permitted (for example, for
property taxes, the period for which levied). When
modified accrual accounting is used, resources
should be “available.”

Government-mandated
nonexchange transactions

Examples: federal
government mandates
on state and local
governments

Voluntary nonexchange
transactions

Examples: certain grants
and entitlements, most
donations

Assets* and liabilities

Period when all eligibility requirements have been
met or (for asset recognition) when resources are
received, whichever is first.

Revenues and expenses or expenditures

Period when all eligibility requirements have been
met. (Report advance receipts or payments for use
in the following period as deferred revenues or
advances, respectively. However, when a provider
precludes the sale, disbursement, or consumption
of resources for a specified number of years, until a
specified event has occurred, or permanently [for
example, permanent and term endowments],
report revenues and expenses or expenditures
when the resources are, respectively, received or
paid and report resulting net assets, equity, or fund
balance as restricted.) When modified accrual
accounting is used, resources should be “available.”

* If there are purpose restrictions, report restricted net assets (or equity or fund
balance) or, for governmental funds, a reservation of fund balance.

Figure 1.10 Classes and timing of recognition of nonexchange transactions.
(Used with permission of the Financial Accounting Foundation.)
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—— 2/15/85 MFBA DM

—— 12/15/87 1st MFBA ED

—— 8/14/89 2nd MFBA ED
—— 5/1/90 GASBS 11

—— 6/1/93 GASBS 17
—— 6/30/94 Reporting Model ITC

—— 6/30/95 Reporting Model PV

—— 1/31/97 Reporting Model ED

—— 6/30/99 The Final Standard

Figure 1.11 Time line for the new reporting model.

The year 1999 was, perhaps, the most momentous ever in the development of
GAADP. It saw the publishing of the GASB’s two most far-reaching standards:

B No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Anal-
ysis—for State and Local Governments (June)

B No. 35, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Anal-
ysis—for Colleges and Universities (November)

While the details of GASBS 34 are discussed later, we want to discuss some of the
broader concepts here.

When you compare the length of these two standards, the difference is star-
tling. In the Original Pronouncements volume published annually by the GASB,
No. 34 occupies 202 pages, while No. 35 takes up only 31 pages. In CPE classes I
have taught where both local government and college and university personnel have
been present, the latter were always thrilled when they saw the difference in size.
However, the air quickly left their balloon when I pointed out that paragraph 5 of
their statement said that they had to implement No. 34. Essentially, that means
they had two standards to implement, not just one.
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Management’s
Discussion and
Analysis

Government-wide Fund Financial
Financial Statements Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

Required Supplementary Information
(other than MD&A)

Figure 1.12 The new reporting model: minimum requirements for general
purpose external financial reporting. (Used with permission of the Financial
Accounting Foundation.)

The GASB provided a good summary of what the standards address in their
diagram of the minimum requirements for general purpose external financial state-
ments. I like to call it the new reporting model, as shown in Figure 1.12. If you
compare this drawing to the Financial Reporting Pyramid in Figure 1.2, you must
understand that the new model does not replace the entire pyramid. Rather, it
replaces the top two layers and brings part of the third layer into the general pur-
pose financial statements.

Still, it is a good summary of the minimum report. At the top is Management’s
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). Although this is required supplementary infor-
mation, it is placed at the beginning of the financial section of the report (just
after the auditor’s opinion). The next box represents the basic financial statements,
including (1) the government-wide financial statements, (2) the fund financial state-
ments, and (3) the notes to the financial statements. The last box is the required
supplementary information other than MD&A.

Although the GASB’s graphic is a good one, I have always liked the pyramid
from Figure 1.2. Therefore, I combined the two into my own adaptation of the
new reporting model. It is shown in Figure 1.13. I believe this graphic captures the
essence of GASBS 34 in the more traditional pyramid model. As did the pyramid,
it starts with the most detailed information in the accounting system. From this
data, the individual fund statements and schedules are on the next level. As we shall
see shortly, from these individual fund statements, the government prepares the
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MD&A

Government-
Wide

Major Fund & CU

Financial Statements

Financial Statements

%56\“

, Statements

Nonmajor Fund Combining Financial

& Schedules

Individual Fund Financial Statements

Transaction Data

(the accounting system)

CAFR--Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
BFS--Basic Financial Statements
MEFR--Minimum External Financial Reporting

Figure 1.13 The new financial reporting pyramid. (Copyright G. Robert Smith, Jr.)

major fund statements and the nonmajor fund combining statements. The nonma-
jor fund statements must be prepared first as the total column then becomes a

separate column in the major funds statements.
Once these statements are prepared, the govern-
ment-wide financial statements can be prepared.
Then, finally, the MD&A is written. Within the
new pyramid, we can see the basic financial state-
ments (described previously as part of the GASB’s
graphic). To the basic financial statements are
added the MD&A and other RSI to form the
minimum external financial reporting (MEFR)
element (this element essentially replaces the old
GPES). Finally, as in the old pyramid, the CAFR
contains the MEFR and as much additional
information as is needed for full disclosure.

In the discussion of the new reporting require-
ments, GASBS 34 starts at the top of the pyra-
mid and works down. However, as I have pointed
out eatlier, that is not how things work in the real
world. Therefore, I prefer to discuss things from
the bottom up.

henever | teach CPE courses, | like to

point out that there are three “lies”
in Figure 1.12. The first is the three-dimen-
sional (3-D) elements that were unneces-
sarily added to the figure. On a piece of
paper, you can'’t plot three dimensions—
only two. I like to joke that if you want a
3-D graphic, why not make it like those on
some birthday cards that when you open
it the graph pops up?! The second lie is
that arrow going back and forth between
the government-wide financial statements
and the fund financial statements. In prac-
tice, governments prepare the fund finan-
cial statements first and then prepare the
government-wide statements. Therefore,
this arrow should only point in one direc-
tion. The third lie is “required supplemen-
tary information.” How can it be required
if it is supplementary? | suggested that the
name be changed to additional required
information. As you can see, the GASB
did not adopt this suggestion.
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GASBS 34 is primarily a reporting standard—it has very little effect on the
accounting system. The MFBA of all the fund types remains the same. Still, there
are some important changes of which you should be aware. In accounting for long-
term debt, governments formally accounted for the issuance on a net basis. For
example, if a bond issue of $100,000 were issued at 99 with $15,000 in bond issue
costs, the entry would look something similar to this:

Cash 975,000

Other financing source—bond proceeds 975,000

Now, governments must account for the details of the transaction. The discount
would be reported as an Other Financing Use (OFU), while premiums would
be reported as an Other Financing Source (OFS). Also, bond issue costs would
be reported as an expenditure. These changes make the previous entry look similar
to this:

Cash 975,000

Expenditures—debt service—bond issue costs | 15,000

OFU —bond discount 10,000

Other financing source—bond principal 100,000

While all these factors are one-time events in governmental funds, they will be
captured and amortized at the government-wide level. Other accounting changes
include

B Easier accounting for transfers between funds. Before, governments had to
distinguish between operating transfers and residual equity transfers. Now,
they may be accounted and reported only as transfers (although GASBS 38
does contain a requirement to disclosure unusual or nonstandard transfers,
which are similar to the old residual equity transfers).

B Capital contributions in proprietary funds. They now affect the operating
statement rather than just the balance sheet.

1.7.4 Impact on the Funds Statements

As we already pointed out, there was no change in the MFBA for funds. There were,
however, some changes in financial statements. For governmental funds, the bal-
ance sheet remained the same. As for the statement or revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balance, all the optional methods of preparing the statement have
been dropped in favor of the format known as “Format A,” shown in Figure 1.14.
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Revenues
—  Expenditures

= Excess (deficiency of revenues over (under) expenditures

t+  Other financing sources and uses, including transfers
+  Special items
+  Extraordinary items

= Change in fund balance

+ Fund balance, beginning of year

= Fund balance, end of year

Figure 1.14 Operating statement format.

But, perhaps, the biggest change in financial reporting for governmental funds
was saved for budget-to-actual reporting. Governments were given the choice of
presenting the report as an RSI schedule or as a basic financial statement. Either
way, governments now have to present the original and final budgets and the actual
amounts on a budgetary basis. The variance column is optional, although most
governments present it.

For proprietary funds, governments still prepare three financial statements, but
not much else remains the same. The balance sheet is still there, but now it is
called the Statement of Net Assets. A classified statement is required, using the fol-
lowing three categories: Assets (current and noncurrent), Liabilities (current and
noncurrent), and Net Assets. That’s correct: Net Assets. The fund equity accounts
of contributed capital and retained earnings are gone; in their place, we classify net
assets in three ways:

B Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt. This classification is the
result of a calculation: net book value of capital assets less related short-term
and long-term debt.

B Restricted Net Assets. Restrictions are externally imposed by creditors, grant-
ors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments or imposed by
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

B Unrestricted Net Assets, whatever is left over. Seriously, this is a plug number
if there ever was one. Net assets, naturally, are the difference between assets
and liabilities. After taking out the first two classifications, unrestricted net
assets is the remaining amount.*

" Reporting Restricted Assets as a separate category of Assets is no longer allowed. These assets
must be reported as either current or noncurrent, depending on when they are expected to be

expended.
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Operating revenues
—  Operating expenses
= Operating income (loss)
+  Nonoperating revenues and expenses
= Income before...
+  Capital contributions

+ Additions to permanent and term endowments

t+  Special item
+  Extraordinary items
+  Transfers

= Change in fund net assets
+  Net assets, beginning of year

= Net assets, end of year

Figure 1.15 Proprietary fund operating statement.

Similar to the governmental fund operating statement, the one for Proprietary
Funds saw some changes as well. The name has been changed slightly to Statement
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets. All the options for pre-
paring this statement have been discarded in favor of a single format, summarized
in Figure 1.15.

The line called “Income before ... ” is my own addition to the report. The
GASB example calls it “Income before other revenues, expenses, gains, losses, and
transfers.” This is a very curious title since nonoperating revenues and expenses
are frequently referred to as other revenues and expenses. I believe governments
should name this line by whatever comes after it. For example, if only Capital
Contributions and Transfers come between it and Changes in Fund Net Assets, the
line should be called “Income Before Capital Contributions and Transfers.” Seldom
will all five things that could occur in this area of the statement be reported, but the
title for this line could be quite long.

The single biggest change in proprietary fund reporting was perhaps left to the
Statement of Cash Flows. GASBS 34 now requires that this statement be prepared
using the direct method. In the Basis for Conclusions, paragraph 440, the GASB
cites research that shows “that respondents from four groups—finance directors,
citizens and legislators, creditors, and auditors—clearly found the direct method
to provide more and better information than the indirect method.” The source
cited for this finding is 7he Use of the Statement of Cash Flows in Governmental
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Reporting—the PhD dissertation of G. Robert
Smith, Jr. That’s right: the same guy who wrote
this chapter.

Perhaps the biggest change in financial report-
ing came with the fiduciary funds. Prior to GASBS
34, financial reporting for this fund type was some-
what segmented:

B Expendable trust funds were reported with
the governmental funds

B Nonexpendable trust funds, pension trust
funds, and investment trust funds (created by
GASBS 31) were reported with Proprietary
Funds

B Agency funds, while reported on the com-
bined balance sheet, had their own state-
ment: Statement of Changes in Assets and
Liabilities

GASBS 34 did away with expendable and nonex-
pendable trust funds, at least for financial report-
ing. What had been reported as an expendable
trust fund would now be reported as a special
revenue fund. Nonexpendable trust funds were
reclassified to either permanent funds (assets held
for the benefit of the government), or private pur-
pose trust funds (assets held for the benefit of oth-
ers), which are reported as fiduciary funds. The
financial statement formats developed for the
pension trust funds in GASBS 25 have now been
applied to all the fiduciary funds, including agency
funds (although these funds would not appear on
the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Fund Net
Assets). Also, agency funds continue to report the
Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities,
although this statement is not part of the basic
financial statements.

1.7.5 The Change in Focus

Once all the individual fund statements are pre-
pared in accordance with the previously mentioned
guidance, nonmajor and major fund statements

One other interesting change on the
operating statement for proprietary
funds is that revenues are now reported
as net of bad debts expense. | was not
aware of this change until a government
official for whom | was doing a CPE class
pointed it out in my example financial
statements. Naturally, | was surprised
and wanted to know the source of this
change. He told me it was in a footnote
to Exhibit 7a in an example in the back
of the Q&A for GASBS 34. To be precise,
that footnote reads

In the statement of revenues,
expenses, and changes in fund net
assets, the increase in the reserve
for uncollectibles [bad debts
expense] would be a reduction of
revenue rather than an expense.
See paragraph 100 (footnote 41).

| found this statement hard to believe.
So, | began a series of e-mails with the
GASB staff to clarify the issue. The cor-
respondence went something similar to
this:

Me: | believe there is an error in the
footnote.

Staff: No, it is correct.
Me: What is the
statement?

Staff: See paragraph 100, footnote 41
of the standard, as it says in the
example.

Me: | read the reference. It says that
“revenues should be reported net
of discounts and allowances.” It
doesn’t say anything about bad
debts. How does that reference
apply here?

Staff: Read paragraphs 16 and 18 of
GASBS 33.

Me: | read the paragraphs, but they
don’t apply. GASBS 33 addresses
nonexchange transactions. These
bad debts arose from an exchange
transaction. How does GASBS 33
apply?

Staff: We interpreted it that way.

basis for this

You can’t argue with that; or, if you
do, you will lose. That ended the
discussion.
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can be prepared. The concept of a major fund is new to GASBS 34. The major fund
rules apply only to governmental funds and enterprise funds. They do not apply to
Internal Service Funds or Fiduciary Funds.

There are three ways for a fund to be made a major fund. First, the General
Fund is always major. Second, tests are performed to see if a fund is major by cal-
culation. Third, any other fund the government wishes to declare as major may be
reported that way.

The second way to determine major funds is the most complicated. To test if a
fund should be reported as major, a list of all governmental funds and enterprise
funds is made. Then, four financial elements are gathered for each fund in the list:
total assets, total liabilities, total revenues (which excludes extraordinary items for
both governmental funds and enterprise funds), and total expenditures or expenses
(again excluding extraordinary items), depending on the fund type. Subtotals for
the governmental funds and enterprise funds, respectively, are determined, along
with a grand total for both. Two mathematical tests are then performed. The first
divides each element by its corresponding subtotal. If the result exceeds 10%, the
fund may be a major fund. The second test divides each element by the grand
total. If the result exceeds 5%, the fund may be a major fund. At this point, some
confusion comes in to the determination. The standard implies that if one element
passes the 10% test and another element for that fund passes the 5% test, then
the fund is a major fund. The first Q&A stated that the same element had to pass
both tests. This contradiction between the standard and the Q&A was resolved
is a second statement, GASBS 37, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments: Omnibus, which adopted
the method in the Q&A.

In financial reporting, the next step is to prepare the nonmajor fund combining
financial statements. Combining statements would be prepared for nonmajor gov-
ernmental funds (governments with many nonmajor funds of all four fund types
may prepare combining statements for each fund type), nonmajor enterprise funds,
internal service funds, and each fiduciary fund type. The total column from each of
these statements then feeds into the major fund statements:

B In the governmental funds, each major fund is reported in a separate col-
umn with the nonmajor funds reported in a single column. A total column
is required.

B In the proprietary funds, each major Enterprise Fund is reported in a separate
column with the nonmajor Enterprise Funds reported in a single column. A
total column for the Enterprise Funds is required. An aggregate column for
the Internal Service Funds is reported to the right of this Enterprise Fund
total column.

B In the Fiduciary Funds, each fund type is reported in a separate column.
There is a maximum of four columns on the Statement of Fiduciary Fund
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Net Assets and a maximum of three columns on the Statement of Changes in
Fiduciary Fund Net Assets (Agency Funds would never be reported on this
statement).

1.7.6 The Government-Wide Financial Statements

Once all the fund financial statements have been prepared, a government is ready to
prepare its government-wide financial statements. In these stacements, we find one
financial statement with a familiar format and another with a radically new format.
In both cases, however, the MFBA is the same. For the governmencwide state-
ments, the measurement focus is on economic resources and the basis of accounting
is accrual. That’s right, the same MFBA we see in the proprietary funds. However,
it is a different MFBA from that in the governmental funds, so some adjustments
are going to be necessary to convert those statements to the MFBA for government-
wide statements.

To graphically demonstrate this adjustment process, I developed “Smitty’s
Adapration of the New Reporting Model,” which is shown in Figure 1.16. This
graphic has been compared to a wiring diagram because of the squiggly lines, but
those squiggles represent the adjustments necessary to prepare the government-
wide statements.

Working from the diagram, we have already prepared all the fund financial
statements. From those, we will prepare the government-wide statements. As you
can see, the line from the fiduciary funds (FF) goes to an “X.” This “X” indi-
cates that the fiduciary fund amounts will not be included in the government-wide
statements. After all, the assets that are in the fiduciary funds are not available
for general government use; therefore, these funds are left out of the government
wide statements. From the proprietary funds (PF), the line is divided. The line
for the Enterprise Funds (EF) goes directly into the government-wide statements.
Since both sets of statements use the same MFBA, very little (if any) adjustment
should be necessary. However, the line for the Internal Service Funds (ISF) goes
into the adjustment area. These adjustments are necessary because the ISFs will
not be reported at the government-wide level. They are, after all, internal funds.
Finally, the line from the governmental funds (GF) goes into the adjustment area
because so many adjustments have to be made to convert them to government-wide
statements. What kinds of adjustments? The chart in Figure 1.17 summarizes the
major ones.

Other adjustments are also necessary for General Capital Assets (GCAs) and
General Long-Term Liabilities (GLTL). For GCAs, governments must now cap-
ture, report, and depreciate infrastructure. The requirement to keep track of infra-
structure has been around since NCGAS 1, but most governments did little, if
anything, with the information. Also, all other capital assets except land, construc-
tion in progress, and other assets with infinite lives must now be depreciated. For
GCAs, the depreciation expense and accumulated depreciation will be reported
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Management’s
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Government-wide Fund
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GCA GLTL CUs

Notes and ARI

Figure 1.16  Smitty’s adaptation of the new reporting model. (Copyright G. Robert
Smith, Jr.)

only at the government-wide level; for capital assets of other fund types, these items
are reported at the fund level and the government-wide level. Governments typi-
cally have very good records of their long-term liabilities. The amounts due within
1 year must now be separated for disclosure.

Hopefully, relatively few adjustments should be necessary for the component
units (CUs) as they will be preparing their own government-wide financial state-
ments. CUs that are fiduciary in nature will not be reported at the government-
wide level. However, they will be integrated into the fiduciary fund statements
prepared for the primary government. As for reporting the other CUs, rules from
GASBS 14 still apply.

Government-wide statements include a Statement of Net Assets and a Statement
of Activities. The Statement of Net Assets may be prepared in either a balance
sheet format or a net asset format (which is encouraged). Governments may present
assets and liabilities in the order of liquidity (which is encouraged) or use a clas-
sified format. The net asset classifications are the same as those discussed earlier
for proprietary funds. Separate columns are reported for Governmental Activities
(governmental funds and eliminated Internal Service Funds) and Business-Type
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Balance Sheet Operating Statement

1. Assimilate ISF asset, liability, and | 1. Assimilate net revenues and expenses
net asset amounts. from ISFs.

2. Eliminate intra-Governmental 2. Eliminate intra-Governmental Fund
Fund receivables and payables. transfers.

3. Consolidate receivables and 3. Consolidate transfers to and from
payables between Governmental Enterprise Funds into a single amount.
Funds and Enterprise Funds into | 4. Eliminate expenditures that aren’t
Internal Balances. expenses (capital outlay and principal

4. Pick up capital assets, net of payments).
accumulated depreciation. 5. Record as revenues amounts

5. Pick up long-term liabilities. previously deferred because of

6. Eliminate deferred revenues that availability criterion.
arose because of the availability | 6. Record expenses not previously
criterion. recorded as expenditures (long-term

7. Accrue interest payable on debt interest and changes in other
long-term debt. long-term liabilities).

8. Adjust other receivables and 7. Record depreciation on capital assets.
payables as necessary. 8. Adjust other revenue and expense

accounts as necessary.

Figure 1.17 Adjustment to convert Governmental Fund statements to
Government-wide statements.

Activities (enterprise funds). A total column for the primary government is required.
The CUs are reported to the right of the total column. A total column for the
reporting entity is optional. Differences between Total Net Assets on this statement
and Total Fund Balance/Total Net Assets on the major fund statements must be
reconciled through the use of a special schedule reported with fund statements.
The Statement of Activities is like nothing you have ever seen before. It has two
sections: programs and general revenues. In the programs section, expenses and
program revenues are reported on the function or activity level for governmental
activities; identifiable activities for business-type activities (all or part of an enter-
prise fund in which the government separately accounts for revenues, expenses,
gains, and losses); and by major component units (using the same option used on
the Statement of Net Assets). In the general revenues section, revenues that cannot
be assigned to any one function or activity are reported, as are special items, extraor-
dinary items, and remaining transfers. The change in net assets is reported for each
column (Governmental Activities, Business-Type Activities, Total, and Component
Units) along with the beginning and ending net asset amounts. Differences between
the Change in Net Assets on this statement and Change in Fund Balance/Change
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in Fund Net Assets on the major fund statements must be reconciled through the

use of a special schedule reported with fund statements.

1.7.7 Notes to the Financial Statements

The financial statements and notes are frequently prepared simultaneously.
Sometimes, the notes are needed to help prepare the financial statements, as was
the case with the General Capital Assets and General Long-Term Liabilities. Other
times, the statements must be done to see what needs to go in the notes. Regardless
of the order of preparation, GASBS 34 added some new notes and reinforced old

ones.

Some of these disclosures are

Description of the government-wide statements, including a comment that
fiduciary funds and fiduciary component units are not included in the
amounts

MFBA used in the government-wide statements

Policy for eliminating internal activity for the Statement of Activities
Option taken in applying GASBS 20 (should have been in that statement)
Capitalization policy for capital assets, capitalization threshold, depreciation
method, and useful lives of capital assets

Types of transactions included in program revenues on the Statement of
Activities

Policy for defining operating and nonoperating revenues in the propri-
etary funds

Policy for using restricted or unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred
Information on capital assets, including beginning balance, additions, retire-
ments or disposals, and ending balance

Information on long-term liabilities, including beginning balance, additions,
retirements, ending balance, and amount due within 1 year

Information on donor-restricted endowments, including net appreciation on
investments, how amounts are reported in net assets, state law regarding abil-
ity to spend net appreciation, and policy for authorizing and spending invest-
ment income

Segment information for identifiable activities where the government also
separately accounts for assets, liabilities, and net assets

If a government uses it, information on the modified approach to account for
capital assets

The GASB rarely issues a statement in which new notes aren’t required, so other
additions to this list will be discussed with the respective standard.
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1.7.8 MD&A and Other RSI

At some point in time, in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
or after they are prepared, the other RSI and MD&A must be written.* MD&A
is listed last because it is probably the last thing the government will assemble.
However, that does not mean it should be left for the last minute. It is too impor-
tant a document for that. Still, information is needed from other parts of the report
before the MD&A can be completed.

The contents of “Other RSI” depend, in large part, on what the government has
done elsewhere. Also, other RSI is placed after the notes but before the rest of the
financial statements. If the government did not report budget-to-actual informa-
tion in a statement, then the budget-to-actual schedule goes here. If the govern-
ment elects to use the modified approach rather than depreciate their infrastructure
assets, information about the assessed condition of the assets and estimated amount
to maintain and actual amount spent to maintain the assets must be disclosed.
Also, discussion is required for the modified approach on the basis for the condi-
tion assessment and the measurement scale used, the condition level at which the
government plans to maintain the asset, and factors that affect trends in the infor-
mation reported. Finally, any pension-related RSI still goes in this section.

Now, the government should have all the information it needs to complete
MD&A, which is part of the minimum external financial report. As pointed
out eatlier, even though the GASB addresses the MD&A topic eatly in the stan-
dard, it is the last thing most governments will prepare. GASBS 34 laid out eight
required elements that must be included in MD&A, at a minimum. The Q&A for
GASBS 34 indicated that these eight things were not, in fact, the minimum but
were the maximum of things to include in MD&A. GASBS 37 resolved this con-
flict by saying that the eight things were the only things that could be included in
MD&A, but that a government could include more things than the GASB did as
examples in the standard. Regardless of the rhetoric, the eight things to be included
in MD&A are

1. Brief discussion of the basic financial statements, including how the govern-
ment-wide statements and fund statements are related

2. Condensed summary information (14 items) derived from the government-
wide statements for the current year and previous yeart

3. An analysis of the government’s overall financial position and results of
operations

" Note that in Figure 1.16, I refer to RSI as ARIL. ARI, or additional required information,
was my suggested name change for RSI to remove one of the “lies” from the GASB drawing.
Needless to say, this recommendation was not adopted by the Board.

T In the year a government implemented GASBS 34, only the current year had to be shown.
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4. An analysis of balances and transactions in individual funds (with emphasis
on the major funds)

5. An analysis of significant variations between the original and final budgets,
and between the final budget and the actual results

6. A description of significant capital asset and long-term debt activity during
the year

7. A discussion of the modified approach, if used by the government

8. A description of currently known facts that are expected to have a significant
impact in the future

GASBS 34 and 35 were the first standards ever issued by the Board that went into
effect at different times for different sizes of governments. Some standards have had
long implementation dates (such as GASBS 11, which was also the first standard
that governments were prohibited from implementing early, and GASBS 25, 26,
and 27), but none had ever had staggered implementation dates. The stagger was
based on total revenues of the governmental funds plus the enterprise funds for the
first fiscal year ending after June 15, 1999. The dates for implementation are shown
in Figure 1.18.

These standards were only the first to have staggered implementation dates.
Similar staggers have also been applied to GASBI 6, GASBS 38, GASBS 43, and
GASBS 45.

Without question, GASBS 34 (and 35 for colleges and universities) was the
most significant standard ever issued by the GASB and implemented by state and
local governments. It continues to have an impact even though all governments
should have implemented the standard by now. It has been modified several times
by subsequent standards and probably will be again in the future. However, the
requirements of GASBS 34 are here to stay.

The only other document issued by the GASB in 1999 (as if GASBS 34 and 35
weren’t enough), was GASBI 5, Property Tax Revenue Recognition in Governmental
Funds, which came out in November. This interpretation removed the concept of
“when due” from the availability criterion. However, it left in place the guidance
that the availability period should not exceed 60 days.

Implement in First Fiscal Year
Ending After
Revenues of $100 milliion or more June 15, 2002
Revenues of $10 million or more June 15, 2003
but less than $100 million
Revenues less than $10 million June 15, 2004

Figure 1.18 Implementation dates for GASBS 34 and 35.
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1.8 More Recent GASB Standards

Anyone who thought that GASBS 34 would be the end of the GASB was severely
mistaken. Since the publications of GASBS 34 and 35, the Board has published
18 more standards. Some of these—such as GASBS 43 and 45 dealing with other
postemployment benefits (OPEB)—won’t be addressed here as they haven’tyet gone
into effect. When these later standards do go into effect, the issues will be addressed
in separate chapters. In this last section, we want to touch on the standards that
have gone into effect or will soon have an impact on governmental GAAP.

GASBS 306, Recipient Reporting for Certain Shared Nonexchange Revenues, issued
in April 2000, was a very limited scope standard. It was actually an amendment
to GASBS 33. The only way to amend a standard is to issue another standard;
an interpretation or other GASB document just doesn’t do the trick. The stan-
dard aligned reporting of shared revenues between the grantor government and the
recipient government to report the revenues in the same nonexchange classification.
The first Q&A for GASBS 34 was also published in 2000.

The most recent interpretation issued by the GASB also came out in 2000:
Recognition and Measurement of Certain Liabilities and Expenditures in Governmental
Fund Financial Statements. This document provided additional information about
several NCGA Statements and Interpretations as well as three GASB standards.
Issues addressed in GASBI 6 included the following: requiring governmental fund
liabilities and expenditures that would normally be paid from current financial
resources to be accrued; reporting of all forms of unmatured long-term liabilities
as general long-term liabilities and not in the funds; for governments that elect to
accrue interest on long-term debt that comes due “early” in the next fiscal year,
“early” is defined as one to several days and not more than one month; and requir-
ing accrual of other long-term liabilities (not debt) that mature during the period.

We have already mentioned GASBS 37 several times. This standard fixed a
number of errors in GASBS 34 as well as inconsistencies between GASBS 34 and
the first Q&A. Points already covered include determining major funds and what
is to be included in MD&A. Other “fixes” include accounting for escheat property;
removing the capitalization of interest from general capital assets; making a change
to or from the modified approach, a change in estimate (as in useful life) racher
than a change in principle; how to define program revenues; how to report fines
and forfeitures; slightly modifying the definition of an enterprise fund to include
that they charge fees to external users; defining a segment of an enterprise fund;
reporting component units; and clarifying RSI reporting of the budgetary sched-
ules where there is an excess of expenditures over appropriations.

GASBS 38, Certain Financial Statement Note Disclosures, was published in June
2001. This standard started out as an effort to reduce the number of notes prepared by
governments. In that regard, it was a dismal failure. The end result was adding at least
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11 new notes (we say “at least” because it is possible to count the number of additions
different ways), while eliminating only one: the requirement to disclose the account-
ing policy for encumbrances. Figure 1.19 summarizes the new note requirements.

The only other major document issued in 2001 was the second Q&A on
GASBS 34. Actually, the title of this version was Guide to Implementation of GASB
Statement 34 and Related Pronouncements, as it related to more than just GASBS 34.
In the foreword to the document, it states that the document addresses issues in
GASBS 33, 35, 36, 37, and 38. It is interesting that both Q&As came out before the
required implementation date for large governments. These were the most timely
Q&As ever issued by the GASB.

GASBS 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units,
published by the GASB in May 2002, marked the first significant change to
GASBS 14 since it was issued in 1991. The project for this standard actually
started in the early 1990s, prior to GASBS 34, with an exposure draft on Affiliated
Organizations. However, the Board got so involved with the new reporting model
that this project was put on hold for several years. The standard addresses other
organizations that were left out of GASBS 14 that should be reported in the CAFR
as discretely presented component units. In most cases, the standard is concerned
with foundations of colleges and universities, but can include other activities that
meet the following three criteria:

1. The economic resources received or held by the separate organization are
entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the primary government,
its component units (CUs), or its constituents.

2. The primary government, or its CUs, is entitled to, or has the ability to other-
wise access, a majority of the economic resources received or held by the
separate organization.

3. The economic resources received or held by an individual organization that
the specific primary government, or its component units, is entitled to, or has
the ability to otherwise access, are significant to that primary government.

At first, it was feared that many small organizations, such as PTAs or band booster
clubs, would be included in this standard. Certainly, these types of organizations
meet the first two requirements. However, they will almost always fail the third
(that is not true for many booster organizations at major universities, particularly
those with large athletic programs).

During the debate on GASBS 34, considerable attention was paid to the format
of the budget-to-actual presentation. In some of the earlier discussions, it was felt
that the format should be similar to the format of the budget document. However,
this suggestion was dropped when many governments opposed it because they
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Changing the definition of funds from the “boilerplate” definitions found
in NCGAS 1 to describing the activities of the major funds, internal service
fund type, and fiduciary fund types.

Requiring governments to disclose the amount of time used in the
availability criterion.

There has always been a requirement for governments to disclose
significant violations of finance-related or contractual provisions. Now,
governments must address what is being done to solve the violation.

In the past, principal and interest debt service requirements on long-term
debt were reported for each of the next five fiscal years and then
“Thereafter” for the remaining life of the issues. Now, governments must
disclose the “Thereafter” amounts in five-year increments. Several
governments have elected to report each year until maturity, thus
simplifying the disclosure even if it takes up more room.

When interest has variable rates in the above disclosure, use the rate if
effect at the end of the fiscal year. Also, disclose what would cause the
variable rate to change.

Obligations under capital leases are to be reported in a manner similar to
the one above for long-term debt.

Governments are now required to present a schedule of short-term debt
showing the amount outstanding at the beginning of the year, increases,
decreases, and the amount due at the end of the year. This disclosure is
required even if the amounts at the beginning of the year and/or end of the
year are zero. Also, governments must disclose the purpose of the short-
term debt.

Governments have always reported interfund balances by fund. That
disclosure is now required for individual major funds, nonmajor
Governmental Funds in the aggregate, nonmajor Enterprise Funds in the
aggregate, Internal Service funds in the aggregate, and Fiduciary Fund type.
Also, the purposes of the balances must be disclosed as should any
amounts not expected to be repaid within one year.

If receivables and payables are aggregated in the financial statements,
details about the major components must be disclosed in the notes. Also,
balances not to be collected within one year must be disclosed.

Governments have always reported interfund transfers by fund. That
disclosure is now required for individual major funds, nonmajor
Governmental Funds in the aggregate, nonmajor Enterprise Funds in the
aggregate, Internal Service Funds in the aggregate, and Fiduciary Fund type.
Also, there must be a disclosure of the principal purposes of interfund
transfers and separate disclosure for transfers that are unusual or contrary
to the purpose of the fund [similar to the old residual equity transfers].

Figure 1.19 New note requirements in GASBS 38.
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felt their budget format was too complicated for inclusion in the annual report.*
However, after GASBS 34 came out, several governments pointed out that the
requirement for reporting budget-to-actual information for the General Fund and
major special revenue funds with legally adopted budgets did not match the way
those governments budgeted. GASBS 41, Budgetary Comparison Schedules—Per-
spective Differences, issued in May 2003, allows governments to use functions or
activities to present budget-to-actual information. However, governments using
this format must report the information as an RSI schedule rather than a basic
financial statement.

GASBS 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets
and for Insurance Recoveries, issued in November 2004, is one of the stranger stan-
dards issued by the Board in its nearly 20-year history. We say it is strange because it
does not require accountants or auditors to look for impairments. If they are aware
that an impairment exists, then the impairment must be reported. Otherwise, there
is no requirement to search out possible impairments. Also, the GASB has adopted
its own rules on how to calculate and report impairments that differ significantly
from those adopted by the FASB. The FASB rules tend to look at the discounted
expected future cash flows from an asset compared to its book value. However,
since few government capital assets generate cash flows, using that measure would
have been difficult.

An impairment is defined in the standard as “a significant, unexpected decline
in the service utility of a capital asset” (paragraph 5 of the standard). It is a matter
of professional judgment what “significant” means, and any impairment had better
be “unexpected”—otherwise, why would you have purchased the asset? The Board
cites five indicators of impairment:

Physical damage

Change in laws and regulations or environmental factors
Technological developments or evidence of obsolescence
Change in duration of use

Construction stoppage

If an asset is determined to be impaired, the standard allows three ways to calculate
the amount of the impairment, including restoration cost approach, service units
approach, and deflated depreciation replacement cost approach. In our opinion, the
first three make the most sense, but all are doable.

Finally, we come to GASBS 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical
Section, issued by the GASB in May 2004 but not effective until fiscal years end-
ing after June 15, 2006. This is the first standard issued by the GASB that directly
addresses the “Other Information” section of the CAFR. Most standards address
what is included in minimum external financial reporting (MEFR), as defined by

" It makes you wonder if the budget document is too complicated for inclusion in the CAFR
(given what else is included there), it might also be too complicated to be a budget.
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GASBS 34. If you refer to the pyramid in
Figure 1.16, it is the information below
the “Other RSI” line. Everything below
that point is called “Other Information.”
Also, in the organization of the CAFR,
there are three sections:

1. Introductory Section, which the
GASB rarely addresses, except to
say what should go there

2. Financial Section, which contains
the MEFR, combining nonma-
jor statement, and individual fund
statements

3. Statistical Section, which, until
GASBS 44, had been left largely
untouched by the GASB

Instead, all we had to work with for the
Statistical Section was a list of 15 tables
taken from NCGAS 1 on what should be
included in this section.

Now, the GASB has totally redefined
the information to be presented in this
section of a CAFR. It is to be divided
into five categories: (a) financial trend
information, (b) revenue capacity infor-
mation, (c) debt capacity information, (d)
demographic and economic information,
and (e) operating information. To date,
only a few states and some local govern-
ments have implemented this standard.
It will be interesting to discover the
impact these new rules have on financial
reporting and other types of information
included in the CAFR.

1.9 Conclusion

It is impossible to write any chapter like
this one and be complete in the analysis
of GASB standards. The last standard

his is a summary of an actual event that occurred

between myself and a CPA firm in Alabama after
the implementation date of GASBS 18.

It seems that one of the CPA firm’s clients oper-
ated a landfill, which was an old rock quarry hole.
Although the EPA rules did not apply to it (because
of the type of landfill), the government still had to
account for its closure and postclosure care costs.
In the year of implementing GASBS 18, an accrual
had to be made based on how full the hole already
was. The CPA firm contacted me to get my take on
how to estimate how full the hole was at that point
in time.

Not being familiar with landfill operations, |
tried to dismiss the question. However, the firm was
in dire straits and needed an answer. Although |
am not familiar with landfill operations, | am famil-
iar with rock quarry holes. Working in one was
a summer job | had for 2 years while in college.
Therefore, | recommended that the CPA firm hire
a well-drilling company. I then told them to park
the rig in the middle of the landfill and start drill-
ing. When the drill hit solid rock, they would know
they had reached the bottom of the landfill. By then
measuring the depth of the hole, they would know
how full it was.

The firm immediately balked at this solution.
After all, someone would have to pay the driller,
and they didn’t want to get involved with that. I
told them | would think about it some more and get
back to them, hopefully, with another solution.

After a few days | called them back to see if they
knew how long it was going to take to fill up the rest
of the hole. They said they did. When | asked them
how, they said engineers had projected the growth
in the population of the town and how much gar-
bage they would generate. These two figures were
used to project how long it would take to fill up
the hole.

I said, “There is your answer.” You know how
long the landfill has been in operation. You know
what the population was when it went into opera-
tion. Finally, the same engineers from above could
estimate garbage output for the population each year
(as they were going to do in the future) and come up
with a reasonable amount. From these three pieces
of information, it would now be possible to project
how full the hole was. They liked that response and
said they would use it in making their estimate.

Some months later, | saw representatives of the
firm at a meeting. | asked them how they made their
estimate on how full the hole was. Their response:
“We guessed.” | looked at them in disbelief and
asked why we had gone through all the above. They
had a response to that, too: “It was easier.” | just
smiled, shook my head, and walked away.
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Standard setting is a political process. | hope you have seen that in
your study of this chapter. I thought it would be interesting to look
at how the various members of the GASB have voted over time. This
voting record can be seen in Figure 1.20.

From this analysis, several things stand out. First, of the 46 Standards
issued in the 21-year history of the Board, there have been dissents on
only 12 of them (26.1%). In 5 of those 12 cases (41.7%), there has been
more than one dissenting vote. Interestingly, there has never been a
dissenting vote cast on an interpretation.

Second, Mr. Antonio voted on more standards than anyone else.
That is not surprising as he was the only member of the Board to serve
11 years. Since the mid-1990s, no one has been allowed to serve on
the GASB or FASB for more than two full terms (10 years and 14 years,
respectively). For example, had the rules not changed, Dr. Freeman
could have served for 13 years: his initial 3-year appointment and two
5-year terms. In number of votes cast, Dr. Freeman and Mr. Klasny are
tied for second with 28 standards, Tom Allen is fourth with 26, and
Barbara Henderson and Martin Ives are tied for fifth with 25.

Third, Mr. Antonio dissented more often than any other Board
member—with five “nay” votes—and has the highest percentage
of nay votes among people who have served 5 years or more (Mr.
Mandolini voted nay one-third of the time, but he only served 2 years
and voted on 3 standards). Mr. Antonio dissented on all four pension
standards that came up during his tenure and his was the only dissent-
ing vote on any of those standards. Only once did anyone join Mr.
Antonio in dissent, and that was on the highly controversial GASBS
17 that indefinitely delayed GASBS 11. No one else voted nay more
than twice. Of the remaining nay votes cast, there have been only
three members who have stood alone against the Board: Mr. Defliese
on GASBS 9, Mr. Ives on GASBS 22, and Mr. Reilly on GASBS 45. Dr.
Freeman voted nay twice and was joined by Mr. Mandolini on GASBS
14 and Mr. Klasny on GASBS 24. Mr. Klasny voted nay on GASBS 39
in which he was joined by Mr. Reilly. Mr. Allen voted nay one time, on
GASBS 42, in which he was joined by Mr. Mazur in his only negative
vote. Of the 17 people who have served on the Board, 8 members (Mr.
Harmer, Mr. Staats, Ms. Henderson, Dr. Green, Mr. Tracy, Dr. Holder,
Mr. Williams, and Mr. Attmore) have not cast a nay vote.

All things considered, that is a remarkable record of harmony on
the GASB.

published by the Board while this chapter was being written was #45. Since then,
seven more standards have been published:

No. 46, Ner Assets Restricted by Enabling Legislation (an amendment of GASB
Statement No. 34).

No. 47, Accounting for Termination Benefits.

No. 48, Sales and Pledges of Receivables and Future Revenues and Intra-Entity
Transfers of Assets and Future Revenues.

No. 49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation
Obligations.

No. 50, Pension Disclosures (an amendment of GASB Statements No. 25 and
No. 27).
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B No. 51, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets.
B No. 52, Land and Other Real Estate Held as Investments by Endowments.
B No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments.

Some of these standards have been fairly simple and straightforward; others,
including No. 48, No. 49, and No. 53, have been fraught with controversy and
will have long-term effects not known at this time. Standard-setting is a dynamic
process, and not one that lends itself to writing a handbook like this one.

This chapter has been a rather long review of the development of governmental
GAAP. After all, we have had over 70 years of activity to look at, with the most
significant developments occurring in the last 20 years or so with the GASB. What
will the next 20 years bring, particularly as standard-setting starts to go beyond the
borders of the United States and begins to become a global process? One can only
guess. But, if it is anything like the last 20 years, it will 7oz be boring.
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BOARD MEMBERS
Vote James Antonio Martin Ives Philip L. Defliese =~ W. Gary Harmer
Document Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay
1984 Std 1
Int 1
1986 Std 2
Std 3
Std 4
Std 5
1987 Std 6
Std 7
1988 Std 8
1989 Std 9
Std 10
1990 Std 11
Std 12
Std 13
1991 Std 14
Std 15
1992 Std 16
1993 Std 17
Std 18
Std 19
Std 20
Std 21
Std 22
Std 23
1994 Std 24
Std 25
Std 26
Std 27
1995 Std 28
Std 29
Int 2
1996 Std 30
Int 3
Int 4
1997 Std 31
Std 32
Int 5
1998 Std 33
1999 Std 34
Std 35
2000 Std 36
Int 6
2001 Std 37
Std 38
2002 Std 39
2003 Std 40
Std 41
Std 42
2004 Std 43
Std 44
Std 45
Std 46
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24 5 23 2 13 1 15 0
29 25 14 15
82.8 17.2 92.0 8.0 92.9 7.1 100.0 0.0

Figure 1.20 GASB voting records.
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BOARD MEMBERS
Elmer B. Staats Robert J. Freeman Anthony Mandolini Barbara A. Henderson
Document Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay
1984 Std 1 1
Int 1 1
1986 Std 2 1
Std 3 1
Std 4 1
Std 5 1
1987 Std 6 1
Std 7 1
1988 Std 8 1
1989 Std 9 1
Std 10 1
1990 Std 11 1
Std 12 1
Std 13 1
1991 Std 14 1 1
Std 15 1
1992 Std 16 1
1993 Std 17 1
Std 18 1
Std 19 1
Std 20 1
Std 21 1
Std 22 1
Std 23 1
1994 Std 24 1
Std 25
Std 26
Std 27
1995 Std 28
Std 29
Int 2
1996 Std 30
Int 3
Int 4
1997 Std 31
Std 32
Int5
1998 Std 33
1999 Std 34
Std 35
2000 Std 36
Int 6
2001 5137 =
Std 38
2002 Std 39
2003 Std 40
Std 41
Std 42
2004 Std 43
Std 44
Std 45
Std 46

e b e e e e b b e e e e e

14 0 26 2 2 1 25 0
14 28 3 25
100.0 0.0 92.9 7.1 66.7 333 100.0 0.0

Figure 1.20 (continued).
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BOARD MEMBETRS
Edward M. Klasny Tom L. Allen Paul R. Reilly Cynthia B. Green
Document  Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay
1984 Std 1
Int 1
1986 Std 2
Std 3
Std 4
Std 5
1987 Std 6
Std 7
1988 Std 8
1989 Std 9
Std 10
1990 Std 11
Std 12
Std 13
1991 Std 14
Std 15
1992 Std 16
1993 Std 17
Std 18
Std 19
Std 20
Std 21
Std 22
Std 23
1994 Std 24
Std 25
Std 26
Std 27
1995 Std 28
Std 29
Int 2
1996 Std 30
Int 3
Int 4
1997 Std 31
Std 32
Int5
1998 Std 33
1999 Std 34
Std 35
2000 Std 36
Int 6
2001 Std 37
Std 38
2002 Std 39
2003 Std 40
Std 41
Std 42 1
2004 Std 43 1
Std 44 1
Std 45 1 1

Std 46 e

26 2 25 1 21 2 17 0

e e b e e e e e e e

— e b e b e e e e e et e e e e e —_ e e
—_ —

92.9 7.1 96.2 3.8 91.3 8.7 100.0 0.0

Figure 1.20 (continued).
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BOARD MEMBERS
Edward J. Mazur ~ Richard C. Tracy William W. Holder James M. Williams Robert H. Attmore
Document Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay Yea Nay
1984 Std 1
Int 1
1986 Std 2
Std 3
Std 4
Std 5
1987 Std 6
Std 7
1988 Std 8
1989 Std 9
Std 10
1990 Std 11
Std 12
Std 13
1991 Std 14
Std 15
1992 std 16
1993 Std 17
Std 18
Std 19
Std 20
Std 21
Std 22
Std 23
1994 Std 24
Std 25
Std 26
Std 27
1995 Std 28
Std 29
Int 2
1996 Std 30
Int3
Int4
1997 sid31
Std 32
Int5
1998 Std 33
1999 Std 34
Std 35
2000 Std 36
Int 6
2001 Std 37
Std 38
2002 Std 39
2003 Std 40
Std 41
Std 42 1
2004 Std 43
Std 44
Std 45
Std 46

16 1 12 0 10 0 7 0 1 0
17 12 10 7 1
94.1 59 100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0

Figure 1.20 (continued).
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2.1 Introduction

Government leaders have a practical relationship with money through budgeting.
Budget decisions on local school teacher salaries and facilities, for example, have an
impact on the future economic lives of students and even the prices of their parents’
houses in the community. Budget decisions on state aid to local school districts cre-
ate and sustain education policy, tax policy, and even social welfare policies. Federal
budgeting processes lead to judgments about measures to use and steps to take to
deal with failing local school districts. Logically, the budget drives those decisions
within financial management and accounting systems—how much the program
will cost, where the money will come from, who will benefit, and who will pay.
Through budgeting, people in government decide.

These decisions vary in magnitude. Through budgeting, everyone may propose
and legislators dispose of the watershed initiatives that may shape a generation’s
approach to a particular problem such as education. The budget also drives every-
day choices, especially those that require major or only marginal adjustment in past
choices. Budget process testimony about policy and program effectiveness gives
executives information about exceptional performance, both positive and negative.
Also, marginal comparison gives budgeters on the front lines scorecards about how
well they are doing in comparison to their peers.

Finally, the budget stabilizes expectations about decision-making processes and
outcomes. A consensus may exist, for example, about good budgeting procedure
because spending has achieved so much stability or substantial agreement exists
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among those involved. Consensus may also exist because a program or policy has
a thorough hearing during budget proceedings, especially in the environment of
cost control and searches for savings in some existing programs to underwrite new
programs or expansions in other ones.

Budgets, therefore, drive choices that vary from those that lead to watershed
change to those involving only marginal adjustment.

As a cyclical phenomenon, budgets induce change or stability, one effect fol-
lowing the other through time. From stability, choice may move to change of the
watershed variety. After these watershed changes, budgeting may enter a period of
marginal adjustment and then to stability again. This cycle may be illustrated by
the transition to and from war periods in this country’s budgetary history in which
concerns ranged from reading (Why can’t Johnny read?) to math and science (the
Soviets will beat us to the moon) to overall measurement of student achievement
(No Child Left Behind). Likewise, the series of choices may move in the other direc-
tion. Full stability yields to marginal adjustment and finally to watershed change.

This chapter defines and describes aspects of a budget. A budget signifies not
one spending choice but rather a series of choices. “Budgets” might refer to those
of one mayor’s administration, those of an era of a particular party’s control of a
statchouse, or even those made by leaders during a particular era of government
such as the New Deal or the Neoconservative Era. The stream of choices that char-
acterize the era is referred to collectively as the budget, and at this high level of
generalization, the stream of choices of whatever sequence and at whatever point in
the cycle signify the budget. The stream allows us to characterize the budget as the
method and substance of public policy and administration.

The forces that drive budgets along the cyclical path have an understandable
dynamic and logic. Thus, we look at the forces that drive budgets, their logic, and ulti-
mately, their dynamics as a financial management system in the following sections.

First, we need to ask what a budget is and what are the historical and cultural
bases of stability and change in budgets. Then, we elaborate on the dynamics—
the budget process—through which the participants formulate the budget. Finally,
we characterize the budget within the context of taxes and revenues as well as
financial management and accounting—the systemic expression of stability and
change through the inflow, operations, and outflow of decisions about money in
government.

2.2 Working Definitions of the Budget

What is a budget? From a theoretical perspective, the definition depends on whom
you ask: the elitists, the pluralists, the executive, the legislators, the agencies or
departments, or even the citizenry. A budget lists future or anticipated revenues and
expenditures in a set of documents. The budget represents an estimate of revenues
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Figure 2.1 Budgets in the hierarchy of decisions guiding inflow, operations, and
outflows of funds.

and expenditures for a future period, an estimate made by using forecasting tools
that are not limited to plain and simple good guessing. The document and its pur-
pose have changed with time. From a tool for control at first, to one for manage-
ment, planning, or a combination; budgets adapt, change, and morph themselves
into a tool useful to decision makers.

At their most stable, budgets are artifacts of history and culture. History and
culture tend to generalize small changes to what appear to be large but infrequent
turns of events. We can define a budget as a complex process in which administra-
tors and political leaders choose to tax and spend, in the manner they believe the role
of government in society dictates. Politics, power, organization, and control trans-
form beliefs by acting as instruments that fashion budgets. We expect that beliefs
transform and control budgets through the application of political action, power,
and organization. If the expectation holds, there should be little doubt that budgets
guide government administration and drive government financial management.

We emphasize the complex transformation of beliefs into budgets. Political and
administrative actors do make decisions that create budgets, and these decisions are
complex. We can elaborate the forces that tug at the choices among values, these
choices being explicit amounts of taxing and spending and the target groups whose
members will pay and benefit.

We see budgets as a body of choices. The dynamic of choice lies in the temporal
movement of money through government as inflows, operations, and outflows (see

Figure 2.1).
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Budget
Execution & Budgeting
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Figure 2.2 The financial management cycle.

The inflows are resource-based in that governments may tax, charge for services,
or borrow. The outflows tend to be spending because spending covers plans and
procedures for operations, purchase and construction of capital assets, and stafling
compensation plans and procedures. Finally, the operations segment, accounting
and auditing, purchasing, cash management, and risk management provide infor-
mation on how well the organization is functioning and acts to detect deviation
and implement budget decisions. At the center of it all stands the budget—a deci-
sion producer—that pushes the sequence of inflow and outflow.

The first budget model centers on the plan that the individuals using the process
of budgeting produce. Planning is one of two ways of looking at budgeting, the
other being financial management. Figure 2.2 reveals the second model, the finan-
cial management model, long advocated by the U.S. Government Accountability
Office (1985). Even though the GAO characterizes federal government financial
management, the process can apply to other levels of government with ease.

Figure 2.2’s characterization puts budgeting in place as a part of a cycle in
which information moves from the plan stage through budgeting to execution
and audit stages. Driving financial management, planning and programming
determine what program alternatives suit the goals and policies that departments
must achieve and follow. While integration of plans, programs, and budgets has
developed through use of planning, programming, budgeting systems (PPBS; dis-
cussed later), the integration of these with budget execution and accounting lags,
says GAO. GAO analysts advocate the accrual basis for budgeting, accounting,
and reporting to integrate the four elements of the financial management system.
According to one authority, “Cash accounting records the transaction when cash is
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exchanged, whereas accrual indicators record a financial flow at the time economic
value is created, transformed, exchanged, transferred or extinguished, whether or
not cash is exchanged at the time” (Treasury, Australian Government, 1999, p. 1).
Noting the poor quality of financial management information available to execu-
tives, GAO observed that “many agencies focus primarily on getting their budget
approved and then do only minimum accounting and compliance-type reporting”
(p. 11).

The resul? GAO argues, “[A] lack of integration of budgeting and account
ing systems ... makes it difficult to consolidate, match, or compare financial data
among agencies or different organizations within the same department or agency”
(1985, p. 11). More, “budgets are frequently developed without reliable budget exe-
cution data” because budgeting done on an obligation basis—noted as the amount
of money authorized by statute and encumbered for outlay within the fiscal year
through contracts and other decisions—while the execution of the budget takes
place on a combination basis, including obligation, cash, and even accrual of spend-
ing whenever it will form an outlay in the future. The model of Figure 2.2 pushes
the integration of budgeting with other subsystems, forcing the view that the correct
level at which to view budgeting is within the context of financial management.

So, what is a budget? Freeman (1972, p. 10) offers several definitions of a bud-
get. A budget is “a plan of financial operation embodying an estimate of proposed
expenditures for a given period and the proposed means of financing them, or a
process for systematically relating the expenditure of funds to the accomplishment
of planned objectives.” He offers another more comprehensive, complementary
definition: “(1) a financial expression of a [jurisdiction’s] plans for a specified period
of time, (2) a control device during the operating period, and (3) a vehicle by which
actual results may be compared with planned results and the variances analyzed so
that we may improve both our operations and budgeting in the future.”

If we consider, like Sundelson (1935), what the ideal budget might be, we would
find a set of generally agreed upon ideas relating the requirements of informed vot-
ers and responsible decision makers. These ideas include comprehensiveness, exclu-
siveness, unity, annularity, accuracy, clarity, and publicity. Comprehensiveness
requires that the budget hold all authority for expenditure and revenue, which the
government provides. Exclusiveness reflects the importance attached to separating
fiscal matters from substantive ones; the budget should include financial matters,
not other matters of substance. Unity suggests the need to relate all of the parts of
the budget to one another: what revenues support what expenditures, if earmarked.
Annularity forces regular review of expenditures and revenues by commanding the
length of the period between them. Accuracy means that estimates of needs and
resources are near the mark rather than the product of a dream or suggested by
political strategy. Clarity demands that who pays what and how much as well as
what is spent be unmistakable rather than confusing or simplistic. Finally, budget
making must seck publicity, which essentially consists of the airing of needs, griev-
ances, and policy positions of representative and represented.
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2.3 Budget Process

The dollars set forth in a budget document provide a common terminology for
describing the plans covering diverse governmental operations. Far from being
merely a financial document, however, the budget represents the process by which
government policy is made, the action program is put into effect, and policymak-
ers establish both legislative and administrative controls. At the heart of budget-
ing lies the need for planning. As with most plans, there are four logical stages in
which to divide the budgetary process: (1) budget preparation, (2) consideration
and adoption, (3) execution, and (4) audit (see Figure 2.3). We illustrate these stages
here with a typical city government organization, but, with modifications for other
forms of government and for legal or constitutional provisions unique to a place,
the stages would be quite similar across public organizations.

The budget process—particularly steps one and two—focuses attention, through
analysis and review, on choices between programs, especially between existing and
new ones. Analysis, review, and choice are a continuous process with each annual
budget representing an arbitrary period over the lives of programs, the adminis-
tration of a leader, the organization, and the community. To work effectively, the
budget process must provide systematic and efficient “procedural devices” to reveal
needs, highest and best uses of funds, and the tax prices and user fees a citizen must
pay for government services.

The elements of a budget process follow generally understood norms. Many of
the norms appear as “best practices” in the work of the National Advisory Council
on State and Local Budgeting (e.g., Calia, Guajardo, and Metzgar, 2000). A digest
of the items classified and investigated for best practices appears in Table 2.1.

L]
Preparation of 2002 Budget

O -e

To City Council for Consideration and Adoption of 2002 Budget

L -

To State of NJ for Approval

@ -

Execution of Preliminary Budget for 2002

.- --

Audit of 2001 Budget

Preparation of 2003 Budget

o0l N D J0O2 F M A M ] ] A S O N D ]Jo3

Time line segments in months (1% letter of month noted), beginning with October 2001, ending with January 2003.

Figure 2.3 2002 budget time line for Rutherford, New Jersey.
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Table 2.1 National Advisory Council on State and Local Budgeting
Recommended Practices (“Best Practices”)

Principle
Element
Recommended Practice

Establish Broad Goals to Guide Government Decision Making

Assess community needs, priorities, challenges, and opportunities
Identify stakeholder concerns, needs, and priorities
Evaluate community condition, external factors, opportunities, and
challenges
Identify opportunities and challenges for government services, capital
assets, and management

Assess services and programs, and identify issues, opportunities, and

challenges

Assess capital assets, and identify issues, opportunities, and challenges
Assess government management systems, and identify issues,
opportunities, and challenges

Develop and disseminate broad goals
Identify broad goals
Disseminate goals and review with stakeholders

Develop Approaches to Achieve Goals

Adopt financial policies
Develop policy on stabilization funds
Develop policy on fees and charges
Develop policy on debt issuance and management
Develop policy on the use of one-time revenues
Develop policy on balancing the operating budget
Develop policy on revenue diversification
Develop policy on contingency planning

Develop programmatic, operating and capital policies and plans
Prepare policies and plans to guide the design of programs and services
Prepare policies and plans for capital asset acquisition, maintenance,
replacement, and retirement
Develop programs and services that are consistent with policies and plans
Develop programs and evaluate delivery mechanisms
Develop options for meeting capital needs and evaluate acquisition
alternatives
Identify functions, programs, and/or activities of organizational units
Develop performance measures
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Table 2.1 (continued) National Advisory Council on State and Local
Budgeting Recommended Practices (“Best Practices”)

Develop management strategies
Develop strategies to facilitate attainment of programs and financial goals
Develop mechanisms for budgetary compliance

Develop the type, presentation, and time period of the budget

Develop a Budget Consistent with Approaches to Achieve Goals
Develop a process for preparing and adopting a budget
Develop a budget calendar
Develop budget guidelines and instructions
Develop mechanisms for coordinating budget preparation and review

Develop procedures to facilitate budget review, discussion, modification,
and adoption

Identify opportunities for stakeholders input
Develop and evaluate financial options
Conduct long-range financial planning
Prepare revenue projections
Document revenue sources in a revenue manual
Prepare expenditure projections
Evaluate revenue and expenditure options
Develop a capital improvement plan
Make choices necessary to adopt a budget
Prepare and present a recommended budget
Adopt the budget

Evaluate Performance and Make Adjustments
Monitor, measure, and evaluate performance
Monitor, measure, and evaluate budgetary performance
Monitor, measure, and evaluate financial condition
Monitor, measure, and evaluate external factors
Monitor, measure, and evaluate capital program implementation
Make adjustments as needed
Adjust the budget
Adjust policies, plans, programs, and management strategies

Adjust broad goals, if appropriate

Source: Calia et al. (2000). Covernment Finance Review, 16(2: April), 2.
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The best practices in Table 2.1 comprise necessary elements of the best budget
processes. Practitioners who call these elements “the best” have found them the
most useful ones in formulating a budget that involves the group of locality leaders
and managers as well as professional budgeters and citizens.

Common elements follow a timetable. This timetable follows in the discussion
about the steps in budgeting.

First, the budget process requires planning and scheduling of each step. The
chief executive can control the planning and scheduling or can delegate them to
a budget director. The chief emphasis in the look ahead is allotment of time and
effort to steps and people. The planning and scheduling effort produces a budget
calendar. Figure 2.4 presents the fiscal year 2005 budget calendar for the City of
Grand Rapids, Michigan.

Next, the executive sets policy and budget techniques through the budget
instructions and statements. A budget message to staff members involved in budget-
ing starts the actual process of budget formulation. The message announces the start
and the schedule at the very least, but the message may proclaim certain priorities
among financial goals as well. Standard forms dictate how department staff mem-
bers present financial estimates to those reviewing the budget requests. The forms
will often follow a combination of those budget techniques discussed later: line-
item detail, performance budgeting, and program-goal-driven budget requests.

Staff members who have the responsibility of formulating budget requests do
so through relatively simple or complicated analyses. Simple analyses are those
reflecting services mandated by other governments or by the courts. Analyses that
are more complex underlie demand-driven programs and those programs to which
technological development has permitted cost savings in exchange for greater
investment. Efficiency and effectiveness of existing services may control analyses
in other areas.

Resource estimates follow the analyses. Budget resource estimates employ a
number of different techniques. Many of these techniques we present in a later
section. The process of estimation only partly extrapolates from experience. The
variety and diversity of revenue sources will determine the complexity of the rev-
enue estimation process.

The budget preparation continues with individual expenditure estimates and
work programs, budget requests, usually flowing to some central source such as
the budget director or the chief executive. Whether or not the total of all requested
resources exceeds the revenue estimate, the budget director reviews requests for the
simplest of arithmetic errors, compliance with the original “Instructions and Policy
Statement,” or performance, service standard, and workload analysis. The budget
director formulates an executive budget by revising budget requests—accepting or
refusing those presented—as well as holding appeals hearings on refusals, revising
estimates as greater information arrives, and formulating revenue changes for legis-
lative action. The budget director forces a preliminary balance between expenditure
requests and revenue estimates.
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Date

Action

February 12

e Fiscal staff met with a regional analyst for revenue estimating

February 24

* Presentation to commissioners? with comprehensive set of
recommendations and first round of appropriation requests

March 16

* Delivery of general fund and internal service funds
» Approval of police department appropriation request

March 23

* Presentation of balance of general fund and internal service
funds (excluding fire department)
* Adoption of revised income tax exemption deduction

March 30

* Review of fire department budget

* Approval of selected internal service fund apropriation
requests

* Resolution to establish a public hearing on property tax
administration fee

April 13

e Delivery of preliminary FY2005 fiscal plan
* Review of enterprise, special revenue, and other funds
* Public hearing on property tax administration fee

April 20

* Review of remaining funds

e Staff response to city commission question

* Resolution to establish a public hearing on proposed budget

* Approval of appropriation requests for all remaining funds
(excluding general fund and internal service funds)

April 27

¢ Adoption of property tax administration fee

e Approval of fire department appropriation request

* Approval of appropriation request for the balance of the
general fund

May 4

e Public hearing on proposed budget

May 11

* Adoption of the FY2005 budget ordinance

May 18

¢ Resolution to establish a public hearing on 2005 property tax
levy

May 25

* Public hearing on 2005 property tax levy

June 1

* Resolution to establish 2005 property tax levy

2 City of Grand Rapids is a commission form of government.
Source: City of Grand Rapids Fiscal Plan 2004-2005, p. xxviii.

Figure 2.4 Budget review calendar for the city of Grand Rapids, Michigan.
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The budget director submits the budget estimate to the chief executive. The
chief executive examines decisions about expenditures and revenues. The chief
executive makes the final decisions, draws up an executive budget, and proposes it
to the legislative body.

The legislative body, such as a city council, reviews the executive budget.
Legislators may need to consult the chief executive and budget director for expla-
nations. The legislators hold public hearings at which citizens may testify. The leg-
islators then formulate the final budget, adopt it, and prepare any other action to
set tax rates.

The last two stages—execution and audit—complete the budgetary process.
While the budget is the plan for the upcoming year, managers execute the budget
for the current year at the same time that auditors examine the records for the bud-
get of the previous year. Although accounting plays an important role in the entire
process, it is most prevalent in the final stages as a way to monitor and manage
expenditures. Historically, no centralized accounting process existed; for example,
a century ago, ledgers were the typical way to keep track of resources. Ledgers have
not disappeared, but essential accounting procedures and reporting formats have
been developed to keep the budget on track. Accounting is generally viewed as a
process to measure profits, but government is not in the business of making profits;
therefore accounting and budgeting professionals had to develop a system to moni-
tor, control, and measure agency productivity for budget purposes. As such, the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) defined and instituted three
categories of fund accounts for state and local governments—governmental funds,
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds—which provide a mechanism to institute
and maintain accountability. Each is self-balancing, and tracks revenues and appro-
priations. We discuss each in turn.

Governmental funds focus on the current financial resources spent to fulfill
general government purposes. There are typically five types of governmental funds:
a general fund, special revenue funds, capital projects funds, debt service funds, and
permanent funds. All of these funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Proprietary funds account for government’s business-like organizations and
activities, such as services that are fee-based, for example, water and sewer services.
Enterprise and internal service funds constitute proprietary funds. Because these
funds represent business-like activities, the accrual basis of accounting is used.

Fiduciary funds account for assets held by a government unit in a trustee or
agency capacity on behalf of others, such as a pension trust fund. Generally, there
are four fiduciary fund types, using accrual basis of accounting. Under GASB
Statement No. 34, “Basic Financial Statements—and Managements Discussion
and Analysis—for State and Local Governments” (GASB, 1999), fiduciary funds
are now classified as follows: investment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds,
pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, and agency funds.

Figure 2.5 illustrates the fund structure for the city of Grand Rapids, Michigan,
and Figure 2.6 explains the accounting process for the different types of funds.
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Modified Accrual Basis of Budgeting and Accounting

General Fund | |

Special Revenue | |

Capital |

| Permanent | | Debt Service |

| Budget & Tabilization |—

-I Building Inspection |

Capital Reserve

| Cemetery
Perpetual

Aot 175 Debt Service

Community Development
Blook Grant

-I DNR Properties |

Capital Improvement |

Care

Downtown Improvement
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-I Drug Law Enforcement

Streets Capital

Home Investment
Partnershi

-| Lead Abasement Grant

| Local Streets |-

-I Major Streets |

Michigan Juctice Training |-

Neighborhood Business
Improvement Program

Other Grants

Property Management

Public Library

Public Museum

Disposal

Sidewalk Repair

| Refuse Collection and |_

Vehicle Storage

1 |
1 |
1 |
1 |

B 1st District Court

Accrual Basis of Budgeting and Accounting

Internal Service

| Belknap Ice Arena Engineering |

Cemeterless Operating | | Central Stores

| Parking Services | | Facilities Management Information Technology |

‘Water Supply

Sewage Disposal

| Insurance Payment Motor Equipment |

Figure 2.5 City of Grand Rapids fund structure for budgeted funds.

Grand Rapids uses two of the major fund categories—governmental and pro-
prietary—to manage its budget. Each of these categories is separated into subcat-
egories, each with its own designated fund, with the exception of the general fund.
Looking at the special revenue funds (there are 20 of them), and although most
are not self-sufficient (they need not be as an enterprise fund), each is allocated
earmarked revenues that have been raised via a tax of some sort, typically, a prop-
erty tax at the local level. For example, the city taxes property and income; all the
income tax revenue goes to the general fund whereas the property tax revenue is
allocated among many funds. This is illustrated in Figure 2.7.

The fiscal plan for FY2005 estimates that $15,902,876 will be raised via prop-
erty taxes and earmarks for all special revenue funds and $12,223,383 of the
property taxes are nonearmarked, so they are allocated to the general fund.

Analyzing one of the special revenue funds, for example, the refuse collection
and disposal fund, we see a combination of revenues, from the sale of refuse tags
and bags to property taxes levied so to balance this fund (see Figure 2.8).

The refuse collection fund is not self-sufficient, resulting in the need for an
earmarked property tax. In fact, prior to the FY2005 budget, the property tax, a
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City of Grand Rapids
Fund Structure for Budgeted Funds

What are “Budgetary Basis” and “Accounting Basis?"

Budgetary basis is the method used fo determine when revenues and expenditures are recognized for
budgeting purposes. Accounting basis is used to determine when revenues and expenditures are
recognized for financial reporting purposes. These determinations depend on the measurement focus of the
individual fund — that ig, the types of transactions and events that are reported in a fund’s operating
statement. The City's funds use either the modified accrual or the accrual measurement focus.

Modified Accrual Basis — Funds that focus on current financial resources use the modified accrual basis,
which recognizes increases and decreases in financial resources only to the extent that they reflect short-
term inflows or outfiows of cash. Amounts are recognized as revenue when eamed as long as they are
collectible within the period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period.
These individual funds are known collectively as, "govemmental fund types.”

Accrual Basis - Funds that focus on fotal economic resources employ the accrual basis, which recognizes
increases and decreases in economic resources as soon as the underying event or transaction occurs.
Revenues are recognized as soon as they are earned and expenses are recognized as soon as a liability is
incurred, regardiess of the timing of related cash inflows and outflows. In the private sector, the accrual
basis is often used by for-profit business enterprises and not-for-profit organizations.

Difference between the City's Budgetary Basis and Accounting Basis — For funds that use the modified
accrual basis, the portion of year-end fund balance reserved for outstanding compensated absence liabilities
(for example, unused vacation) is not considered part of budgetary reserves.

Figure 2.6 Explanation of fund accounting differences from the city of Grand
Rapids, Michigan.

millage of 1.35, was not high enough to yield sufficient revenue to balance opera-
tions; therefore, the city raised the rate to 1.55. Remember, special revenue funds
do not need to be self-sufficient, and many use property tax levies to balance the
fund balance.

Using these types of funds, special funds and otherwise, creates a tool of
accountability such that the local government cannot use the earmarked recourses
for another fund or line-item. In the end, the presence of accounting in the budget
process is no mistake and its significance and role in the budgeting process must be
fully understood by managers, planners, and budgeters alike. Figure 2.9 depicts the
flow of decision making in the allocation of resources. At each stage and movement
to the next, accounting is ever present and important.

2.4 Budget Techniques*

Recall Sundelson’s ideas of budgeting: comprehensiveness, exclusiveness, unity,
annuality, accuracy, clarity, and publicity. Yet, Sundelson’s eight principles might
be compressed to one, according to Burkhead (1956, p. 107; 1965, pp. 97-99):

" One of the best histories of the development of techniques and budget reform comes from Tyer

and Willand (1997).
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GENERAL FUND SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

FY2003 FY2004 FY2005 FY2003 FY2004 FY2005

Actual Estimated Budget Actual Estimated Budget
FINANCIAL SOURCES:
Income Tax 49,348,162 49,132,816 49,508,793 - - -
State Grants/Shared Revenues 27,006,118 25,062,034 24,129,032 16,695,069 14,805,300 14,894,868
Property Tax 12,806,257 11,064,453 12,223,383 13,940,358 14,534,212 15,902,876
Services and Fees 13,844,825 15,586,658 10,307,310 12,021,043 12,529,331 17,782,275
Federal Grants 1,724,994 2,671,200 495,714 18,987,842 19,836,037 8,169,494
Contributions from Other Funds 5,201,640 3,843,780 7,587,573 2,523,652 2,572,317 5,814,240
Fines/Forfeitures 3,133,378 3,072,500 566,500 985,824 566,300 2,136,500
Interest on Investments 767,410 425,052 400,000 654,144 453,200 447,147
Other Local Governments - - - 200,196 666,666 -
Miscellaneous 3,643,075 3,106,261 2,837,840 2,159,390 615,247 6,915,666
TOTAL SOURCES 117,475,859 113,964,754 108,056,145 68,167,518 66,578,610 72,063,066
EXPENDITURES:
Public Safety Services 75,914,256 74,332,063 60,252,274 699,368 413,463 8,173,067
Planning & Community Dev 13,925,225 13,510,123 12,655,080 15,615,347 14,343,859 13,463,974
Public Works & Economic Dev 9,748,151 8,667,342 4,875,544 21,367,230 25,763,017 27,458,532
Cultural Services - - - 12,964,103 11,878,004 11,993,742
Fiscal Services 8,674,936 10,520,217 8,339,412 959,727 887,484 842,649
Human Resources Services 3,000,808 2,904,352 2,789,659 - - -
Management Services 3,226,565 3,148,043 3,043,299 - - -
Capital Outlay - - - 3,402,198 2,717,730 2,768,350
Debt Service - - - - - -
Contributions to Other Funds 5,277,652 5,266,354 7,596,240 7,695,596 4,266,832 10,576,460
Other 2,339,355 3,285,827 7,336,043 - - -
Estimated Appropriation Lapse - - (526,938) - - -
TOTAL USES 122,106,948 121,634,321 106,360,613 62,703,569 60,270,449 75,276,774
Net Increase (Decrease)
in Fund Balance (4,631,089) (7,669,567) 1,695,532 5,463,949 6,308,161 (3,213,708)
General Contingencies and
Reserves - - - (14,115,261) -
Fund Balance, July 1 15,848,448 11,217,359 3,547,792 43,367,513 34,716,201 41,024,362
Fund Balance, June 30 11,217,359 3,547,792 5,243,324 34,716,201 41,024,362 37,810,654

Figure 2.7 City of Grand Rapids, Michigan: Summary of estimated financial
sources and uses.

There is probably only one principle which is likely to be useful—that
of operational adequacy. The budget cycle and the budgetary process
must be capable of coping with the governmental problems at hand.
This means that there must be an emphasis on flexibility and adaptabil-
ity, not an emphasis on an ideal that is intended to be unchanging.

Among the budget processes widely used in governments, we find much evidence
that Burkhead is right. However, within these principles are contained the basic
tenets for defining a management device, above all. Actual government practices
are more often at the one extreme of meeting the very basic definition Freeman
offered (expenditures and financial means) than at the other extreme, combining
planning, control of expenditures, evaluation of actual results with planned results,
and evaluation of alternative methods to achieve a desired result. We shall consider
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FY2003 FY2004 FY2005
REVENUES: ACTUAL BUDGET ESTIMATE BUDGET
Sale of Refuse Tags 1,557,882 1,630,000 1,630,000 1,951,139
Sale of Refuse Bags 1,480,160 1,470,000 1,470,000 1,908,825
Bulk Item Tags 65,202 69,000 69,000 70,005
Container Service 129,780 99,700 99,700 134,861
Sale of Yard Waste Bags 460,090 400,000 400,000 600,871
Sale of Yard Waste Tags 17,400 17,640 17,640 68,404
Sale of Appliance Stickers 42914 48,300 48,300 49,356
Nuisance 91,091 20,000 20,000 381,682
Cart Tags 36,178 76,000 65,000 65,000
Recycling Stickers & Containers 255 320 320 256
Miscellaneous 15,220 95,800 95,800 80,000

3,896,172 3,926,760 3,915,760 5,310,399

EXPENDITURES :

Refuse Collection 5,609,107 5,925,068 5,972,324 5,915,061
Recycling 1,129,901 1,223,841 1,349,376 1,124,723
Yard Waste Recycling 999,079 1,239,376 1,223,841 1,318,668
Marketing/Distribution 585,023 621,807 630,685 660,089
Street Sweep/Leaf Collection 981,309 1,327,884 1,327,884 1,524,264
Code Enforcement 189,166 - - -
Butterworth Landfill 279,683 283,599 347,154 259,572
Trash Reduction Project 186,449 357,326 357,326 532,183
Capital Outlay - - 236,380 -

9,959,717 10,978,901 11,444,970 11,334,560

OPERATING EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) (6,063,545)  (7,052,141)  (7,529,210)  (6,024,161)
Non-operating Revenues (Expenses):

Property TaxLevy* 4,830,039 4,908,500 4,982,712 6,015,881

Interest on Investments 119,385 90,000 90,000 75,847

Miscellaneous 7,710 - - 48,039
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY)

OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES (1,106,411)  (2,053,641)  (2,456,498) 115,606
Fund Balance, beginning of year 5,168,621 4,062,210 4,062,210 1,605,712
Fund Balance, end of year 4,062,210 2,008,569 1,605,712 1,721,318

*Millage rate for FY2003 and FY2004 was 1.35; for FY2005 is 1.55

Figure 2.8 City of Grand Rapids, Michigan: Refuse Collection and Disposal
Fund, Statement of Operations, Fiscal Year 2005 Budget.

both definitions in succeeding portions of this chapter: first, the line-item budget
as a rudimentary way of assessing expenditures and means; performance budgeting
as a method of going one step beyond line-item budgeting by classifying items by
function; and program budgeting, as a means of combining planning and budget-
ing for more effective use of resources.
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Planning

|

Accounting | «———» | Budgeting

|

Managing

Figure 2.9 Role of accounting in budget process.

2.4.1 Line-Item Budgeting: The Control Orientation

An early approach to budgeting—a line-item or object of expenditure budget—is
still the most popular approach in local government due to its simplicity and the
strict accountability or control it allows. This budget, however, has limited utility
as a management tool.

The line-item budget allocates funds to specific items or objects. Salaries, office
supplies, and printing costs are forecasted for the next year, limiting the adminis-
trator to a certain increment per objective over the amount budgeted for that object
the last fiscal year (see Table 2.2).

The Jeffersonian line-item approach was implemented again around the turn of
the 20th century as a means to reform uncontrollable spending. It was devised to
hold governmental units accountable for expenditures by setting an item-by-item
spending schedule.

The greatest advantage of line-item budgeting is the control it exerts on finan-
cial administration. The intentions of governmental decision makers are defined as
to what will be spent on what. This, in turn, provides some control over work by
casting expenditures along departmental lines and character of expense.

Grossbard (n.d.) argues the insufficiency of the line-item budget. He views line-
item budgeting as a result of “short-run thinking and a tendency to put off both
expenditure increases and revenue measures until a later period.” The problem with
the traditional line-item budget format, he further argues, is that “it does not do
enough.” Specifically, the budget is difficult to relate to objectives. There is no rela-
tion of expenditures to accomplishment and no concept of alternatives to policy,
and no integration of planning, budgeting, and control. Line-item budgeting pro-
motes inertia in that changes are produced only as marginal changes from the
previous year. Levels of service, organization structure, and methods of operation
become permanent, although they may be unsatisfactory.
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Table 2.2 Line-Item Budget Illustration

Fire Protection

Account Last Year This Year | Next Year
Number? Account Title Actual Estimated | Proposed
01-2-2-2-9-03 | Fire Prevention-District 9-Fire Company Inspections
-1-1-1 Salaries 10,000 11,000 12,000
-1-1-2 Social Security 1,000 1,100 1,200
-1-2-1 Telephone 100 150 200
-1-2-2 Utilities 300 500 700
-2-1-1 Insurance 500 600 700
-2-2-1 Office rent 1,000 1,000 1,000
-3-1-1 Equipment 4,000 5,000 6,000
-4-1- Expendable supplies
-4-1-5 Clothing supplies 500 550 600
-4-1-6 Office supplies 400 425 450
-4-1-9 Other supplies 300 310 320

Total 18,100 20,635 23,170

2 See Figure 2.15 for a visual explanation of the account identifiers. This line-
item budget illustration follows the model in this figure.

Anton (1964), in his study of budget practice in three Illinois cities, illustrates
the marginal or incremental practices of line-item budgeting. Because the only
information available to a city was the past year’s budget and the marginal increases
asked by each department, the budget hearing was found to provide the only clues
as to what to cut and what to leave as it was. He observes (p. 16):

Precisely because the “stakes” are inherently so political in meaning,
the criteria used to decide [budget] questions are seldom relevant to
departmental goals. Instead, the deciding criteria become such political
factors as power and influence of the department head, the ability of the
department to mobilize support for its demands, or the ability of the
council to gain prestige by granting or refusing the demand.

The increases in the budget were not based on any demonstration that services from
any particular department would improve or suffer as a result of increases or cuts.
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In fact, all departments could have made a persuasive case for increases to improve
their operations.

The departments, however, are not equal in their ability to marshal influence.
Anton continues, “what is most significant here is the demonstration that in the
absence of detailed information on the part of the council and in the absence of
strong central control over various departments, each department is relatively free
to seek improvement in its financial position by putting pressure on the council.
Clearly, the advantage lies with the strong” (Anton, 1964, p. 17).

2.4.2 Performance Budgeting: The Management Approach
and Later Developments

Due to limitations in line-item budgeting and increasing levels of expenditures, the
federal government began turning to a new approach, a management approach, in
the early 1930s. This change grew out of several circumstances. First, the increase in
activities and expenditures under New Deal programs made some classes of activities
performed more important for informational purposes than itemized objects. Second,
Keynesian economics stressed more public spending to reduce economic disadvan-
tages during the Depression; therefore, the number of expenditures increased and
their performance as a group had to be measured. Third, the President’s Committee
on Administrative Management in 1937 advocated management of spending by
the President and subsequently called for expanding the Bureau of the Budget and
consolidating it in the Executive Office of the President (Schick, 1966). Fourth, the
Hoover Commission in 1949 recommended “that the whole budgetary concept of
the Federal Government should be refashioned by the adoption of a budget based
upon functions, activities and projects” (Schick, 1966, p. 258). In fact, from the
Hoover Commission came the new name, “performance budgeting.”

The Hoover Commission Report also influenced local governments to intro-
duce the concept of their budgeting systems. In a symposium held in May 1954, the
Municipal Finance Officers Association (MFOA) leaders indicated that “the keen
interest in [performance budgeting] was considerably stimulated by the work of
the Hoover Commission and its comments regarding the federal budget” (MFOA,
1954). The symposium concerned performance budgeting and its initiation in local
government. The discussion commented that “renewed interest in improved finan-
cial management of governmental units and an awakening to the possibilities inher-
ent in the performance budget approach are causing more and more municipalities
of all sizes to explore and sometimes adopt such budgets” (MFOA, 1954, p. 1).

The management approach or the idea of performance budgeting referred to
by both the Hoover Commission and MFOA included several new concepts. This
budget related expenditures to performance. Appropriations were made to activi-
ties—jobs to performed—rather than objects. The new concept introduced oper-
ational analysis, a method of measuring inputs—personnel services, contractual



90 m Handbook of Governmental Accounting

A. Line Item Budget: Controlling Inputs A. Park and Recreation District:

¢ Dollars o Salaries
e People e Maintenance
o Materials, supplies o Utilities
o Supplies
4

A. Performance Budget: Controlling Outputs  A. Park and Recreation District’s Output
Measures:

Tasks Actually Completed: « Park tours provided

¢ Immediately observable products and services e Teams organized

e Provided at the quantity, quality, cost and e Tennis lessons given
timeliness desired
¢ Swimming lessons given
¢ Normally measured in terms of efficiency or

productivity: inputs/outputs e Recreation classes taught

o Patrons satisfied

U

A. Program Budget: Controlling Outcomes A. Park and Recreation District’s Outcome
Checklist:
Goals actually achieved
e What are the goals of the district expressed
o Measurable: knowing that the work group in measurable, observable terms?
either achieved the goal or not
¢ Do district managers and employees have
e Valid: knowing what difference it made control over the achievement of their goals?
whether you achieved the goal or not
o Of the various ways of doing the things the
e Criteria driven: judged in terms of District is supposed to do, which is the
effectiveness or cost effectiveness most cost effective?

Figure 2.10 Control and types of budgets.

services—against outputs and how many units of activity occurred as a result.
Generally, the budget called for more information on what the activity was, what
the procedures used were, and what level of service could be provided for what
amount. In Figure 2.10, performance lies between line-item and program budgets,
concentrating attention on output control.

Necessitated by increased economic activity, the new approach was tailored to
provide distinct advantages over the line-item concept. By its orientation to man-
agement, performance budgeting’s principal thrust went toward helping adminis-
trators assess the work efliciency of operating units by casting budget categories in
functional terms, and providing work-cost measurements to facilitate the efficient
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performance of prescribed activities. At the height of performance budgeting’s
acceptance, Simon and Ridley (1958) identified four types of measurement needs:
results, costs, efforts, and performance, the last three of which were their measures
of “administrative efficiency.” For the first time, standards were set on the basis
of the measurements made, person hour, cost accounting, and ratio of personnel
(Sherwood and Best, 1975).

Many found disadvantages in performance budgeting’s application in the
federal government (Schick, 1966). Budget estimates were no more meaningful
than those in line-item budgets. The reason for making one particular expenditure
rather than another was not clear. No alternatives were presented on which to base
a “best” choice. The same limitations were true in the states and cities where perfor-
mance budgeting was being employed.

Work measurement presented the second difficulty for budget officers. There
were inherent difficulties in measuring government output with precision. It was
easy to measure government purchases, generally easy to measure government
activities, but Burkhead (1956) argues that these are repetitive and discrete units.
These government outputs can compare directly with private goods that may be
priced based on cost and even demand. However, the ease of measurement, costing
and even pricing, these government outputs are “nonsignificant as a measure of
accomplishment ...,” Burkhead points out (1956, p. 140).

Lastly, performance budgeting lacked the tools to deal with long-range prob-
lems. With planned expenditures set within a 1 year perspective, “almost all options
[for future action] have been foreclosed by previous commitments” (Schick, 1966,
p- 258).

Robert Luther, budget officer of Fairfax County, Virginia, explained the appli-
cation and implementation of some performance budget concepts in a suburban
county. Problems arose in several areas. Quantifying or categorizing units of work
within a department met with difficulty. Collection of data on work units was not
done accurately; therefore, it was unreliable. The department head questioned the
concept of data collection and the need for it; there was little departmental coopera-
tion (Luther, 1972). The difficulty was symptomatic of little or no commitment by
elected officials or department heads to concepts of work measurement.

The development of a management approach to budgeting is, in retrospect, an
evolutionary step toward use of the budget as a tool in both quantifying the results
of a particular expenditure and in evaluating the entire budget program. The per-
formance budget was a middle step between the traditional line-item method and
the planning approach adopted by performance budgeting’s successors, program
budgeting and PPBS.

What they all seem to point to is a widening of the scope of budgeting from
inputs via outputs to outcomes. In the traditional format, budget decision mak-
ers felt they were parsimonious when they could cut back or examine thoroughly
the amount and composition of inputs. Decision makers accomplished input con-
trol through control of budget increases. The dollar control gained a powerful
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supplement in position control for full-time equivalent employee positions. The
decision makers also provided methods for controlling spending while executing
the budget. These procedures, often simply segregation of duties with substantial
oversight, amount to the red tape many find in public organizations. The justifi-
cation for a complicated process of control lies in prevention and punishment of
fraud, waste, and abuse of the financial system.

When a budget combines input control with output control, financial managers
set up a different set of controls that are far more comprehensive. The input plus
the output controls give everyone in the organization a sense of a bottom line. This
form of control is the real definition of performance, a bottom line that everyone
seeks to reach or influence.

Efficiency and performance measures tell whether programs work to give citi-
zens their money’s worth. Obviously, there are many different ways to deal with
organization, program, and individual performance through budgeting. Beyond
the output control Figure 2.10 implies, modern performance budgeting (PB) can
appear in several forms. Normally called a productivity budget, PB directs policy-
makers to follow a path and make choices in their allocation decisions. We dis-
cuss four common PB variants in the following text: level of service, unit cost,
performance-to-program crosswalks, and activity base budgets.

2.4.2.1 Level-of-Service Approach

With the first approach, policymakers choose a level of service: Policymakers make
their decisions related to how much or often a particular task will get done. Simple
outputs provide the focus of control. In Figure 2.11, the focus of attention falls on
the level of service connected to streetlights in San Diego (Sherwood and Best,
1958, p. 263).

Several advantages emerge in using a level-of-service approach to performance.
This method focuses attention on the frequency of routine activities. The focus is
not glamorous or a matter of major changes, but it emphasizes the most impor-
tant aspect of routine tasks pursued by local governments. Second, the output-level
approach makes employees understand service standards. Moreover, the attention
to outputs can focus on how efficient services are.

Disadvantages emerge as well. Many report that in using this method, policy-
makers feel hamstrung by their previous commitments to maintenance and service
standards. Perhaps the feeling of inflexibility arises most often in fiscal stressed
times when policymakers find it hard to hide service-level reductions when dollars
have to be cut from the budget.

2.4.2.2 Unit Cost Approach

Analysis can identify factors driving operating costs. An estimate of expenditure
requirements based on this type of analysis, particularly those requirements relating
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WHAT IS THE BEST LEVEL OF SERVICE, GIVEN THE FOLLOWING?
San Diego, 1950

Total Unit
Unit  Rate per Labor Unit Unit Unit
Operation Man-hours Man-hour Cost  Material Equipment Cost
Washing Luminaires 0.23 $1.29  $0.30 $0.01 $0.02 $0.33
Lamping 0.39 2.11 $0.82 0.96 0.12 $1.90
Painting Standards 0.77 223 $1.72 1.04 0.08 $2.84
Number of Lights in Service 5,010
Present level of service:
‘Washing luminaires Twice per year
Lamping Twice per year
Painting standards Once every two years
Washing luminaires 5,010 X 2 X $0.33 3,273.53
Lamping 5,010 X 2 X $1.90 19,067.06
Painting standards 5,010 / 2 X $2.84 7,106.94
Routine Maintenance Budget $29,447.53
By Line Items:
Labor Cost 15,519.73
Washing 2,972.93
Lamping 8,245.46
Painting 4,301.34
Material 12,324.60
Washing 100.20
Lamping 9,619.20
Painting 2,605.20
Equipment 1,603.20
Washing 200.40
Lamping 1,202.40
Painting 200.40
29,447.53

Figure 2.11 Level-of-service approach illustration.

to programs, comprises the bulk of the budget. Fundamental conditioning factors
that influence program costs include the following:

1. The scope and quality of services provided
2. The volume of work required to render the services
3. Methodes, facilities, and organization for performing the work
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4. Qualities and types of labor, material, equipment, and other cost elements
required by the work volume
5. Price levels of the various cost elements

These conditioning factors emerge most visibly in the unit cost approach to perfor-
mance budgeting, as illustrated in Figure 2.12.

With a unit cost method of performance budgeting, policymakers decide bud-
gets on the basis of cost and number of outputs, that is, efficiency. The advantage
lies in the focus. This approach through unit cost to performance focuses attention
on the efficiency of traditional activities by measuring both inputs in dollars and
activity costs and outputs in the amount of work done. The data, however, may not
account for indirect costs or overhead in a meaningful way. Individual control may
not exist either, because the unit cost approach cannot succeed in focusing employ-
ees’ attention on costs that they cannot control or change.

2.4.2.3 Activity Costs with Goals Attached

A cousin to the unit cost approach is one we call the cross walk approach, also
known as performance-program budgeting, and used in federal government efforts
to comply with the Government Performance and Results Act provisions. To use
this budget, policymakers decide matters based on how well activities achieve pro-
grammatic goals. The approach is a hybrid in which program managers combine
efficiency and the specific policy goals provided by authorizing legislation. In the
example provided in Figure 2.13, the Environmental Protection Agency, in 1999,
faced Congressional scrutiny on spending for the various legislated programs mem-
bers of Congress wanted to follow closely. The line-item budget EPA had submitted
to Congress previously served as the basis for a cross walk to the actual program
goals, such as acid rain reduction, that members of Congress wanted to follow.
This form of budgeting was thought successful by the Government Accountability
Office because the budget focused attention on goal achievement or the achieve-
ment of performance strategies. GAO also pointed out that the connection between
performance measures and money was unclear. Analysts could see that the unclear
connection could create perverse incentives to only maintain stable performance
rather than achieve goals as they are commonly understood.

2.4.2.4 The Full-Time Equivalent Employee (FTE) Approach

The fourth approach to performance budgeting rests on the calculation of costs
related to the employment of a full-time equivalent position in the work an orga-
nization does. This form is also known as Activity-Based Budgeting (ABB). Since
employee compensation is the largest single category of spending in most organiza-
tion budgets, the FTE approach allows policymakers to determine spending based
on the number of positions required to meet demand for the organization’s work.
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The Environmental Protection Agency Proposed Aligning Budget and Planning Structures

EPA strategic goals, strategic objectives,

EPA budget accounts and program activities and performance goals

and technology

. Clean air ($137) $4 Strategic goal : clean air
. Clean water

. Safe food Strategic Objective: acid rain ($22)

1

2.

3

4. Preventing pollution

5. Waste management Performance goals:
6

7

8

9

. Global and cross border
+ Maintain 4 million tons of sulfur dioxides reductions from utility

. Right to know
sources

. Sound science

. Credible deterrent « Maintain 300,000 tons of nitrogen oxides reductions from coal-
fired utility sources

Environmental programs and management

account
1. Clean air ($69) $13 » Launch the nitrogen oxides Emissions and Allowance Tracking
« Other program activities corresponding to EPA’s other system for the Ozone Transport Region

strategic goals (similar to above)

State and tribal assistance grants account

1. Clean air ($201) $5

« Other program activities corresponding to EPA’s other
strategic goals (similar to above)

Note: Dollars in millions.

Source: GAO analysis based on the Environmental Protection
Agency’s fiscal year 1999 performance plan and

Budget of the United States Government Fiscal Year 1999 - Appendix

Figure 2.13 Illustrations of approaches used to connect resources to results in
agencies’ fiscal year 1999 performance plans.

The example in Figure 2.14 comes from a state governor’s press office. In this orga-
nization, demand for service comes in the form of a need for press releases and vari-
ous other bits of information. Knowing the time required to complete the average
unit of activity—prepare a press release, for example, as well as knowing the level
of press release activity over a fiscal year—a budget manager can forecast the total
number of hours of employee time. Given existing salary and benefit levels and
some basis for extending a cost estimate for supplies and materials for an employee,
the budget estimate comes readily to hand.

Among the advantages of ABB, users report that it focuses attention on posi-
tions and salaries, which are the bulk of most public and nonprofit budgets. The
budget estimate emerges through an estimate of the demand for services that many
agencies cannot control. Demand dictates budgets.

As for disadvantages, a budget with an activity base is very hard to cut. The dif-
ficulty depends on the likelihood of a change in the nature of the work—no more
press conferences in the example given earlier. Change may also proceed if the work
gets reengineered to cut the number of work units; for example, the press officer
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Present Level of Service Units g:;t Cost Line-item Budget S y
Press Release Writing or Review 100 419 4,190
Statistical Requests Reporting 3,100 78.44 243,154 Salaries 604,419
Press Conference Organizing 25 78.44 1,961 Materials 5,302
Comment Request Reporting 5,000 78.44 392,184 Equipment 39,040
Editorial Writing 48 151.51 7,273
Total $648,761 Total $648,761

Figure 2.14 (continued).

could find that more press releases might take the pressure off demand for press
conferences or vice versa.

2.4.2.5 Later Developments in Performance Budgeting
Found in Responsibility Center Budgeting

Responsibility center budgeting has grown in importance as top managers have rec-
ognized the wisdom in organizing around specific goals or tasks rather than around
all-purpose functions or departments. The responsibility center idea rests on an exist-
ing and traditional map. At the top of the map lie plans: goals, programs, outcomes
to achieve, and even milestones marking deadlines for achievement or progress gen-
erally. The traditional all-purpose department fits within goals, as goals may overlap
traditional departments or set within departments. The fund structure may also
apply organizationwide or, in the case of enterprises, in one department. Crossing
department boundaries or not, functions—management, instruction for education,
or gallery activities in the case of a museum—may be known and exist because these
functions relate directly to outcomes desired by top managers. Below these func-
tions lie the actual responsibilities of people with functions and within one or more
departments. These activities form the basis for budgeting. Within these responsi-
bility centers, anyone may account for traditional-line items (see Figure 2.15). The
figure summarizes in fairly well-known terms—the chart of account structure—the
methods for creating and using responsibility centers as presented here.

Across the organization, there may be similarities among responsibility cen-
ters. A manager may characterize these similar responsibilities as profit centers in
enterprise-related activities. In almost all organizations, there are revenue centers
where there may be development as grants and donations, tax collection, or simple
cash collection responsibilities. Finally, there will be cost centers, investment cen-
ters, and service centers with responsibilities for providing staff and other services
to the “line” centers. The important point to remember is the single responsibility
dictum: profit, revenue, cost, investment, or service only.

What the responsibility center concept means is clear. There is very little top-
heavy organization and management, since cost centers compete with other cost
centers, and profit centers with other profit centers. These centers also work toward
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goals the center members have participated in setting. Competition and progress
leave very little discretion for top managers, and the dynamics have built-in con-
trols. The system decentralizes.

2.4.3 Program Budgeting

Program budgeting suffers from a severe identity crisis in the budgetary literature.
Writers often use the name “program budgeting” synonymously with performance
budgeting as well as with the Planning, Programming, Budgeting System (PPBS).
Even when the Hoover Commission introduced the term “performance budget,”
its task force report utilized the term interchangeably with program budget. Schick
reports, “Among writers there was no uniformity in usage, some preferring the
‘program budgeting’ label, others ‘performance budgeting’ to describe the same
things. The level of confusion has been increased recently by the association of
the term with the PPB movement.” Schick (1966, p. 250) uses “program budget”
interchangeably with PPBS.

Burkhead (1956, p. 139) attempts to distinguish between performance budget-
ing and program budgeting. A program may refer to a higher level of organization
than performing organization units. Since a program may encompass several per-
forming organizational units, the program budget has broader scope and a more
integrative purpose than a performance budget. Program costs are broad summary
costs that may be developed through aggregation of performing units’ costs (see
Table 2.3). Performance details need not be incorporated into a program budget
since it is not necessarily based on performance units. Also, a department or agency
may be involved in several programs simultaneously, but operating units within a
department are directly responsible for performance. Therefore, in terms of organi-
zational structure, the program budget may respond to higher-level organizational
needs while the performance budget may serve lower-level operating needs better.
In other words, the program budget is more centralized.

The program budget has a longer range and is forward looking. Performance
budgets are based on records of past performance and accomplishments, whereas
program budgets are built around estimates of what performance is reasonable to
expect in the future. Program budgets are thus better prepared to project the social
and economic policies of government.

According to these distinctions, different purposes are served by these two types
of budgets. A program budget is more suited to the requirements of overall budget-
ary planning, including review by the central budget office, the chief executive, and
the legislature. It is most useful for decision making at or above the department
level. Performance budgets must likewise provide information for review purposes,
but must also be detailed enough to serve management purposes at or below the
department level.

Program budgeting involves an attempt to arrange budget expenditures around
program or functional needs in order to meet broad objectives. By relating inputs
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Table 2.3 Program Budget lllustration

Crime Prevention Program Budget—Central Business District of a City

Subprogram City Business
Street lighting improvements in CBD

Public Works Department 25,000

Businesses 25,000
Police street patrols

Police Department 10,000

Business Security Departments 5,000
Alarms from businesses

Police Department hookups 50,000

Business store hookups 125,000
Intensive garbage pickup

Sanitation department 50,000

Business stockroom efforts 10,000
Intensive street cleaning

Sanitation department 12,000

Business effort on curbs and gutters 20,000
Employment and training program

Juvenile 100,000

Adult 25,000
Business job potentials 100,000
Totals 272,000 | 285,000

Goals: 1. Increase ability to police area through patrols and better notification.
2. Increase attractiveness and pedestrian population of area.
3. Increase number of jobs and decrease number of jobless.

Detailed Crime Prevention Program Budget—Central Business District

Total Budget

City
Public Works Department
Police Department patrols
Police Department hookups
Sanitation department garbage pickup
Sanitation department street cleaning
Employment and training program

Business
Street lighting improvements in CBD
Business Security Departments street patrols
Business store hookups of alarms
Business stockroom efforts garbage
Business effort on curbs and gutters cleaning
Business job potentials

557,000
272,000

285,000

25,000
10,000
50,000
50,000
12,000
125,000

25,000
5,000
125,000
10,000
20,000
100,000
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to outputs, cost-benefit analysis is facilitated, its aim being to allocate resources to
the most efficient and effective means for achieving ends.

The key elements of the process include long-range planning, goal setting, pro-
gram identification, quantitative analysis, including cost-benefit measurement, and
performance analyses.

There are four essential steps in the construction of a program budget:

1. Definition of the ends to be achieved

2. Definitions of the methods and timetables by which they are achieved

3. Determination of the costs for each action required

4. Determination of measurements of success, whether goals are actually being
achieved, through the budgeted programs

The Second Hoover Commission task force recommended that the performance
budgeting concept be renamed “program budgeting” to emphasize the conceptual
difference between the review of proposed new programs and the review of the
performance of previously authorized programs.

Program budgeting focuses on goals and outcomes, and helps provide perspec-
tive for budget expenditures. The budget requires consideration of future impli-
cations of programs and effects of current actions. It also emphasizes the role of
planning in budget decision making,.

However, program budgeting may require modification of activities that have
an impact on many related activities. Economic, social, and political events may
not follow the anticipated pattern, which may undermine the intentions of program
budgeting’s long-range planning efforts. Analysis of relationships between inputs
and outputs does not necessarily take into account unintended consequences or side
effects of actions taken or proposed. Quantitative measurement of outputs may not
be possible; even when quantitative analysis is feasible, the criteria of economy and
efficiency may preclude the consideration of quality. Finally, the budget requires
central coordination, since programs may cross agency lines.

2.4.4 PPBS: The Planning Orientation

PPBS is the product of an evolutionary process from management to planning of
federal governmental expenditure allocation. Allen Schick (1966, p. 259) outlines
this development:

1. Economic analysis at both micro- and macrolevels has had an increasing part
in determining fiscal and budgeting policy.

2. The development of new informational and decisional technologies has
enlarged the applicability of objective analysis to policy making.

3. Planning and budgeting have gradually converged.
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Wider acceptance of Keynesian economic principles set the stage for PPBS in its call
for governmental action in planning economic growth for the nation. Moreover, utili-
zation of planned spending as both an impetus and a constraint on growth had been
used during the underemployment economy of the depression years. Finally, a planned
taxing policy has forced the implementation of a governmental economic plan.

Coupled with these developments, new methods or technologies have increased
governments ability to analyze objectively the alternate policies available to it. The
introduction of operations analysis during World War II and cost-benefit analysis
during the 1950s both allowed the federal government more depth in optimizing the
coordination of resources to attain objectives. The introduction of systems analysis,
along with wider application of operations research and cost-benefit analysis by the
RAND Corporation in 1961 in the Department of Defense (DoD), consolidated
approaches in one package. All these techniques spurred the development of PPBS.

Based on DoD’s success with PPBS, President Johnson introduced the same
package in the other departments and agencies in 1965 as a means of budgeting to
meet objectives. Planning and budgeting converged.

Following the example of the national government, local governments also
experimented with the new system. Selma J. Mushkin (1969b) outlined the devel-
opment: New York City in 1966, Philadelphia shortly afterward, and, through the
5-5-5 Intergovernmental Demonstration Project, five cities, counties, and states
before the end of the year.

Most characterize PPBS as a rational means of fusing planning processes, pro-
gramming efforts, and the budget system. Many found little new among the com-
ponents but a revolutionary concept in the combination. Thus, planning is the
determination of the basic goals of the organization and the selection of the pro-
grams best calculated to achieve these goals. Programming entails the scheduling
and execution, as efficiently as possible, of the specific projects required to imple-
ment these programs. Budgeting is the process of converting the goals, programs,
and projects into money estimates for review within the administrative branch and
final action by the legislative branch. The basic advantage of PPBS is the emphasis
on rational decision making. To improve rationality, PPBS allows policymakers to
accomplish the following:

1. Establish goals and objectives after observation.

2. Assign alternative means toward accomplishing objectives.
3. Predict the consequences of each alternative.

4. Select the most beneficial alternative.

5. Program all work toward achieving objectives.

In the PBB system, internal and external disadvantages exist. First, internal diffi-
culties concern the dynamics of the structure itself, the goal-setting procedure, and
cost-benefit analysis. Within the structure of procedure of PPBS budgeting, there
is a tendency to centralize decision making. The responsibility for goal setting and
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policy choice is centrally determined, resulting in better coordination of activities
but at the cost of initiative in innovation and development of new alternatives at
lower levels of policymaking (Jernberg, 1971, pp. 371-372).

PPBS’s stress on the cross-structural nature of goals and objectives diminishes
the importance of existing organizational boundaries. This approach disrupts pres-
ent channels of communication between administrative agencies. Because there will
be different cross-structural arrangements for each objective, the PPBS approach
has not been found to establish a single channel to replace it.

Emphasizing the alternative results in uncertainty among all participants in the
system. Uncertainty replaces the last budget system’s stability.

Goal setting itself is difficult because of both the complexity of problems and
the different outlooks of each goal setter. Wildavsky (1966, 1969) notes the ultimate
problem with PPBS: “Budgeting, in PPBS, is intimately linked to policy; however,
the basic problems in policy formulation and development stem from the fact that
we do not know what it is that we are trying to accomplish.”

Cost-benefitanalysis itself is not sufficiently sophisticated yet to met all demands
placed upon it. Harry Hatry and John Cotton (1967, p. 6), argue that there are “dif-
ficulties in considering a time stream of costs and benefits and not simply the evalu-
ation of costs and benefits for a single point in time.” The most apparent deficiency
of cost-benefit analysis is that, in its present procedural form, such variables as
intangible services elude measurement. Moreover, Jernberg (1971) finds two points
of view on the application of cost-benefit analysis. According to one view, cost-
benefit analysis should include all considerations, including political costs and ben-
efits. The opposing view is that this leads to sole reliance on political considerations
and rejection of the economic or rational considerations. In conclusion, he states
(p. 372) that “cost benefit analysis [is presently viewed] as serving a more modest
role of assisting and providing a more sound base for intuitive judgment.” Hirsch
(1966, p. 156) agrees, saying, “Policy makers want to know which groups benefit
the most and where the losses are distributed as a result of their decisions.”

There are other major political problems as well. In the very process of changing
systems, existing programs have built up definite constituents convinced of the valid-
ity of the present approach; “members of an organization and their clients have a vested
interest in the policies of the past” and fight change (Wildavsky, 1966, p. 294).

The first, and still basic, evaluation of PPBS in use comes from George
Washington University’s 5-5-5 Intergovernmental Demonstration Project men-
tioned earlier. In that project, PPBS was introduced to five cities, five counties, and
five states. The project began in the spring of 1966 under the guidance of task forces
from the University.

Mushkin (1969a) summarized the approaches, the problems, and the successes
encountered in the process of her review of the project. The approach, she con-
cluded, was basically incremental, “resulting in halfhearted endorsement with no
real desire to implement more than one small step at a time. [The participants]
were cautionary with a long timetable” (Mushkin, 1969a, p. 2). Eleven of the 15
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jurisdictions chose to continue the program formally. She concluded that the proj-
ect yielded the following results:

1. The beginning of a more questioning attitude toward budgeting and pro-
gram planning

2. A new emphasis on the beneficiaries of public services, on the people for
whom the government functions

3. A new emphasis on formulation of objectives and programs

4. A new enthusiasm about state and local government work among staff
assigned to PPB work

5. A state in a few governments toward an interagency dialogue on common
objectives and interrelated programs

The experiences of three of the cities bears closer scrutiny. Meiszer (1969), the assis-
tant city manager of Dayton, Ohio, explained the development of PPBS used in
Dayton in terms of four subsystems: program structure, program analysis, pro-
gram budget, and program evaluation. His evaluation of the implementation of
these subsystems indicated that sufficient progress had been made for the program
structure to be completed. In addition, analysis had already exerted an influence on
decision making. However, while program budgeting was producing good results,
evaluation was lagging. He terms Dayton’s implementation as still in the develop-
ment stage but progressing sufficiently. Horton (1969), director of administrative
analysis for Metropolitan Nashville-Davidson County, observed that “even with
problems PPBS has increased awareness of administrators of need to improve the
decision making process.” The city, however, did experience administrative prob-
lems, lack of trained personnel at the beginning of the program, inadequate staff-
ing, and a lack of teaching materials. In sum, there was plenty of theory, but no
methods for application.

Progress in PPBS implementation in Dade County, Florida, was characterized
as being slow to develop. Grizzle (1969) stated that the system had yet to be infused
into the process it would replace, and that planning had not been linked to budget-
ing. In fact, PPBS was initially “used primarily to comply with federal planning
requirements in certain federal programs.”

2.4.5 Zero Base Budgeting

Theoretically, zero base budgeting (ZBB) requires that each previously funded pro-
gram or new program proposal be justified, without regard to previous funding
levels. This procedure is designed to promote objective comparisons among diverse
programs requesting resources, based on their merits alone and negating the effects
of historical bias.

In practice, the definition of ZBB is much less comprehensive. Peter Pyhrr
(1973), an early proponent of ZBB whom many consider its inventor, recognizes
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the impracticality of a true zero base budget and leans toward a more practical defi-
nition, one in which evaluation has a profound effect but is not exhaustively used.

Four basic steps are required to employ ZBB. First, the jurisdiction must iden-
tify “decision units,” or basically, the units of analysis, be they programs or orga-
nization units. Second, the jurisdiction defines “decision packages” or bundles of
decision units, which, in reality, correspond to the organization at which the lowest-
level choices will be made and priorities set. Those responsible for decision packages
develop appropriations requests based on rankings of decision units within decision
packages and, ultimately, across decision packages (see Figure 2.16).

A decision unit identifies a discrete activity, function, or operation. A decision
package identifies and sets priorities among decision units based on each decision
unit’s purpose, need (expressed usually as the consequences of not performing the
activity, function, or operation any longer), performance measures or methods of
detecting success and failure, alternative ways of performing the activity, function,
or operation, and the costs and benefits of various levels of budgetary support as
they affect performance and are observed in the measures defined in the package.

The key to ZBB is the evaluation of alternatives among the decision units in the
decision package. Given the information in the process, choices hinge on the dif-
ferent ways of performing the same function (various combinations of cutbacks and
expansions among decision units to produce a department service, e.g., parks and
recreation, as in Figure 2.16) and the outcomes, depending on the different levels
of budgetary effort. Managers, having identified the consequences of no longer per-
forming the activity, function or operation, estimate the differences in performance
due to lower-than-current budget support, continued but stable levels of support,
and greater future support. Thus, ZBB’s uniqueness lies in information formatting.

The literature on the conceptual evolution of ZBB is sparse. In essence, ZBB
was developed at either Texas Instruments, Inc., in 1969 (Pyhrr, 1973) or in the
U.S. Department of Agriculture in 1964 (Wildavsky, 1975). In the former, Pyhrr
reports success, and in the latter, Wildavsky reports failure. ZBB’s greatest fame
came through its introduction into public agency administration by the then gov-
ernor of Georgia, Jimmy Carter.

The literature implies that ZBB has at least ten advantages. First, ZBB yields
increased information from managers throughout the organization, particularly
operating managers who are responsible for the actual performance of activity for
which they budget. Second, it results in improved plans and budgets that themselves
result from combining planning and goals setting, budgeting, and operational deci-
sion making into one process requiring detailed scrutiny of every activity. Third,
ZBB encourages the use of continued evaluation of program efficiency and effective-
ness throughout the budget operating year. Fourth, programs and managers who
have committed themselves to certain levels of performance can be reviewed during
the operating year to gauge progress. Fifth, ZBB’s priority ranking system facilitates
assigning cutbacks or reductions when necessary. Sixth, ZBB helps set priorities and
sharpen overall objectives. Seventh, the ZBB approach shifts budget attention away



110 ® Handbook of Governmental Accounting

‘wR)sAs uoneadas fediunw e 10y 198pnq 3seq-013z vy 9°g 34n314

988°L0¢‘G
958¢o
£68°COL
FO6F
968°6o
GLI'GL
958'GB
8LOCLE
801°99%
66L°069

166°06
[Gae e

Amu:othu:_ %01 pue
‘%01 ‘%06 Jo wng)
[e10],

8%6G
GLIF9
16¢
8H6G
599'9
8T6'G
8606
LGBV
866°LY

GLG'S
6F9°LT

aurpaseg Jo %01 =
U UOTSIDA(]
uorsuedxgy

sSumuy
gSuroue(
ssSo(q
goans1o|
gskeprioy
65194
§S100
gsIuua
gswea],

50072
$Od

JTU[) UOISA(T

599'9
816G
8606
SLS'BY
866‘LY

GL5'8
6F9°LT

aurpaseg Jo %01=
U UoISA(
suipaseq

L61°993'G
aFS'6¥5'G
P8I1°898°1
9180581
SFLOSLT
9LGBBL T
LB6FOLL
686°L99'T
16%669°1
6166991
L99'6G¢ T
6160991
GLFI66'T
651996
LFG'8G9
86608
061°15
sanewn)

aSunyiuy
Bdunue(
ss3o(1
GONSI
askeprioH
5519J
5S[00]
GSIUua I,
FSwes J,

600Z
oOd

JTU[) VOIS

5999
196188
866 LY
8606
GLIY9
619°L1
866°LY
8606
GLIY9
599'9
8F6G
PF88CT
9v0'95F
588'90%
6FGLLS
898°6¢
06118

906°160'G
06115
6T LLS
5696
061°13
898'6¢
061°15
388906
196186
9%0'95%

LPFPL
PP8'8CT

#xdUI[ASEY JO %06 =
JIU[) UOISIA(]
{orqInd

gsAeprjoy
[Suua [,
gswea ],
§S[00
gSuroue(
293
Fswea ],
581004
s3uroue(
askeptioy
35194
1OY
Iswea],
1S[00
[Sunueq
1s£eptoy
18394

[Summy
1Sunue
1sSoq
[N
1sAeprjoy
1819]
1S[00J
[STUu I,
[surea ],

1007,
OY

JTU[) UOISTOA(T

91
feat

TI

968°6L5'G
SLV'6E
1L TY9
5166
SLY'65
0599
SLF'6T
086076
YEL6TY
Y86 6LF

6IL38
S6F9LI

KOUI[PsEg
Surpuadg

(ardoad ysowr a3

Suryoeau jo aseq ayy uo Junjues
‘ordurexs .10j)

JIU() UOISIId( JO uey

sasse[ Suruy
sasseo Surouep A[pog
sasse[d 2ouaIpaqo Soq
S[IIYS INSI] [EUOSIDJ
sarejye Keprjoy
sarey 1904
s[ooq
STUUd ,
syrods wreay,

uoneINIY
007,
saping sfuey

syreq

SHLLIALLDV A LAdYIS1IA



1

"(panunuod) 91°z anSy

‘sus013ed 1500 puk puewdp SUruIEXd £q 9ZIS JIUN UOISIIIP SAULIP 21O JASPNQ [BIUO Y “IIUN UOISIIP 3} JO IZIS A} SUIULIIIP

pnom ﬁCNEDﬁ Jo .I.—m,av— CCMEZNQXM pue »QC:wzﬁm— .u_”v_w&u:u QAJDS 0} MEQE,F::T@ pue —mm‘\_m«_wﬁ: MCNHz Jo 1800 v_r: pue mu:D_&_UOt— ®um>LMV. Jd0 fﬂv@—uzvuwn QCU. Jo Jequnu se yons mv—ﬁ—mm,:w\/
4.A,,—_v.‘_u1~.\_ﬁ QB —= SJUW.IOUL %01 pue cooaw == 2JdaY suoniuiep ay I,

‘surpaseq s 1 puoLsq £11anoe Yy ur uoisuedxa ue $a8eIN0dUS 19ZPNq AuTESEY Y 03 PAPPE %0T

198pnq aurppseg ayy [enba 308pnq s L11A1O AU BUL 0} JIU() UOISIOd(] YOBRGIND S} 01 PIPPE aq P[NOd 1B} JUnowe 3y} spuasadat 9,01

J0ABIPUD d[qeonoe.d 10 d[qENIOM B SE uonENUn U0 § 31 o[qissod Sunjewr noyiim £11a1308 ue uo aanipuadxa 2onpal ued [eoLgo 38pnq B junowe sy syuasatdal 9,06

“M:_.,)c:ﬁ 92 Sk (ONs ‘SUONBAIISJO WO SWOd ?cg pue 9,01 ‘Oseq m:%:o% 241 Jo ﬁomv SUONIULYIP IIUN UOTSIOI(] s

‘uonejur 10y ﬁ@ums:\um REO:ﬂ_k&OLQ&ﬂ pajoeua %JH:MUM‘_ jsow a3 12.7@ s WE:‘uﬁw&w %.,_Oﬁv._‘::v.:u mnq Kue J0J .m‘wz::_s,« 24NnINJ Jey) SaWINSSe aUI[aSB( I T, "ME[ JU.LIND »A,Q —uvr:—\;um,_ SE 2an)nj a9} Ul aSeaIdap
10 2SBAIDUL puE DNUNUOD [[1M (s9940]dwa 10§ syuswied puny Juswaanag “3-9) Sutpuads L1ojepue Jey) sawnsse surfaseq 2y I, 108pnq ayy £q pataaoo porrad oy Futmp
SME[ JUDLIND 0] IPBUL 2J9M SIFULBYD OU JI N0 p[nom Jeyy Surpuads oY) Jo a1eWIISH Ue sk pauldp V1ewnss 198pnq durpseq, Ay} 1o Surpuads s 1eak snotaaad oy 1oa1d s109jad surseq Sutpuadg,,

Progressive Government Budgeting

010D I0J BLIDJLID 91]) SEM

paasas uonerndod a1y Surziurxew uaym ‘[enba Jou a1om SaNTANOR
[[B ‘SIOYBW UOISIOdP S} O], "sasse[d Sunuep K[[pq pue ‘siree
Keprjoy ‘spood ‘sprods wreay papuedxa Loy, "SISSBID S[[IS 2NSIO]
[euos.ad ¥orq IND SIRYEUW UOISIAP JSpng “sassed Sunituy pue

¢ DSSB[D 20UaIPaqoO NO—J ‘00z 23 papnyout 1nd sweadoad 2soy T,

‘110ddns anuaaa s 1eak snotaaad oy Jo 9,601 ~jo +05
91eUISO aNULASL 0} Tenba yuny Surpuadg 615916 6F9°LT $OU 61

0LS'865G LG Y BSIUUa ST



112 ®m Handbook of Governmental Accounting

from incremental approaches to last year’s budget and focuses on minimum levels
of operation. Eight, ZBB promotes the search for alternatives to programs, perfor-
mance, and funding levels and may be most useful in reallocating funds among pro-
grams within an agency. Ninth, the ZBB approach can readily identify low-yield or
low-priority programs that may be eliminated. Finally, ZBB reduces the opportunity
for manipulation of budget presentation information, or “gamesmanship.” If the
information is present in ZBB formats, attempts at gaming become transparent.

From a theoretical perspective, the disadvantages of ZBB may include problems
of implementation and compliance of users are threatened by the need to reevalu-
ate pet projects. Also, the number of decision packages generated can overwhelm
managers reviewing them; the paperwork produced can have more volume than
meaning. ZBB is limited to use with only controllable elements in budgets. In the
federal budget, controllables may amount to no more than 25% of the total. The
ranking system remains susceptible to subjective decision, and ZBB does not aid in
judging priorities among dissimilar activities such as defense, education, and energy.
ZBB is difficult to apply to state and local programs whose genesis is not local but
federal and whose support does not lend itself to their control. In addition, there
is difficulty in identifying appropriate decision units, in gathering accurate sup-
porting data to produce effective analysis, and in determining minimum levels of
effort. ZBB requires vast improvements in agency evaluation systems necessary to
make program comparisons and rankings and is expensive and time consuming to
implement.

Practically, ZBB’s disadvantages include its failure to fundamentally change the
practice of federal budget making. Second, the Office of Management and Budget
(OMB), in trying to simplify paperwork needs, drained the decision packages of
their decisional utility. Third, managers decided priorities in a vacuum, without
knowledge of how interrelated programs might be affected by rankings done par-
tially by others. Thus, Program A may have been related to Program B, but A was
included in a set of priorities distant from B; one’s operation may have depended on
the other, but one’s fate could not be revealed to the other.

2.5 Revenue Analysis

The traditional role of public finance lies in the examination of taxes and the study
of the efficiency and equity of the tax system. This section describes the major taxes
in use among governments in the United States as well as their administration.
Next, we inquire into the equity of a given tax system, using both normative—what
is a good tax system—and analytical—incidence analysis—approaches. Why is
this important to the field of public accounting? Not only do public officials need
to keep track of the inflows and outflows but also important, and perhaps arguably
more important, is understanding why these—in particular, the inflows—fluctuate.



Progressive Government Budgeting ®m 113

Accounting for revenues upon receiving them is one thing, but properly analyzing
and anticipating the inflows results in an eflicient and balanced budget.

The inflow of resources to governments marks the temporal beginning of gov-
ernmental financial management. Resources to governments come in three basic
forms: taxes or coerced payments, charges or fees that define a trade between gov-
ernment and individual or organization, and transfers or the simple movement of
money from one governmental level to another.

Generally, the use of each type of resource by different governments has remained
fairly stable over time. The federal government relies on the income tax, states for
the most part on sales taxes, and counties and cities on the property tax.*

Taxes dominate. Rather than fees or transfers, taxes have constituted about
80% of all governments’ revenues, with charges making up the balance. When
only state and local governments are considered, taxes make up about one-half of
all revenue, charges about one-third, and intergovernmental (in this case, federal or
federal and state) aid about 15%.

2.5.1 Principles of Each Revenue Source

Each revenue source has a basic principle with which analysts determine its effec-
tiveness, and to some extent, its efficiency.

For taxes, the principle is called ability to pay. Thus, one can determine a fair
and effective, but not always efficient, system of taxation by applying conceptually
the notion that one pays according to one’s means: those with more wealth or abil-
ity pay more taxes.

For charges, the principle is based on market principles or trade—the benefits
the trader receives. The benefits-received principle is a more efficient approach, but
perhaps less equitable. When government derives revenue from a service or good
produced and priced, the customer may choose according to what the customer of
the government’s good or service considers the benefit received. This notion also
includes an ability-to-pay concept, as one with more ability to pay may, having the
same objective sense of benefit, be willing to pay more because the worth of each
dollar paid is less than that of the poorer competitor.

Often the two—equity and efficiency—are at odds with each other. The
debate, whether to tax or charge, is determined by the type of good. Yet a philo-
sophical debate hangs in the background. For example, water usage used to fall
under the ability-to-pay principle, according to which property taxes covered the
cost—the larger the home, the more the value, and the more tax the property owner
paid—the ability-to-pay principle maintained. If Jack owns a bigger house than

" See Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations, Significant Features of Fiscal
Federalism (Washington, DC: Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations) pro-
duced annually.
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Jim, it is fair to say Jack probably uses more water—more bathrooms, more sinks,
more usage; also, Jack is wealthier. Even if Jim uses more water because he has a
spouse and five kids, he pays less because his property is worth less than Jack’s.
This approach is equitable from the standpoint of wealth, but not usage. Today,
city water departments charge the homeowner based on gallons used—an efficient
approach to taxation. The philosophical question left hanging is, Is it fair to charge
someone who has less wealth or income but uses more of a public good or service
more than someone with more money and wealth but less usage?

Finally, for intergovernmental transfers, a number of principles apply. First,
governments may transfer money—{rom federal to local, perhaps—because of the
need for stabilization of local economies. In such a case, the federal government
may declare the local area an economic disaster area and specify that certain ser-
vices or revenues be pledged to ameliorate conditions, improving changes for eco-
nomic growth, stable prices, and employment.

Second, the transfer of resources among government may stem from the need to
equalize resources or even to redistribute them. Local school districts, for example,
may differ markedly in local financial resources available to support education.
The state government may commit resources to equalize that particular district’s
resource base compared to other districts. This equalization may amount to a redis-
tribution of revenue, since the state taxes richer jurisdictions to be able to direct aid
to the poorer district.

The third reason for intergovernmental transfers comes from the so-called
merger of policy and budget among levels of government. That is, the federal gov-
ernment, desiring the cooperation of local governments in policy matters such as
desegregation, may link transfers of money, for schools for example, to the promise
of local governments cooperation in desegregation of schools.

2.5.2 Principles Useful in Evaluating a Tax System

Are tax systems created out of necessity, or is there a guide for making basic struc-
tural decisions and later marginal ones? We think the lacter is true. Let us look at a
good tax system and its elements for a moment. There are six elements that public
finance students find meaningful in evaluating a tax system, and each is discussed
in turn.

Simplicity refers to the understandability of a tax system. Whether taxpayers
understand what is being taxed and how they must pay the tax depends in large
part on the clarity of the base (the object taxed) and the rate of taxing it.

Resistance is a function of complexity. This explains the popularity of a flat
rate income tax in which all are taxed at the same rate and the lack of popularity
of the progressive income tax in which many are taxed at many different levels for
different reasons.

Certainty in a tax system refers to its stability, predictability, and relative per-
manence. Generally, certainty is a function of the amount of “tinkering” lawmakers
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feel predisposed to undertake. Constant rate changes for an income tax leads to less
certainty and, thus, less ability to plan spending given amounts of either disposable
income or after-tax income. Certainty also reflects the nature of the underlying base
and influences playing on that base. For example, the property tax for most juris-
dictions remains fairly stable because the rate of property improvement—housing
construction, for example—is itself rather stable. When rapid revaluation of prop-
erty occurs, either through administrative means or through rapid construction or
property ownership turnover, the ability to predict one’s tax bill diminishes and the
tax system itself becomes a volatile variable in financial planning.

Public expenditures should be financed by taxes that change little, proportion-
ately, from year to year. Tax burdens, theory states, should not increase over time as
a percentage of real, uninflated, personal income.

For selecting one tax or another, the cost of collecting a levy should have some
influence. The expense of collection should remain small and should become a
smaller percentage of the total as the total yield increases in order to be effective,
say public finance theorists. A gasoline tax or a liquor tax collected from only a few
wholesalers requires smaller administrative costs than a sales tax paid by everyone.
The sales tax, in turn, is easier to collect than an income tax.

A tax system, according to most evaluators, should be neutral unless, for policy
reasons, the system should have a determining effect on individuals’ and businesses’
behavior. Since no tax we now use has ever been found to have absolute neutrality,
we refer instead to relative neutrality as a valid goal.

The measure of neutrality is usually the measure of intended incidence.
Incidence measures the degree to which a tax levied on one person is actually paid
by that person rather than shifted to another. Thus, the person who actually pays a
tax may not be the person who bears the burden of the tax. For example, cigarette
taxes are levied on the cigarette package, collected by the seller of cigarettes, but
paid by the smoker.

The more inelastic the demand for a good taxed, given elastic supply, the greater
the proportion of the tax that will be shifted forward. Therefore, the less the con-
sumer is willing or able to change buying habits as a result of the imposition of a tax
on a given good, the more likely the tax will be shifted forward to the consumer.

If we cause demand to become more elastic, however, and let supply become
less elastic, even to a fixed supply, the more likely the tax will be shifted backward
to the producer. For example, if we have no preference when choosing a soft drink,
a tax levied on Pepsi-Cola but not on Coca-Cola will have the effect of forcing the
makers and distributors of Pepsi-Cola to absorb the tax.

“Beggar thy neighbor” policies often lead governments to tax in such a way that
nonresidents pay the bulk of the levy. Taxes on the rental of hotel rooms, to take an
obvious example, tend to force the burden on visitors rather than residents.

Yet, all taxes are exported to some extent. Property taxes on the inventory of
a manufacturing concern in one jurisdiction are paid by those in other jurisdic-
tions who buy from the manufacturer because such taxes are shifted forward to the
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consumer. Sales taxes paid by out-of-town shoppers and income taxes paid to urban
governments by workers who travel to work from suburbs illustrate the common
exporting of taxes.

While neutrality may be regarded as the ultimate test of an efficient tax system,
tax policy has often provided incentives or has discouraged action. While much
evidence exists to the contrary, many legislators profess belief that tax exemptions
alone lure industry and homeowners. Uncertainty rather than the rate itself, as we
argued earlier, may have the greatest impact.

Nevertheless, considerable analytical efforts now being made testify to the fact
that relieving a group of the burden of a tax is as important a resource allocation
device as granting funds to the activity. Thus, Congress and what has been named
“tax expenditures” comprise a lively subset of public budgeting activity.

What is a fair tax system? Often, such a system is one in which everyone who
benefits by government services or goods pays in direct proportion to the benefit
received. Otherwise, a fair system is one in which everyone benefits but everyone
pays according to his or her ability to pay.

The benefits-received principle is the basis for fee systems and user charges for
governmental goods. The ability-to-pay principle underlies the financing of most
public goods.

The ability-to-pay principle may be further subdivided into two forms of equity,
horizontal and vertical. Horizontal equity refers to the equity of burden among
those with equal ability to pay. Thus, those with equal ability pay equally; all per-
sons with incomes of $100,000 pay the same amount of taxes, all other things being
equal as well.

Vertical equity refers to the principle of appropriate payment given unequal
ability. Surrounding vertical equity we find the arguments about “the more one
earns, the more one should pay” in income taxes, presumably, or “everyone should
pay the same proportion of what they make”—the tithing principle. Most often
we find observers of the tax system arguing that the system actually works to force
more taxes on those with less ability to pay.

Each of these arguments is an observation of a condition called, respectively,
progressive, proportional, or regressive taxation. A progressive tax is one that claims
a greater proportion of the based taxed as the value of that base increases. Simply, as
one’s income increases, one’s effective tax rate increases as well. Proportional taxes are
those in which the relationship between taxes paid and base remain constant. Finally,
a regressive tax claims more of the base, proportionately, as the base increases.

When we speak of tax rate or effective tax rate, we refer to a simple calculation.
We measure the amount of taxes paid in relation to an ability measure, usually
household income. This is an actual, thus effective, tax rate.

If we then divide the population paying the tax into categories along the dimen-
sion of ability to pay—household income in our example—we can determine the
state of the system. Thus, dividing the effective rate paid by our wealthiest class by
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Table 2.4 Tax Equity

Regressive System | Proportional System | Progressive System

Taxpayer | Tax Paid | Effective | Tax Paid | Effective | Tax Paid | Effective

Income($) %) Tax Rate (%) Tax Rate (%) Tax Rate
20,000 3,000 15.0% 2,000 10.0% 1,000 5.0%
40,000 3,000 7.5% 4,000 10.0% 3,000 7.5%
60,000 3,000 5.0% 6,000 10.0% 9,000 15.0%

the effective rate (ER) paid by our poorest class, we get a measure of relative regres-
sivity (ER < 1), proportionality (ER = 1), or progressivity (ER > 1).

Consider the comprehensive sales tax (illustrated in Table 2.4), the flat rate
income tax, and the progressive income tax. A comprehensive sales tax is one on all
items consumed by a household.

Consumption includes food and other “fixed” expenses that when taxed work
to force lower-income households to pay more of their incomes in taxes than higher-
income households. The effective rate (taxes paid divided by income, our ability
measure) for the sales tax starts at 10% at the low end and falls to 6% at the highest
income level.

In comparison to the sales tax, the flat or proportional tax neither rises nor falls,
by definition. It remains a fixed proportion of income. Social security taxes work
this way, up to the income ceiling provided by law.

The progressive tax structure, of course, provides that larger and larger portions
of income are paid in taxes as income rises. Truly, the progressive system epitomizes
the maxim “to those much is given, much is required” expressed in one form or
another by both the Bible and Lenin. The progressive tax system, when combined
with a transfer payment system of expenditures—veterans educational benefits,
student loan interest payment subsidies, and home mortgage interest deductions—
effects a redistribution of income, a Robin Hood effect, between rich and poor or
relatively less rich.

2.6 Types of Taxes

In creating a progressive tax system, one stumbles first over what to tax, or, “what
shall serve as the measure of ability to pay?” Of course, ability intuitively means
some form of income. Or is it capacity to consume? Or is it wealth? Surely, it is one
of the three, income, consumption, or wealth, but which one?

All three types of coerced payments, or taxes, find general use in the United
States today: those based on, or the tax base of which is, income, consumption,
and wealth.
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2.6.1 Income

The income tax finds use at all three levels of government. Much of the tax reform
effortat the federal level, as a matter of fact, deals with making the burden of the federal
income tax fairer, considering the effect the tax may have on economic incentives.

2.6.1.1 Definition of Income

There are two basic views regarding defining income: the uses-of-income view and
the factor-payment view. In the uses-of-income view, the amount consumed by an
individual as well as that saved is the base taxed. In the factor-payment view, the
salaries paid for services rendered become the base. Both views tend to underlie
the federal income tax.

Income means several different things to those involved in its measurement for
tax purposes. A classic definition of income is “the well-being of the person receiv-
ing it, and that depends on what the person obtains with purchasing power, not
where he got it” (Bradford, 1986, p.16). Traditional definitions of income, there-
fore, tend to define income from a “uses” point of view, as the sum of what one
consumes plus increases in wealth, the former being purchases made and the latter
savings accumulated.

The federal income tax, as well as the income taxed at both state and local
government levels in most areas, does not follow the “uses” definition completely.
In fact, income actually taxed tends to be that earned by a worker or paid by an
employer for services rendered. This “factor payment” view of income differs radi-
cally from the “consumption + savings” view in that ability is based on what comes
into the household rather than on what goes out. Clearly, federal tax policy, in not
taxing consumption or the accumulation of assets such as housing, encourages
both. In taxing salaries, federal tax policy, in a sense, penalizes one for working for
a salary and discourages it, unless, of course, one has no other choice.

2.6.1.2 Methods of Taxation

Income taxes differ in several ways from the better-known state and federal income
taxes to those used at the local government level. First, instead of the progres-
sive nature of some state and federal income taxes, in which taxpayers with more
income generally pay a higher tax, local income taxes usually tax all incomes at the
same flat rate.

Second, the administrative burden of a local tax is often higher than the broader-
based state or federal tax systems owing to economies of scale. As a result, some
states require local governments to “piggyback” a local income tax onto the state
tax; the state then collects the local tax and remits it back to the local jurisdiction
after deducting a collection fee.

A third difference is that federal and state governments tax broadly defined
income, while local governments usually employ narrower income definitions. A
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broad-based income tax would define income to include items such as wage and
salary earnings, interest and dividends, rents, capital gains, and net profits from
business and professional activities.

Local governments frequently employ a simpler tax system, termed a payroll,
wage, or earnings tax. The tax is levied on an individual’s wage and salary earnings.
By design, it discriminates against people who earn most of their income in wages
and salaries as compared to those who receive their income from investments or
other nonwage sources.

When a local income tax is broadly defined, tax enforcement becomes more
complex since some sources of income are easily hidden. Mandatory filing of a local
tax return is often imposed to seck higher levels of compliance.

As usually implemented, the tax applies to all who live or work in the city,
including nonresidents. This form presents distortions when the nonresidents” home
community does not also impose a similar tax. Even when there is a tax in both
jurisdictions, the rate or base may differ. Often, the home community provides a
full or partial credit for related local taxes paid elsewhere. Still, the nonresident
worker may end up paying more for the interjurisdictional home/work pattern than
a resident worker.

In those states where local income tax is allowed and imposed, the authority to
levy the tax and/or the adoption of the tax source is usually restricted to a few juris-
dictions within a state. Only in a few states (Ohio and Pennsylvania, for instance)
is the local income tax a general grant of tax authority rather than a specific grant
of authority. While most rates are set at 1%, there are isolated cases of it in the 3 to
5% range.

2.6.1.3 Evaluation

Is the factor-payment definition of income a fair way to tax individuals? Surely if
almost everyone in the United States draws most of his paying ability from a sal-
ary, and that salary income is taxed at progressively higher rates as salary income
increases, but not to the point that the tax interferes with the willingness to work,
the income tax should be fair.

Some argue that the federal income tax is less fair than possible because of
the deductions allowed. The deductions are prompted by tax expenditure policy
that encourages and discourages spending on certain items by making that spend-
ing deductible from the gross income taxed. For example, one of the most pop-
ular deductions in federal income tax practice is that for mortgage interest paid on
one’s real property and improvements, such as one’s home. The deduction increases
horizontal inequity by discriminating among renters and homeowner mortgage
holders earning the same salary. The deduction also increases vertical inequity by
making the tax burden borne by the more well-to-do proportionally less than that
borne by the less well off.



120 ® Handbook of Governmental Accounting

Likewise, economic incentives to produce, by working longer hours, diminish
as the progressive rates increase the tax burden. Economic incentives to increase
salaries do fail to materialize as the tax on them rises.

Finally, some investment incentives also decrease when the tax falls on salary
income, however progressive. Interest on savings deposits becomes less valuable on
a rate-of-return basis than other investments, such as real estate, due to their being
taxed on nearly the same basis as salary income.

2.6.2 Consumption

Would taxing consumption be fairer? If we define consumption as the flow of funds
out of a person’s portfolio of assets and cash (from salary or whatever other sources
there may be), we have a better definition of ability to pay. Because one can afford to
pay for those things ordinarily consumed, it follows that one can afford to pay taxes.
As one consumes more, one should pay more taxes. Measuring a person’s well-being
as a function of his spending has a compelling logic as a basis for measuring abil-
ity to pay or in determining fairness in a tax system. Because it accords with not
penalizing hard work (the Protestant work ethic) and because it accords with other
Biblical invocations for saving, taxes on consumption are almost holy.

2.6.2.1 Methods of Taxation

There are two basic methods for taxing consumption, point of retail sale and value-
added taxation. The point-of-sale tax applies to only a portion of all goods con-
sumed, namely, those bought at retail by ordinary consumers, such as sales taxes on
furniture and appliances bought by homeowners. Moreover, this form of taxation
must, almost always, be placed on a good as a premium rather than absorbed in the
retail price of the article. For example, a $100 chair with a 5% sales tax may not,
usually according to law, actually cost $95.24 with a $4.76 tax but $100 with a
$5 tax. Law forces the tax to be shifted forward to the buyer. In practice, however,
the law may have little effect. Between New York and New Jersey, for example, sales
taxes differ in that New Jersey levies no sales tax on clothing. Wanting to remain
competitive, the ordinary New York clothing retailer could absorb the difference
due to New York sales tax in the retail pricing of goods. In such a case, the New
York sales tax might be shifted backward to the retailer or seller.*

" One of the consequences of retailer and buyer reluctance to absorb the tax is effort to “play a
loophole” in the sales tax law. Thus, New York retailers do not have to collect the sales tax from
customers who order goods by mail from states in which the firm does not business or has no
business location. New York retailers simply evade the tax by mailing goods to the New Jersey
buyer’s home even though the buyer may have shopped and paid for the good in the New
Yorker’s place of business. See Holley H. Ulbrich, “Taxing the Catalogue Buyer: Playing Fair
in Interstate Commerce,” Intergovernmental Perspective 11:4 (Fall, 1985), p. 29.
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2.6.2.2 Evaluation

What might not be fair about this tax? Perhaps the most obvious is the tax’s unfair-
ness when the necessities of life are included in the tax base. For example, two
families, each of which has the same food-buying habits but vastly different abilities
to pay for food, would bear inequitable sales tax burdens. The tax would fall on the
poorer family disproportionately, if we ignore all other purchases. To the extent
that sales taxes tend not to punish households for purchasing essentials, the tax
becomes fairer. Food and medicine exemptions commonly contribute to fairness.

Moreover, the imposition of sales taxes and income taxes with sales taxes deduct-
ible from income taxes also may contribute to fairness (Bradford, 1986).

2.6.3 Wealth

Finally, wealth emerges as a possible definition of ability in designing the fairest tax
system. Wealth also has a compelling logic, particularly as it taps the rich versus
poor dimension of progressive taxation.

2.6.3.1 Definition of Wealth

Wealth represents both income and consumption, but it is more. Wealth refers
ultimately to accumulated ability. Wealth is the total purchasing power a person
commands at a given time in the form of a stock, measured in dollars, or an asset,
consisting essentially of a claim to future payments of money or future delivery of
goods and services.

Two versions of the wealth definition exist. The first, book value, refers to the
maximum amount of present consumption a person could finance currently by
selling or otherwise committing all of the assets held (such as borrowing against
them) (Bradford, 1986).

Another version, transaction value, is that actually used in measuring wealth for
tax purposes. The tax value of a portfolio of assets is that realizable when a trans-
action actually takes place. The value for tax purposes is not computed on a daily
basis but only when the transaction, realizing the asset’s value, actually takes place.
Local governments’ property taxes may operate in either way. Some local govern-
ments use the appraised value of a new home as the basis of its tax value, computing
accretion to the house’s value annually based on the weighted values of other homes
bought and sold during that year. Book value is tax valuation.

On the other hand, most local governments must rely on a transaction value.
Only when a house is sold, or when the owner records an improvement, does the
jurisdiction record a new valuation, based on the house’s market value. A house
may tax valuation a great deal lower than book value for many years. Obviously,
the transaction approach to property tax valuation discourages housing turnover
and encourages community stability.
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2.6.3.2 Methods of Taxation of Wealth

The property tax is the most prevalent of the methods of taxing wealth. Two types
of property exist for tax purposes, real property or personal property. Real prop-
erty includes land and improvements such as buildings. Personal property may be
further divided into tangible—touchable, seeable, physical—property and intangi-
ble—not touchable, ethereal—property. Automobiles, manufacturing inventories,
and office furniture would be tangible personal property, whereas stocks, bonds,
notes and the like are called intangible personal property.

A property tax is an ad valorem tax, which is a tax on wealth. Typically, a city’s
major source of revenue comes from property taxes, which are levied as a millage
(referred to as mills) on tangible and intangible real and personal property. Property
subject to taxation includes land, buildings, machinery, artwork, stocks, bonds,
vehicles, among others, but it is state law that dictates what forms of wealth are tax-
able by local governments. As a relatively inelastic tax—unresponsive to economic
changes—the property tax typically is used to balance the budget; that is, toward
the end of the budgeting process, decision makers determine the amount of revenue
that is necessary to match the level of expenditures not covered by nonproperty tax
revenue. Cities use the following formula to calculate the property tax rate:

__e—NPR
NAV

where 7 is the tax rate, ¢ is the total expenses or expenditures, NPR is the non-
property tax revenue, and NAV is the net assessed value of the locality. Referring
to Figure 2.8, we can see how the city of Grand Rapids calculated its millage rate
for the refuse collection and disposal special revenue fund for the city of Grand
Rapids. The difference between revenues and expenditures (¢ — NPR) is roughly
a $6 million deficit. We know from other documentation (not included in the
figures) that the city has approximately $3.881 billion in assessed property (NAV).
Placing these numbers into the formula, a rate of 0.0015459 calculated. This means
that one dollar is taxed 0.0015459. This number is difficult to understand, so it is
converted into mills, which is a tax per $1,000 in value; a 1.55 millage rate is taxed
on every $1,000 worth of property. If Joe Citizen owns a parcel of property worth
$100,000, he would owe the city $154.59 in property tax for the city’s refuse col-
lection and disposal. This rate for this special revenue fund balances its budget and
restores a surplus.

Property tax administration requires four processes. First, discovery of the tax
base may be quite easy in the case of real property and quite difficult for intangible
personal property. Conventional systems for recording real property, for describing
its location and physical limits, and its ownership ease its administration. At the
other end of the spectrum, discovery of intangible personal property depends on
the inclination of the owner to reveal it.
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Second, inventory of real property essentially involves its listing by tract or plot.

Third, assessment requires appraisal of the value of the property. Market price is
most often the basis for valuation, but the low number of arm’s length transactions
in any area makes accurate, annual valuation difficult.

Fourth, the determination of the levy requires the budget officer to subtract the
estimated amounts of revenue to be received from sources other than the property
tax from total estimated expenditures. The remainder is the levy or the amount to
be raised by levying the property tax. The tax rate is the quotient found by dividing
the levy by the jurisdiction’s total value of taxable property assessments.

2.6.4 Nontax Revenues

Taxes comprise only a fraction of the revenues governments utilize in financing
current and capital operations. Presently, user fees (priced services) and indi-
rect cost recovery supplement traditional sources of revenue. This section deals
with nontraditional revenues and discusses their sources and, particularly, their
management.

The public’s dissatisfaction with government tax policy in recent years has
caused agencies at all levels to seek alternatives to tax revenues. In particular, this
sentiment has caused these agencies to reexamine the possibility of imposing or
substantially increasing user prices for services they offer.

The extent to which users should pay directly for public services has long excited
controversy, however. Considerable wisdom, political, economic, and administra-
tive, attaches to user fees, especially when examining the various ways services
might be priced. Three methods illustrate the large range available for tailoring
pricing systems to various needs or demands: going rate pricing, demand-oriented
pricing, and cost base pricing (Crompton, 1980).

Going rate pricing applies when an agency secks prices that reflect the average of
those charged by other organizations for equivalent services. As a result, an agency
charges rates comparable to those charged by other jurisdictions for the service.

Demand-oriented pricing rests on the determination of what individuals would
and are willing to pay for a particular service. Prices scaled to income are common,
especially when applied to senior citizens and the handicapped. Pricing may also
differ by age, and the facilities charging fees in one neighborhood may differ from
those in either a more affluent or less affluent one.

Pricing may also differ by time of day to encourage off-peak-time use and
to ration use during peak periods. In some cases, the time basis may be used to
encourage disadvantaged groups. Establishing free admission one or two days a
week may remove or reduce financial barriers and enable these groups to benefit
from the service.

There are three basic approaches to establishing a fee based on costs (Crompton,
1980): average cost pricing, partial overhead pricing, and variable cost pricing.



124 ®m Handbook of Governmental Accounting

Average cost pricing covers all fixed and variable costs associated with a ser-
vice. Partial overhead pricing meets all variable costs and some portion of fixed
costs. Variable cost pricing covers only variable costs. Average cost pricing would
be appropriate for private goods. Partial overhead pricing and variable pricing are
appropriate for public goods, with variable cost pricing more appropriately applied
to those services that yield more public benefit than with partial overhead pricing.

Determining what portion of fixed costs to subsidize depends on the extent that
the nonusing public benefits. As the benefits accruing to nonusers increases, the
portion of fixed costs met by the subsidy should increase. In practice, the appropri-
ate portion is generally decided in some arbitrary way, frequently guided by prevail-
ing political pressures (Pledge, 1982).

2.7 Summary

We set out to define a budget and determine its inner workings as they relate to
accounting. A theoretical definition is difficult to pinpoint, but from a descrip-
tive standpoint, a budget is, with no doubt, a set of documents estimating future
inflows and outflows. The dollars are tracked through a set of funds accounted for
on an accrual or modified accrual basis. From an accountant’s point of view, it is
crucial to pay attention to the funds, but also the inflow and outflows, particu-
larly how each is analyzed, estimated, and evaluated. Accountants, being a primary
set of analysts of government budget procedures and decisions, can and will take
note of the economic and social impacts budget decisions have. Their educated
opinion of decision consequences can provide advice to finance officials who are
elected or appointed. In the end, accountants play a critical role in the information
flow progressive government budgeting requires. Accountants play an imperative
role in the public financial management process. Their knowledge of tools, process,
frameworks, and decision consequences help keep governments on track.
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3.1 Introduction

The United States is a federal system of government, in which each level of govern-
ment has some powers, as defined by the U.S. Constitution, to levy taxes and pro-
vide certain services. A situation normally referred to as the “fiscal federalism” in
the United States (Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations, 1995).
This chapter provides a brief overview of expenditures and revenues for all levels
of U.S. governments. The first section discusses government expenditures, includ-
ing the overall size and growth of government, the explanation of governmental
expansion, and the breakdown of responsibilities for each level of government. The
second section describes major sources of revenues for each level of government to
fund their services, including revenues that are raised by a government itself as well
as intergovernmental transfers.

3.2 Expenditures

3.2.1 Size and Growth of Government Expenditures
in the United States

Government expenditures in the United States have been growing in the past several
decades (see Table 3.1). In 1950, all levels of government combined spent about $58
billion (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1975). In 2000, total government spending was
approaching $3 trillion, an increase of more than 46 times (Office of Management
and Budget, 2006). Over the past five decades, expenditures have grown dramati-
cally at all levels of government, but the share of expenditure in different levels
of government has shifted several times over the last century. In the 1900s, local
governments have by far the largest share of expenditures, followed by the federal
government and then the states. During the Great Depression, federal spending
suddenly rose above local expenditures and has since become the leading spender
(Lee, Johnson, and Joyce, 2004). The federal share of expenditure had increased to
73.6% by 1950 and stayed at about 70% in the early 1980s (Office of Management
and Budget, 2006). In 2000, the federal share fell slightly to 65.9%, as the current
trend is to move responsibilities of public services to levels of government closer to
the people.

One approach to measure the size of government is to compare it to the size of
national economy, which has fluctuated over the past century. In the late 1920s, the
total expenditures of government was only 10% of gross domestic product (GDP),
but increases occurred in the 1930s due to the Great Depression, and then World
War II brought expenditures to an all-time high, at about half of GDP (Office of
Management and Budget, 2006). Since then, as Table 3.1 shows, the government

" Caution should be exercised in interpreting these numbers as they include intergovernmental
transfer, that is, grants from one government to another.
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Table 3.1 Government Expenditures from 1950 to 2000

Annual
Growth
1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 Since 1950

Expenditures (in billions of dollars)

Federal 42.6 92.2 195.6 590.9 1,253.2 | 1,788.8 7.76%
(73.6%) | (73.9%) | (70.3%) | (72.0%) | (70.0%) | (65.9%)

State- 15.4 32.5 82.7 229.3 536.3 926.0 8.54%
local (26.6%) | (26.1%) | (29.7%) | (28.0%) | (30.0%) | (34.1%)

Total 57.9 124.7 278.3 820.3 1,789.5 | 2,714.9 8.00%
(100%) | (100%) | (100%) | (100%) | (100%) | (100%)

Expenditures as percentage of GDP

Federal | 15.6% | 17.8% | 193% | 21.6% | 21.8% | 18.4%

State— 5.6% 6.3% 8.2% 8.4% 9.4% 9.5%
local
Total 21.2% 24.0% 27.5% 30.0% 31.2% 27.9%

Source: Historical Tables, Budget of the U.S. Government (FY2007), Office of Man-
agement and Budget. http://www.gpoaccess.gov/usbudget/fy07/about.html

share in GDP gradually grew from 21.2% in 1950 to 31.2% in 1990, but it then
decreased a bit to 27.9% as of 2000. In general, we can say government expendi-
tures in the United States amount to about one-third of the national economy in
recent years.

3.2.2 Accounting for Growth

A number of analysts have explained the reasons for the growth of government
expenditures, which has occurred in many counties. One major reason is that
government is “responsive” to the demands of society. Wagner’s law, originally
proposed in the 1880s, contends that social and economic changes encourage gov-
ernment expansion (Abizadeli and Basilevsky, 1990). As a nation’s economy shifts
from subsistence agriculture to industrial production, it creates a greater need for
transportation, communication, and environmental protection. As people move
from rural areas to cities, they demand higher levels of law enforcement, fire pro-
tection, and sanitation services. As the technology of work becomes more complex,
people need more education. Therefore, governments will be asked to do more and
more to meet the increased demands, which results in budget expansion.
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Another explanation for budgetary expansion contends that government has a
supposed propensity to be excessive. On one hand, public bureaucrats are spend-
ing “other people’s money” and want to have larger budgets that can increase their
power (Buchanan and Tullock, 1977). On the other, many people underestimate
the cost of many public programs and, consequently, demand more from govern-
ment than they would if they knew the true costs (Buchanan, 1967). The propen-
sity of excessive governmental growth may be particularly clear in recent decades.
First, the budgetary process becomes increasingly complicated, and thus, it is harder
for the public to hold government bureaucrats accountable. Second, governments
increasingly rely on a variety of revenue sources that are less visible; for example, all
sorts of sales taxes that tend to catch less attention from taxpayers than the property
tax does. The diversified tax base creates higher level of “fiscal illusion” that can lead
to overtaxing and overspending of government (Dickson and Yu, 2000).

Budgetary expansion can also be explained by the combination of incremental
change and drastic growth at the time of crisis. Incrementalism, the traditional
budgetary theory, holds that funding for most public programs should remain sta-
ble or increase slightly from what they received last year (Wildavsky and Caiden,
2001). Therefore, if we do not actively look for ways to cut spending, then the total
budget will gradually increase over time. Moreover, governmental expenditures can
be drastically increased in response to emergencies (Mosher and Poland, 1964). As
Plato has observed long ago, “accidents and calamities ... are the universal legisla-
tors of the world” (Plato, 1975). Under normal conditions, people are often opposed
to significant tax increases. When a major crisis strikes, however, resistance to taxa-
tion may subside, and thus governments are able to raise higher tax revenues. After
the crisis passes, tax levels normally do not decline as much as they rose before the
crisis. Over time, a series of wars, depressions, and other emergencies will produce
much larger budgets (Dye, 2005).

The growth of governmental spending in the United States in response to the
wars has provided a striking example. During the Civil War, federal expendi-
tures jumped from $63 million in 1860 to $1.3 billion in 1865, a growth of about
20 times. Later, because of World War I, it increased from $730 million in 1916
to $18.5 billion within 3 years, and then dropped to $13.3 billion in 1920. When
the United States entered into World War II, expenditures rose from $13.3 billion
in 1941 to $92.7 billion in 1945, and then declined to $33.1 billion in 1948 (Lee,
Johnson, and Joyce, 2004: 36).

3.2.3 Compare with the Sizes of Other Countries

How does the size of the American public sector compare with that of other coun-
tries? Data for some major countries of the Organization for Economic Cooperation
and Development are reported in Table 3.2 (Economic and Social Data Service
International, 2006).
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Table 3.2 Governments in Selected Industrialized Countries, 2000

Government Total Government
Consumption Tax Revenue
Country as Percentage of GDP as Percentage of GDP
Australia 18.3 33.6
Austria 19.2 445
Belgium 21.2 471
Canada 18.7 36.2
Denmark 25.9 49.2
Finland 20.8 47.5
France 23.2 46.2
Germany 19 433
Greece 15.5 40.1
Iceland 23.8 39.1
Italy 18.3 42.5
Luxembourg 16.8 40.5
Netherlands 22.7 41.6
Spain 17.6 35.9
Sweden 26.8 50.3
Switzerland 14.6 35.6
United Kingdom 18.7 38.1
United States 17.8 29.5

Source: IMF Government Finance Statistics. http://www.esds.ac.uk/
international/support/user_guides/imf/gfs.asp

Government expenditures can be divided into two categories: government con-
sumption and transfer payments. Government consumption covers spending on
goods and services such as defense, judicial system, education, etc.; transfer pay-
ments provide income to recipients without service being required in return, such
as Social Security, unemployment benefits, etc. (Mikesell, 2003: 30). Measured by
government consumption expenditure, the share of government spending for these
countries ranged from 14.6% of GDP in Switzerland to 26.8% in Sweden; the U.S.
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value of 17.8% is relatively low. In terms of total government expenditures, the
share of these countries ranges from 29.5% of GDP to 50.3%, while the U.S. falls
at the low end of the table of nations. Although the United States raises and spends
enormous sums of money in absolute terms, it has a smaller government component
in its national economy than other industrialized nations (Mikesell, 2003: 34; Lee,
Johnson, and Joyce, 2004).

3.2.4 Expenditures of the Federal Government

The data of federal expenditures for selected years from 1950 through 2004 are
provided in Table 3.3. The single largest component of federal spending is the cat-
egory of human resources. The category is fairly broad: it includes Social Security
benefits, health care, public assistance for the poor, and education. Much of the
expenditures in this category occur through entitlements that the federal govern-
ment is obligated to pay to any individual who meets the legal criteria for eligibility.
Federal expenditures for human resources have risen dramatically since World War
II, as the federal government assumed more responsibility for health care and as
the size of the elderly population has increased (Gruber, 2005: 394). In 2000, the
share of this category accounts for about 62.3% of federal outlay (U.S. Bureau of
the Census, Government Division, 2006).

Another substantial component of federal spending is national defense, although
its share of the budget has declined considerably since World War II. The national
defense spending exceeded 70% of total federal spending from 1942 through 1946,
with a maximum of 89.5% in 1945. Since then, the defense share of federal outlay
has gradually reduced to about 20% in 2004, despite some fluctuations. It had a
minor upturn during 1981-1987, when the United States forced the Soviet Union
to get involved in a competitive arms race that its economy could not support,
which many believe caused its collapse and an end to the cold war. Another upturn
of national defense budget has occurred since 2001 to combat terrorism, after the
tragic events of September 11, 2001 (U.S. Bureau of the Census, Government
Division, 2006; Mikesell, 2003: 31).

Interest payments for federal debts are also a major federal expense. Interest
payments of total federal spending reached about 15% in 1990 because the fed-
eral government borrowed a considerable sum of money through the 1980s with
the continued federal deficit (Nice, 2002: 25). The outlay of interest payments has
reduced since the late 1990s because of the federal surplus during 1998-2001, but
it has risen again since 2002 when the federal government again had continued
budget deficits (Lee, Johnson, and Joyce, 2004: 274).

Another broad category of outlays is “physical resources,” which include infra-
structure, environment, commerce, housing, and community development. But the
share of expenditures for this category has declined since the 1980s and accounts
for only 5% of total federal spending in 2004. Other functional outlays are much
smaller parts of the federal total.
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Table 3.3 Federal Government Expenditures by Function (Percentage
of Total)

1950 1960 | 1970 | 1980 | 1990 | 2000 | 2004

National defense 32.2| 522| 41.8| 227| 239| 165| 19.9

Human resources 334 | 28.4| 385| 53.0| 494 | 623 | 64.8

Education, training, employ- 0.6 1.0 4.4 5.4 3.0 3.0 3.8
ment, and social services

Health 0.6 0.9 3.0 3.9 4.6 86| 105
Medicare — — 3.2 5.4 78| 11.0| 11.8
Income security 9.6 8.0 80| 146 119 142| 145
Social Security 18| 126 155| 20.1| 19.8| 229| 21.6
Veterans benefits and 20.8 5.9 4.4 3.6 2.3 2.6 2.6
services

Physical resources 86| 87| 80| 11.2| 10.1 47| 5.1
Energy 0.8 0.5 0.5 17 0.3 0.0 0.0
Natural resources and 3.1 17 1.6 2.3 1.4 1.4 1.3
environment
Commerce and housing 24| 1.8 1.1 16| 54| 02 0.2
credit
Transportation 23 4.5 3.6 3.6 24 2.6 2.8
Community and regional 0.1 02| 12| 19| 07| 06| 07
development

Net interest 11.3 7.5 7.3 89| 147 125 7.0

Other functions 187 84| 88 76| 48 64| 58
International affairs 11.0 3.2 2.2 22 1.1 1.0 1.2

General science, space, and 0.1 0.6 2.3 1.0 1.2 1.0 1.0
technology

Agriculture 4.8 2.8 2.6 15 0.9 2.0 0.7
Administration of justice 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.8 0.8 1.6 2.0
General government 23| 13| 12| 22| 08| 07| 10
Total Federal outlays 100.0 | 100.0 | 100.0 | 100.0 | 100.0 | 100.0 | 100.0

Data source: U.S. Census Bureau, Government Division. http://www.census.gov/
govs/www/
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3.2.5 Expenditures of State and Local Governments

Expenditures for state and local governments in fiscal year 2003 are reported in
Table 3.4 (U.S. Bureau of the Census, Government Division, 2006). Note that in
recent years states transfer considerable sums of money through intergovernmental
grants to their local governments. The table tallies such spending at the recipient level
to make the expenditures “direct.” In addition, the table follows the budget conven-
tion and separates direct general expenditures with other direct expenditures, which
include government-operated utilities, liquor stores, and insurance trust systems.

As shown in Table 3.4, the largest category of state government spending is
for social services and income maintenance, which includes public welfare, hos-
pitals, health, social insurance, and veteran services. Total budget of this category
accounts for about 43% of direct general expenditure. Budgets for these programs
have grown rapidly since 1996 when changes of the federal welfare program have
placed even greater responsibility on states and provide them a great incentive to
administer carefully and move people off assistance roles. Another major expense for
state governments is education, including everything from kindergartens to major
universities and specialized vocational schools. The bulk of the education category,
higher education, amounts to 18% of the total direct general expenditure. Bear in
mind that, however, for elementary and secondary education, a great deal of state
spending is distributed through grants to local school districts. These amounts are
instead shown as direct expenditures at the local level. Other shares of state expen-
ditures go to transportation (10%), public safety (7%), government administration
(5%), and others (U.S. Bureau of the Census, Government Division, 2006).

Generalizing about local expenditures is a somewhat risky enterprise. In 2002,
there were nearly 88,000 local governments in the United States: counties, munici-
palities, townships, school districts, or special districts (U.S. Bureau of the Census,
Government Division, 2002). Local governments vary significantly in their service
delivery. Some local governments, such as cities and counties, have a wide range of
responsibilities. Others, primarily school districts and other special districts, are
responsible for only one or a few types of programs (Nice, 2002: 28). Table 3.4
shows local expenditures in the United States in aggregate, but caution should be
exercised in relating the overall pattern to each type of local government.

By far, the single largest share of local spending is education, which accounts for
44% of the total direct general expenditure. The bulk of this spending is aimed at
elementary and secondary education, which alone amounts to 41%. Bear in mind
that almost all expenditures of this category are made by independent school dis-
tricts that are set up just for education although a number of large cities may oper-
ate their schools as a municipal department (Mikesell, 2003: 120). In addition,
as described eatlier, a considerable portion of these resources is financed by state
aid, while the provision remains a critical local concern. For most cities and coun-
ties, two major traditional responsibilities are public safety (police, fire, and correc-
tion) and local transportation (public roads and highways) (Nice 2002: 28). “Social
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services and income maintenance” is another major item in local budgets. In recent
years, local governments have spent more on welfare programs, mostly though
intergovernmental grants. In addition, many local governments own hospitals or
other health care facilities and administer many public health programs locally.

3.3 Revenues

3.3.1 Overview: Revenue Sources in the United States

U.S. governments collect most of their “general” revenues from taxes that are levied
on income, purchases or sales, or property (ownership or transfer). In addition, they
collect revenues from user charges and from miscellaneous sources, such as lotter-
ies, interest on invested funds, royalties, etc. (Mikesell, 2003). While governments
also receive revenues from business-like activities such as liquor stores, utility opera-
tions, or insurance programs, these revenue sources are traditionally categorized as
“special” revenues.

Although all levels of government collect revenues from a variety of sources,
generally speaking, the federal government relies primarily on income taxes, state
governments on sales taxes, and local governments on property tax. In addition,
the federal government relies on taxes to a greater extent, while state and local
governments raised a higher portion of revenues from user charges or other sources.
Of all general revenues collected in fiscal year 2003, the federal government col-
lected 57%, the states 23%, and local governments 20% (Office of Management
and Budget, 2006). In terms of direct expenditures, however, the percentage is
45 for federal government, 25 for states, and 30 for local governments (Office of
Management and Budget, 20006). The difference occurs because a substantial frac-
tion of state and local government expenditures is financed by intergovernmental
grants, which will be discussed separately.

3.3.2 Revenues of the Federal Government

Figure 3.1 shows the percentage breakdown of all federal revenues by major sources
in 2003. The total federal receipts in 2003 was about $1.8 trillion, more than all
state and local governments combined (Congressional Budget Office, 2006), but
the federal revenue system is not diversified among tax bases, and it relies predomi-
nantly on income or other payroll taxes (Mikesell, 2003: 280). The federal indi-
vidual income tax is levied on all financial income of individuals, which includes
wages and salaries, interests and dividends, and realized capital gains, etc. This
tax is the single largest revenue source in recent years, accounting for almost half
of total federal receipts. In a close second is the category of social insurance taxes
and contributions, which include Social Security, Medicare, and federal unemploy-
ment taxes (Congressional Budget Office, 2006). These taxes, together with federal
income tax, are called federal payroll taxes because employers are responsible for
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Federal Receipts by Sources in 2003
(Total Revenue: $1.8 trillion)

Other
4%
Excise Taxes
4%

Individual
Income Taxes
Social 45%
Insurance and
Retirement
40%

Corporation
Income Taxes
7%

Figure 3.1 Federal revenues by major sources in 2003. (Data source: Historical
Budget Data, Congressional Budget Office. 2006.)

withholding taxes from employees’ paychecks (payrolls) and sending them to the
proper government agencies. In addition, the corporate income tax, levied on the
income of companies, also provides significant revenue. The three categories of
income-based taxes discussed—individual income tax, social insurance, and corpo-
rate income tax—together account for more than $1.6 trillion, and make up more
than 90% of federal government revenues. This represents a significant change over
the course of the 20th century because federal income taxes were not introduced
until 1913, and the Social Security program was established in 1936 (Tax Policy
Center, 2006d; Steuerle, 2004: 35). Another category of federal revenues is excise
taxes, paid when purchases are made on a specific good such as gasoline or aviation
services (Tax Policy Center, 2006). Other miscellaneous revenues for the federal
government are categorized in the “other” category, which includes such things as
taxes on cigarettes and liquor, estate (inheritance) and gift taxes, and custom duties.

Unlike other developed countries, the U.S. federal government levies no gen-
eral sales tax; in part, because general sales tax is a major revenue source for state
governments, and this heavy reliance creates political resistance, each time the
federal government has considered tapping the same tax base. Likewise, the fed-
eral government collects no property tax, which is the mainstay for state and local
revenues. The federal government does, however, collect sales taxes on selected
commodities, such as motor fuels or alcoholic beverages, and on certain imported
products (customs duties), but these sources are relatively minor. In addition, the
federal government also borrowed significant amounts of money as additional rev-
enue during much of the 1980s and early 1990s to meet the continued budget defi-
cits (Mikesell, 2003: 106-111).
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3.3.3 Revenues of State and Local Governments

Table 3.5 shows revenue sources of state and local governments in fiscal year 2003.
In comparison with the federal revenue system, state and local revenue structures
present much more complicated pictures. Different states and local governments
rely to a different extent on a variety of sources, and not all state and local govern-
ments have the same mix.

Unlike the income-tax dominance at the federal level, state revenues come from
more diversified tax bases. A substantial share of state funds comes in the form of
aid from other governments, mostly from the federal government. Other than that,
the most dominant source of state revenue comes from taxes on goods and services,
which provide about 25% of state revenues. All but five states (Delaware, New
Hampshire, Montana, Oregon, and Alaska*) levy a general sales tax, which cover
all or almost all sales of products (some states exempt groceries and/or other prod-
ucts such as some medicines; Tax Policy Center, 2006¢). In addition, all 50 states
levy selective excise taxes for particular products such as motor fuel, cigarettes,
and alcoholic beverages. Another major state revenue source is income taxes, but
they are not levied in all states (Tax Policy Center, 2006a). Seven states—Alaska,
Florida, Nevada, South Dakota, Texas, Washington, and Wyoming—have no state
individual income tax. Tennessee and New Hampshire limit their tax to dividends
and interest income only. Forty-four states levy corporate income taxes; exceptions
are Nevada, South Dakota, Texas, Washington, Wyoming, Michigant, and New
Hampshiret. State income taxes often mirror federal taxes. In fact, state tax returns
often use information directly from the federal return in computing state liability,
and state tax authorities rely heavily on the efforts of the federal government in
enforcing their taxes (Brunori, 2001). In addition, a proportionally minor state rev-
enue source that has attracted considerable attention in recent years is state lotteries,
which are now found in 37 states. Lotteries have become fairly popular because it
appears to be a painless, voluntary, and enjoyable approach to government finance.
However, it is controversial being a regressive tax, as evidence suggests that low-
income families spend a higher percentage of their income on lottery tickets than
do high-income families (Brunori, 2001: 138).

Local governments obtain one-third of their money from other government,
particularly state government, and the rest mainly through the property tax and
other sources. Levied based on the assessed value of real estate or personal property,
property tax used to be the mainstay of both state and local government finance,
and it is still the single largest own-source revenue for local governments (Wallis,
2001). In 1932, property tax produced almost three quarters of all state and local
tax revenue and more than 90% of local government revenue. Since the Great

" There is no statewide sales tax, but various municipalities and boroughs levy a local sales tax.
T Michigan has a single business tax, which is a modified value-added tax.
* New Hampshire has a business enterprise tax, which is a modified value-added tax.
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Depression, however, states have shifted their taxes on goods and services, espe-
cially retail sales taxes and motor-fuel excises, as these new taxes offered high yield
and greater reliability (Brunori, 2001). However, local governments overall still
rely heavily on the property tax, which amounts to about two-thirds of all local tax
revenues in 2003 (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 2002). Note that the reliance on the
property tax varies by type of local government (Brunori, 2003). Cities, especially
large ones, rely less on the property tax. Because of their geographic size and intense
commercial activities, large cities have many more opportunities to raise revenue
from other sources such as levies on sales and income. By contrast, independent
school districts have relied mostly on the property tax. In 1997, they raised more
than $90 billion in property tax revenue, about 80% of their total revenue and
about 98% of their total own-source revenue (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1998).
Somewhere in between are smaller cities and counties that have relied more on the
property tax than large cities, but less than independent school districts.

The property tax produces reliable, stable, independent revenue for local gov-
ernments, but it has always been unpopular (Brunori, 2003: 58). People dislike the
property tax for several major reasons. For instance, the payment is very visible
and so easy to evoke resistance, the assessment of property tax value is difficult
to be administered fairly, and there is a mismatch between homeowner income
and tax liabilities over time (Oates, 2001). For these reasons, the share of property
tax in total local revenue has declined over the past several decades as a result of
“property tax revolts.” Since the late 1970s and early 1980s, there has been a sus-
tained resistance to the increase of property tax, and many states enacted a variety
of policies to reduce the property tax burden (O’Sullivan, Sexton, and Sheffrin,
1995; Mullins and Cox, 1995). In 1978, for instance, California voters enacted
Proposition 13, which abruptly reduced local property tax revenue in the state by
half; in 1980, Massachusetts voters approved Proposition 2%2, which set an absolute
limit on the property tax rate as well as the annual increase on tax levy (Galles and
Sexton, 1998). Since these property tax revolts, local governments have increased
their reliance on user charges and fees, and local option sales or income taxes. In
2003, about 15% of local general revenue is obtained from user charges and fees for
a wide range of services such as water and sewer systems, trash collection, building
permits, library cards for nonresidents, parking, etc. Another major nonproperty
tax is local option sales tax. As of 2004, local governments in 33 states have been
authorized to levy local option sales tax (Tax Policy Center, 2006¢; Brunori, 2003:
71; Zhao, 2005). Of the 33 states, 23 allow both cities and counties to impose the
tax, 10 states allow only cities or counties to levy the tax. The other nine states allow
transit authorities or school districts to impose the tax. In aggregate, local option
sales tax makes up for about 4% of total general revenue for all local governments
in 2003. In addition, a number of cities levy local income taxes, but their contri-
bution of the overall totals is limited to less than 2% (U.S. Bureau of the Census,
Government Division, 20006).
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3.3.4 Intergovernmental Grants

A significant amount of the money spent by state and local governments comes
from assistance provided by other levels of government (Mikesell, 2003: 519). As
shown in Table 3.6, state and local governments have become increasingly reliant
on intergovernmental funds in the past half century. In 1955, 8.5% of state revenues
were federal assistance in the form of grants; this percentage has more than doubled
to over 20% in 2000. Local governments have become even more dependent on
intergovernmental transfers, receiving more than one-third of their revenues from
upper level governments in 2000. The expansion in the use of intergovernmental
grants has not, however, been entirely continuous. As a percentage of state and
local governments spending, federal aid peaked in the late 1970s at about 24% of
state and local governments expenditures (Congressional Budget Office, 2006), but
it then declined as the political environment became so called “fend-for-yourself
federalism,” in which levels of governments spending money were expected to raise
that money (Shannon, 1989). Growth in the federal aid resumed nevertheless in the
late 1980s and continued throughout the 1990s.

Federal transfers support a wide variety of public programs but, overall, a sub-
stantial portion of them are for income redistribution, including health programs,
income security, and social services (Canada, 2003). As it is difficult for state and

Table 3.6 Intergovernmental Grants in the United States, Selected Years

Federal Grants as a Federal Grants as a Intergovernmental
Percentage of Federal | Percentage of State— | Revenue as a Percentage of
Year Expenditures (%) Local Revenue (%) Local General Revenue (%)
1955 4.2 8.5 26.3
1960 7.2 9.5 271
1965 8.5 11.4 28.4
1970 11.2 16.8 331
1975 14.5 22.6 38.8
1980 14.7 22.8 39.7
1985 10.4 17.2 34.3
1990 10.6 16.8 329
1995 13.7 20.1 34.2
2000 16.3 20.1 344

Data sources: Government Division, U.S. Bureau of Census and Historical Budget
Data, Office of Management and Budget.
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local governments to finance aggressive redistributive programs, the federal gov-
ernment makes extensive use of intergovernmental transfers to assist low-income
households (Gruber, 2005: 454). Much of this aid takes the form of medical expen-
ditures such as Medicaid and Medicare. Other federal grants provide a stimulus
for state—local programs that confer benefits that may “spill over” to residents of
other areas, for instance, transportation, communication, education, and workforce
training. These grants normally have matching requirements. By providing budget-
ary incentives, they enable state and local governments to address the broader inter-
ests of citizenry. In addition, in 1972, the federal government instituted a modest
program of general revenue sharing with state and local governments. However, the
program was discontinued in the 1980s largely because of fiscal stringency at the
federal level at that time (Canada, 2003).

For local governments, the lion share of intergovernmental transfers comes
from state governments (Mikesell, 2003: 529). In recent decades, state aid has risen
considerably for school districts largely for the purpose of equalization. Beginning
in the 1970s, a number of court rulings declared that existing systems of school
financing are unconstitutional; as a result, the states have taken a more active role in
financing public education, providing education grants that have somewhat equal-
ized school spending across high- to low-income school districts (Ladd, Chalk,
and Hansen, 1999). Other state aid programs are comparatively small. State gov-
ernments also provide transfers to their local governments for highways, public
welfare, and other programs, normally based on some type of formula. In addition,
many states provide general revenue sharing for local governments without specific
functional requirements.
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4.1 Introduction

In comparison to the financial resources of business organizations, many of the
resources of state and local governments are restricted to specific activities or pur-
poses. These restrictions on governments’ revenues commonly relate to use, specific
programs, time expenditures, or expenditures in compliance with legal require-
ments. While it is true that taxation remains the main source of government rev-
enues, the fact is that governments derive revenues from various sources, including
grants, user charges to finance certain activities, transfer payments to governments,
fines or penalties for violating laws, and revenues generated from fees and permits
imposed on business activities. These revenues are often confined to particular pur-
poses or activities. A federal grant to a state government for highway maintenance
can only be used for highway upkeep, and not for other purposes. Tax revenues on
some consumer products may be set aside to finance particular activities, such as
shelters for the homeless.

Because governments, for the most part, are not subject to marketplace compe-
tition, and budgets in state and local governments reflect public policy priorities,
significant breach of legal and contractual restrictions over budgetary resources

149
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can have serious financial consequences. Understandably, governments take great
care to adhere to restrictive rules on the use of public resources. To demonstrate fis-
cal and operational accountability and provide assurance to interested parties, such
as grantors, legislators, and citizens, that resources are being used on approved pur-
poses, most governments establish separate funds for resources earmarked to vari-
ous activities. Hence, fund accounting is designed to help governments enhance
control and accountability on the use of public resources.

This chapter provides an overview of the various funds used by governments
for accounting and financial reporting purposes. The chapter is a prelude to the
in-depth analysis of various funds discussed in later chapters.

4.2 Funds Descriptions

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for state and local governments
prescribe that “governmental accounting systems should be organized and operated
on a fund basis” and define a fund as

A fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts
recording cash and other financial resources, together with all related
liabilities, and residual equities or balances and changes therein, which
are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or attain-
ing certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restric-
tions, or limitations.!

A government has discretion in regard to the number of funds to establish for
accounting and financial reporting of its activities. Typically, governments maintain
as many funds as deemed necessary. However, the underlying principle in govern-
mental accounting dictates that a government should make use of the least number
of funds considered necessary for its operations. GAAP provide some guidelines
with respect to the number of funds a government may use for its accounting and
financial objectives. GAAP decree that:

Government units should establish and maintain those funds required
by law and sound financial administration. Only the minimum num-
ber of funds consistent with legal and operating requirements should
be established because unnecessary funds result in inflexibility, undue
complexity, and inefficient financial administration.

Most governments engage in a number of activities that call for the establishment
of numerous funds. Regardless of how many activities a government engages in,
almost all activities can be grouped into three broad categories: governmental activ-
ities, business-type activities, and fiduciary activities.
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1. Governmental activities: These activities involve resources raised and expended
to carry out the general purposes of a government and are typically financed
through taxes or intergovernmental grants.

2. Business-type activities: These are income-determining activities of a gov-
ernment and therefore financed primarily through user-charges or fees.
Government business-type activities parallel those of the private sector and
make use of business accounting,

3. Fiduciary activities: A government is engaged in fiduciary activities when it
acts as an agent or a trustee for other parties. Fiduciary activities relate to
governments acting in a trustee or agency capacity for individuals, private
organizations, other governments, or outside parties.

In accordance with these three broad categories of government activities, GAAP
mandate that governments categorize their funds into three categories: governmen-
tal funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

1. Governmental funds account for government activities typically supported
through tax revenues. Governmental funds are maintained to finance most
governments’ operating activities.

2. Proprietary funds account for a government’s business-type activities typi-
cally financed through user charges or fees. These government activities mir-
ror those of private sector entities.

3. Fiduciary funds account for resources held by a government in a trustee or agency
capacity on behalf of individuals, organizations, or other entities. Fiduciary funds
cannot be used to support the government’s own activities. The resources in
fiduciary funds are held by a government for the benefit of parties outside the
government.

Each category of funds, that is, governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fidu-
ciary funds, is a composite. Involved in each category are varieties of funds that
constitute each one. GAAP established a total of eleven fund types grouped under
these three categories. Table 4.1 lists fund types and their classifications.

Under the governmental funds category, five funds are characterized as govern-
mental funds. They are the general fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds,
capital project funds, and permanent funds. We shall now briefly elaborate on each
of the governmental-type funds.

1. The general fund is a government primary operating fund. It accounts for all
financial resources that are not required to be accounted for in other funds. In
essence, the general fund is maintained to account for all unrestricted resources.
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Table 4.1 Fund Types and Classifications

Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds Fiduciary Funds
1. General fund 6. Enterprise funds | 8. Agency funds
2. Special revenue funds | 7. Internal service 9. Investment trust funds
3. Debt service funds funds 10. Private-purpose funds
4. Capital projects funds 11. Pension and other
5. Permanent funds employee benefit
trust funds

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of a state or local gov-
ernment. GAAP prescribe that the general fund be used “to account
for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in
another fund.” That is, it is presumed that all government’s activities
are reported in the general fund unless there is a compelling reason to
report an activity in some other fund type.

. Special revenue funds are maintained to account for resources legally restricted

to specific purposes. Governments often maintain a number of special reve-

nue funds to account for revenues raised for specific purposes. The use of sev-

eral special revenue funds enhances control over restricted resources and may

prevent the unintentional inclusion of restricted resources into the General

Fund. However, the use of special revenue funds is not strictly imposed by

GAAP. Interestingly, a number of local governments operate without estab-

lishing a single special revenue fund though they have funds that may fic the

definition of special revenue funds. Some typical revenue sources accounted

for in special revenue funds include

B Fuel tax revenues mandated by a legislature to be set aside for road upkeep
and construction.

B A state law provides that resources generated by the lottery be used to
fund education.

B A state grant that must be used to train new recruits of firefighters.

According to GAAP, special revenue funds are maintained

To account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than
trusts for individuals, private organizations, or other governments or
for major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditure for
specified purposes .... Resources that are legally limited to a particular
purpose by a government cannot be used for any other purpose unless
the government removes or changes the limitation by taking the same
action it employed to impose the limitation initially or by taking a
higher-authority action.

As a governmental-type fund, special revenue funds use accounting guide-
lines similar to the general fund. Nearly all accounting principles and
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guidelines afforded to the general fund can be applied to special revenue
funds and indeed to all governmental-type funds.

3. Debt service funds account for resources accumulated for the payment of
principal and interest on long-term obligations. Much like sinking funds
maintained by businesses to accumulate resources to retire debts, govern-
ments maintain debt service funds for the specific purpose of servicing cur-
rent and future debt service requirements. GAAP permit that debt service

funds be used

To account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of,
general long-term debt principal and interest. Debt service funds are
required if they are legally mandated and/or if financial resources are
being accumulated for principal and interest payments maturing in
future years’

4. Capital project funds are maintained to account for financial resources to be
used for acquisition and construction of major capital assets. The use of capi-
tal projects funds as a separate fund to report major capital acquisition and
construction activities is a useful method to avoid commingling capital and
operating funds. Capital projects resources are typically generated from the
issuance of bonds, government grants, or from interfund transfers. Proceeds
from issuance of bonds are restricted and maintained in capital projects funds
to purchase or construct major capital assets. Based on GAAP, capital projects
funds are established

To account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or
construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by
proprietary funds, or in trust funds for individuals, private organiza-
tions, or other governments). Capital outlays financed through general
obligation bond proceeds should be accounted for through a capital
projects fund.®

5. In contrast to the government funds discussed thus far, permanent funds are
comparatively new. Permanent funds were instituted as part of the govern-
mental financial reporting model established by the GASB Statement 34,
and account for resources legally restricted to the extent that only the earn-
ings on investments, not principal, may be used to support specific programs
that benefit the government itself or its citizenry.” The income or earnings on
investments of resources in permanent funds are recognized as revenues and
transferred to a special revenue fund to be expended for designated programs.
In using only the earnings of the funds for expenditures, the principal is
maintained. Thus, the funds are never depleted, and remain permanent.

To illustrate, suppose that a municipality receives one million dollars from a gener-
ous citizen with the stipulation that only the earnings from the investment of the
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one million dollars donation can be used for the purchase of new books and equip-
ment for libraries. Upon receiving and investing the funds, the municipality would
record the following journal entries:

Debit Credit
a. Cash 1,000,000
Revenues/additions to Permanent Funds 1,000,000
Investments 1,000,000
Cash 1,000,000

b. Suppose that the funds invested generated $22,000 as earnings, and these
earnings were used for library expenditures as stipulated by the donor. The
municipality would record the following entries:

Debit Credit
Cash/or interest receivable 22,000
Revenues from investment income 22,000
Expenditures for books 22,000
Cash/or account payable 22,000

So far we discussed the various funds that constitute the governmental funds cae-
egory. We are now turning our attention to another category of funds, namely,
proprietary funds. They are distinctively different in nature and purpose as com-
pared to governmental funds. The accounting of proprietary funds is similar to
the accounting and financial reporting of business enterprises. In proprietary fund
activities, the motive of the government is to recapture its investments through
user charges. Proprietary funds are expected to be self sustaining, the focus is on
income determination, and therefore public officials managing these funds intend,
at a minimum, to break even. There are two proprietary-type funds: enterprise
funds and internal service funds. The following is a cursory description of each of
the proprietary-type funds.

1. Enterprise Funds account for government activities that provide goods or
services for fees to the general public. Examples of government activities
accounted for in enterprise funds include
B DParking garages at airport facilities
B Hospitals
B DPublic service electric and gas
B DPublic transportation

Enterprise funds are established by GAAP to

Account for operations (a) that are financed and operated in a manner
similar to private business enterprises where the intent of the governing
body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing
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goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed
or recovered primarily through users charges; or (b) where the govern-
ing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned,
expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital main-
tenance, public policy, management control, accountability, other
purposes.?

2. Internal Service Funds account for government activities that provide goods
or services principally to other departments within the same government and
at times to other governments. Some intragovernmental activities accounted
for in the internal service funds include

B A data-processing center that maintains financial records for other
departments

B A printing center that provides copy services to other departments within
the same government

B A repair shop that maintains and services equipments for various depart-
ments within the same government

GAARP permit that

Internal service funds may be used to report any activities that provide
goods or services to other funds, departments, or agencies of the pri-
mary government and its component units, or to other governments, on
a cost-reimbursement basis. Internal service funds should be used only
if the reporting entity is the predominant participant in the activity.
Otherwise, the activity should be reported in an enterprise fund.’

In contrast to governmental and proprietary funds, fiduciary funds are main-
tained to account for activities benefiting parties other than the government itself.
Fiduciary funds are used by a government to report assets held in trustee or agency
capacity for other entities and therefore cannot be used to support the reporting
government’s own programs. Fiduciary funds include: agency funds, investment
trust funds, private-purpose trust funds, and pension trust funds. The following is
a brief description of each of the fiduciary-type funds.

1. Agency Funds are used to account for resources held by a government in
purely custodial capacity. The resources deposited in agency funds are tran-
sient in nature; hence, all resources (assets) in the funds are equal to liabilities
because the assets of the fund will be remitted, at some point in time, to
the intended beneficiaries. Agency funds principally account for the receipt,
temporary investments, and remittance of resources to individuals, private
organizations, or other governments. Typical agency funds resources include,
among others, taxes collected by one government for the benefit of another
government entity, or refundable collateral and deposits (GASB Statement

34, paragraph 73).
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2. Investment trust funds are used to account for the combined resources of
separate governments in an investment portfolio for the benefit of the con-
tributors. Governments, at times, manage investment pools, which combine
other governments’ funds for the benefit of the participants. Investment Trust
Funds resemble the financial arrangement of mutual funds in the private sec-
tor. GAAP mandate that a government reports any external investment pool
that it sponsors as an investment trust fund.

3. Private-purpose trust funds account for trust funds arrangements other than
investments trust funds and pension trust funds. A private-purpose fund is
used to report a trust arrangement under which the principal and income
of the fund benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments
(GASB Statement 34, paragraph 72). An example of a private-purpose fund
is a scholarship trust fund.

4. Pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds are used to report resources
that are required to be held in trust for members and beneficiaries of defined
benefit pension plans, defined contribution plans, other postemployment
benefit plans, or employee benefit plans. These funds also provide income for
disability and health care related insurance for retirees and their beneficiaries
(GASB Statement 34, paragraph 70).

As discussed eatlier, governments use different funds, namely governmental, pro-
prietary, and fiduciary funds, to reflect different financial objectives. For instance,
when a government is involved in tax-supported activities, the use of governmental
funds to account for resources is appropriate. On the other hand, when the govern-
ment financial objectives are business-type activities, then the use of proprietary
funds is appropriate. This difference between governmental funds and proprietary
funds reflects the discrepancies in measurement focus and basis of accounting.

The measurement focus characterizes the types of transactions and events that
are reported in a fund’s financial performance. The measurement focus determines
whether a fund is to measure changes in total economic resources or changes in
current financial resources. The financial performance of a proprietary fund focuses
on changes in economic resources. A proprietary fund’s operating statement rec-
ognizes mainly transactions or events that increase or decrease the fund’s overall
economic resources during the period. In contrast, the operating statement of a
governmental fund aims attention at changes in current financial resources. Thus,
the operating statement of a governmental fund mainly recognizes transactions or
events of the period that increase or decrease the resources available for spending
in the near future.

The basis of accounting relates to when transactions and events are recognized
in a fund’s statements. It pertains to the timing of the recognition of transactions
and events. GAAP prescribe that a fund’s basis of accounting is joint to its mea-
surement focus. Proprietary funds focus on total economic resources and use the
accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting identifies increases
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and decreases in economic resources as a result of transactions or events. Under
the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned, regardless of
when the related cash is actually received or collected. Similarly, under the accrual
basis of accounting, expenses are recognized or recorded when a liability is incurred
regardless of when the related cash outflow takes place in the current or subsequent
period. Thus, the accrual basis of accounting recognizes transactions that have sub-
stantive economic impact or financial consequences in the period in which those
transactions occur, and focuses on events that may not involve current cash trans-
fers but have cash consequences in the future.

Governmental funds focus on current financial resources and use the modified
accrual basis of accounting. The modified accrual basis of accounting recognizes
increases and decreases in current financial resources. It is, in essence, an accrual
basis of accounting modified to suit governments’ fund accounting orientation.
Revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual, which means that revenues
are measurable and collection on receivables are made in the current period or
shortly thereafter (usually 60 days of year end) to be available to finance expendi-
tures of the current period or pay current liabilities.

The application of measurement focus and basis of accounting to fiduciary
funds is similar to the one used for proprietary funds. All trust funds make use of
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting,
in the same way as proprietary funds. Agency funds, however, are a bit atypical in
that they only report assets and liabilities. Accordingly, agency funds do not report
equity and do not utilize measurement focus, but do employ the accrual basis of
accounting to recognize assets such as receivables and liabilities such as payables.
Table 4.2 presents the basis of accounting and measurement focus of governmental,
proprietary, and fiduciary funds.

Some basic sets of financial statements are required for each of the main catego-
ries of funds. The listing of the fund statements is as follows:

The governmental-fund statements are

B Balance sheet

B Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances
The proprietary fund statements are

B Statement of net assets

B Statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets

B Statement of cash flows
The fiduciary fund statements are

B Statement of fiduciary net assets

B Statement of changes in fiduciary net assets

In summary, accounting for state and local governments make use of funds to
enhance and exhibit fiscal and operational accountability on the use of pub-
lic resources. Governmental accounting is essentially a fund-based reporting
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Table 4.2 Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus of Funds

Funds Basis of Accounting Measurement Focus

Governmental | Modified accrual basis | Current financial resources

Proprietary Full accrual basis Economic resources

Full accrual basis Economic resources

Fiduciary

accounting system and it is referred to as fund accounting. Fund accounting seg-
regates resources into independent fiscal and accounting entities known as funds.
The use of multiple funds to account for resources enhances control over resources
restricted to particular purposes or activities.

Governments maintain three categories of funds: governmental funds, pro-
prietary funds, and fiduciary funds. Governmental funds consist of the general
fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, capital project funds, and perma-
nent funds. Proprietary Funds account for resources resulting from government
business-type activities and consist of enterprise funds and internal service funds.
Fiduciary funds account for resources held by a government in a trustee or agency
capacity for other entities, and consist of agency funds, investment trust funds,
private-purpose funds, and pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds.

Table 4.3 Major Distinctions between Governmental and Proprietary
Funds

Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds

e Appropriated budget: recording of
the budget in some funds.
Emphasis of stewardship of
resources entrusted to public
officials.

¢ Flow of current financial resources.

Events and transactions that
increase or decrease spendable
resources.

Financial statements are reported
using the current financial
resources measurement focus. The
aim is to measure only the current
financial resources available to a
governmental unit. As a result, all
fixed assets and all long-term
liabilities are not accounted for in
the fund-based statements.

* Nonappropriated budget:
recording of a budget is not
required.

¢ Flow of economic resources.

e Events and transactions that impact
economic positions.

e Financial statements are reported
using the economic resources
measurement focus. The aim is to
measure all economic resources
available to a governmental unit. As
a result, all assets and all current/
long-term liabilities are included in
the fund financial statements.
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Major Distinctions between Governmental

Governmental Funds

Proprietary Funds

® The accounting equation is stated
as follows:

Assets = Liabilities + Fund Balance.

Fund balance (reserved or
unreserved) is the excess of assets
over liabilities or the net resources
available for spending.

The basis of accounting is the
modified accrual, which recognizes
revenues when available and
measurable to finance expenditures
of the current period. Revenues are
generally considered to be available
when they are collectible within the
current period or soon after the
end of the fiscal year to pay for
liabilities of the current year.

Expenditures are recognized when
the liability is incurred and the
liability is expected to be
extinguished using available
financial resources (exceptions
apply to special assessment debts,
claims and judgments, pensions,
compensated absences, and other
expenditures that are recorded
when due, rather than when
incurred).

There is neither depreciation nor
amortization recorded in the
fund-based statements.

® The accounting equation is stated
as follows:

Assets = Liabilities + Owners’ Equity.

Owners’ equity is the excess of
assets over liabilities, or the net
assets. Equity consists of capital and
net assets.

e The basis of accounting is the (full)
accrual, which recognizes revenues
when earned, and expenses are
recognized when incurred,
regardless of the timing of the
related cash flows.

e Depreciation and amortization are
recognized in the financial
statements.

Source: Adapted from the Governmental Accounting Standard Board Statements.
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5.1 Introduction: The Concept of a General Fund

The general fund is the primary operating fund of a governmental entity. Its pur-
pose is to account for all current financial resources except those that are required
to be accounted for in another fund (GASB, 2003, §1300.104, p. 17). In its Bulletin
No. 6 on Municipal Accounting Statements, the National Committee on Municipal
Accounting (1941) described the purpose of the general fund in a way that is still
relevant today:

The General Fund is the most important fund of the municipality, being
used to account for all revenues not flowing to other funds. It receives
a greater variety of revenues than any other fund; for example, general
property taxes, license and permits, fines and penalties, rents, charges
for current services, state-shared taxes, and many other revenues flow
into it. The fund also covers a wider range of activities than any other.

In fact, most of the current operations of the municipality are financed
by this fund. (NCMA, 1941, p. 121)
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Consequently, the vast majority of the routine transactions pertaining to the opera-
tions of general government will take place in the general fund. Alternative names
for the general fund include the general revenue fund, general operating fund, and
current fund; however, in common usage, the term general fund is preferred.

Traditionally, the general fund has been classified as an expendable fund, insofar
as the monies in the fund are available for expenditure for the purposes for which it
was created (Morey, 1927). Thus, “the resources of the General Fund may be appro-
priated and expended to finance the general administrative departments” (NCMA,
1936, p. 101). Expendable funds, historically, were further classified according to
the character of their incomes. Accordingly, the general fund has been classified as a
revenue fund, which is “used by practically every branch of government in which to
cover all revenues of a general character which may be used to meet the expense of
any governmental activity” (Morey, 1927, p. 24). It is a long-standing principle that
“all receipts which are not by law or contractual agreement applicable to specified
purposes should usually be placed in the General Fund” (NCMA, 1936, p. 101).

In the modern classification scheme, the general fund is classified as a govern-
mental-fund type, in that its operations are governmental in character (GASB, 2003,
§1300.103, p. 17). Other governmental-type funds are available to account for spe-
cific activities, and their use may be required under statute, contract, or Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles or GAAP (GASB, 2003, §1300.104—§1300.108,
§1300.115, pp. 17-18, 20). Typically, other governmental-type funds have specific
revenue sources, which may also include transfers from the General Fund. The
general fund is thus distinguished from other governmental-type funds (i.., special
revenue funds, debt service funds, capital projects funds, and permanent funds)
both in terms of its purpose to account for the activities of general government and
its primary revenue source being general revenues.

General fund financing of governmental expenditures has been subject to some
controversy in the literature on public finance. Economist and Nobel Laureate James
M. Buchanan, particularly, has been highly critical of the informational asymme-
tries that arise when the link between revenue raising and expenditure decision
making is broken (Buchanan, 1967, pp. 72—87). The gist of his argument is that
separate fiscal choices for each public goods program is less desirable than earmark-
ing revenues for specific purposes because taxpayers and voters may more clearly
perceive the linkages between what is paid in taxes and what is being purchased,
and what services are being provided by the governmental unit. He focuses much of
his attack on the very concept of a general fund. Presumably, the links between rev-
enues and expenditures would be more transparent, for instance, in the case of spe-
cial revenue funds, which account for specific revenues dedicated to specific public
purposes. From the standpoint of practical accounting, however, Buchanan’s argu-
ment loses much of its force where there are clear and consistently applied rules of
financial reporting, and disclosure of all material aspects of a government’s revenues
and program expenditures. Further, the recent implementation of GASB Statement
No. 34—with its emphasis on improved operational accountability in addition to
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the traditional emphasis on financial accountability—has gone far toward complet-
ing and improving the quality of financial information that is reported, enabling
greater overall accountability for the government’s financial stewardship (Kravchuk
and Voorhees, 2001).

5.2 Unique Aspects of the General Fund

There are several unique aspects of the general fund that help to define both its
character and role in governmental accounting and finance. First and foremost
is the point that the general fund is a governmental-type fund, which distinguishes
its accounting rules and procedures from those employed in the cases of proprietary
and fiduciary-type funds. Consequently, the accounting requirements that pertain
to governmental funds will also pertain to the general fund. The following is a sum-
mary of the unique aspects and characteristics of the general fund.

5.2.1 Number of General Funds

GAAP require that there be one, and only one, general fund (GASB, 2003,
§1300.116, p. 20). If, as a matter of law, contract, or policy, revenues need to be
accounted for in a separate fund, a special revenue fund, or in the case of revenues
generated from an investment portfolio that are devoted to a public purpose, a
permanent fund may be established. In any event, it is entirely conceivable that
a governmental entity whose operations are relatively simple and uncomplicated
may have and report only a general fund.

5.2.2 Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

Since the general fund is classified as a governmental-type fund, GAAP require that
the Current Financial Resources Measurement Focus and the Modified Accrual
Basis of Accounting be employed (GASB, 2003, §1600, p. 51). Operationally, this
means that “revenues and other governmental-fund financial resources received
(for example, bond issue proceeds) are recognized in the accounting period in
which they become susceptible to accrual—that is, when they become both mea-
surable and available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period” (GASB, 2003,
§1600.106, p. 54). In this connection, “available” means collectible within the fis-
cal current period, or shortly enough thereafter to satisfy any liabilities incurred in
the current fiscal period. It is a crucial point that the general fund focus is not on
earned revenues, as is the case with proprietary and fiduciary type funds. In general,
the government’s policies and criteria concerning the susceptibility to accrual of
specific revenue items should be applied consistently and disclosed in the Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the Financial Statements (GASB,
2003, §1600.108, p. 54).
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5.2.3 Revenue Recognition

As noted, the modified accrual basis of accounting is to be applied to general fund
accounting. Consequently, revenues are to be recognized “when measurable and
available.” As a practical matter, this requirement pertains mainly to “property
taxes, any regularly billed charges for routinely provided services, most of the grants
received from other governments, interfund transfers, and sales and income taxes,
where taxpayer liability is established and collectibility is assured or where losses
can be reasonably estimated” (GASB, 2003, §1600.107, p. 54). In the case of rev-
enues that are received from sources that have not been previously accrued, they are
recorded on the modified accrual basis. The length of time used to define “avail-
able” for purposes of revenue recognition should be disclosed in the Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the Financial Statements (GASB,
2003, §1600.106, p. 54).

5.2.4 Expenditure Recognition

Consistent with the current financial resources measurement focus, the measure-
ment focus of governmental-type funds is on expenditures, representing decreases in
fund assets, as opposed to expenses, which include noncash items, such as deprecia-
tion of capital assets (GASB, 2003, §1600.116-117, p. 56). Expenditures are recog-
nized in a fund when a liability is incurred that will be satisfied by the expenditure
of fund assets. Expenses—including the expenses associated with governmental
activities—are reported in the government-wide Statement of Activities.

5.2.5 General Fund Assets

In accordance with the current financial resources measurement focus, only current
financial assets are to be accounted for in the general fund, and reported on general
fund financial statements. This would include cash (i.e., currency, demand deposits,
and deposits in cash pools, if accessible), inventories, prepaid items, and any other
asset that will be converted into cash in the ordinary course of operations, such as
receivables, marketable securities and other investments, and assets that have been
acquired for resale in the current period, or shortly after its close (for example, fore-
closure properties, gifts of land, etc.). General capital assets, intangible assets, and
equity interest in joint ventures are #ot reported in the general fund but will appear
on the government-wide statement of net assets (see Figure 5.1).

5.2.6 General Fund Liabilities

Governmental fund liabilities are claims against fund current financial resources.
No governmental fund—including the general fund—may recognize longer-term
liabilities in the fund, including the unmatured principal and interest on long-term
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Balance Sheet Accounts

Assets (debit balances)
Cash
Investment in Pooled Cash
Taxes Receivable (net of uncollectibles)
Delinquent Taxes Receivable (net of uncollectibles)
Interest and Penalties Receivable on Delinquent Taxes
(net of uncollectibles)
Marketable Securities
Supplies Inventory
Due from Other Funds

Liabilities (credit balances)
Vouchers Payable
Wages and Salaries Payable
Due to Federal Government (usually for payroll taxes)
Due to State Government (usually for payroll taxes)
Due to Other Funds

Fund Balance (credit balances)
Reserved for Supplies Inventory
Reserved for Encumbrances
Unreserved:

Designated Fund Balance
Undesignated Fund Balance

Figure 5.1 General fund account structure (typical account names).

debt, capital lease obligations (until due and payable), noncancellable operating
lease obligations (until due and payable), claims and judgments (unless due and
payable), landfill closure and postclosure costs (unless due and payable), net pension
obligations, and other postemployment benefits obligations. The long-term liabili-
ties are to be recognized in the government-wide statement of net assets. In con-
formity with the current financial resources measurement focus, only short-term
(i.e., current) liabilities are accounted for in governmental funds (see Figure 5.1).
Liabilities that will be satisfied through the expenditure of general fund assets are
the subject of our present concern. If liabilities are held in another fund chat will be
satisfied by #hat fund’s assets, they are not to be recognized as liabilities of the gen-
eral fund. A pointed example would be the current interest and maturing principal
of long-term debt that is to be paid by a debt service fund.

GAAP require that the government accrue in a governmental fund almost
every expenditure and transfer that takes place as a fund liability in the period
that it is incurred (GASB, 2003, §1600.118, p. 56). An important exception is the
unmatured portion of long-term debt (i.e., the portion that is not yet due for pay-
ment). The same treatment is required for capital leases, compensated absences,
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claims and judgments, net pension obligations, special assessment debt for which
the government is obligated in some manner, and a variety of other long-term
commitments detailed in the pronouncements (GASB, 2003, §1500.103-104, pp.
42-43; §1600.118, p. 56). In general, it is considered sound financial manage-
ment to account for expenditures of current financial resources on debt service in
a debt service fund even if not legally required. However, debt service is sometimes
accounted for in the general fund, where the government’s debt service activities
are simple and uncomplicated, and where neither the applicable laws nor sound
financial management requires the use of a debt service fund. In that case, the same
standards and accounting principles that are required in a debt service fund should
be followed by the general fund.

5.2.7 Fund Equity and Fund Balance

Fund equity is the difference between fund assets and fund liabilities (Gauthier,
1991, 2005). The meaning of fund equity differs from that of private companies’
equity, however. The focus of the general fund, like that of all funds classified as
governmental-type funds, is on financial resources that may be expended or subject
to appropriation by the appropriate legislative body. Since capital assets, capital
leases, and intangibles are excluded, a large portion of fund equity may be regarded
as “available for appropriation and expenditure.” However, not all of the assets
reported in the general fund are equally expendable or appropriable (Gauthier,
1991, p. 12). “Reserved fund balance” indicates that portion of total fund equity
that is not expendable or subject to appropriation. Reservations of the general fund
equity typically arise from legal restrictions, contract, unexpended encumbrances
(i.e., for spending commitments made but not yet completed), prepaid items, and
inventories. (See the fund balance accounts detailed in Figure 5.1.) Reservations of
Fund Balance should never have negative balances.

The legislative body can also designate or “earmark” a portion of fund assets
for a specific purpose, such as contingency funds and/or capital replacement. Such
earmarkings are usually termed “Designated fund equity.” Designations are never
negative, and cannot exceed the total unreserved fund balance. Designations are
self-imposed, and are therefore to be regarded as expressions of the government’s
preferences only. Consequently, they remain part of the expendable or appropriable
fund resources. Strictly speaking, therefore, only the unreserved fund balance is
available for appropriation.

5.2.8 Major Fund Focus

GAAP require that “the focus of governmental ... fund financial statements is on
major funds” (GASB, 2003, §2200.149, p. 152). The general fund is always to be
reported as a major fund, whether or not it meets the 5% and 10% criteria that
define a fund as a major fund (GASB, 2003, §2200.150, p. 153).
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Debit Balances:
Estimated Revenues [Note: control account; detailed revenue
budget entries are made in the Revenues Subsidiary Ledger.]
Estimated Other Financing Sources
Encumbrances [Note: control account; detailed entries are made
in the Encumbrances Subsidiary Ledger.]

Credit Balances:
Appropriations [Note: control account; detailed entries are made
in the Encumbrances Subsidiary Ledger.]
Estimated Other Financing Uses
Reserve for Encumbrances

Figure 5.2 General fund budgetary accounts.

5.2.9 Budgetary Integration

GAAP require that the operating budget be integrated directly into the accounts of
any fund for which there is a legally adopted budget (GASB, 2003, §1700.118-119,
p- 69). In the case of the general fund, this means that the governmental entity’s
operating budget normally is posted directly to it, either at the beginning of the fis-
cal year or upon its adoption, if that occurs after the start of the fiscal year. Further
changes to the budget also must be reflected in the budgetary account balances of
the general fund. This is so that budgetary control may be maintained. Budgetary
integration also facilitates the creation of the required budgetary comparisons at the
end of the fiscal year (GASB, 2003, §2400.102-103, pp. 296-297). The budgetary
accounts, like the nominal accounts, are eliminated in the year-end closing process.
Figure 5.2 provides a summary of some general fund budgetary accounts that are
generally employed.

5.2.10 Encumbrances and Allotments

It has long been recognized that an encumbrance accounting system militates
against overexpending appropriations (NCMA, 1941, p. 122). Encumbrance account-
ing and reporting are widely regarded as essential attributes of effective cash plan-
ning and control (GASB, 2003, §1700.128, pp. 71-72). Encumbrances essentially
are entries made in order to set aside, or “reserve,” funds that have been committed
to payment for purchase orders and/or contracts for goods and services that have
not been received or performed, but which are expected within the near future.
Encumbrances are reflected in the general fund balance sheet as a reservation of
the fund equity.

Allotments are also a cash control device but one that allocates funds to spending
units on a periodic basis, according to the policies and preferences of the legislature
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and/or the chief executive officer. Typically, either quarterly or monthly allotments
are made, usually in times of fiscal retrenchment. Allotments may be entered in
the ledger accounts or not. If they are recorded in the ledger, then allotments and
unexpended allotments will be closed to fund balance at year’s end, along with
expenditure accounts.

5.3 General Fund Account Classifications

5.3.1 Estimated Revenues, Revenues, and Other
Financing Sources

Revenues of the general fund are reported in the general fund financial state-
ments and in those of no other fund, in order to avoid double-counting revenues.
Governmental revenues are properly classified by fund and source. Classification by
fund denotes which fiscal and accounting entity is affected. Revenue source clas-
sifications should be in sufficient detail to be meaningful to readers of the financial
statements. The major source categories for which estimated revenues and those
commonly reported include taxes, special assessments, licenses and permits, inter-
governmental revenues, charges for services, fines and forfeitures, and miscella-
neous revenues. The source categories may be further subcategorized according to
the preferences of the government. For instance, taxes may be reported in subcat-
egories for property taxes, income taxes, and excises. The adopted budget for the
general fund should include all of the revenues sources that will finance the opera-
tions of the fund. Consequently, in order to facilitate budgetary control, the bud-
getary and nominal accounts of the general fund will employ precisely the same
revenue classifications.

Revenues are to be carefully distinguished from other financing sources. These
represent either transfers to the general fund from other funds, interfund loans, or
the proceeds of long-term borrowing. Such items are not revenues, although they
do have the effect of increasing the general fund’s fund balance when the accounts
are closed. Other financing sources are recognized on the modified accrual basis
when they are measurable and available to pay current obligations (see Figure 5.3).

A brief word is in order about the classifications of governmental revenues on
the government-wide financial statements and their relation to revenues recognized
in the general fund. Revenues are classified on the government-wide statement of
activities as either “general revenues” or, when derived from the activities connected
with some specific program, as “program revenues.” Three categories of program
revenues are reported: charges for services, operating program revenues, and capital
program revenues.

Grants, contributions, and other nonexchange revenues restricted by other gov-
ernments, organizations, or individuals for the operating purposes of a particular
function or program should be reported separately from those restricted for capital
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Credit Balances:
Revenues [Note: control account; detailed revenue entries are
made in the Revenues Subsidiary Ledger.]
Proceeds of Bonds (if any)
Other Financing Sources - Transfers In

Debit Balances:
Expenditures [Note: control account; detailed expenditure entries
are made in the Expenditures Subsidiary Ledger.]
Other Financing Uses — Transfers Out

Figure 5.3 General fund operating statement accounts.

purposes. Multipurpose grants and contributions must be reported as program
revenues if the amounts restricted are identified in the grant award or grant appli-
cation. Otherwise, multipurpose grants and contributions should be reported as
general revenue. Earnings from endowments, permanent funds, or other invest-
ments that are restricted for a specific purpose should be reported as program
revenue. Unrestricted earnings from such sources should be reported as general
revenue. All taxes—including those that have been earmarked by law for a specific
purpose—should be reported as general revenue.

Note that the general fund operating statement makes no explicit distinction
between general revenues and program revenues. However, to the extent that oper-
ating program revenues and capital program revenues may be derived from grants,
contributions, and other sources that are expended through the general fund, these
data must be captured when the accompanying revenues are recognized in the gen-
eral fund (and other funds) for subsequent reporting in the statement of activities.
A reconciliation statement is required, detailing the differences between the totals
reported in the general fund operating statement and the totals reported in the
government-wide statement of activities.

5.3.2 Appropriations, Expenditures, and Other Financing Uses

In order to promote budgetary control, appropriations and expenditures generally
are classified by fund, function (or program), department or unit, activity, character,
and object. Classification by fund denotes the fiscal and accounting entity that is
affected. Classification by function or program assists in budgeting resources to carry
out the major service activities of the government and in capturing data required
to be reported on the government-wide statement of activities. Classification by
department or unit fixes responsibility for spending, and therefore serves to pin-
point accountability for resource management. Classification by activity assists in
assessing the government’s efficiency of performance in major areas of activity (such
as parks and recreation—swimming pool). According to GASB, character refers
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to the fiscal period that benefits from a specific expenditure. For the general fund,
classification by character thus classifies appropriations and expenditures as current
expenditures, capital spending or current-period debt service, and intergovernmen-
tal outlays. (Note that the capital spending classification is not typically used in the
general fund, for the obvious reason that such expenditures generally are accounted
for in a capirtal projects fund.) Classification by object assists in determining the
amounts that are expended on specific items, such as personal services, travel, sup-
plies, etc.

Other financing uses are strictly distinguished from appropriations and expen-
ditures. In the case of the general fund, other financing uses refers to transfers to
other funds. These are 7oz expenditures as these transfers have not been expended
and therefore have not left the government. However, like expenditures, they will
decrease the general fund’s fund balance when the accounts are closed. Other
financing uses are recognized on the modified accrual basis when incurred if they
are expected to be repaid from currently available resources of the general fund.

As with general fund revenues, a word is in order about the relation of general
fund expenditures to government-wide expenses. The focus of the government-wide
statement of activities is on expenses rather than expenditures. Insofar as the
government-wide financial statements are prepared on the full accrual basis of
accounting, expense account balances on the statement of activities will reflect
accruals for noncash charges and other estimated amounts for depreciation of capi-
tal assets, amortization of prepaid items, and bond premium or discount, etc. A
reconciliation statement or schedule is required, detailing the differences between
the totals reported in the general fund operating statement and the totals reported
in the government-wide statement of activities, and the reasons for the differ-
ences. (See the following text.) Records on certain general fund transactions and
other information must be maintained in sufficient detail to enable the prepara-
tion of the government-wide financial statements in good order and the required
reconciliations.

5.4 Budgetary Integration

The purpose of budgetary integration is to enhance financial planning, control, and
performance evaluation (GASB, 2003, §1700.101, p. 65). Consequently, GASB has
adopted a three-part Statement of Principle for Budgeting and Budgetary Control
(GASB, 2003, $1700, p. 65; $2400.102-104, pp. 296-297):

1. Every governmental unit should adopt an annual budget.

2. The appropriate basis for budgetary control is the accounting system.

3. Budgetary comparison schedules should be included for all governmental
units that have annually adopted budgets.
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Consequently, the budgets of all funds for which there are legally adopted budgets
must be integrated directly into the accounts of those funds.

Recording and revising the annual budget is a straightforward procedure.
Budgeted revenues are debited to an estimated revenues control account, with a
corresponding credit to an appropriations control account. The revenue and expen-
ditures subsidiary ledgers would contain the necessary details, with revenue source
(property taxes, licenses and permits, fines and forfeitures, etc.) and appropriations
by function of government (general government, public safety, parks and recreation,
etc.). If there is any planned operating surplus or deficit, this would be reflected in
the entry as a debit to fund balance (where appropriations exceed estimated rev-
enues) or a credit to fund balance (estimated revenues exceed appropriations). The
following is representative of an initial budget entry for a government that plans to
spend down part of its unreserved fund balance (all amounts are assumed):

To record the original
adopted budget: Debit Credit

Estimated revenues 563,647,692

Fund balance 30,951,698

Appropriations 594,599,390

Assuming that the government subsequently determines that it will collect less rev-
enue and expend more than the original budget called for, the entry to revise the
budget might be recorded as follows (again, the amounts are assumed):

Debit Credit
Fund balance 21,337,002
Estimated revenues 1,230,474
Appropriations 20,106,528

5.5 Levying and Collecting General Taxes
and Other Revenues

Under GASB standards, property tax revenues are classified as “Imposed
Nonexchange Revenues” (GASB, 2003, §P70.106, p. 686). As such, the receivable
for property taxes is to be debited when there is an enforceable claim. Under the
modified accrual basis of accounting, property taxes are not subject to accrual until
they are “measurable and available” (GASB, 2003, §P70.104, p. 686). As a practi-
cal mactter, this will mean that property taxes are not accrued until they are levied.
The levy establishes a legal obligation to pay on the part of property owners. The
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government levying the taxes will establish a receivable as of the levy, along with
an estimate of uncollectible taxes, with the balance credited to an appropriately
titled revenue account. The estimate of uncollectible taxes generally is based on the
government’s historical experience. The sum credited to estimate uncollectible taxes
ought to approximate the amount that the government believes will remain uncol-
lected at the end of the fiscal year. The accounting for the levy is straightforward.
For example:

To record the semiannual property

tax levy: Debit Credit
Taxes receivable —current 441,000,000

Estimated uncollectible current taxes 17,640,000
Unalloted appropriations 423,360,000

Property tax collections are simply debited to cash, with an accompanying credit
to Taxes Receivable—Current. During the year-end adjustments process, current
property taxes that remain uncollected will be reclassified as Taxes Receivable—
Delinquent, and Estimated Uncollectible Current Taxes reclassified as Estimated
Uncollectible Delinquent Taxes. Further, interest and penalties on delinquent taxes
will also be subject to accrual at the fiscal year-end. Finally, all delinquent taxes
receivable that the government believes it is not reasonable to expect to be paid
should be written off the books, along with any accompanying interest and penalties
due on them. Note that this does not relieve the taxpayer of the obligation to pay;
rather, in the interests of conservatism, it recognizes that receipt of the taxes, inter-
est, and penalties to cover the government’s current obligations is highly unlikely.

5.6 Encumbrances and Allotments

5.6.1 Encumbrances as an Instrument for Cash
and Budget Control

As previously noted, an encumbrance accounting system is an essential device for
the prevention of overspending general fund appropriations. In operating a system
of encumbrances, it is useful to distinguish between appropriations, expenditures,
encumbrances, and vouchers. When the budget is legally adopted, an “appropria-
tion” is an authorization to incur liabilities on behalf of the governmental unit, for
purposes specified in the budget. An appropriation is properly considered to be
“expended” when the previously authorized liabilities have been incurred (but not
necessarily paid). Encumbrances are not liabilities, but are, rather, potential liabili-
ties. When a purchase order or contract is issued, for control purposes, a portion of
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Purchase Orders or
Contracts Issued

Goods or Services
and Invoice Received

Appropriation Encumbrance Expenditure

Vouchers Payable Cash (Out)

Invoices Paid as Authorized
by Payment Voucher(s)

Figure 5.4 Tracing the flow of funds through the control accounts.

the appropriation is “set aside” (as it were) in order to remove the necessary funds
from spending. Until an invoice is actually received, the encumbrance represents
an estimate of the liability that will have to be paid. A voucher is a control document
that provides evidence that a transaction is proper (usually, one or more authorized
signatures are required). A voucher payable is a liability for goods and services that
have been approved for payment on the basis of a payment voucher. Figure 5.4
presents a schematic of the flow of funds through the expenditure control accounts
from appropriations through final payment.

The following are illustrative general fund journal entries (amounts are assumed):

Debit Credit

To record the issuance of purchase orders:

Encumbrances 67,300

Reserve for encumbrances 67,300

To record receipt of goods (partial shipment):

Reserve for encumbrances 40,200*

Encumbrances 40,200
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Debit Credit

To record liability to vendors:

Expenditures 41,000*

Vouchers payable 41,000

To record payment to vendors:

Vouchers payable 41,000

Cash 41,000

The $800 difference* between the amount reserved and the amount payable is due
to the liability being recorded at actual cost, whereas the reserve for encumbrances
was recorded at its then estimated cost. No accounting difficulties are caused by this
difference as long as goods or services are received in the same fiscal year as they
were ordered. In the event that goods and services are received after the close of the
fiscal year, they are charged against the subsequent year’s appropriations. Note that
this is not a problem, provided that the amount is not material in magnitude.

Any balance remaining in the reserve for encumbrances account at fiscal year-
end will appear in the fund equity section of the general fund balance sheet as a
reservation of fund balance.

5.6.2 Allotments as a Budgetary Control Device

Allotments divide an annual appropriation into portions such as quarterly or
monthly portions, making the portions available to spending departments and
agencies for expenditure or encumbrance during the allotment period. Accounting
for allotments is straightforward. When the initial budget entry is made, the credit
is made to Unalloted Appropriations, instead of Appropriations, as follows:

To record the original

adopted budget: Debit Credit
Estimated revenues 563,647,692

Fund balance 30,951,698

Unalloted appropriations 594,599,390

Suppose now that some $50 million is allotted for the first month of the fiscal year.
The following entry reflects the allotment:
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Debit Credit

Unalloted appropriations | 50,000,000

Allotments 50,000,000

In the year-end closing process, all unexpended allotments and unalloted appro-
priations, along with expenditures and encumbrances, are closed to Fund Balance.

5.7 Interfund Activity

Interfund transactions involve purchases of goods and service from, and on behalf
of, other funds, interfund loans, transfers, and reimbursements. See Figure 5.5 for
a summary of types of interfund activity.

5.7.1 Interfund Exchange Transactions

It is a fairly common occurrence for departments accounted for in the general fund
to make purchases on behalf of other funds, to purchase services from other funds,
and/or to provide other funds with services directly. An example of an interfund
purchase would be a city water utility providing water and (perhaps) sewer ser-
vice to the city’s offices and other facilities on a cost-reimbursement basis. GASB
has termed such internal exchange transactions “Interfund Services Provided and
Used” (GASB, 2003, §1800.102.a(2), p. 77). Transactions between governmental
funds generally are recognized as expenditures when a liability is credited (Due to
Other Funds, or some other appropriately descriptive name). The fund receiving

Interfund
Activity
|
[ 1
Reciprocal Non-Reciprocal
Interfund Interfund
Activity Activity
| |
[ ] [ ]
Interfund Internal Reimbursements Interfund
Loans Exchange Transfers
Transactions
o= e 1
Current Non-Current Pre-GASB 34 Pre-GASB 34
Interfund Intefund Operating Residual
Loans Loans Transfers Equity
In(Out) Transfers

Figure 5.5 Classification of interfund activity under current GASB standards.



The General Fund m 177

the payment may recognize it as a revenue item. It should be stressed that this is the
only form of interfund transfer that will result in revenue recognition on the part of
the fund providing the service. The general rule is that revenue be recognized only
once, and that too on the part of the fund that initially collects the revenue (GASB,
2003, $1800.102, p. 77).

Government-owned and operated utilities customarily make some contribution
to the municipal government in the form of payments “in lieu of taxes,” generally in
recognition of the police and fire protection that the government affords the utility.
As a matter of municipal policy, the amount remitted may or may not approximate
the fair value of the services provided. Nonetheless, such payments would be deb-
ited as a receivable to the general fund and credited to Revenues—Payments in Lieu
of Taxes (or some other appropriately named account).

5.7.2 Interfund Loans

Interfund loans are those made from one fund to another with the intent that
they will be repaid (GASB, 2003, §1800.102.a(1), pp. 76—77). If repayment is not
expected “within a reasonable time,” then the interfund loan balance should be
reduced, with the amount that is not expected to be repaid reported as an interfund
transfer from/to the fund that made/received the loan. Interfund loans are to be
classified as Interfund Loans Receivable—Current (or Payable—Current), if the
intent is to repay the loan during the current year (or shortly thereafter). Otherwise,
they are to be classified as noncurrent items.

5.7.3 Interfund Transfers

Nonreciprocal interfund transfers of both operating transfer and equity transfers
are classified as Interfund Transfers under current GASB standards (GASB, 2003,
§1800.102.b(1), p. 77). Under the financial reporting model that prevailed prior to
the issuance of GASB Statement No. 34, interfund transfers were reported as either
Operating Transfers or Residual Equity Transfers. Interfund transfers take place
without an equivalent flow of assets back to the transferring fund, neither with any
expectation of repayment. They are reported on the financial statements as Other
Financing Uses by the fund making the transfer, and as Other Financing Sources
by the receiving fund.

A typical example of an operating transfer is the payment of debt service by a
debt service fund using a portion of general tax revenues collected by the general
fund. In keeping with the general rule that revenues be recognized only once (in
the fund that collects them), in this instance the general fund recognizes an other
financing use for the transfer to the debt service fund, which recognizes the trans-
fer as an other financing source. A fairly common example of an equity transfer
concerns the permanent transfer of “seed money” from the general fund to a new
capital projects fund in order to initiate the acquisition or construction of a capital
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asset, or the transfer of residual balances from a capital projects fund that has com-
pleted its work to another fund. [/Note: The rule is that the residual monies be
transferred to the general fund unless the government has issued debt to finance
the project, in which case the residual equity would be transferred to the debt ser-
vice fund that will service the debt.]

5.7.4 Interfund Reimbursements

Reimbursements are “repayments from the funds responsible for particular
expenditures or expenses to the funds that initially paid for them” (GASB, 2003,
§1800.102.b(2), p. 77). In this instance, one fund records an expenditure for items
that should have been recorded as expenditures of the fund that is responsible for
those kinds of expenditures. When that happens, the fund receiving the reimburse-
ment should record it as a reduction (credit) of its expenditures (or expenses), with
a corresponding debit to cash. Reimbursements are not to be reported in the finan-
cial statements.

5.7.5 Intra- and Interactivity Transactions

These types of transactions concern what and how interfund transfers are reported
on the government-wide financial statemencts. Intra-activity transactions are those
that take place between two governmental-type funds (including internal service
funds), or between two enterprise funds. Neither governmental activities nor busi-
ness-type activities are affected at the governmenc-wide level of reporting, so there
are no requirements for additional entries or record-keeping in the general fund
for these transactions. However, in the case of interactivity transactions, interfund
loans or other transactions take place between a governmental fund (including
internal service funds) and an enterprise fund. In this case, additional entries and
record-keeping become necessary, insofar as internal balances are reported in the
government-wide statement of net assets, and transfers in the statement of activities

(GASB, 2003, §1800.103-105, pp. 77-78).

5.7.6 Intra-Entity Transactions

Intra-entity transactions are exchange or nonexchange transactions between the
primary government and its component units (GASB, 2003, §1800.106, p. 78). To
the extent that any such transaction involves the primary government and a blended
component unit of the reporting entity, these transfers should be reclassified as
internal interfund activity of the reporting entity. However, resources that flow
between a fund of the primary government and its discretely reported component
units should be treated as if they were transactions with an external entity and rec-
ognized as revenues or expenses on the government-wide statement of activities. In
either case, if such transactions occur between the general fund and any component
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unit of the reporting entity, records should be kept in sufficient detail to permit
accurate reporting of the transaction in the government-wide financial statements.

5.8 General Fund Financial Statements

In contrast to the government-wide financial statements, which report on the gov-
ernment’s operational accountability, the general fund financial statements—Ilike
all governmental fund financial statements—report on the government’s fiscal
accountability (GASB, 1999). The focus of general fund reporting is therefore on
the flow and use of current financial resources employed in general government
operations. Therefore, the general fund statements report on cash and near-cash
assets used to satisfy the current liabilities of general government (GASB, 2003,
§2200.152-160, pp. 153-156).

5.8.1 General Fund Operating Statement

The operating statement is formally entitled the “Statement of Revenues, Expendi-
tures and Changes in Fund Balances,” and must be labeled as such when officially
published (GASB, 2003, §2200.152, p. 153). The statement reports the follow-
ing information, in the format and sequence indicated (GASB, 2003, §2200.156,
p. 154):

Revenues (in detail)
Expenditures (in detail)
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures
Other financing sources and uses, including transfers (in detail)
Special and extraordinary items (in detail)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances—Dbeginning of period (including reserved and unreserved amounts)

Fund balances—end of period

In accordance with the emphasis on major funds, the operating statement will
include columns for all major governmental funds, a single column for nonmajor
funds, and a total column. Consequently, the general fund will be reported on the
same set of financial statements as all governmental-type funds. As an example,
Figure 5.6 provides the governmental funds operating statement for the City of San
Antonio, Texas, for the year ended September 30, 2005.

5.8.2 General Fund Balance Sheet

The governmental funds balance sheet reports information about the current finan-
cial resources for each major governmental fund and nonmajor governmental funds
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——— CITY OF SAN ANTONID, TEXAS —0n

VENL
ND!
(In Thousands)
MAJOR FUNDS
CONVENTION
CENTER
HOTEL NONMAJOR
DEBT FINANCE GOVERMNMENTAL GOVERNMENTAL
GENERAL SERVICE CORPORATION FUNDS FUNDS
Bevenges
Taxes:
Property Taxes H 171,229 3 93,923 3 - 5 1338 - 271,450
General Sales and Use Taxes 162,786 4,546 167,332
Selective Sales and Use Taxes 4473 4471
Giross Receipts Dusiness Taxes 627 26274
Occupancy Taxes 31717 L7
Penalties and Interest on Delinquent Taxes 2,268 1137 2 3434
Licentes and Permits 0716 20,716
Intergovernmental 3,085 157,196 190,251
Revenues from Utiities 221,775 21,7175
Charges for Services 33,622 642 107,264
Fines and Fesfeits 12025 12,025
Miscellancous 11,841 16 14,991 26,848
Investment Eamings 2445 3570 202 10,107 18,544
In-Kind Contributions: pik e 24572
Tatal Revenes — ew 103,050 T 68438 L137,013
E .
Current
Cieneral Government 64,020 5312 69,332
Public Safety 402,544 17,080 419634
Public Works 10478 75,462 85540
Health Services 13,995 4538 88531
Sanitation 576 e 2,763
Welfare 19,757 111,258 131,012
Culare and Recreation 63,010 18,578 79,585
Convention and Toarism 483185 48315
Congervation 2 2
Urban Redevelopment and Housing 25,557 25,357
Economic Development and Opportanity 1392 11,948 16337
Capital Projects 36,963 109,887 146,850
Drebe Service:
Principal Retirement 57,581 57,561
Inberest 60,202 60,202
Issuance Costs 1,027 1,027
Total Expenditures _ 50,772 1TE810 36,963 456,131 1231676
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Orver_(Linder) Expenditures 91,737 (14,780} (34.925) (127.693) (85.661)
ing §
Long-Term Debt Lisued 26,010 106,319 192,329
Paymenes to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent (93,163) (93,163)
Amocunts from Notes and Loans 208,145 2,462 210,607
Premium on Long-term Debt 6,914 66 5924 12,904
Transfers In 4,12 16,423 129276 159,821
Transfers Out (85.956) (74,635) (160,611}
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) [EEE) 16, 184 TORIT1 169,326 21887
iy nge in 19903 1,404 173,286 41,633 236,226
Fund Balances, Ociober | 93.510 3,723 354,498 536,728
1 3 2
Fund Balances, September 30 s 118413 § 85127 § 173286 § 30618 5 772954

The accompanying notes are an imlegral part of these basic financial statements.

Figure 5.6 Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances.

in the aggregate (GASB, 2003, §2200.153, p. 153). Assets, liabilities, and fund
balances are presented in a balance sheet formart, as in the recent balance sheet for
the City of San Antonio, Texas, detailed in Figure 5.7. Reserved and unreserved
fund balances are to be reported in a segregated fashion (GASB, 2003, §2200.154,
p. 154). Reserved fund balances should be reported in sufficient detail and labeled

so as to disclose the purpose of the reservation.
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e CITY OF SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS —0o

NCE SHE
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AS OF SEFTEMBER 30, 2005
{In Thousands)
MAJOR FUNDS
CONVENTION
CENTER
HOTEL TOTAL
DEBT FINANCE GOVERNMENTAL
GENERAL SERVICE CORPORATION FUNDS
Assely
Cash and Cash Equivalents 5 1928 s 21,946 1 177,355 5 36,817 5 233,046
Investments. 26,057 60,080 395,030 481,167
Receivables 103,548 9416 466 50,683 164,513
Allowance for Uncallectibles (1980 {937 (19.591) (40,75%)
Prepaid Expendituses 2 2
Due from Other Funds 44,687 1538 2,145 62375
Due from Other Gevemmental Agenches LE] 54,698 54,781
Maserials and Supplies, at Cost amnz Lis0 3502
Deposits 261 261
Total Assets B 159590 % E 171821 § S8 3 570,252
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Linkuilities.
Vouchers Payable 5 4,000 5 . 1 4,535 5 4,901 5 13,436
Accounts Payable - Other 4620 41,456 46,086
Accrued Payrall 8574 5,086 14,030
Accrued Leave Payable 5,081 1,261 6262
Unearned Revenues 15,888 6917 19073 42878
Due Tor
Other Funds 1654 68,312 70,176
Onber Governmental Agencies 4,440 4,440
Total Liahilities 41,177 8,917 4,535 144,709 197,338
Fund Balances
Reserved
Reserved for Encumbrances 8209 3558 9,067 110974
Reserved for Materials and Supplies, a1 Cost a2 153 3565
Reserved for Prepaid Expenditures 2 2
Reserved for Debe Service 85127 85,127
Unreserved: °
Designated 31,950 31,950
Designated: Special Revenue Funds 6,085 6,085
Designated: Permanent Funds 2828 2828
Undesignaed 75,540 75,540
Lindesignated: Special Revenue Furds 85,684 85644
Undesignated: Capstal Projects Funds 169,588 191,532 361,120
Undesignated: Permanent Funds 10,122 10,122
Total Fund Balances [EXIE] 85,037 173,086 396,138 TIa9H
o~ 7 - P
Total Lighilities and Fund Balances 5 ]'2_52' 5 62,044 5 177,821 5 $40,837 3 570,292

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial siatements.

Figure 5.7 Balance sheet.

5.8.3 Statement of Cash Flows

A statement of cash flows is not required for the general fund.

5.8.4 Required Reconciliation Statements/Schedules

In order to avoid confusion concerning financial and operating results being
reported on two different bases of accounting—full accrual accounting at the
government-wide level and modified accrual accounting for governmental funds—
GASB standards require that reconciliations be provided either at the bottom of the
fund financial statements or in accompanying schedules (GASB, 2003, §2200.160,
p. 155). If presented as accompanying schedules, they are to be designated as sched-
ules and not as statements.
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The items that typically need to be reconciled are specified in the standard,
including revenues reported on the accrual basis, depreciation expense versus capital
expenditures, long-term debt reported as a liability instead of as an other financing
source, and expenses reported at the government-wide level on the accrual basis.
Figures 5.8 and 5.9 present the required reconciliations for the City of San Antonio,
Texas, for both the governmental funds operating statement and balance sheet.

5.8.5 Required Budgetary Comparisons

Budgetary comparison information must include the original adopted budget,
final appropriated budget (including the effects of all amendments that may have
occurred during the fiscal year), and actual inflows, outflows, and balances on the
government’s budgetary basis (GASB, 2003, §2400.102, p. 296). No other com-
parisons are to be presented. See Figure 5.10 for a representative budgetary compar-
ison schedule for the City of San Antonio, Texas. A separate column also may
be included to report the variance between actual and final budgeted amounts,
but is not required. The use of value-laden terms to label the variances (such as
“favorable,” “positive,” “unfavorable,” and “negative”) is discouraged. Users of the
financial statements are to make their own determinations as to the significance
of reported variances. The actual amounts are reported on the basis of accounting
used in executing the budget.

All governments are encouraged to present their budgetary comparison infor-
mation as schedules as part of their required supplementary information (RSI);
however, governments have the option of reporting budgetary comparison infor-
mation in the form of a statement as part of the basic financial statements (GASB,
2003, §2400.102, n. 1, p. 296). When presented as a basic financial statement,
the budgetary comparison is denoted as a “Statement.” This presentation places the
budgetary comparison within the scope of the independent audit. When presented
as RSI, the budgetary comparison is denoted as a “Schedule,” which is subject to
limited test procedures by the independent auditor.

Notes to the RSI should disclose the budgetary basis of accounting for all individ-
ual funds presented in a budgetary comparison statement (GASB, 2003, §2400.103,
p- 297). GASB notes that there will often be few differences between the budgetary
basis of accounting and the modified accrual basis (GASB, 2003, §1700.116, p. 68).
Where the legally prescribed basis for budgetary accounting differs from GAAP,
then supplementary records should be kept in order to permit the preparation of
financial statements on a GAAP basis (GASB, 2003, §1700.117, p. 69).

5.8.6 Interim Financial Reports

Interim financial statements are considered desirable cash and budget control
devices. Administrators and legislators have the greatest need for interim—quar-
terly or monthly—reports (GASB, 2003, §2900.101-104, p. 383). Interim financial
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——— CITY OF SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS ——

N L F T V]
N N FUND BALANCES OF GOVE
TOTH TEMENT O] Vv
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005
{In Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Net change in Fund Bal - Total G 1 Funds s 236,226
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expendil H \in the §
of Activities, the cost of those assets is depreciated over their esti d useful lives

and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays
exceed depreciation in the current period.

Donated capital assets 364

Expenditures for Capital Assets 99,821

Less Current Year Deletions (201)

Less Current Year Depreciation (84,483) 15,501
R in the of Activities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported as revenues in the funds. (11,194)

Bond proceeds provide current fi to gover 1 funds, but issuing

debt increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets. Repayment of bond

principal is an expenditure in the g 1 funds, but the repayment reduces long:
term liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets. This is the amount by which proceeds
exceeded repayments (See Footnote 14).

Bond and Loan Amounts (440,525)

Payments to Escrow Agent 93,163

Amortization of Bond Premiums and Deferred Charges (Net) 14,721

Principal Payments 57,581 (275,060)

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and, thercfore, are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds (See Footnote 14). (9,950)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of certain activities
to individual funds. The net (expense) of the internal service funds is reported with

governmental activities. 13,166
Change in Net Assets of Governmental Activities 5 (31,351)
. —————

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

Figure 5.8 Reconciliation of the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
in fund balances.
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—— CITY OF SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS ——

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

AS OF BE
{In Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets are different because:

Fund Balances - Total Govemmental Funds 3 772,954
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not fi | and, therefore, are not
reported in the govemmental funds.
Governmental capital assets:
Land and Land Improvements 1,268,142
Construction In Progress 614,763
Buildings 396,373
Improvements 106,838
Infrastructure Assets 2,054,838
Machinery and Equipment 96,481
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,514,558)
Total Capital Assets 3,022,877

Some of the City's revenues will be collected after year-end but are not available soon enough o
pay for the current periods expenditures and, therefore, are not reparted in the governmental
funds (See Footnote 14). 23958

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of certain activities to
individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are reported with
86 | activities in the of Net Assets. 50,741

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds (See Footnote 14).

Governmental Bonds Payable ~ (1,438372)
Premium on Bonds (49,799)
Deferred Amount on Refunding 13,839

Leases Payable (6,079)
Amounts received from notes & loans (1,369)
Unamortized Debt Expense 22,623

Accrued Interest (11,960)
Arbitrage Rebate (1,688)
Compensated Absences (121,132)

(1,593,937)
Met assets of Governmental Activities 5 2,276,593

The sccompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

Figure 5.9 Reconciliation of the balance sheet to the statement of net assets.

statements resemble the official annual statements in most important respects but
also will contain items that do not appear in the annual statements. For instance,
an interim balance sheet will report both proprietary and budgetary accounts, sum-
ming to Total Assets and Resources on the left-hand side. Resources include esti-
mated revenues less revenues collected to date. On the right-hand side, the interim
balance sheet fund equity section also will report appropriations less expenditures to
date, resulting in the remaining available appropriations. Further, the term Available
Jfor Appropriation will sometimes be used as the title for the equity section of the bal-
ance sheet instead of fund balance. There usually is no interim operating statement,
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——— CITY OF SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS ——

GENERAL FUND
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005
2005
VARIANCE WITH
FINAL BUDGET
BUDGETED AMOUNTS POSITIVE
ORIGINAL FINAL ACTUAL (NEGATIVE)
Resources (nflowsk:
Tazes $ 350282729 5 3022 5 ET00243 5 16,747,514
Licenses and Permits 17,542,550 17,542,550 20,715,743 3,173,193
Intesgovernmental 2,795,308 2,795,306 1,085,128 259922
Revenues fram Lhilities 196,784,803 156,784,803 21,774,673 2458980
Charges for Services 29,101,948 9,101,948 33,622,089 4.520,141
Fines and Forfeits 12315,804 12315504 12,025,344 (290,460)
Miscellancous 11,568,023 11,668,023 14,286,093 2618070
Transfers from Other Funds 14,673,148 14,778,703 14,121,847 (656,856)
Amgants Available for Appropriation 635,164.311 615,269,866 86,631,160 $1361.294
General Government 9,512,765 7,405,500 66,746,538 20,658,962
Public Safety 400,696,219 405,154,154 404,491,342 662812
Public Works 10,698,288 10,658,288 10477765 220,523
Health Services 13,947,697 14,245,069 14,378,887 (133,818
Saniutica 2,886,375 2,885,374 2582840 103,534
Welfare 20,837,267 22018578 21,578,358 440,220
Cuslrure and Resreasion 66,031,937 66,726,827 63,478,741 3,248,086
Economic Development and Opporusity 4,054,036 4,525,265 4352704 {27439
Transfess 1o Other Funds 75.200.927 87.057.100 86,649,587 401,513
Tatal Charges 1o Appropriations 673.874,510 700,717,155 674.935.762 25780353
Excess (Deficiency) of Resources Over (Under)
Charges 1o Appropriatioes (38.710,199) (65,447,289) 11,654,398 7,141,887
Fund Balance Allocation 38.710.199 65,447,289 (11,694.398) (77,141,687)
Exgexs (Deficiency) of Resources Qver (Under)
Charges to Apgropeiationy s P = 3 = 3
of i Inflows and Cruti GAAP

Squrces/inflows of Resources:
Acrua] amounts (budgetary basis) "available for appropeiation” from the badgetary

comparison schedule 5 GBA,63 1,160
Differences - budget 1o GAAP:

Transfers from other fnds 322 inflows of budgetary resources bet ane not revenues

for financial reponieg purposes
Total revenues as reported on the stalement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
in fund balances - povernmental fiands 3 &72.505.313

LUsesCutfiows of Resources:

Actual amounts (budgetary basis) “total charges to appropriations® from the budpetary
comparison schedule 5 674,936,762

Differences - budget io GAAP:

Encumbrasces for supplics and equipment crdered but not received is reported in the
year the order is placed for budgetary purposes, but in the year the supplies are (1.514.793)
received for financial reporting purposes.

Transfers o other funds are cutfllows of budjgetary resources but are not expendinares.

for linancial reporting purposes. (B6,649.587)
Tetal expenditures as reported on the statement of revenises, expendinmres, and chamges
in fund balances - governmental fnds 5 580,772,382
General Fund Budgetary Information

The City Charer esablishes requiremsents for the adoption of budgets and budgetary control. Under provisions of the Chaner, expenditures of esch City function and
actvity within mdividual funds cannot legally excesd the final budget approved by the City Council.  Amendments to line dems within 3 deparmenzal budger may be
initiated by Department Directors.

The City prepares 20 annual budget for the General Fund on 3 modified-acerual basis, which is consistent with genenlly accepted acccunting principles. The ansual
Budgetary data reported for the General Fund represents the original appropriation ordinance and amendments thereta a5 adopted by the City Council, adjusted for
encumbrances outmtanding at the beginning of the fiscal year. All ansual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end.

- 52 il repodt)

Figure 5.10 General fund budgetary comparison schedule.



186 ®m Handbook of Governmental Accounting

but rather, schedules accompanying the interim balance sheet will disclose budgeted
versus actual revenues, appropriations, expenditures, and encumbrances in sufficient
detail as to be useful to executive branch officials, managers, and legislators.

5.9 General Fund Accounting and Financial
Reporting Issues

Major general fund accounting and financial reporting issues concern the recogni-
tion of certain revenue items and the liabilities associated with certain tax, revenue,
or grant anticipation notes.

5.9.1 Revenues Collected after the Close of the Fiscal Year

Taxes receivable at fiscal year-end must be reclassified as delinquent, and an esti-
mate of uncollectibles made and recorded. Interest and penalties due on delinquent
taxes also must be recognized at fiscal year-end. However, according to GASB
Interpretation No. 5, revenues to be collected after the close of the current fiscal
year, but which will be used to satisfy liabilities of the current year, may be subject
to recognition in the current period.

5.9.2 Sales Tax Revenue

Since municipal sales tax revenue is classified as an “imposed nonexchange revenue
item, it is not to be accrued when collected by merchants unless and until they are
due and payable to the government” (GASB, 2003, §N50.126-127, p. 604). In gen-

eral, municipal sales tax revenue is to be recognized on the modified accrual basis.

5.9.3 Certain Tax, Revenue, or Grant Anticipation Notes

In general, tax anticipation notes, other revenue anticipation notes, and grant
anticipation notes are to be treated as liabilities of the funds that will receive the
proceeds (GASB, 2003, §B50.102, p. 386). If the general fund issues such notes
but subsequently transfers the proceeds to other funds, the amount transferred
becomes a liability in the recipient funds.

5.10 Current and Future Developments

5.10.1 Communications Methods

In April 2005, the GASB issued Concepts Statement No. 3 concerning the proper
placement of information in the general financial reports (GASB, Concepts Statement
No. 3, 2005). Four possible placements of financial information are contemplated:
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recognition in the financial statements, notes disclosures, RSI disclosure, and pre-
sentation as supplementary information. The statement can be expected to impact
the placement of financial information for all funds, including the general fund.
That is, to be recognized in the financial statements, a particular item must
first meet the definition of an element of the financial statements. If such an ele-
ment can be measured with sufficient reliability, then the item must be reported in
the financial statements. If an item has a relationship to information presented
in the financial statements and is essential to a user’s understanding of the financial
statements, then the information must be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. Required supplementary information is used when disclosure is essen-
tial—and supplementary information is employed when disclosure is useful (but
not essential)—for putting the financial statements and related notes into context.

5.10.2 Elements of Financial Statements

In August 2006, the GASB released an exposure draft of a new, fourth concepts
statement entitled Elements of Financial Statements (GASB, 2006). The state-
ment, once formally adopted, will provide guidance concerning what items will
be reported in the financial statements, and which ones will not. The statement,
therefore, has potential to affect the items reported in the general fund financial
statements and, in fact, in all the financial statements, both at the fund level and
at the government-wide level. The proposed statement represents a departure from
GASB’s previous efforts in two ways.

5.10.2.1 Independent Definitions of Financial
Statement Elements

First, the statement defines financial statement elements independently of one
another. Currently, the elements of financial statements are defined largely in terms
of one another. For instance, the GASB notes that assets are commonly conceived as
increasing through revenues, or through the satisfaction of liabilities (GASB, 2006).
Liabilities are incurred as expenditures are made. Consequently, understanding what
assets and liabilities are requires also understanding what revenues and expenditures
are. However, the GASB did not believe that any element is more important than
any other element. The exposure draft therefore adopts the concept of a “resource” as
a central actribute of the basic elements. Resources are defined as something “with a
present capacity to provide, directly or indirectly, services” (GASB, 2006, p. 2).

Five elements definitions in the proposed statement incorporate this notion of
a resource:

B Assets are resources that the governmental entity controls at present.
B Liabilities are present obligations to sacrifice resources, now or in the future,
that a government has little or no discretion to avoid.
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B Net assets are the residual of all other elements presented in a statement of
financial position.

B An outflow of resources is a consumption of net resources that is applicable to
the current reporting period.

B An inflow of resources is an acquisition of net resources that is applicable to the
current reporting period.

Assets, liabilities, and net assets are elements of statements of financial position, and
would pertain, for example, to the governmental funds balance sheet, which includes
the general fund, and to the governmentwide statement of net assets. Outflows and
inflows of resources are elements of what the statement terms “resource flows state-
ments,” which include the governmental-fund statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balance. The overall intent of the new definitions is to enhance
understanding of information presented in the financial statements by defining the
basic elements in terms of their basic characteristics. The GASB hopes to arrive at a
point where a common set of definitions of elements may be employed, whether the
modified accrual or full accrual basis of accounting is employed.

5.10.2.2 Treatment of Deferrals

The second point of departure from previous efforts is the explicit definition of
deferrals. Deferred items have not previously been uniquely defined, leading to
some confusion over just what they are when they appear with assets and liabilities
on the balance sheet. Insofar as they do not have similar characteristics as assets and

liabilities, the GASB undertook to define them separately:

B A deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net resources by a govern-
ment that applies to a future reporting period.

B A deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of net resources by a govern-
ment that applies to a future reporting period.

Examples of deferred items are unearned revenues and deferred expenses.
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State and local governments borrow money for many different reasons (to purchase
or build capital assets, to construct or improve infrastructure, to pay claims or
judgments, to finance current operations, etc.) and in many different forms (leases,
loans, notes, warrants, and bonds). The fund category and duration of these gov-
ernmental borrowings is most important because governments use two different
models to focus on what is being measured by the accounting information. In
governmental-type funds, the focus is on current financial resources and short-term
fiscal accountability. For proprietary and fiduciary-type funds, the focus is on eco-
nomic resources and long-term operational accountability. This means that govern-
mental-type funds contain only short-term (current) accounts, while proprietary

191
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and fiduciary-type funds are composed of both short- and long-term (noncurrent)
accounts.

The accounting for debt-related transactions differs based on the related fund
type. For proprietary and fiduciary-type funds, the GASB states

Bonds, notes, and other long-term liabilities (for example, for capital
and operating leases, pensions, claims and judgments, compensated
absences, special termination benefits, landfill closure and postclosure
care, and similar commitments) directly related to and expected to be
paid from proprietary funds and fiduciary funds should be included
in the accounts of such funds. These are specific fund liabilities, even
though the full faith and credit of the governmental unit may be
pledged as further assurance that the liabilities will be paid. Too, such
liabilities may constitute a mortgage or lien on specific fund properties
or receivables.!

With regard to general long-term liabilities for governmental funds, the GASB
maintains that

The general long-term debt of a state or local government is secured by
the general credit and revenue-raising powers of the government rather
than by the assets acquired or specific fund resources. Further, just as
general capital assets do not represent financial resources available for
appropriation and expenditure, the unmatured principal of general
long-term debt does not require current appropriation and expenditure
of governmental fund financial resources. To include it as a governmen-
tal fund liability would be misleading and dysfunctional to the current
period management control (for example, budgeting) and accountabil-
ity functions.?

Short-term borrowings by governmental-type funds are recorded in the balance
sheet of the fund responsible for repayment of the debt. These obligations have
a maturity of 12 months or less even if the term of the obligation spans across
two fiscal years. Since the measurement focus is the flow of current financial
resources, the presentation of such an obligation in a governmental-type fund bal-
ance sheet indicates that it is a current liability. This observation is pointed out
because governmental-type funds use an unclassified balance sheet. That is, there
is no distinction between short- and long-term obligations on a governmental-type
fund balance sheet because the balance sheet is comprised of only current items.
Repayment of short-term debt and interest will require the use of current financial
resources.

Any borrowing agreement having a maturity of more than 12 months is a
long-term obligation. Long-term obligations are not recorded in the governmental-
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type funds, because they will not require the use of current financial resources.
Long-term debt for governmental-type funds is recorded in the general long-term
liabilities nonfund account (formerly known as the general long-term debt account
group) and presented only in the government-wide statement of net assets. General
long-term debt is not presented in the fund financial statements for governmental-
type funds, but there are several associated disclosures required in the notes to the
financial statements. Repayment of general long-term debt and interest requires the
use of future financial resources.

To meet these future cash disbursement requirements for long-term debt, gov-
ernments may choose to wait until the principal and interest are legally due (cur-
rent) and then service the debt through the general fund, or they may establish a

separate fund for serving the principal and interest payments. According to the
GASB, debt service funds are used

... to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment
of, general long-term debt principal and interest. Debt service funds
are required if they are legally mandated and/or if financial resources
are being accumulated for principal and interest payments maturing in
future years.?

This means that governmental entities are not required to use debt service funds
unless there is a legal or contractual obligation to do so. In other words, general
long-term debt may be serviced through the general fund if there is no legal reason
for establishing a debt service fund. However, using debt service funds to separate
general long-term debt principal and interest payments from the general fund is a
good financial management practice and probably most prudent.

Only long-term debt recorded in the general long-term debt nonfund account
should be serviced through debt service funds. Furthermore, unless there is a legal
reason to maintain separate debt service funds, all general long-term obligations of
a government may be serviced through one debt service fund.

This chapter focuses on the use of debt service funds to account for principal
and interest payments on general long-term debt obligations. The remainder of this
chapter is organized as follows:

Types of debt instruments

Expenditure recognition

Accounting for debt service fund transactions
Reporting for debt service funds

Special Assessments

Reporting for special assessment debt service funds
Extinguishment of debt

Disclosure requirements
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6.1 Types of Debt Instruments

Debt transactions take on many different forms. These different forms or “types”
of debt have unique characteristics and legal implications. The following summary
of debt instruments does not present a comprehensive discussion of the topic; it is
simply a summary as such. For a more detailed discussion of debt instruments, see
Black’s Law Dictionary or the Merriam-Webster Dictionary of Law.

A lease is a written agreement between two parties that conveys the use of real
or personal property for a specified period of time.* Government lease contracts
are subject to the capital lease requirements adopted from FASB Statement No. 13,
Accounting for Leases> An important issue in accounting for leases is the distinc-
tion between a capital lease and an operating lease. From the lessee’s standpoint,
operating leases are like renting capital assets. That is, the lessee does not record a
leased asset or lease liability; the lessee records an operating expense for the amount
of each lease payment. The lessor keeps the leased asset on his or her books and
maintains the rights and obligations of owning the leased asset. Although many
leases are operating leases, a capital lease is any lease agreement that meets any one
of four criteria: (1) The lease transfers title of the leased asset to the lessee. (2) The
lease contains a bargain purchase option. (3) The lease term is 75% or more of the
estimated useful life of the lease asset. (4) The present value of the lease payments
is 90% or more of the market value of the leased asset.® In effect, capital lease con-
tracts are a form of long-term borrowing.

Loans are written two-party agreements involving advances of money and a
promise by the borrower to repay the principal sum with interest.” Notes are uni-
lateral instruments whereby the borrower promises to pay a sum of money (usually
at interest) to the lender.® These agreements may have a single maturity date, or
they may mature periodically. The primary difference between loans and notes is
the degree of negotiability. Loans are ordinary contracts, and notes are negotiable
instruments that can be transferred (exchanged like money) to a third party free of
personal defenses existing between the original contracting parties as long as the
transferee is a “holder in due course.” This transferability is not possible under an
assignment of ordinary contracts. To qualify as a holder, one must possess bearer
paper or order paper that has been properly endorsed. A holder in due course must
first be a holder who “takes the instrument by negotiation, for value, in good faith,
and without notice that it is overdue or has been dishonored or of any defense
against or claim to it on the part of any person.”” Another very important aspect
of negotiability is instrument form. If the instrument is order paper (three-party
paper), it must first be endorsed by the payee and then delivered to a subsequent
party to be negotiated. However, if the instrument is bearer paper (two-party
paper), only delivery of the instrument is needed for negotiation. Inscruments that
are neither bearer paper nor order paper are nonnegotiable.

A warrant is an order by the drawer authorizing the payment of a particular
sum of money.'® According to Black’s Law Dictionary, a warrant is
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A command of a council, board, or official whose duty it is to pass upon
the validity and determine the amount of claim against the municipal-
ity, to the treasurer to pay money out of any funds in the municipal
treasury, which are or may become available for the purpose specified,
to a designated person whose claim therefor[e] has been duly adjusted
and allowed.!

The difference between a warrant and a bond is negotiability. Warrants are not
negotiable; however, bonds are negotiable securities that obligate the issuer to pay
principal plus interest to the bondholder.!? A formal written document, an “inden-
ture,” specifies the rights of bondholders for a particular bond issue. Governments
often use bond proceeds to finance the acquisition and/or construction of major
capital assets. Thus, most bond issues are for millions of dollars, and the duration
of such issues is for an extended period of time (10 to 25 years). The principal on
term bonds is repayable at a single maturity date, with interest paid periodically. The
principal and interest on serial bonds is repayable in equal annual installments over
the life of the issue. General obligation bonds pledge the full faith and credit of the
government to repay the debt. Revenue bonds pledge future revenues generated by
a specific activity or group of activities supported by the bond proceeds. Refunding
bonds are issued to retire outstanding bonds. Refunding bond proceeds may be used
to consummate a “current refunding” or an “advance refunding.” Bond refundings
are discussed further in the “Extinguishment of Debt” section of this chapter.

6.2 Expenditure Recognition

Although expenditures are usually recognized when incurred by the government,
there is a major exception when it comes to general long-term debt. The GASB pro-
nounces that debt service on formal debt issues (such as bonds and capital leases)
generally should be recognized as a governmental-fund liability and expenditure
when due (matured)—with optional additional accrual under certain conditions,
as interpreted in section 1600.121 of the Codification.!

This nonaccrual of debt service expenditures at year-end is in keeping with the
current financial resources measurement focus. That is, the accrual of future debt
service payments could cause the fund financial statements to be misleading, since
future—not current—financial resources will be used to make such payments.

However, if current financial resources accumulated in a debt service fund are
to be used for payment of principal and interest due within 30 days of the fiscal year
end, the total debt service payment (principal and interest) may be accrued in the
debt service fund, and the debt principal may be removed from the general long-
term liabilities nonfund account. The GASB indicates that
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A government has “provided” financial resources to a debt service fund
if it has deposited in or transferred to that fund financial resources that
are dedicated for payment of debt service. “Early in the following year”
refers to short time period—usually one to several days and not more
than one month. Accrual of an additional fund liability and expendi-
ture is not permitted for (a) financial resources that are held in another
governmental fund or (b) nondedicated financial resources transferred
to a debt service fund at the discretion of management.!4

6.3 Accounting for Debt Service Fund Transactions

When general long-term debt is issued, the proceeds from the issuance are recorded
as “other financing sources” in the fund that is authorized to receive the funds, and
the debt principal is recorded in the general long-term liabilities nonfund account.
Any debt issue costs or discounts upon issuance are usually deducted from the issu-
ance proceeds. Bond premiums, if any, are usually transferred to the appropriate
debt service fund.

To illustrate the accounting for debt service fund transactions, assume the
Anywhere Independent School District (ISD) authorizes a $21,000,000 general
obligation serial bond issue to finance the construction of a new high school. The
school building bonds are 20-year bonds and pay interest semiannually each May
15 and November 15. The bonds bear interest of 5% per year. The District’s fis-
cal year end is August 31. The bonds are issued on November 15, 20X7, at 103
(no accrued interest). Bond principal of $1,050,000 is due annually, starting on
November 15, 20X8. In addition, assume that the District typically transfers any
premiums and any payments received for accrued interest to the appropriate debt
service fund. The Board of Trustees also authorized a $525,000 transfer from the
general fund to the school building debt service fund for the 20X8 fiscal year.

The governing body of Anywhere ISD adopted the following budget for the
School Building Bonds Debt Service Fund for 20X8:

Estimated Revenues and Transfers In:

Investment Income $60,000

Transfers from General Fund 525,000

Transfers from Capital Projects Fund 630,000
1,215,000

Appropriations:

Bond Interest Payments _ 525,000

Budgeted Increase in Fund Balance $690,000
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The following transactions occurred in the 20X8 fiscal year:

The GASB does not require governments to adopt a formal budget for debt service
funds; however, many governments record budgets for these funds because of the
importance of making debt service payments on time. Resources for paying debt
service obligations often come from transfers from other funds, taxes, and inter-
est earnings on investments. Therefore, the annual operating budget for a debt
service fund normally consists of estimated revenues, other financing sources, and
appropriations. The following entry records the debt service fund budget for the
first year:

Estimated Revenues—Investment Income $60,000

Estimated Other Financing Sources-Transfers In | 1,155,000
($525,000 transfer from general fund + $630,000
transfer from capital projects fund)

Appropriations—Debt Service-Interest $525,000
Unreserved Fund Balance 690,000
(This is the budgeted increase in fund

balance.)

To record 20X8 budget.

If the bond premium is transferred from the capital projects fund, the debt service
fund entry is:

Cash $630,000

Other Financing Sources-Transfers From- $630,000
Capital Projects Fund

($21,000,000 x 103% selling price — $21,000,000
face value, or simply $21,000,000 x 3%)

To record cash received from the capital projects fund.

If the debt service fund receives a $525,000 transfer from the general fund on
May 1 to provide for the May 15 interest payment, the debt service fund entry is:

Cash $525,000

Other Financing Sources-Transfers From— $525,000
General Fund

To record cash received from the general fund.
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When the May 15 interest is legally due, and assuming it is paid, the required entry
is:

Expenditures-Debt Service-Interest $525,000

Cash $525,000

To record the first semiannual interest payment.

Assume the investment interest earned for the 20X8 year was $34,800. The neces-
sary entry is:

Cash $34,800

Revenues-Investment Income $34,800

To record investment interest received.

At fiscal year end, August 31, 20X8, the closing entries are:

Appropriations-Debt Service—Interest $525,000

Unreserved Fund Balance 690,000
Estimated Revenues—Investment Income $60,000
Estimated Other Financing Sources— 1,155,000
Transfers In

To reverse 20X8 budget.

Revenues—Investment Income $34,800

Other Financing Sources-Transfers From— 630,000
Capital Projects Fund

Other Financing Sources-Transfers From- 525,000
General Fund

Expenditures—-Debt Service-Interest $525,000

Unreserved Fund Balance 664,800

To close the accounts at the end of 20X8.
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The following transactions occurred in the 20X9 fiscal year:

The District’s property tax levy for the 20X9 fiscal year contains $948,000 allocable
to the debt service fund, of which 2% is estimated to be uncollectible. The Board of
Trustees also authorized a $1,000,000 transfer from the general fund to the school

building debt service fund.

The governing body of Anywhere ISD adopted the following budget for the

School Building Bonds Debt Service Fund for 20X9:

Estimated Revenues and Transfers In:

Property Taxes
Investment Income
Transfers from General Fund

Appropriations:
Bond Principal Payments
Bond Interest Payments

Budgeted Decrease in Fund Balance

$948,000

50,000
1,000,000
1,998,000

1,050,000
1,023,750
2,073,750

($ 75,750)

2 ($1,023,750 = $525,000 + $498,750, where:

$525,000 = $21,000,000 principal x 5% x 6/12 for

11/15/20X8 Interest

$498,750 = $19,950,000 principal x 5% x 6/12 for

5/15/20X9 Interest)

To record the budget for the second year, the entry on September 1 is:

(This is the budgeted decrease in fund

Estimated Revenues—Property Taxes $948,000
Estimated Revenues—Investment Income 50,000
Estimated Other Financing Sources— 1,000,000
Transfers In

Unreserved Fund Balance 75,750

balance.)
Appropriations—Debt Service—Principal $1,050,000
Appropriations-Debt Service-Interest 1,023,750

To record 20X9 budget.
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When the property tax is levied on October 1, 20X8, the required debt service fund
entry is:

Property Taxes Receivable—Current $948,000

Allowance for Uncollectible Property Taxes— $18,960
Current

($948,000 property tax levy x 2% estimate for
uncollectibles)

Revenues—Property Taxes 929,040

To record 20X9 debt service portion of the property tax levy.

Assume the tax collections for October were $470,000. The necessary debt service
fund entry is:

Cash $470,000

Property Taxes Receivable-Current $470,000

To record cash received from tax collections.

If the debt service fund receives a $1,000,000 transfer from the general fund on
November 1 to help provide for the November 15 principal and interest payment,
the debt service fund entry is:

Cash $1,000,000

Other Financing Sources-Transfers From- $1,000,000
General Fund

To record cash received from the general fund.

If the District pays the bond principal and interest on November 15 when due, the
following entry is required:

Expenditures-Debt Service-Principal $1,050,000
Expenditures—Debt Service-Interest 525,000

Cash $1,575,000
To record annual principal payment and semiannual interest payment.
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On February 1, taxes levied but not collected become delinquent. If tax collections
from November through January totaled $445,000, the required entry is:

Cash $445,000

Property Taxes Receivable-Current $445,000

To record cash received from tax collections.

To reclassify the remainder of the property taxes, the entry is:

Property Taxes Receivable-Delinquent $33,000
($948,000 Current Property Taxes Receivable -
$915,000 Tax Collections, where:
$915,000 = $470,000 October collections +
$445,000 November-January collections)

Allowance for Uncollectible Property 18,960
Taxes—Current
Property Taxes Receivable-Current $33,000
Allowance for Uncollectible Property Taxes— 18,960
Delinquent

To reclassify property taxes now delinquent.

When the May 15 interest is legally due, and assuming it is paid, the required entry
is:

Expenditures-Debt Service-Interest $498,750
($19,950,000 principal x 5% x 6/12)

Cash $498,750

To record a semiannual interest payment.

Assume the investment interest earned for the 20X9 year was $29,148. The neces-
sary entry is:

Cash $29,148

Revenues-Investment Income $29,148

To record investment interest received.
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At fiscal year end, August 31, 20X9, the closing entries are:

Appropriations-Debt Service-Principal $1,050,000
Appropriations—-Debt Service—Interest 1,023,750
Estimated Revenues—Property Taxes $948,000
Estimated Revenues—Investment Income 50,000
Estimated Other Financing Sources— 1,000,000
Transfers In
Unreserved Fund Balance 75,750

To reverse 20X9 budget.

Revenues—Property Taxes $929,040

Revenues-Investment Income 29,148

Other Financing Sources-Transfers From— 1,000,000

General Fund

Unreserved Fund Balance 115,562
Expenditures—Debt Service-Principal $1,050,000
Expenditures-Debt Service-Interest 1,023,750

To close the accounts at the end of 20X9.

6.4 Reporting for Debt Service Funds

There are two annual financial statements required for debt service funds:

(1) Balance Sheet
(2) Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Although GASB suggests that

The comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) should include
budgetary comparison schedules for individual nonmajor special rev-
enue funds and other governmental funds of the primary government
(including its blended component units).”

The Codification specifically excludes these funds from being presented in the basic
financial statements or in the required supplementary information (RSI).
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Anywhere Independent School District
Debt Service Fund
20X8 School Building Bonds
Balance Sheet
August 31, 20X8

Assets

CaSh . $664,800

Liabilities and Fund Balance

Unreserved Fund Balance.........cccceevevvevverreenennen. $664,800

Figure 6.1 Debt service fund balance sheet for year one.

Budgetary comparisons should be presented for the general fund and
for each major special revenue fund that has a legally adopted annual
budget. Governments are encouraged to present such budgetary com-
parison information in schedules as part of RSI.1¢

Thus, any debt service fund budgetary comparison schedules presented in a CAFR
would have to be included as other supplementary information (OSI).

The Anywhere ISD debt service fund balance sheets at the end of 20X8 and
20X9 are presented in Figures 6.1 and 6.3, respectively. The District’s operating
statements for both years are depicted in Figures 6.2 and 6.4.

6.5 Special Assessments

Special assessments are often levied against property owners who are expected to
benefit by the acquisition or construction of capital projects, such as streets, sewers,
curbs, sidewalks, lighting, recreation facilities, etc. According to GASB,

The local government then acts on behalf of those property owners by
organizing a special assessment district, performing the project (often
using private contractors), overseeing and approving the progress and
completion of the project, providing or arranging for financing, and col-
lecting the assessments to pay any debt incurred to finance the project.””

The accounting for any long-term debt incurred for such capital improvement spe-
cial assessments depends on the government’s financial obligation. If the govern-
ment is not obligated in any manner for the special assessment debt, the related debt
service payments are accounted for in an agency fund. Otherwise, the debt service
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Anywhere Independent School District
Debt Service Fund
20X8 School Building Bonds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Year Ended August 31, 20X8

Revenues:
INVesStMeENt INCOME.......ooveeieeeeeeieeeeceeeereeeereeenns $664,800

Expenditures:

Debt Service—Interest........cccoceeiccicccccccccncnee. 525,000
Excess of Expenditures over Revenues..............cccccuue.e. (409,200)

Other Financing Sources:

Transfers From-Capital Projects Fund........................ 630,000

Transfers From-General Fund.........cccccocvuvviiinicinnee. 525,000
Total Other Financing Sources ..........ccccocuviuvuniunnes 1,155,000
Net Change in Fund Balance..........cccccoociiiiniinininnnnnn 664,800

Fund Balance, September ..o -
Fund Balance, August 3T .......ccccvveuveemneeineenncrenensecnnenens $ 664,800

Figure 6.2 Debt service fund operating statement for year one.

Anywhere Independent School District
Debt Service Fund
20X8 School Building Bonds
Balance Sheet
August 31, 20X9

Assets
CASH ettt bens $535,198
Property Taxes Receivable-Delinquent, Net................. 14,040
TOtal ASSELS ...ttt $549,238

Liabilities and Fund Balance

Unreserved Fund Balance..........oeovevveveeceecrecreereeeeeennee $549,238

Figure 6.3 Debt service fund balance sheet for year two.
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Anywhere Independent School District
Debt Service Fund
20X8 School Building Bonds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Year Ended August 31, 20X9

Revenues:
Property TAXES ....ccueueueueecrrecurieiricsieseessssenesenesenaes $929,040
Investment INCOME ....coueivirviirneiierierieeeeeeeeteeeeieene 29,148
Total REVENUES .....ceveveeeerieceeereerereeteeeveeree e $ 958,188
Expenditures:
Debt Service-Principal 1,050,000
Debt Service-Interest 1,023,750
Total Expenditures.........cccccvviciciinincccininccnciene, 2,073,750
Excess of Expenditures over Revenues.......................... (1,115,562)
Other Financing Sources:

Transfers From—-General Fund..........cccceeveevveenreeenens 1,000,000
Net Change in Fund Balance..........cccccooviinininiiiinnnnnn (115,562)
Fund Balance, September T.......cccccceveeeeieenccccccnenee. 664,800
Fund Balance, August 3T .......cccceocuviemnenincenncnrincnricnnenens $ 549,238

Figure 6.4 Debt service fund operating statement for year two.

payments should be accounted for in a debt service fund or a proprietary fund,
depending on the resulting capital asset’s relationship to the proprietary funds. The
GASB has provided guidance on determining the extent of a government’s liability
for special assessment debt by stating that

A government is obligated in some manner for special assessment debt
if (a) it is legally obligated to assume all or part of the debt in the event
of default or (b) the government may take certain actions to assume sec-
ondary liability for all or part of the debt—and the government takes,
or has given indications that it will take, those actions.'®

To illustrate the accounting for special assessment debt service fund transactions,
assume that Anywhere City, in accordance with all pertinent laws and regula-
tions, authorized a special assessment project for the construction of neighborhood
sidewalks and indicated that any debt incurred for this project would be second-
arily secured by the full faith and credit of the city. Anywhere City also agreed to
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contribute $120,000 from the city’s general fund to the neighborhood sidewalks
debt service fund to be used for the first principal and interest payment on the spe-
cial assessment bonds. The remaining debt payments are to be recovered by levying
assessments against property owners within the special assessment district. The city
council duly authorized a bond issue not to exceed $500,000.

Special assessment bonds of $500,000 were issued at par on August 1, 20X7.
The bond proceeds were propetly recorded in the capital projects fund, and the
associated long-term liability was properly recorded in the general long-term liabili-
ties nonfund account. The special assessment bonds were 4%, five-year bonds with
interest and $100,000 of principal due annually, starting on August 1, 20X8. The
City’s fiscal year end is December 31.

The project was completed on May 31, 20X8, at the budgeted cost of $620,000,
and special assessments of $500,000 were levied on benefited properties. The city
council duly authorized the transfer of $120,000 from the general fund to the
neighborhood sidewalks debt service fund. In an agreement reached between the
city council and the citizens of the special assessment district, one-fifth of the levy
is due on June 1, 20X8, without interest. Beginning with June 1, 20X9, one-fifth of
the total levy and 10% interest on the beginning uncollected balance are due each
of the next four years.

Onmitting the required debt service fund budgetary entries, as shown earlier in
this chapter, the following transactions would be made to the debt service fund
during the first year. Note that there were no transactions for the special assess-
ment debt service fund in 20X7. Thus, there would be no financial statements to be
reported for the neighborhood sidewalks debt service fund prior to 20X8.

The following transactions occurred in the 20X8 fiscal year:
Assuming that one-fifth of the $500,000 special assessment levy meets the availabil-
ity criterion when levied on June 1, 20X8, the required debt service fund entry is:

Assessment Receivable-Current $100,000
($500,000 x 1/5)

Assessment Receivable-Deferred 400,000

Revenues—Assessments $100,000

Deferred Revenues—Assessments 400,000

To record levy of special assessments.

If the debrt service fund received the $120,000 transfer from the general fund on
July 1 to provide for the August 1 principal and interest payment, the debt service
fund entry is:
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Cash $120,000

Other Financing Sources-Transfers From- $120,000
General Fund

To record cash received from General Fund.

If the City pays the bond principal and interest on August 1 when due, the follow-
ing entry is required:

Expenditures-Debt Service-Principal $100,000
Expenditures-Debt Service-Interest 20,000
($500,000 x 4%)

Cash $120,000
To record annual principal and interest payment.

Assume the special assessment collections for 20X8 were $97,500, the necessary
debt service fund entry is:

Cash $97,500

Assessments Receivable-Current $97,500

To record cash received from tax collections.

If the City invested $90,000 of special assessment funds with an approved invest-
ment pool, the entry would be:

Investments $90,000

Cash $90,000

To record cash investments.

Assuming that all uncollected assessments for 20X8 will be collected within the
first 60 days of 20X9, the reclassification entry at year-end is:

Assessments Receivable-Delinquent $2,500
($100,000 Assessment Receivable—-Current &
$97,500 Assessment Collections)

Assessments Receivable-Current $2,500

To reclassify special assessments now delinquent.
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At fiscal year end, December 31, 20X8, the budget balances would be reversed and
the actual closing entries are:

Revenues—Assessments $100,000

Other Financing Sources-Transfers From— 120,000
General Fund

Expenditures-Debt Service—Principal $100,000
Expenditures-Debt Service-Interest 20,000
Unreserved Fund Balance 100,000

To close the accounts at the end of 20X8.

6.6 Reporting for Special Assessment Debt
Service Funds

Special assessment debt service funds have the same two basic financial statements
(the balance sheet and the operating statement) as any other debt service fund.
However, there is one unique feature about the special assessment balance sheet—
deferred assessments receivable. In effect, the deferred assessments account is a
noncurrent asset that does not conform to the flow of current financial resources
measurement focus used by governmental funds. The GASB addresses this matter
and points out that “[a]t the time of the levy, special assessments receivable should
be recognized and should be offset by deferred revenue; deferred revenue should be
reduced as the assessments become measurable and available.””

Figures 6.5 and 6.6 present the special assessment debt service fund balance sheet
and operating statement, respectively, for the Anywhere City at the end of 20X8.

6.7 Extinguishment of Debt

The extinguishment of debt occurs when the state or local government (the debtor)

is relieved from obligation. Debt may be extinguished at maturity, or prior to matu-

rity. The GASB has elected to follow FASB Statement No. 76, Extinguishment of
Debt, criteria for determining whether debt is considered to be extinguished for
financial reporting purposes. According to FASB Statement No. 76, debt is consid-

ered to be extinguished when one of the following is met:

B The debtor pays the creditor and is relieved of all its obligations with respect
to the debt.

B The debtor is legally released from being the primary obligor under the debt either
judicially or by the creditor, and it is probable that the debtor will not be required
to make future payments with respect to the debt under the guarantees.
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Anywhere City
Special Assessment Debt Service Fund
Neighborhood Sidewalks
Balance Sheet
December 31, 20X8
Assets
CASH ettt $ 7,500
INVESTMENTS ..ottt 90,000
Assessments Receivable-Deferred............cccoeveverennnneee. 400,000
Assessments Receivable-Delinquent... 2,500
TOtAl ASSELS ettt $500,000
Liabilities and Fund Balance
Liabilities:
Deferred Revenues—Assessments..........ccceeeeereevennnne. $400,000
Unreserved Fund Balance.........ccooeeveveeieeeecieecieeerenenee 100,000
Total Liabilities and Fund Balance...........ccocuveune.e. $500,000

Figure 6.5 Special assessment debt service fund balance sheet.

B The debtor irrevocably places cash or other assets in a trust to be used solely
for satisfying scheduled payments of both interest and principal of a specific
obligation and the possibility that the debtor will be required to make future
payments with respect to that debt is remote. In this circumstance, debrt is
extinguished even though the debtor is not legally released from being the
primary obligor under the debt obligation.?

The extinguishment of general obligation long-term debt prior to its maturity is
commonly known as refunding. According to the GASB

Refundings involve the issuance of new debt whose proceeds are used
to repay previously issued (“old”) debt. The new debt proceeds may be
used to repay the old debt immediately (a current refunding); or the new
debt proceeds may be placed with an escrow agent and invested until
they are used to pay principal and interest on the old debt at a future
time (an advanced refunding).”’

The GASB indicates that debt may be advance refunded to take advantage of lower
interest rates, extend maturity dates, revise payment schedules, or remove or mod-
ify restrictions on old debt agreements.?? Perhaps the most common method of
refunding is advanced refunding, which, in effect, substitutes new debt for old
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Anywhere City
Special Assessment Debt Service Fund
Neighborhood Sidewalks
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Year Ended December 31, 20X8

Revenues:
ASSESSIMENTS ..vevereveercrieereereeereereseereeesessesseresessesessesens $100,000
Expenditures:
Debt Service-Principal........ccccccoorvvecnnnccieenccccrnnne. 100,000
Debt Service—INterest.......ouoeeeereeenieenenesieeseneeeens 20,000
Total Expenditures.........cccccvvicninincccinincccnnene, 120,000
Excess of Expenditures over Revenues............c.cc.ue.e.. (20,000)

Other Financing Sources:

Transfers From—General Fund.........ccoceeveevieeereeneennene. 120,000
Net Change in Fund Balance..........cccocoociiiiniininincnnne. 100,000

Fund Balance, January T.......ccccceeeeencrecnencecccnenens -
Fund Balance, December 3T.......ooevveveeveeceicreereereereennene $100,000

Figure 6.6 Special assessment debt service fund operating statement.

debt. If the old debt is defeased, the governmental entity should replace the old debt
with the new debt in its accounts and statements. The GASB states that

Most advance refundings result in defeasance of debt. Defeasance
of debt can be cither legal or in substance. A legal defeasance occurs
when debt is legally satisfied based on certain provisions in the debt
instrument even though the debt is not actually paid. An in-substance
defeasance occurs when debt is considered defeased for accounting and
financial reporting purposes ... even though a legal defeasance has not
occurred. When debt is defeased, it is no longer reported as a liability
on the face of the financial statements; only the new debt is reported
as a liability.??

If an advance refunding does not result in defeasance of the old debr, the state or
local government is required to maintain both the new debt and the old debt in
its accounts and statements. Such a nondefeasance of old debt would double the
amount of general long-term liabilities, and the amount placed in escrow would be
reported as investments—escrow agent in the debt service fund.
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6.8 Accounting for and Reporting of Debt Refundings

The accounting and reporting of debt refundings depends on whether the trans-
action relates to a governmental fund or a proprietary fund. Since the focus of
this chapter is on debt service funds, this section will illustrate the refunding of
general obligation debt. For accounting and disclosure standards related to propri-
etary fund debt refundings, see GASB Statement No. 23: Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Refundings of Debt Reported by Proprietary Activities.

When accounting for a refunding, the proceeds from the new bond issue are
recorded as Other Financing Sources, and any payments to the escrow agent from
those proceeds are recorded as Other Financing Uses. Comparatively, payments to
the escrow agent from all other sources are recorded as debt service expenditures.
To illustrate, assume that Anywhere City issued new bonds to finance an in-sub-
stance defeasance of an old outstanding bond issue. The new bonds were sold at par,
$18,000,000 (no accrued interest), and the bond underwriter withheld $25,000 of
bond issuance costs. The town paid $19,000,000 to an irrevocable trust to defease
in-substance $18,750,000 (par) of the old debt.

To record the new bond issue, the debt service fund entry would be:

Cash $17,975,000
($18,000,000 selling price & $25,000 bond
underwriter fee)

Expenditures-Debt Service-Bond Issuance 25,000
Costs

Other Financing Sources—-Refunding Bond $18,000,000
Principal

To record issuance of advance refunding bonds.

Defeasance of the old debt is recorded with the following entry:

Other Financing Uses—Payments to Escrow $17,975,000
Agent

Expenditures-Debt Service-Payments to Escrow 1,025,000
Agent

($19,000,000 trust payment — $17,975,000
refunding issue proceeds)

Cash $19,000,000

To record payment to escrow agent to defease bonds.
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Assuming this transaction meets the in-substance defeasance criteria, the new debt
would be recorded in the general long-term liabilities nonfund account, and the old
debt would be removed from the town’s books. Moreover, the advance refunding
should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as follows.

All current and advanced refundings of general long-term debt should be
reported in the governmental activities column of government-wide financial state-
ments. General long-term debt refunding transactions reported in the entitywide
statements should be reported in the same manner as refundings for proprietary
funds. In other words, the GASB states that

... the difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying
amount of the old debt should be deferred and amortized as a compo-
nent of interest expense ... over the remaining life of the old debt or
the new debt, whichever is shorter. On the statement of net assets, this
deferred amount should be reported as a deduction from or an addition
to the new debt liability.?*

6.9 Disclosure Requirements

The necessary disclosures about advance refundings are different for the year of
the refunding and for subsequent years. In the year of the advance refunding, the
governmental entity should provide a general description of the advance refunding,
and, at a minimum, should disclose

... () the difference between the cash flows required to service the old debt
and the cash flows required to service the new debrand complete the refund-
ing, and (b) the economic gain or loss resulting from the transaction.?

In all periods following an in-substance defeasance, the amount of defeased debt
outstanding, if any, should be disclosed. This disclosure guidance is set forth in the
GASB Codification Section D20.114.

The GASB also provides guidance for disclosing debt service requirements for
general long-term debt obligations. In general, the following debt service require-
ments to maturity should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements:

a. Principal and interest requirements to maturity, presented separately, for
each of the five subsequent fiscal years and in five-year increments thereafter.
Interest requirements for variable-rate debt should be determined using the
rate in effect at the financial statement date.

b. The terms by which interest rates change for variable-rate debt.2¢



Debt Service Funds m 213

Furthermore, the GASB requires certain note disclosures about long-term debt and
other long-term liabilities.

Information about long-term liabilities should include both long-term
debt (such as bonds, notes, loans, and leases payable) and other long-term
liabilities (such as compensated absences, and claims and judgments).
Information presented about long-term liabilities should include:

a. Beginning- and end-of-year balances (regardless of whether prior-
year data are presented on the face of the government-wide finan-
cial statements)

b. Increases and decreases (separately presented)

c. The portions of each item that are due within one year of the
statement date

d. Which governmental funds typically have been used to liquidate
other long-term liabilities (such as compensated absences and
pension liabilities) in prior years.?”

6.10 Concluding Comments

This chapter focused on the use of debt service funds. Although general long-term
debt may be serviced through the general fund, most governments use debt service
funds “to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, gen-
eral long-term debt principal and interest.”?® Only long-term debt (such as bonds,
notes, loans, and leases payable) recorded in the general long-term debt nonfund
account should be serviced through debt service funds.
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Governments are often responsible for financing and managing long-term capital
projects that result in ownership of general capital assets. For example, a government
is usually the principal investor in local infrastructure such as roads and bridges,
and a frequent builder of public projects such as county courthouses and commu-
nity centers. The accounting for these immense capital projects should reflect the
government’s awesome stewardship responsibilities. Capital Projects Funds (CPF)
should be used “to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or
construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary

215
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funds or in trust funds for individuals, private organizations, or other govern-
ments). Capital outlays financed from general obligation bond proceeds should be
accounted for through a capital projects fund” [GASB Codification 1300.106].

A CPF is a type of governmental fund with a measurement focus on current
financial resources and a modified accrual basis of accounting. It is similar to a
special revenue fund in that it receives a source of financing that is dedicated for
a governmental purpose. The “special revenue” is isolated in a fund for steward-
ship purposes so that its expenditure can be monitored. In the case of a CPF, the
intended use of the financing is capital construction or acquisition. A government
may maintain just one CPF for all its ongoing capital projects. However, it may be
useful for operational monitoring purposes to maintain a separate fund for each
ongoing project.*

The CPF differs from other governmental fund types in that it usually has a
project orientation rather than a period orientation. The capital projects are typically
long-term, with financing achieved at the beginning of the project and expendi-
tures following in subsequent periods. Governments typically plan and evaluate the
activity in the CPF by project, rather than by period. Therefore, the fund account-
ing system must capture and report financial resource and expenditure information
for the current period and in total, as well as an ongoing fund financial position
[GASB Codification 1300.124]. This would be most reasonably accomplished by
establishing a “fund” for a specific capital project at its origination and leaving it
open until the completion of the project.

7.1 Budgetary Accounting in Capital Project Funds

The fund accounting system need not capture the same level of budgetary detail
necessary for the general fund and special revenue funds because capital projects
are not usually controlled with appropriation budgets. Instead, capital projects are
managed within the capital budgeting process. Spending is authorized indirectly
via approval of project financings and contract authorizations to independent con-
tractors. Therefore, there is no need to record estimated revenues and appropria-
tions. Full or partial budgetary account integration would only be necessary in a
CPF where a government’s labor force is constructing the capital project or where
numerous projects are being financed through a single capital projects fund [GASB

" GASB Codification 1300.117 states that some governments may need more than one fund
of a certain type, specifically naming capital projects funds. However, GASB Codification
1300.118 also states that the minimum number of separate funds necessary should be used to
avoid inflexibility and undue complexity.
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Codification 1700.119]. In the former circumstance the government finances the
expenditures with scarce current revenues that are normally subject to appropria-
tion budget procedures. In the latter circumstance it becomes difficult to adequately
provide stewardship over multiple projects within a single fund without using tradi-
tional budgeting techniques.

Although traditional budgetary accounting is not normally employed in CPF,
encumbrance accounting is useful to monitor the progress of project contracts and
open purchase orders. An encumbrance represents a commitment to a contract
with an external party as opposed to commitment of a portion of an appropriation
budget. Upon signing a contract or issuing a purchase order, the government
would record an Encumbrance and an offsetting Fund Balance Reserved for
Encumbrances. When a progress billing or goods are received, the Encumbrance
and Reserve would be reversed and replaced with an Expenditure and liability for
payment to the contractor or vendor.

For example, consider fictional White County. The county commissioners
authorized a $9 million project to construct a bridge across the White River and
established a White River Bridge CPF. At the conclusion of the bidding process,
River Run Construction was awarded the project and the County signed a con-
tract for $8.9 million. When the contract was signed, an encumbrance was likely
recorded in the CPF as follows:

Encumbrances $8.9

Fund Balance Reserved for Encumbrances $8.9

Subsequently, when White County receives a $3 million progress billing from River
Run, it will reverse the encumbrance and replace it with a capital expenditure.

Fund Balance Reserved for Encumbrances $3
Encumbrances $3

Capital Outlay Expenditures $3
Contracts Payable $3

Encumbrances is a temporary budgetary account that is normally closed at the
end of a fiscal reporting period. Open encumbrances are then reestablished with
a reversing entry at the beginning of the subsequent fiscal year. However, because
CPF are not usually subject to an appropriation budget, it is not necessary to close
the Encumbrances account. The CPF will be evaluated as the capital project(s) are
completed, rather than periodically.
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7.2 Construction Expenditures

The construction projects accounted for in a CPF are long-term by nature. However,
contractors require interim payments for construction in progress. It is industry
practice to allow a construction client to “hold out” a retained percentage of the
progress billing that will not be paid until the project is completed to the client’s
satisfaction. Until the contractor completes the final “punch list” the total contract
price is not paid. White County would likely pay only a portion of the progress,
billing it as received from River Run. By isolating the Retained Percentage in a
liability account separate from Contracts Payable it is clear that the liability is not
currently due and payable but contingent upon a future event.

Contracts Payable $3
Cash $2.7
Retained Percentage $.3

7.3 lIssuance of Capital Debt

A capital project usually requires significant external financing. Often, a govern-
ment issues long-term bonds to finance the project. As a governmental fund type,
a CPF would not record a long-term liability for the bonds. Instead, the proceeds
would be recognized as an Other Financing Source. The face value of the bonds
must be recognized separately from any bond premiums (or bond discount) [GASB
Codification 1300.108]. Thus, bonds issued at a premium would result in the rec-
ognition of two Other Financing Sources—one for the face amount and another
for the premium. Typically, bond indentures require that bond premiums not be
used for the capital project but instead be remitted to a bond sinking or debt ser-
vice fund for the eventual repayment of bond principal and/or interest. Therefore,
the CPF would record a nonreciprocal transfer out to a debt service fund for the
amount of the premium.

If underwriting fees are deducted from the proceeds of a bond issuance, it
should not be deducted from the amount of Other Financing Sources recognized.
Instead, the underwriting fees should be recognized as an expenditure in the CPF
[GASB Codification 1300.110].

An anomalous situation occurs when bonds are issued at a discount. Again, the
amount of the discount should not be deducted from Other Financing Sources.
Instead, it should be recognized as an Other Financing Use. A government issuing
bonds at a discount may be faced with a financing shortfall for its capital project
and be required to obtain additional financing from other sources, such as transfers
from other funds within the government or external capital grants. For example, if
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White County had issued bonds with a face value of $9 million for $8.75 million
and also had underwriting fees of $.1 million, it will not have enough cash to pay
its contractor.

Cash $8.65
Underwriting Expenditures $.1
Other Financing Uses—Bond Discount $.25

Other Financing Sources—Bond Proceeds $9

Governments sometimes issue short-term bond anticipation notes (BANG) to finance
initial construction of capital projects. The loans bridge the initiation of construc-
tion with the receipt of construction bond proceeds. BANs are usually secured
by the proceeds from unissued long-term construction bonds. If the refinancing
arrangement is legally viable and all parties are in a position to consummate the
refinancing, the BANs can be treated as long-term debt for financial reporting pur-
poses.* The result is that BANs proceeds will be presented as an Other Financing
Source on the operating statement rather than as a liability on the CPF balance
sheet. When the BANS are subsequently replaced with long-term bonds, the trans-
action should be recorded as a debt refunding,.

7.4 Investments and Arbitrage

Governments can avoid issuing BANs if they issue long-term construction debt
prior to initiation of construction. The government pays an artificially low interest
cost on the debt because the interest revenue to the investor is exempt from income
taxes. There may be a tempration to arbitrage the bond proceeds prior to their use
for construction costs. However, governments are precluded by federal legislation
from earning inappropriate investment revenue on tax-exempt debt proceeds. There
are specific provisions in the Internal Revenue Code that specify what level of arbi-
trage is acceptable if bond proceeds are spent within a certain period of time. In
general, however, governments cannot earn a higher return on invested bond pro-
ceeds than they are paying as interest costs. Violating arbitrage rules could result
in a continuum of consequences from rebating the arbitrage profits to the IRS to
paying interest and penalties to losing tax-exempt status of debt.

" GASB Codification Section B50.101 repeats the FASB Statement No. 6 criteria for determin-
ing when a short-term liability may be considered long-term for reporting purposes.
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7.5 Grants

Grants received by a CPF would likely be considered capital as opposed to operat-
ing. In the CPF financial statements the grant would be recognized as revenue by its
source—grant revenue or intergovernmental revenue. In the governmentwide finan-
cial statements the grant would be considered a program revenue categorized as capital
grants and contributions. GASB 33 [GASB Codification N50] prescribes the recogni-
tion criteria for revenues from nonexchange transactions, such as grants. Revenue and
assets should not be recognized until the recipient has met all eligibility requirements.

The GASB makes clear that a purpose restriction is not an eligibility require-
ment [GASB Codification N50.111]. Only time requirements and contingencies
that must be fulfilled by the recipient constitute eligibility requirements. One
example of a contingency is a donor’s requirement that a recipient generate match-
ing funds prior to becoming eligible to receive grant funds. Another common
eligibility requirement is inherent in reimbursement-based or expenditure-driven
grants. A recipient must spend monies for the intended purpose and provide docu-
mentation to support its reimbursement request before it is eligible to receive grant
dollars. Therefore, grant revenue should not be recognized until the recipient fulfills
its obligation. If a recipient receives cash from the grantor prior to meeting its eligi-
bility requirement, it must defer the revenue until the requirement is met.

For example, if White County was awarded a $250,000 reimbursement-based
federal grant for paving the bridge, it would not recognize the revenue until it spent
the money to pave the bridge. If the county drew down a cash advance on the grant
in the amount of $50,000, it would defer revenue recognition.

Cash $.05

Deferred Grant Revenue $.05

In the fund financial statements there is another revenue recognition issue because
the CPF uses the financial resources measurement focus and modified accrual basis
of accounting. Thus, revenue must be both measurable and available to be recog-
nized. Every government must provide a working definition of when the revenues
will be available to finance current expenditures. The GASB dictates a definition of
60 days beyond fiscal year-end for property taxes but does not prescribe a specific
definition of “available” for any other revenues.

7.6 Capital Contributions

Another financing source for capital projects is developers. Governments often
charge real estate developers impact fees or other charges to offset the cost of street,
sidewalk, and other improvements for new developments. The fees are a result of an
imposed nonexchange transaction. Assets should be recognized in the period when
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an enforceable legal claim to the fees arises or when received, whichever occurs first.
Revenue should be recognized at the same time, unless there is a time restriction for
using the fees. With time restrictions, revenue should be recognized when the fees are
required to be used or first permitted to be used [GASB Codification N50.114-.115].

7.7 Interfund Transfers

A CPF may receive a portion of the financing for a capital project from another
fund within the government. Nonreciprocal transfers from one fund to another are
accounted for as Other Financing Sources in the receiving fund and as an Other
Financing Use in the disbursing fund.

At the conclusion of a project that was accounted for in a CPF established solely
for the project, the CPF is dissolved. There may be resources remaining in the fund
that must be disbursed appropriately. Oftentimes bond indentures stipulate that
residual resources must be transferred to a debt service fund for the eventual repay-
ment of debt principal and/or interest. In the absence of specific requirements, a
CPF may transfer its residual balances to its General Fund.

For example, assume that White County completed its bridge at a cost of $8.8
million rather the contract price of $8.9 million because of construction savings.
Further assume that all contracts have been paid, and the CPF is left with $.1
million in cash. White County would close all temporary accounts and transfer
remaining cash and fund balance to the debt service fund.

Other Financing Use —Transfer to DSF $.1
Cash $.1
(To transfer remaining balances to DSF.)

Other Financing Sources—Bond Proceeds | $9

Grant Revenue $.25
Underwriting Expenditures $.1
Other Financing Uses—Bond Discount $.25
Other Financing Uses—Transfer to DSF $.1
Capital Outlay Expenditures $8.8

(To close temporary accounts in the CPF.)

7.8 Special Assessments

Some capital projects are financed with special assessments. They are undertaken to
benefit only a subset of the government’s constituency. The government will likely
issue debt to finance such projects. The debt might be general obligation (GO)
debt backed by the full faith and credit of the government, debt for which the
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government has no legal liability, or debt for which the government is obligated in
some manner. The property owners who directly benefit are assessed an amount to
fund the debt service payments.

The accounting issues are rather straightforward for the construction phase of
special assessment projects. Construction expenditures should be accounted for in
a CPF, regardless of whether the government is obligated in some manner for the
special assessment debt [GASB Codification $40.118-119]. The accounting for
the proceeds from the debt depends upon whether the government is obligated in
some manner. If there is an obligation, the proceeds should be recorded as an Other
Financing Source from bond proceeds in the CPF. If there is no obligation, the
proceeds should be reported as an Other Financing Source from capital contribu-
tions from property owners. The subsequent collection of special assessments and
payment of debt service does not occur in the CPF. If the government is obligated
in some manner, the transactions are recorded in a debt service fund. If the govern-
ment is not obligated for the debt, the transactions are recorded in an agency fund.

7.9 Fund Balance

An issue particularly relevant to CPF is currently being addressed by the GASB. In
its fund balance reporting project, the GASB has tentatively concluded that only
net resources that are legally restricted for a purpose that is not clearly distinguished
by the purpose of the fund itself should be reported as Reserved Fund Balance. For
example, the White River Bridge CPF should report any net resources that are
restricted by the bond indenture as Unreserved Fund Balance. The definition of
Unreserved Fund Balance within the context of a fund created for a specific pur-
pose is that the net resources are clearly restricted for the named purpose. If, how-
ever, the bridge construction project were accounted for in a Highway and Bridges
CPF that encompasses numerous road projects, it would be appropriate to report
the project’s net assets as Fund Balance Reserved for Capital Construction. The
context of the Highway and Bridges fund is too broad to assume all net resources
are restricted for capital construction.

7.10 Financial Reporting

All CPF that meet the definition of a major fund should be presented in the govern-
mental fund financial statements.* Each major governmental fund is presented in a

" The determination of what funds are major is largely a size issue. Assets, liabilities, revenues,
and expenditures of an individual fund are evaluated in comparison to totals for all govern-
mental funds and to totals for the entire primary government. Funds meeting the criteria
must be separately disclosed on the face of the financial statements. See GASB Codification
2200.150 for specific criteria.
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separate column in a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance. For example, the City of Missoula, Montana, reports
two CPF as major funds in addition to its General Fund. One of the funds presents
activity for a GO bond financing aquatic facility construction. The other presents
activity for a special assessment project.

In the fund financial statements, all nonmajor funds are combined and the
totals are reported in a single column. Governments provide combining statements
for the nonmajor funds as supplemental information in the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report (CAFR). The nonmajor funds are often grouped according to
fund type in the supplemental schedules. The City of Missoula presents eight CPF
in its nonmajor CPF combining statements. (See the City of Raleigh’s combining
statements for an example of CPF reporting.)

Cash and short-term investments will often be the only assets reported on
the Balance Sheet of a CPFE. The City of Raleigh’s CPF include restricted cash
and investments for bond proceeds and deposits. It is separately disclosed on the
Balance Sheet. Other assets include various amounts receivable from other govern-
ments, interest, and sales tax revenues designated for capital projects. Liabilities
include contracts payable, including retained percentages. (See Construction
Expenditures.) If the CPF was created for a special assessment project the balance
sheet is likely to include assessments receivable and deferred assessment revenue (see
the Street Improvement Fund in Raleigh’s combining statements). The full amount
of the outstanding assessment is recognized even if it will not be collected within
the coming year (and is technically not a current financial resource). (See Special
Assessments.) Because fees paid by developers in the Facility Fees Fund in the City
of Raleigh may be reimbursed, a liability is accrued in the Balance Sheet.

If a CPF is established for a specific purpose, its fund balance is implicitly
restricted for that purpose. Therefore, there is no need to present a Reserved Fund
Balance. (See Fund Balance.) In the City of Raleigh’s Balance Sheet, none of the
CPF reports a Reserved Fund Balance. All funds, however, present at least one des-
ignation of fund balance. Designating a portion of fund balance merely expresses
management’s intent.

On the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance it is
likely that expenditures will exceed revenues. Many of the increases in Fund Balance
will be reported as Other Financing Sources. The City of Raleigh reports intergov-
ernmental revenue, probably grants, in several of its CPF. (See Gramts.) It also
relies on fees from developers for streets and parks. (See Capital Contributions.)
The portion of special assessments that are measurable and available are recognized
as revenues in Raleigh’s Street Improvement and Sidewalk Funds. (See Special
Assessments.) Another lucrative source of revenues for the City of Raleigh is invest-
ment income.

Most of Raleigh’s current expenditures are capital, and most exceed revenues.
The Miscellaneous Capital Improvement Fund also reports an expenditure for debt
issuance costs. (See Issuance of Capital Debt.) Seemingly incongruous are debt
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service expenditures recognized in Raleigh’s Park Improvement and Park Bond
Funds. This is a feature unique in North Carolina. Local governments in North
Carolina do not use debt service funds. Debt service expenditures are recognized
in other governmental funds.

CPF often have Other Financing Sources from bond proceeds and interfund
transfers in and Uses for interfund transfers out. (See Issuance of Capital Debt and
Interfund Transfers.) The City of Raleigh’s Miscellaneous Capital Improvements
Fund reports separate line items for debt proceeds and premium on debt. Other
funds routinely subsidize capital projects with transfers in. CPF also routinely
transfer monies to other funds authorized to expend the resources.

7.11 Budgetary Reporting

CPF are budgeted as multi-year projects. Therefore, they fall outside the scope of the
requirement to present budget-to-actual comparisons as Required Supplementary
Information (RSI) for the general fund and each major special revenue fund
that has a legally adopted annual budget [GASB Codification 2200.179]. The
Implementation Guide for GASB 34 clarifies that a CPF budgetary presentation
may not be included with other RSI budgetary comparisons [Paragraph 382 of
the Implementation of GASB Statement 34 on Basic Financial Statements—and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, and Related
Pronouncements]. An alternative for reporting budgetary information for nonmajor
funds is to include the information with the combining statements. The placement
of the budgetary comparisons is, therefore, outside of the basic financial statements
and RSI.

Because CPF are multi-year by nature, it is useful to present budgetary infor-
mation for the length of the project in addition to the current year. (See Budgetary
Accounting in Capital Project Funds.) The City of Raleigh’s Schedule of Revenues
and Expenditures Compared with Budget for each of its CPF is one example of a
budgetary reporting format. Raleigh aggregates all prior-year activity in a column
and current year activity in another, with a total provided in comparison to the
project’s budget. Variances are also provided. (See the Street Improvement Fund’s
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures Compared with Budget.)

712 Summary

CPF are useful tools for stewardship. Isolating monies that are legally restricted
or otherwise designated for capital projects facilitates planning and monitoring.
Financial reporting using the current financial resources measurement focus and
modified accrual basis of accounting promotes fiscal accountability.
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Exhibit Financial Reports:
The City of Raleigh, North Carolina

Source: www.raleigh-nc.org

C. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2005, was as follows (stated in
thousands):

Balance Balance
June 30, June 30,
Governmental Activities 2004 Additions | Transfers | Deletions 2005
Capital assets, not being
depreciated:
Land $99,610 $1,837 $101,447
Construction in progress 14,016 6,444 (11,995) 8,465
Total capital assets, not being
depreciated 113,626 8,281 (11,995) 109,912
Capital assets, being
depreciated:
Buildings and machinery 87,124 609 980 66 88,647
Streets and sidewalks 463,785 60,285 7,769 531,839
Equipment 68,073 14,031 7,835 74,269
Furniture and fixtures 1,007 273 40 1,240
Improvements—general 110,868 8,122 2,870 118 121,742
and parks
Total capital assets being 730,857 83,320 11,619 8,059 817,737
depreciated
Less accumulated
depreciation for:
Buildings and machinery 30,802 2,130 66 32,866
Streets and sidewalks 191,795 22,195 213,990
Equipment 52,988 6,847 7,835 52,000
Furniture and fixtures 508 214 40 682
Improvements—general 41,720 5,550 (113) 118 47,039
and parks
Total accumulated depreciation 317,813 36,936 (113) 8,059 346,577
Total capital assets being 413,044 46,384 11,732 471,160
depreciated, net
Governmental activities capital | $526,670 $54,665 $(263) $581,072
assets, net
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the governmental
activities as follows:

General government $644
Community development 80
Public works 24,676
Public safety 1,102
Solid waste services 38
Leisure services 4,566
Capital assets held by certain internal service funds 5,830
are charged to the various governmental functions
based on the usage of the assets
Total depreciation expense—governmental activities $36,936

Annexations: The amount reported above as additions for streets and sidewalks of
$60,285,000 includes $36,409,891 of annexations of streets that were transferred to
the City from the North Carolina Department of Transportation during 2004-05.
Such transfers occur infrequently and the volume and value of the 200405 trans-
fers are significantly greater than normally occurs.

Balance Balance
June 30, June 30,
Business-Type Activities 2004 Additions | Transfers | Deletions 2005
Capital assets, not being
depreciated:
Land $48,482 $4,171 — $52,653
Construction in progress 17,889 37,632 (13,461) 42,060
Total capital assets, not being 66,371 41,803 | (13,461) 94,713
depreciated
Capital assets, being
depreciated:
Buildings and machinery 97,955 1,795 2,088 10,166 91,672
Water and sewer systems 570,331 33,804 7,668 611,803
Parking decks 43,803 14,058 — 57,861
Buses 16,742 4,679 345 21,076
Equipment 26,260 3,213 18 2,894 26,597
Furniture and fixtures 1,952 20 1,521 451
Improvements 54,244 2,265 4,063 21,087 39,485
Total capital assets being 811,287 59,834 13,837 36,013 848,945
depreciated
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Balance Balance
June 30, June 30,
Business-Type Activities 2004 Additions | Transfers | Deletions 2005
Less accumulated
depreciation for:
Buildings and machinery 34,062 2,317 6,920 29,459
Water and sewer systems 135,103 12,385 147,488
Parking decks 9,412 1,360 10,772
Buses 9,008 1,567 345 10,230
Equipment 16,037 2,715 2,887 15,865
Furniture and fixtures 1,809 58 1,515 352
Improvements 19,801 2,784 113 11,845 10,853
Total accumulated 225,232 23,186 113 23,512 225,019
depreciation
Total capital assets being 586,055 36,648 13,724 12,501 623,926
depreciated, net
Business-type activities $652,426 $78,451 $263 $12,501 | $718,639
capital assets, net

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the business-type
activities as follows:

Water/sewer $15,105
Convention center 3,169
Parking 1,404
Mass transit 1,888
Storm water 10
Capital assets held by certain internal service funds 1,610
are charged to the various business-type activities
based on the usage of the assets
Total depreciation expense—business-type activities $23,186

Special Item: Impairment of Capital Assets

During 2005, the convention center fund (a business-type activity) recognized a
special item of $12.5 million for a loss due to the impairment of capital assets, the
Raleigh Convention and Civic Center and the Fayetteville Street Mall. A new con-
vention center is currently under construction and the existing civic center is being
readied for complete demolition. The Fayetteville Street Mall has been removed
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and construction is under way to return the mall to vehicular traffic. These assets
were recorded in the convention center fund at $34.5 million and accumulated
depreciation of $22 million for a net book value of $12.5 million.

Commitments— Construction Projects

At June 30, 2005, the City has $239,469,770 in project obligations for business-
type activities for construction projects in progress as follows: $37,472,464, water
and sewer projects; $177,027,734, new convention center project; and $24,969,572,
underground parking garage project. These obligations are fully budgeted and are
being financed primarily by state loans, general obligation bond proceeds, revenue
bond proceeds, and certificates of participation.

In addition, the City has $24,499,772 in general government project obligations
at June 30, 2005. These obligations relate to construction in progress projects for
street construction, redevelopment projects, and community center and park con-
struction. These projects are fully budgeted and the funding for these governmental
projects is indicated through designations of fund balance at June 30, 2005.

D. Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers

The composition of interfund balances as June 30, 2005, is as follows:

Due from
Nonmajor Convention | Nonmajor | Internal
Governmental Center Enterprise | Service
Funds Fund Funds Funds Total
General fund $1,834,210 $22,068 $4,877,878 | $2,215,719 | $8,949,875
Parking 1,000,000 1,000,000
facilities fund

Q | Total $1,834,210 $1,022,068 | $4,877,878 | $2,215,719 | $9,949,875

The balance of $1,000,000 due to the parking facilities fund from nonmajor gov-
ernmental funds results from loans made to provide cash for the convention center
and memorial auditorium capital projects fund until pledges for construction of
the BTT Center are received. The balance of $8,949,875 due to the general fund
includes $8,444,303 of reclasses of negative cash to due to the general fund and a
corresponding reduction in general fund cash and a due from other funds. Negative
cash reclassed consisted of $2,215,719 from internal service funds, $4,806,298 from
nonmajor enterprise funds, and $1,422,286 from nonmajor governmental funds.
All remaining balances resulted from timing differences between the dates that
(1) interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur,
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(2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments between
funds are made.

A summary of interfund transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005, is
as follows:

Transfers to general fund from:

Nonmajor governmental funds $6,913,717
Water and sewer fund 148,290
Parking facilities fund 200,000
Internal service funds 2,400,000
Total transfers to general fund $9,662,007

Transfers to nonmajor governmental funds from:

General fund $5,813,466
Water and sewer fund 462,632
Parking fund 442,000

Total transfers to nonmajor governmental funds $6,718,098

Transfers to convention center fund from:

General fund $2,803,447
Nonmajor governmental funds 589,500
Total transfers to convention center fund $3,392,947

Transfers to parking fund from:

General fund $580,000

Nonmajor governmental funds 4,670,000

Convention center fund 250,000
Total transfers to parking fund $5,500,000
Transfers to nonmajor enterprise funds from:

General fund $7,679,765

Nonmajor governmental funds 699,063

Water and sewer fund 112,025
Total transfers to nonmajor enterprise funds $8,490,853

Transfers to internal service funds from:

General fund $78,918
Nonmajor governmental funds 2,600,000
Water and sewer fund 70,000
Internal service funds 29,258

Total transfers to internal service funds $2,778,176




230 ® Handbook of Governmental Accounting

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires
to collect them to the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) move
receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the receipts to the gen-
eral fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) use unrestricted revenues
collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other
funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005, $1,625,000 was transferred from
general capital projects funds to the general fund. These transfers were made to sup-
port specific related operating activities ($110,000) or to replenish funds advanced
from the general fund to capital projects prior to debt issuance ($1,500,000). A
transfer of $4,670,000 from general capital projects to the parking fund was made
to replenish funds advanced to general capital projects prior to issuance of debt. The
general equipment replacement fund transferred $2,400,000 to the general fund
for the purchase of garbage carts for the city’s automated trash pickup program.

Also, during 2004—05 certain noncash transactions were reported as transfers
in the financial statements, however, they are not included in the summary of inter-
fund transfers above. Capital assets (net) of $263,376 were transferred from the
governmental activities to the parking fund (a business-type activity). Capital assets
of $97,707 were transferred from the convention center (a business-type activity) to
the governmental activities.

E. Operating Leases

During 200405 total rental payments on noncancelable operating leases was
$3,420,767. The following is a schedule by years of minimum future rentals on
noncancelable operating leases as of June 30, 2005:

Fiscal Year Ending June to—
2006 $2,025,480
2007 1,084,206
2008 246,272
2009 36,013
2010 31,136
$3,423,107
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F. Long-Term Obligations
1. General Obligation Bonds

The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and
construction of major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued
for both the governmental and business-type activities. The bonds are direct obliga-
tions and pledge the full faith and credit of the City. The utility related issues are
expected to be repaid with user charges and the remaining bonds are expected to be
repaid with general fund revenues. Interest on the bonds is payable semi-annually.
General obligation bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2005, are as follows:

Date Amount of Balance
Interest Date Series Original Outstanding
Purpose Rates Issued Matures Issue June 30, 2005
Governmental Activities
Housing—Series 7.75% to 9/1/1994 | 3/1/2011 $2,900,000 $1,525,000
199413 —Taxable 8.0%
Parks—Series 1996 5.2% to 6/1/1996 | 6/1/2016 | 27,900,000 1,505,000
5.3%
Housing—Series 1996 5.4% to 6/1/1996 | 6/1/2016 2,280,000 1,265,000
5.75%
Fire Station—Series 1996 | 5.2% to 6/1/1996 | 6/1/2016 2,145,000 105,000
5.3%
Public Improvement 4.25% to | 10/1/1997 | 4/1/2012 | 22,255,000 9,940,000
Refunding—Series 1997 5.0%
Housing—Series 6.7% 10/1/1997 | 4/1/2016 3,920,000 2,870,000
1997 —Taxable
GO Refunding, Series 4.0% to 12/1/1998 | 6/1/2012 6,740,000 4,440,000
1998 4.2%
Street Improvement, 4.3% to 12/1/1998 | 6/1/2017 22,000,000 16,300,000
Series 1998 4.4%
Public Improvement, 4.0% to 6/1/2002 | 6/1/2021 9,700,000 8,800,000
Series 2002 5.0%
Public Improvement, 3.0% to 12/1/2002 | 2/1/2021 2,900,000 2,700,000
Series 2002A 4.5%
Public Improvement, 3.0% to 12/1/2002 | 2/1/2021 43,000,000 40,550,000
Series 2002B 4.5%
Public Improvement, 2.0% to 12/1/2002 | 2/1/2013 | 14,905,000 9,340,000
Series 2002C 4.0%
Public Improvement, 2.0% to 3/1/2004 | 4/1/2022 | 15,000,000 14,550,000
Series 2004 4.0%

(continued on next page)
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Date Amount of Balance
Interest Date Series Original Outstanding
Purpose Rates Issued Matures Issue June 30, 2005
Public Improvement 2.0% to 3/1/2004 | 4/1/2016 | 17,338,150 17,118,236
Refunding—Series 4.0%
Z004A
Housing—Series 2004B 3.13% to 3/1/2004 | 4/1/2017 7,000,000 6,645,000
4.38%
Housing Refunding— 3.13% to 3/1/2004 | 4/1/2012 2,355,000 2,060,000
Series 2004B 4.0%
Total Governmental $139,713,236
Activities
Business-Type Activities
Water and Sewer:
Water—Series 1996 5.2% to 6/1/1996 | 6/1/2016 | $11,120,000 $575,000
5.3%
Sanitary Sewer—Series 5.2% to 6/1/1996 | 6/1/2016 6,880,000 345,000
1996 5.3%
Sanitary Sewer 4.25% to | 10/1/1997 | 4/1/2012 16,325,000 7,290,000
Refunding—Series 1997 5.0%
Sanitary Sewer 2.0% to 12/1/2002 | 2/1/2013 3,055,000 1,915,000
Refunding— Series 4.0%
2002C
Water Refunding, Series
2004A
Sanitary Sewer 2.0% to 3/1/2004 | 4/1/2016 6,187,620 6,109,137
Refunding— 4.0%
Series 2004A 2.0% to 3/1/2004 | 4/1/2016 3,674,230 3,627,627
4.0%
Water and Sewer Total 19,861,764
Parking Facilities:
Parking Facilities 4.25% to | 10/1/1997 | 4/1/2012 3,230,000 1,445,000
Refunding—Series 1997 5.0%
Parking Facilities—Series | 4.70% to | 10/1/1997 | 4/1/2016 8,670,000 5,870,000
1997 5.0%
Parking Facilities Total 7,315,000
Total Business-Type $27,176,764
Activities
Total Bonded $166,890,000

Indebtedness
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Combining Balance Sheet Nonmajor Governmental Funds—June 30, 2005

Special Capital Total Nonmajor
Revenue Projects Governmental
Funds Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $26,456,692 $78,118,687 $104,575,379
Assessments receivable, net of - 717,241 717,241
allowance for uncollectables of
$37,750
Due from other governmental 4,365,557 1,064,098 5,429,655
agencies
Accrued interest receivable 63,388 205,542 268,930
Other receivables and assets 40,200 40,200
Sales tax receivable 41,268 243,679 284,947
Loans receivable 36,607,321 36,607,321
Cash and cash equivalents/ 2,618,862 22,788,142 25,407,004
investments —restricted deposits and
bond proceeds
Total assets $70,153,088 | $103,177,589 $173,330,677
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $268,911 $4,403,818 $4,672,729
Arbitrage rebate payable 566 566
Accrued salaries and employee payroll 38,290 38,290
taxes
Loan servicing escrow 716,029 — 716,029
Reimbursable facility fees - 4,267,407 4,267,407
Claims payable and other liabilities 983 332,571 333,554
Due to other funds 1,834,210 1,834,210
Deferred revenue 36,607,321 717,241 37,324,562
Unearned revenue 194,447 102,791 297,238
Total liabilities 39,660,757 9,823,828 49,484,585

(continued on next page)
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Special Capital Total Nonmajor
Revenue Projects Governmental
Funds Funds Funds
Fund balances:
Reserved for new convention center 19,001,204 19,001,204
project
Unreserved:
Designated for subsequent year’s 8,069,059 80,885,459 88,954,518
appropriation
Designated for specific purposes — 12,350,869 12,350,869
Undesignated 3,422,068 117,433 3,539,501
Total fund balances 30,492,331 93,353,761 123,846,092
Total liabilities and fund balances $70,153,088 | $103,177,589 $173,330,677

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes In Fund
Balances Nonmajor Governmental Funds for the Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2005

Special Capital Total Nonmajor
Revenue Projects Combining | Governmental
Funds Funds Eliminations Funds
Revenues
Intergovernmental $23,545,902 $836,404 $24,382,306
Developer participation 138,233 138,233
Assessments 726,414 726,414
Interest on investments 559,843 2,189,778 2,749,621
Facility fees — 3,733,422 3,733,422
Rents 311,721 311,721
Program income 2,687,858 2,687,858
Miscellaneous other 134,341 2,100,420 2,234,761
Total revenues 27,239,665 9,724,671 36,964,336
Expenditures
General government 55,104 55,104
Community 6,943,125 6,943,125
development services
Public works 833,214 833,214
Public safety 888,222 888,222
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Special Capital Total Nonmajor
Revenue Projects Combining | Governmental
Funds Funds Eliminations Funds
Solid waste services 2,328 2,328
Leisure services 348,716 348,716
Economic development 2,643,467 2,643,467
programs
Other expenditures 2,041 — 2,041
Capital outlay 26,976,298 26,976,298
Debt service:
Principal 1,270,566 1,270,566
Interest 99,302 99,302
Other debt 212,232 212,232
service
expenditures
Total expenditures 11,716,217 28,558,398 40,274,615
Excess (deficiency) of 15,523,448 (18,833,727) (3,310,279)
revenues over (under)
expenditures
Other Financing Sources
(Uses)
Transfers in 1,359,026 10,700,072 (5,341,000) 6,718,098
Transfers out (11,219,217) (9,594,063) 5,341,000 (15,472,280)
Certificates of 19,805,000 19,805,000
participation issued
Premium on certificates 435,445 435,445
of participation
Total other financing (9,860,191) 21,346,454 11,486,263
sources (uses)
Net change in fund 5,663,257 2,512,727 8,175,984
balances
Fund balance— 24,829,074 | 90,841,034 115,670,108
beginning of year
Fund balance—ending $30,492,331 $93,353,761 $123,846,092

of year
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Combining Balance Sheet Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds—June 30, 2005

Street Park
Improvement Street Sidewalk Improvement
Fund Bond Fund Fund Fund
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $21,526,605 $12,141,700 $3,069,283 $10,056,307
Assessments receivable, net 717,241 -
of allowance for
uncollectables of $37,750
Due from other 487,500 239,020 - -
governmental agencies
Accrued interest receivable 58,905 33,167 8,388 27,531
Other receivables and assets — —
Sales tax receivable 63,416 55,511 2,212 34,306
Cash and cash equivalents/ 10,889,893
investments-restricted
deposits and bond
proceeds
Total assets $22,853,667 $23,359,291 $3,079,883 $10,118,144
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $722,275 $1,587,127 $36,716 $534,115
Reimbursable facility fees —
Claims payable and other 285,182 26,887
liabilities
Deferred revenue 717,241
Unearned revenue —
Total liabilities 1,724,698 1,587,127 36,716 561,002
Fund balances:
Unreserved:
Designated for 19,824,405 21,531,853 3,017,071 8,849,691
subsequent year’s
appropriation
Designated for 1,304,564 240,311 26,096 707,451
specific purposes
Undesignated — — —
Total fund balances 21,128,969 21,772,164 3,043,167 9,557,142
Total liabilities and fund $22,853,667 $23,359,291 $3,079,883 $10,118,144
balances
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Combining Balance Sheet Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds (continued)

Total
Storm Technology | Nonmajor
Miscellaneous Walnut Creek Water Capital Capital
Capital Facility | Park Bond | Improvements | Amphitheater | Projects Projects Projects
Fees Fund Fund Fund Projects Fund Fund Fund Funds
$4,867,293 | $5,882,814 $13,355,726 $255,074 | $3,314,268 | $3,649,617 |  $78,118,687
717,241
- 250,000 87,578 — 1,064,098
13,335 16,085 36,549 696 917 9,969 205,542
— 40,200 — 40,200
16,643 56,315 1,069 857 13,350 243,679
11,898, 249 22 788,142
$4,880,628 | $6,165,542 $25,387,039 256,839 | $3,403,620 | $3,672,936 | $103,177,589
— $304,674 $1,119,280 $99,631 $4,403,818
$4,267,407 — 4,267,407
12,566 7,936 332,571
— 717,241
102,791 102,791
4,279,973 407,465 1,127,216 99,631 9,823,828
600,655 20,683,033 252,581 3,403,620 2,722,550 80,885,459
5,758,077 3,459,357 4,258 — 850,755 12,350,869
— 117,433 - - 117,433
600,655 | 5,758,077 24,259,823 256,839 | 3,403,620 3,573,305| 93,353,761
$4,880,628 | $6,165,542 | $25,387,039 $256,839 | $3,403,620 | $3,672,936 | $103,177,589
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

In Fund Balances Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2005

Walnut Creek
Amphitheater
projects

Storm water
and drainage
projects

Other public
improvements

Technology
capital
projects

Street Park
Improvement | Street Bond Sidewalk Improvement | Facility Fees
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund
Revenues
Inter- $337,500 $27,839 $43,450
governmental
Developer 138,233 —
participation
Assessments 596,453 129,961
Interest on 444,820 546,122 62,040 195,459 138,776
investments
Facility fees — — — — 3,733,422
Miscellaneous 513,470 4,000 159,811 408,713 —
other
Total revenues 2,030,476 577,961 351,812 647,622 3,872,198
Expenditures
Current:
Public
improvements:
Street paving/ 3,913,519 7,715,737 135,359
sidewalk
projects
Parks and 2,746,028
recreation
projects




Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
In Fund Balances Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2005 (continued)
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Total
Miscellaneous Storm Combining | Nonmajor
Capital Walnut Creek Water Projects Capital
Park Bond | Improvements | Amphitheater | Projects Technology Fund Projects
Fund Fund Projects Fund Fund Capital Eliminations Funds
$406,966 $20,649 $836,404
138,233
- - - 726,414
140,079 553,680 4,258 47,492 57,052 2,189,778
— — — 3,733,422
27,000 644,223 304,697 38,506 2,100,420
574,045 1,197,903 308,955 106,647 57,052 9,724,671
11,764,615
3,544,558 6,290,586
52,116 52,116
635,750 635,750
6,021,921 6,021,921
- 2,211,310 2,211,310

(continued on next page)
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

In Fund Balances Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2005 (continued)

Street
Improvement
Fund

Street Bond
Fund

Sidewalk
Fund

Park
Improvement
Fund

Facility Fees
Fund

Debt service:
Principal
Interest

Other debt
service
expenditures

Total
expenditures

3,913,519

7,715,737

135,359

607,900
45,592

3,399,520

Excess
(deficiency) of
revenues over
(under)
expenditures

(1,883,043)

(7,137,776)

216,453

(2,751,898)

3,872,198

Other Financing
Sources (Uses)

Transfers in
Transfers out

Certificates of
participation
issued

Premium on
certificates of
participation
issued

Total other
financing
sources and
uses

5,995,295
(3,512,614)

2,482,681

2,890,012

2,890,012

420,000
(214,053)

205,947

3,136,800
(566,405)

2,570,395

(4,157,000)

(4,157,000)

Net change in
fund balances

599,638

(4,247,764)

422,400

(181,503)

(284,802)

Fund balance—
beginning of
year

20,529,331

26,019,928

2,620,767

9,738,645

885,457

Fund balance—
ending of year

$21,128,969

$21,772,164

$3,043,167

$9,557,142

$600,655
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
In Fund Balances Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2005 (continued)

Total
Miscellaneous Storm Combining | Nonmajor
Capital Walnut Creek Water Projects Capital
Park Bond | Improvements | Amphitheater | Projects | Technology Fund Projects
Fund Fund Projects Fund Fund Capital | Eliminations Funds
662,666 1,270, 566
53,710 99,302
— 212,232 212,232
4,260,934 6,234,153 52,116 635,750 | 2,211,310 28,558,398
(3,686,889) (5,036,250) 256,839 (529,103) | (2,154,258) (18,833,727)
1,362,590 3,156,200 2,472,830 (8,733,655) | 10,700,072
(9,267,000) (610,646) 8,733,655 (9,594,063)
19,805,000 — 19,805,000
435,445 435,445
1,362,590 14,129,645 (610,646) | 2,472,830 21,346,454
(2,324,299) 9,093,395 256,839 (1,139,749) 318,572 2,512,727
8,082,376 15,166,428 4,543,369 | 3,254,733 90,841,034
$5,758,077 | $24,259,823 $256,839 | $3,403,620 | $3,573,305 $93,353,761
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Capital Assets Used in the Operation of Governmental Funds Schedule
by Function and Activity for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2005

Streets and
Land Buildings Sidewalks
General government:
City manager
Personnel
Administrative services
Finance
Information services
Total general government
Community development services:
Community development 10,371,641 107,755 47,838
Planning
Inspections
Community services
Total community development 10,371,641 107,755 47,838
services
Public works:
Central engineering 2,886,075
Transportation 37,514,533 19,396,849 530,976,048
Total public works 40,400,608 19,396,849 530,976,048
Public safety:
Emergency communications 654,311
center
Police 911,710
Fire 523,396 14,972,369
Total public safety 523,396 16,538,390
Solid waste services 2,772,456 15,331
Leisure services:
Walnut Creek Amphitheater 1,250,047 13,420,210
Parks and recreation 46,128,738 38,937,587 815,220
Total leisure services 47,378,785 52,357,797 815,220
Total governmental funds capital $101,446,886 $88,416,122 $531,839,106
assets

This schedule presents only the capital asset balances related to governmental funds.
Accordingly, the capital assets reported in certain internal service funds are excluded
from the above amounts. Generally, the capital assets of internal service funds are
included as governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets.
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Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures Compared with Budget Street Bond
Fund for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2005

Actual
Over
Current (Under)
Prior Years Year Total Budget Budget
Revenues
Inter-
governmental
State of North $373,387 $27,839 $401,226 $510,000 $(108,774)
Carolina
Interest on 546,122 546,122 350,000 196,122
investments
Miscellaneous 4,000 4,000 43,489 (39,489)
other
Total revenues 373,387 577,961 951,348 903,489 47,859
Other Financing
Sources
Transfers from:
Street 2,886,197 | 2,886,197 2,886,197
improvement
fund
Park 3,815 3,815 3,815
improvement
fund
Bond proceeds 48,004,007 48,004,007 73,127,000 (25,122,993)
Total other 48,004,007 2,890,012 50,894,019 | 76,017,012 (25,122,993)
financing
sources
Total revenues $48,377,394 | $3,467,973 | $51,845,367 | 76,920,501 | $(25,075,134)
and other
financing
sources
Fund balance 30,040,539
appropriated
$106,961,040
Expenditures
Street projects $52,648,011 $7,715,737 $60,363,748 | $106,961,040 $(46,597,292)
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Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures Compared with Budget Street
Improvement Fund for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2005

Actual
Over
Current (Under)
Prior Years Year Total Budget Budget
Revenues
Inter-
governmental:
State of North $150,000 $337,500 $487,500 $512,500 $(25,000)
Carolina
Developer 252,860 138,233 391,093 2,717,633 (2,326,540)
participation
Assessments 596,453 596,453 220,000 376,453
Interest on 444,820 444,820 325,000 119,820
investments
Miscellaneous 513,470 513,470 407,000 106,470
other
Total revenues 402,860 | 2,030,476 | 2,433,336 | 4,182,133 (1,748,797)
Other Financing
Sources
Transfers from:
General fund 106,610 106,610 106,610
Powell bill 3,215,000 3,215,000 3,215,000
fund
Miscellaneous 482,000 482,000 482,000
capital
projects fund
Sidewalk fund 214,053 214,053 214,053
Facility fees 1,865,000 1,865,000 1,865,000
fund
Water sewer 42,920 42,920 42,920
operating
fund
Water capital 69,712 69,712 69,712
projects fund
Total other 5,995,295 5,995,295 5,995,295
financing
sources
Total revenues $402,860 | $8,025,771 | $8,428,631 | 10,177,428 | $(1,748,797)
and other
financing
sources
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Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures Compared with Budget Street
Improvement Fund for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2005 (continued)

financing uses

Actual
Over
Current (Under)
Prior Years Year Total Budget Budget
Fund balance 46,681,409
appropriated
$56,858,837
Expenditures
Street projects $26,973,587 | $3,913,519 | $30,887,106 | $53,346,223 $(22,459,117)
Other Financing
Uses
Transfers to:
General fund 110,000 110,000 110,000
Street bond 2,886,197 2,886,197 2,886,197
fund
Park 378,000 378,000 378,000
improvement
fund
Mass transit 138,417 138,417 138,417
fund
Total other 3,512,614 3,512,614 3,512,614
financing uses
Total $26,973,587 | $7,426,133 | $34,399,720 | $56,858,837 | $(22,459,117)
expenditures
and other
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Little known to many people is the fact that many units of government have what
are essentially separate business operations embedded within their organizational
structures. These units may take on a reasonably independent status and receive
substantial support and patronage from the public, such as a municipal golf course
or a municipal swimming pool. At the same time, many units of government may
also have relatively obscure internal business-like operations such as a print shop,
motor pool, or office space pool. Irrespective of how well known or unknown these
business-type activities are, their financial transactions are recorded and reported
as part of the government’s financial accounting and reporting systems, and all of
these activities have counterparts in the private sector.

This chapter presents an overview of financial accounting practices related to
these business-like governmental operations, which are commonly known as pro-
prietary funds. As discussed in earlier chapters, accounting systems are organized
around and operated using funds. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board

(GASB) defines a fund as follows:

A fund is defined as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing
set of accounts recording cash and other financial resources, together
with all related liabilities and residual equities, or balances, and changes
therein, which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific
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activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with special reg-
ulations, restrictions, or limitations. (GASB Statement 1)

There are three broad fund types used by state and local governments for financial
reporting of specific activities: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
According to Holder (1996: 175), these proprietary funds consist of the following:

B Enterprise funds account for business-type activities supported largely by user
charges, such as local utilities, golf courses, swimming pools, and toll bridges.

B [nternal service funds are similar to enterprise funds, except that the services
are not rendered to the public but to other governmental entities within the
same jurisdiction.

For governmental entities to ensure the proper segregation of resources and to
maintain proper accountability, an entity’s accounting system should be organized
and operated on a fund basis. Each fund is a separate fiscal entity and is estab-
lished to conduct specific activities and objectives in accordance with statutes, laws,
regulations, and restrictions, or for specific purposes. A fund is defined in GASB
Codification Section 1300 as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set
of accounts recording cash and other financial resources, together with all related
liabilities and residual equities or balances, and changes therein, which are segre-
gated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or attaining certain objec-
tives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or limitations (Financial
Accounting, 2003: 30). An example of these fund types is found in Exhibit 8.1,
which shows the fund structure for the City of Wichita, Kansas. The city has four
categories of funds: enterprise, governmental, internal service, and special revenue.
The city uses enterprise funds to account for the airport, the golf course system, the
sewer utility, the water utility, the storm water utility, and transit. The city employs
internal service funds to account for fleet and buildings, information technology,
stationary stores, and self-insurance.

For financial accounting purposes, proprietary funds are handled in a man-
ner that is different from governmental or fiduciary funds. Proprietary funds are
used to account for a government’s ongoing organizations and activities that are
similar to those often found in the private sector. All assets, liabilities, net assets,
revenues, expenses, and transfers relating to the government’s business and quasi-
business activities—in which changes in net assets or cost recovery are measured—
are accounted for through proprietary funds (enterprise and internal service funds).
Generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary funds are similar to those
applicable to businesses in the private sector; the measurement focus is on deter-
mining operating income, financial position, and cash flows (Financial Accounting,
2003: 31). Accounting for proprietary funds probably has more in common with
accounting for business enterprises than with accounting for governmental opera-
tions in governmental and fiduciary funds.



252 m  Handbook of Governmental Accounting

FUND STRUCTURE

City Budget
(Fund Structure)

l

[ I I 1

Enterprise Governmental Internal Service Special
Revenue
H Airport General Fund  Fleet and Buildings Special Alcohol
Programs
I Golf Course System Debt Service H Information — Central Inspection
Technology
M Sewer Utility — Stationery Stores Special Par‘ks and
Recreation
e Property
H  Water Utility ‘—  Self Insurance H
Management
S Utili Environmental
torm Water Utility Management
— Transit Landfill mm Trolley
Tourism and | | | TaxIncrement
Convention Financing
Economic -
Development State Office Builiding

Exhibit 8.1 Fund structure, City of Wichita, Kansas.

8.1 Governmental Funds Compared
to Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds differ fundamentally from governmental funds. According to
Holder (1996: 177-178):

When a local government enterprise is run on a fully self-supporting,
independent basis, the financial accounting and reporting practices
parallel those found in business enterprises. Because proprietary funds
must cover all operating costs through user charges, an income deter-
mination/capital maintenance accounting model is employed.

It can be argued that proprietary funds allow much more operational flexibility
than governmental funds. Contrary to governmental funds, in which expenditures
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are explicitly limited within the context of the budgetary process, both expendi-
tures and revenues for proprietary funds may rise or fall depending on the ultimate
demand for the unit’s good or service provided. According to Solano and Brams

(1996: 130-131):

Because governmental commercial entities are supposedly self-sus-
taining, budgetary authority is nonexpendable, or revolving—that is,
authorization for collecting revenue and incurring expenses neither
lapses at the end of the fiscal period nor requires renewal at the begin-
ning of the next period.

However, some jurisdictions do choose to make proprietary fund appropriations
annually. Also, capital outlays and long-term debt transactions of proprietary funds
are accounted for within the fund itself as opposed to within general fixed asset
and/or general long-term debt account groups used for governmental operations.
While governmental funds account for most governmental functions, propri-
etary funds account for a government’s ongoing activities that are similar to those
found in the private sector. Proprietary funds may be of two types: enterprise funds
and internal service funds. Enterprise funds account for the following operations:

B Those that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business,
where the intent of the governing body is that the cost (expenses, including
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a con-
tinuing basis be financed and recovered primarily through user charges

B Those where the governing body has decided that periodic determination
of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for
capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or
other purposes

Internal service funds account for the financing of goods or services provided by
one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the governmental
unit, or to other governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement basis (Accounting
and Reporting Manual, 2002: 5-6).

Three important differences between accounting practices for proprietary funds
and those for governmental funds are differences in measurement focus, basis of
accounting, and equity recognition. Measurement focus refers to what is measured
and reported in a fund’s operating statement; the basis of accounting determines
when a transaction or event is recognized in these funds; while equity recognition
involves how “ownership” of economic resources is recognized and documented.
Special considerations also include transfer pricing and interfund transfers.

All of these special conditions concerning proprietary funds are explained in
the following sections.
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8.1.1 Measurement Focus

According to Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 11,
“Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting”™

Measurement focus refers to what is expressed in reporting an entity’s finan-
cial performance and position. A particular measurement focus is accom-
plished by considering which resources are measured and when the effects
of transactions and events involving those resources are recognized.

Measurement focus is the accounting convention that determines (1) which assets
and which liabilities are included on a government’s balance sheet and where they
are reported there, and (2) whether an operating statement presents information on
the flow of financial resources (revenues and expenditures) or information on the
flow of economic resources (revenues and expenses) (Accounting and Reporting
Manual, 2002: 193). One important distinction between governmental funds and
proprietary funds is that governmental funds focus narrowly on the availability
of economic resources to the entity, while proprietary funds focus broadly on the
overall economic condition of the entity. Another important distinction is that
governmental funds focus narrowly on the flow of financial resources, while pro-
prietary funds focus broadly on the flow of economic resources. Finally, govern-
mental funds also differ from proprietary funds in the exhaustion of capital assets.
Governmental funds do not recognize depreciation, or the decline in the economic
value of capital assets, because depreciation does not immediately have an impact
on spendable financial resources. On the other hand, proprietary funds do rec-
ognize depreciation since depreciation diminishes the overall economic position
of the entity, because the capital asset will eventually have to be replaced. The
accounting term debir comes from the Latin word debere meaning “left.” Asset and
expense accounts increase in value when debited, whereas liability, capital, and rev-
enue accounts decrease in value when debited. Debit is abbreviated DR. The oppo-
site of a debit is a crediz. Liability, capital, and revenue accounts increase in value
when credited, while asset and expense accounts decrease in value when credited.
Exhibit 8.2 presents an overview and examples of significant differences between
the measurement focus for proprietary funds and governmental funds.

8.1.2 Basis of Accounting

An entity’s basis of accounting determines when transactions and economic events
are reflected in its financial statements. The basis refers to when revenues, expen-
ditures, expenses, and transfers—and the related assets and liabilities—are rec-
ognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. Specifically, it
relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the nature of the
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Governmental Funds

Proprietary Funds

Measurement Focus

Are there more or less resources
that can be spent in the near future
as a result of events and
transactions of the period?

Flow of current financial
resources— (modified accrual)
Increase in spendable resources—
revenues or other financing
sources

Decrease in spendable resources—
expenditures and other financing
uses

¢ |s the fund better or worse off
economically as a result of events
and transactions?

Flow of economic

resources— (accrual)

Events and transactions that
improve the economic positions—
revenues or gains

Events and transactions that
diminish economic positions—
expenses or losses

Receipt of Long-Term Debt Proceeds

Decrease in resources available
DR Cash
— CR Other Financing Sources

* No economic improvement
* DR Cash
— CR Bonds Payable

Repayment of Princip

al on Long-Term Debt

Decrease in spendable resources
Expenditure for interest due on the
debt

DR Expenditure

- CR Cash

* Economic position not diminished
* Expense for interest due on the
debt
* DR Bonds Payable
- CR Cash

Capital A

cquisition

Decrease in spendable resources
DR Expenditure
- CR Cash

e Economic position not diminished
¢ DR Equipment
- CR Cash

Exhaustion of

Capital Assets

No effect on spendable resources
Depreciation is not recognized

* Economic position diminished
* DR Depreciation Expense
— CR Accumulated Depreciation

Exhibit 8.2 Measurement focus.
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Deferrals and Amortization

* Decrease in spendable resources * Economic positions diminished
e Entire disbursement recognized in only by the expense for the
current period benefited period
* DR Expenditure * Expense allocated over entire
- CR Cash period of benefit
* DR Deferred Charge
- CR Cash
* DR Amortization Expense
— CR Deferred Charge

Source: Accounting and Reporting Manual, 2002: 10-11.

Exhibit 8.2 (continued).

measurement, on either the cash or the accrual method (Accounting and Reporting
Manual, 2002: 181). Generally, governmental fund revenues and expenditures
are recognized on the modified accrual basis. As such, revenues are recognized
in the accounting period in which they become available and measurable, while
expenditures are recognized in the accounting period in which the fund liability is
incurred, if measurable, except unmatured interest on long-term debt, which is rec-
ognized when due. On the other hand, proprietary fund revenue and expenses are
generally reported on the accrual basis. On the accrual basis, the financial effects
on a government of transactions and other events and circumstances that have cash
consequences for the government are recorded in the periods in which those trans-
actions, events, and circumstances occur, rather than only in the periods in which
cash is received or paid by the government (Accounting and Reporting Manual,
2002: 177). Thus, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they
are earned and become measurable; expenses should be recognized in the period
incurred, if measurable (Accounting and Reporting Manual, 2002: 12).
According to Holder (1996: 177-178), “An expenditure reflects the cost of
acquiring a good or service. An expense may represent, in addition, the expiration
of the value of the good or service.” In other words, an expenditure is recorded
when financial resources are spent, while an expense would be recorded when eco-
nomic resources were actually consumed. The essential point of the concept of
expense is to record an expense when an asset is actually used. Very little difference
occurs over an expense or an expenditure as it applies to the payment of direct
labor costs, since these are consistent or regular during a fiscal period. Differences,
however, occur when applied to the use of inventory or the use of equipment. In
the concept of expenditure, the cost of inventory is recorded when it is obtained.
In the concept of expense, inventory is carried as an asset and expensed as it is used.
This does make a difference in many proprietary activities that consume significant
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amounts of inventory, such as a central print shop or central motor pool, sometimes
at differential rates.

The more critical distinction occurs when related to the use of equipment. By
expensing a depreciation cost over the lifetime of a fixed asset, one is fully expensing
the cost of that asset. The result is that at the end of the life expectancy of the asset,
its book value will be zero. Although GASB requires depreciation of capital assets,
the Statement does not prescribe the method. As a result, depreciation methods are
a management decision that should be based on the resources necessary to deter-
mine the various calculations and the capabilities of asset management systems. In
addition to composite or group methods, any established depreciation method may
be used (e.g., straight-line, sum-of the-years” digits, or double-declining balance).
Depreciation may be calculated for individual assets or it may be determined for
the following:

B A class of assets
B A network of assets
B A subsystem of a network

The depreciation method can vary for different categories of assets. To simplify the
calculations involved, the composite method may be used to calculate depreciation
expense. It is applied to a group of similar assets or dissimilar assets in the same
class, using the same depreciation rate, but not across classes of assets. The esti-
mated life for the group may be based on the individual weighted average, the
simple average of the useful lives of the assets in the group, or the weighted average
or assessment of the life of the group as a whole. This method assumes no salvage
value for assets; therefore, it simplifies the calculations and the recording of asset
dispositions (Financial Accounting, 2003: 52). Exhibit 8.3 presents an overview
and examples of significant differences between the basis of accounting for propri-
etary funds and governmental funds.

8.1.3 Equity Recognition

Equity recognition involves ownership of economic resources that is recognized
and documented. Proprietary fund activities require some initial infusion of cap-
ital. This could result from designated transfers from other funds, typically the
general fund. The equity of a proprietary fund may include contributed capital,
such as financial resources, property, facilities, or equipment from another gov-
ernmental entity or from a private entity. When income exceeds expenses in an
accounting cycle, the equity of the unit will increase as long as the earnings remain
within the entity. On the one hand, the fund balance for governmental funds is the
value of financial resources available for future use. Because of the current finan-
cial resources measurement focus of governmental funds, fund balance is often
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Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds

Basis of Accounting

Modified Accrual—Cash flow must Full Accrual—Revenue/gain or
occur within a short-enough period expense/loss recognized when they
to affect current spendable occur regardless of cash flow.

resources. Revenues must be both
measurable and available and
expenditures are generally
recognized when they are expected
to draw upon current spendable

resources.
Billing for Services Rendered

* Only the amount available to * Entire revenue recognized in
finance liabilities of the current period in which services were
period would be recognized as provided. The timing of collections
revenues. is not relevant.

* DR Receivable * DR Receivable
- CR Revenue - CR Revenue

— CR Deferred Revenue

Employees Earn Vacation Leave That Will Be Taken Sometime in the Future

* Leave would only be recognized as | ® The liability has been incurred.
an expenditure to the extent it is * DR Expense
expected to be liquidated with - CR Accrued Liability
current spendable resources.
¢ No expenditure

Source: Accounting and Reporting Manual, 2002: 10-11.

Exhibit 8.3 Basis of accounting.

considered a measure of available expendable financial resources. This is a particu-
larly important measure in the general fund because it reflects the primary func-
tions of the government and includes both state aid and local tax revenues. The
relative amount of unreserved fund balance reflected in the general fund is used
by rating agencies as a measure of financial strength of the government. Declines
in the amount of unreserved fund balance may signal deterioration in the finan-
cial condition of the entity. On the other hand, net assets or retained earnings for
a proprietary fund are the residual value of economic assets generated from and
available for the ongoing operation of the entity. Solana and Brams (1996: 141-142)
suggest that these resources should be employed to produce services connected with
the primary function of the unit. According to Ruppel (2005: 78) one of the most
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Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds

Equity Recognition

* Fund Balance * Net Assets—Invested in capital
- Reserved assets, net of related debt
- Unreserved - Restricted

— Unrestricted

Source: Accounting and Reporting Manual, 2002: 10-11.

Exhibit 8.4 Equity recognition.

significant changes brought about by Governmental Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 34 concerns accounting for capital contributed by a government
into the proprietary fund. Previously, these capital contributions were recorded
directly as additions to net assets. GASB Statement No. 34 now requires that these
contributions pass through the income statement, where they are reported sepa-
rately from operating revenues and expenses, but not directly as an addition to net
assets.

Exhibit 8.4 presents an overview of significant differences between the basis of
accounting for proprietary funds and governmental funds.

8.1.4 Pricing

The primary expectation of governmental activities reported in proprietary funds
is that these activities are self-sustaining. To measure whether or not this expecta-
tion is being met requires a primary focus on operating income and what is the
equivalent of profitability. In the governmental sector, the terms surplus and deficit
are used instead of profir and Joss, but the meanings for operational purposes are the
same. This means an emphasis on generating income while holding down costs and
retaining consumer satisfaction, unlike the primary expectation of a governmental
fund activity such as public safety, where the activities use a predetermined amount
of limited budgetary authorized (appropriated) resources to deliver the services.
Because of these different expectations for different governmental activities, pro-
prietary financial statements need to be presented using the economic resources
measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting.

Thus, an important decision that must be made concerning proprietary funds is
the determination of transfer pricing. Transfer pricing is the determination of prices
to be charged for the goods and services produced. According to Solano and Brams
(1996: 129): “The main purpose of these business-like organizations is to provide
services to consumers at a price that will cover both the current cost of operations
(expenses) and the maintenance and financing of necessary capital assets.” As such,
proprietary operations are the most efficient when the rates charged for services are
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sufficient to cover all costs of operations and necessary reinvestment. In these cases,
careful attention is given to full cost recovery by ensuring that the charges made
to using departments of the governmental unit at least cover the costs involved.
This includes the cost of capital as well as depreciation of fixed assets that are used
in production of the good or service. These operations do not need to generate a
surplus, but must achieve a breakeven position. In some cases, such as a central
motor pool operation, this means that the fees charged to using units may be higher
than those fees charged by private providers outside the unit of government for
comparable services. An example of this noncompetitive charge is in the case of a
motor pool operation that must also provide specialized and expensive equipment
that has limited use. The cost of such equipment is cross-subsidized by fees charged
to users of personal automobiles and other standard equipment. In these cases, the
governmental unit also prohibits the use of outside vendors to protect the financial
position of the governmental operation. Typically, a governmental unit that main-
tains these internal service activities prohibits its governmental units from going
outside the organization to acquire these services, effectively creating a monopoly
situation. It should be kept in mind that pricing a good or service at any price other
than cost will result in distorted consumption preferences. Pricing at less than cost
gives consumers an incentive to overconsume, while overpricing will lead to less
than optimal consumption. According to Solano and Brams (1996: 141-142):

When rates yield excess revenues, then the rates should be reduced. If
the excess retained earnings are transferred to other funds, users of the
services are subsidizing other programs from which they may not ben-
efic in direct proportion to the amount of the subsidy.

Exhibit 8.5 illustrates the basic differences between the operations of enterprise
activities and internal service activities.

8.1.5 Transfers

An important issue involving proprietary funds is the transfer of resources to and
from such entities. Financial transactions involving contributed or advanced capital
are typically accomplished via interfund transfers. A quasi-external transaction is
a payment by one fund for a good or service provided by another fund (Ruppel,
2005: 80). Interfund transactions that would be treated as revenues, expenditures,
or expenses if they involved organizations external to the government unit (e.g.,
payments in lieu of taxes from an enterprise fund to the general fund; internal
service fund billings to departments; and routine employer contributions to a pen-
sion trust fund and routine service charges for inspection, engineering, utilities,
or similar services provided by a department financed from one fund to a depart-
ment financed from another fund). These transactions should be accounted for as
revenues, expenditures, or expenses in the funds involved. In some cases where
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Any surpluses
Fees Cl;af gle)(lj' to - Enterprise Activity generated from
general public operations may
users be returned to
> the general

] Examples: public utilities, governmental
PO;S}?‘* ; golf courses, sports arenas treasury.
subsidies from —>
other sources

Internal Service

Governmental Activity Breakeven
users only: financial
charged fees for operations:

services used — > Fees > Costs

Examples: central
print shop, central
computing, central
motor pool

Exhibit 8.5 Business-type operations in government.

the proprietary fund accumulates earnings in excess of that needed to cover costs,
the “excess” earnings from functions such as water or wastewater utilities may be
transferred to the general fund to support other uses (Accounting and Reporting
Manual, 2002: 197). In other instances, resources may be transferred from the
general fund to the proprietary fund to subsidize the operation of a publicly desired
function such as a swimming pool or other recreational programs. According to

Bland and Rubin (1997: 161):

Interfund transactions are one of the potential trouble spots in financial
accountability. One of the purposes of the fund structure is to ensure
that earmarked money has been spent appropriately, but interfund
transactions can muddy the waters, making it difficult to determine
what the money was actually spent for .... If revenue is transferred
twice ... the switch is virtually impossible to trace ...

8.2 Financial Statements

Financial statements are used to convey to managers, governing bodies, citizens,
and other interested parties, information regarding the operations and financial
status of governmental entities (Herbert, Killough, and Steiss, 1984: 27). The three
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most important financial statements are the balance sheet, the income statement,
and the cash flow statement. The balance sheet, or statement of financial position,
presents information concerning the financial position of an entity as of a specific
point in time. The income statement, or statement of revenues and expenses, pres-
ents information concerning the financial operation of an entity over a period of
time. The cash flow statement, or statement of changes in financial position, pres-
ents information concerning the movement of financial resources for an entity.

The concept of major fund reporting was introduced and defined by GASB
Statement 34 to simplify the presentation of fund information and to focus atten-
tion on the major activities of the entity. Rather than require each type of fund
to be individually presented, Statement 34 requires the individual presentation of
only major funds, with all other funds combined into a single column. This reduces
the number of funds presented on the face of the financial statements, and directs
the focus on the significant funds of the reporting entity. Major fund reporting
is applied only to governmental and enterprise funds. Internal service funds are
exempted from the major fund reporting requirements (Financial Accounting,
2003: 32).

8.2.1 Balance Sheet

A balance sheet, sometimes referred to as a statement of net assets or a statement
of financial position, presents the entity financial position as of a specific point in
time. Financial position refers to the relationship between the amount of economic
resources available compared to the quantity of economic obligations owed. The
major sections of a balance sheet include assets, liabilities, and net assets. The bal-
ance sheet is premised on the following relationship:

Assets = Liabilities + Fund Equity (or fund balance).

The balance sheet communicates information about the resources and obligations
of the fund at a particular point in time. The balance sheets of proprietary funds
differ from those of governmental funds in at least two significant ways:

B DPlanc assets used to render proprietary fund services are reported as assets of
the fund net of an allowance for accumulated depreciation

B Long-term debt incurred by a proprietary fund is reported as a liability of that
fund rather than as a liability of the local government as a whole (Holder,
1996: 178)

A balance sheet presents assets, liabilities, and net assets by fund at the specified
date. It is a snapshot of a proprietary fund’s financial position as o